REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

Last amendment in force on January 1, 2014
This document has official status

chapter V-1.1,r. 14

REGULATION 41-101 RESPECTING GENERAL PROSPECTUS REQUIREMENTS
Securities Act (19

(chapter V-1.1, s. 331.1) N

PART 1 DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATIONS Q/E

1.1. Definitions %&
In this Regulation: Qg&

“accredited investor” has the same m as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 45-106 respecting Prospectus and Regj& on Exemptions (c. V-1.1, r. 21);

“acquisition” has the same meaning as :%%rt 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapte 1, 1. 24);

respecting Continuous Disclosure ations;
“acquisition of related INesses” has the same meaning as in Part 8 of
Regulation 51-102 respecti tinuous Disclosure Obligations;

“alternative cr§it pport” has the same meaning as in section 13.4 of

“acquisition date” has the samg Fheaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102

Regulation 51-102 ting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

&

“asser-packed security” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulatio 02 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

gése offering” means the number or principal amount of the securities
disNgbUted under a prospectus by an issuer or selling securityholder, excluding

\ (@) any over-allotment option granted in connection with the distribution, or
the securities issuable on the exercise of any such over-allotment option, and

(b) securities issued or paid as compensation to a person for acting as an
underwriter in respect of securities that are distributed under the prospectus, on an "as-
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if-converted" basis if these securities include securities that are convertible or
exchangeable securities;

“board of directors” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“business acquisition report” has the same meaning as in section 1.]’\w‘
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations; Q

“business day” means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday or \sa{utory
holiday;

“class” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulatio 6(72 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations; &b

“credit supporter” has the same meaning as in sectionz@of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“custodian” means the institution appointed ca}n investment fund to act as
custodian of the portfolio assets of the investment

“‘date of transition to IFRS” has th &me meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous sy sure Obligations;

or payment obligation of which is dgged from, referenced to, or based on an underlying

interest;
?\

“designated foreign ¢ iction” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 52-107 respe Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-
1.1, r. 25);

“designat?@mg organization” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of

“derivative” means an instrumgnl',\lgreement or security, the market price, value

Regulation 51 specting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

‘D filiate” has the same meaning as in section 1 of Regulation 25-101
respecy esignated Rating Organizations (chapter V-1.1, r. 8.1);

equity investee” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102
\@)ecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“equity security” means a security of an issuer that carries a residual right to

participate in the earnings of the issuer and, on the liquidation or winding up of the
issuer, in its assets;
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“executive officer” means, for an issuer or an investment fund manager, an
individual who is

(@) a chair, vice-chair or president,
(a.1) a chief executive officer of chief financial officer,

(b) a vice-president in charge of a principal business unit, division or fu@en
including sales, finance or production, or (L

(c) performing a policy-making function in respect of the issuer cﬂ{p\e\stment

fund manager;
&

“final prospectus notice” means <b

(@) in British Columbia, New Brunswick, Newfoundf% and Labrador, Nova
Scotia, Ontario and Saskatchewan, a written comm tibn relating to a final
prospectus if that communication is permitted by a p, n in securities legislation
listed opposite the jurisdiction in Appendix E, or

(b) in every other jurisdiction of Canads:a\/vritten communication relating to a
final prospectus that only )\

0] identifies the security p%posed to be issued,
M)

(i) states the prica’khe security, and

(i)  states th and address of a person from whom purchases of
the security may be made m whom a final prospectus may be obtained;

“financial statm&n}??ncludes interim financial reports;

“first IFR @ncial statements” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 51 specting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

RegulafQQd~52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing

\é “full and unconditional credit support” means
(a)  alternative credit support that
(1) entitles the holder of the securities to receive payment from the

credit supporter, or enables the holder to receive payment from the issuer,
within 15 days of any failure by the issuer to make a payment, and
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(i) results in the securities receiving the same credit rating as, or a
higher credit rating than, the credit rating they would have received if payment had been
fully and unconditionally guaranteed by the credit supporter, or would result in the
securities receiving such a rating if they were rated, or

(b) a full and unconditional guarantee of the payments to be made,
interpreted in section 1.5, by the issuer of securities, as stipulated in the terms 'The
securities or in an agreement governing rights of holders of the securities, that r@ﬁ% in
the holder of such securities being entitled to receive payment from the credi}iu‘p orter

within 15 days of any failure by the issuer to make a payment; (L

“independent review committee” means an independent revie mittee under
Regulation 81-107 respecting Independent Review Committee f estment Funds
(chapter V-1.1, r. 43); %

“information circular” has the same meani é in section 1.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Ok ns;

“interim period” has the same meaning as ig@

(@) section 1.1 of Regulation 51-5\&‘ respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations for an issuer other than an inve nt fund, or

(b)  section 1.1 of Regulatio &-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous
Disclosure (chapter V-1.1, r. 42) forql&nvestment fund;

“‘investment dealer” ha@same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 31-
103 respecting Registrati% equirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant
Obligations (c. V-1.1, r. ?\

“IPO ventur(@r” means an issuer that
(@) f@aﬂong form prospectus,

(b) ¥ not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately before the date of
the finanJ form prospectus, and

<§ C) at the date of the long form prospectus, does not have any of its securities
i@ or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does not intend
\S) apply to list or quote any of its securities, on

0] the Toronto Stock Exchange,

(i) a U.S. marketplace, or
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(i)  a marketplace outside of Canada and the United States of America,
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the
PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc;

“issuer's GAAP” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

N
W5

(b) that is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction; Q~

“‘lunior issuer” means an issuer

€) that files a preliminary prospectus;

(© whose total consolidated assets as at the date e most recent
statement of financial position of the issuer included in the pr%’ ry prospectus are
less than $10,000,000;

(d) whose consolidated revenue as show <&he most recent annual
statement of comprehensive income of the issuer inc d%in the preliminary prospectus
is less than $10,000,000; and &&

(e) whose equity as at the date o k most recent statement of financial
position of the issuer included in the prelimj prospectus is less than $10,000,000;

taking into account all adjust JNS\ to asset, revenue and equity calculations
necessary to reflect each signific proposed acquisition of a business or related

business by an issuer that has sed to a state where a reasonable person would
believe that the likelihood of tNXISsuer completing the acquisition is high, and each
completed significant acquisy f a business or related business that was completed,

() for para abY}c) and (e), before the date of the preliminary prospectus
and after the date issuer's most recent statement of financial position included in
the preliminary g ctus as if each acquisition had taken place as at the date of the
issuer's most nt statement of financial position included in the preliminary

prospectus;
X

% for paragraph (d), after the last day of the most recent annual statement of

co nsive income of the issuer included in the preliminary prospectus as if each

cOydistion had taken place at the beginning of the issuer's most recently completed

%ncial year for which a statement of comprehensive income is included in the
eliminary prospectus;

“labour sponsored or venture capital fund” has the same meaning as in
section 1.1 of Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure;

“lead underwriter” means, in respect of a syndicate of underwriters,
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(@) the underwriter designated under the underwriting agreement to act as the
manager of the syndicate, or

(b) if more than one underwriter is designated under the underwriting
agreement to act as a manager of the syndicate, the underwriter designated under the
agreement to have primary decision-making authority; '\b‘

“limited-use version” means a template version in which the spaé&for
information have been completed in accordance with any of the following:

(a)  subsection 13.7(2) or 13.8(2); Q:L

(b) subsection 7.6(2) of Regulation 44-101 respecting S orm Prospectus
Distributions (c. V-1.1, r. 16);

(c) subsection 9A.3(2) of Regulation 44-102 r %lng Shelf Distributions
(c. V-1.1,r. 17);

(d) subsection 4A.3(3) of Regulation 44}{®respectlng Post-Receipt Pricing
(c. V-1.1,r. 18);

“long form prospectus” means a prqu@'}us filed in the form of Form 41-101F1,
Form 41-101F2 or Form 41-101F3;

“marketing materials” mea wrltten communication intended for potential
investors regarding a distributio curities under a prospectus that contains material
facts relating to an issuer, secUNNXs or an offering, but does not include the following:

(@) a prospect %ny amendment;

(b) a sta@‘#erm sheet;

% inary prospectus notice;

(d) flnal prospectus notice;

C%ketplace” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102
c Ing Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“material contract” means any contract that an issuer or any of its subsidiaries is
a party to, that is material to the issuer;

“mineral project” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 43-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r. 15);

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 6



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

“non-voting security” means a restricted security that does not carry the right to
vote generally, except for a right to vote that is mandated, in special circumstances, by
law;

“old financial year” means the financial year of an issuer that immediately
precedes a transition year;

“over-allocation position” means the amount, determined as at the closin a
distribution, by which the aggregate number or principal amount of securities re

sold by one or more underwriters of the distribution exceeds the base offeringp\\

“over-allotment option” means a right granted to one or more u Qaﬁers by an
issuer or a selling securityholder of the issuer in connection with istribution of
securities under a prospectus to acquire, for the purposes of cove e underwriter’s
over-allocation position, a security of an issuer that has the designation and
attributes as a security that is distributed under such prospect& d which

(@) expires not later than the 60" day after, ate of the closing of the
distribution, and O

(b) is exercisable for a number or prin%éékamount of securities that is limited
to the lesser of )\

(1) the over-allocation pos(lawn, and

A
(i) 15% of the ba fering;

“preliminary prospectu@c‘e” means

(@) in a jurisd@other than Québec, a communication relating to a
preliminary prospectu; if Jtat communication is permitted by a provision in securities

legislation listed op the jurisdiction in Appendix D, or

(b) i%&]’ébec, a written communication relating to a preliminary prospectus

that only %

QS) 0] identifies the security proposed to be issued,
<( (i) states the price of the security, if determined, and

\E (i)  states the name and address of a person from whom purchases of
the security may be made and from whom a preliminary prospectus may be obtained;

“personal information form” means,

(@) a completed Schedule 1 of Appendix A, or
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(b) a completed TSX/TSXV personal information form submitted by an
individual to the Toronto Stock Exchange or to the TSX Venture Exchange to which is
attached a completed certificate and consent in the form set out in Schedule 1 — Part B
of Appendix A,

“plan summary” means a document prepared in accordance with tf&
requirements of Part A of Form 41-101F3; Q

P
ip effect from

“predecessor personal information form” means,

(@) a completed Schedule 1 of Appendix A in the form that
March 17, 2008 until May 14, 2013, or &/

(b) a completed TSX/TSXV personal information for hich is attached a
completed certificate and consent in the form that was in eﬁé\ om March 17, 2008
until May 14, 2013;

“principal securityholder” means a person wh %eficially owns, or controls or
directs, directly or indirectly, voting securities carr@O% or more of the voting rights
attached to any class of voting securities of the iﬁj ;

“private issuer” has the same meapﬁ\as in section 2.4 of Regulation 45-106
respecting Prospectus and Registration 'E\xe tions;

M)

“profit or loss attributable to ers of the parent” has the same meaning as in

Canadian GAAP applicable to p% accountable enterprises;

“profit or loss from co@lXIng operations attributable to owners of the parent” has
the same meaning as in % ian GAAP applicable to publicly accountable enterprises;

“publicly ac ble enterprise” has the same meaning as in Part 3 of
Regulation 52- respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards; Q

“re credit supporter” of an issuer means a credit supporter of the issuer that
isan a of the issuer;
<(Qrestricted security” means an equity security that is not a preferred security of an
\' er if any of the following apply:
(@) there is another class of securities of the issuer that carries a greater
number of votes per security relative to the equity security,

(b)  the conditions attached to the class of equity securities, the conditions
attached to another class of securities of the issuer, or the issuer’'s constating
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documents have provisions that nullify or significantly restrict the voting rights of the
equity securities,

(© the issuer has issued another class of equity securities that entitle the
owners of securities of that other class to participate in the earnings or assets of the
issuer to a greater extent, on a per security basis, than the owners of the first class of

equity securities, or '\b(

(d)  except in Ontario and British Columbia, the regulator or, in Qué@he
securities regulatory authority determines that the equity security is a restricte;&sg urity;

restricted securities, directly or through the creation of subject sec or securities
that are, directly or indirectly, convertible, or exercisable or excha e for, restricted
securities or subject securities or any change in the right hing to restricted
securities, subject securities or securities that are, directly or4 ctly, convertible into,
or exercisable or exchangeable for, restricted securities or s{gjett securities, including

(@ any O%

0] amendment to an issuer’s cqnstating documents,

“restricted security reorganization” means any event resulting@&reaﬂon of

(i) resolution of the board(@irectors of an issuer setting the terms of
a series of securities of the issuer, or
M)
(i) restructuring, ﬂ-&apitalization, reclassification, arrangement,
amalgamation or merger, or ?g‘

(b) if the issuer h e or more classes of restricted securities outstanding,
an amendment to an issx onstating documents to increase

0] er security voting rights attached to any class of securities
without at the s Ime making a proportionate increase in the per security voting
rights attache y other securities of the issuer, or

restrict

L

%’ﬂ) the number of a class of securities authorized, other than a
Q;’:urity;

restricted security term” means each of the terms “non-voting security”,
ordinate voting security”, and “restricted voting security”;

“restricted voting security” means a restricted security that carries a right to vote
subject to a restriction on the number or percentage of securities that may be voted or
owned by one or more persons, unless the restriction is

(@) permitted or prescribed by statute or regulation, and
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(b) is applicable only to persons that are not citizens or residents of Canada
or that are otherwise considered as a result of any law applicable to the issuer to be
non-Canadians;

“restructuring transaction” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations; '\b‘

“retrospective” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation(a%oz
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

A\
“retrospectively” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of R (kn 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;

“reverse takeover” has the same meaning as in section @Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations; :\

“reverse takeover acquirer’ has the same yig as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosureéb tions;

of securities under a prospectus, conducted ne or more investment dealers on
behalf of an issuer in which one or more ¢ tive officers, or other representatives, of
the issuer participate; \

M)

“SEC issuer” has the sam ~Qqeaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accountin@lﬂciples and Auditing Standards;

“road show” means a presentation to potgnti investors, regarding a distribution

“short form prospect Qeans a prospectus filed in the form of Form 44-101F1
of Regulation 44-101 re% ing Short Form Prospectus Distributions (chapter V-1.1,

r. 16);
“special %means a security that, by its terms or the terms of an
accompanyin actual obligation,

€) %titles or requires the holder to acquire another security without payment
of mat@n’dditional consideration and obliges the issuer of either security to undertake
effg@ ile a prospectus to qualify the distribution of the other security, or
§ (b)  entitles or requires the holder to acquire another security without payment
material additional consideration and the issuer files a prospectus to qualify the
distribution of the other security;

“standard term sheet” means a written communication intended for potential

investors regarding a distribution of securities under a prospectus that contains no
information other than that referred to in subsections 13.5(2) and (3),
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subsections 13.6(2) and (3), subsections 7.5(2) and (3) of Regulation 44-101 respecting
Short Form Prospectus Distributions, subsections 9A.2(2) and (3) of Regulation 44-102
respecting Shelf Distributions or subsections 4A.2(2) and (3) of Regulation 44-103
respecting Post-Receipt Pricing, relating to an issuer, securities or an offering, but does
not include the following:

(@) apreliminary prospectus notice; '\b‘
(b)  afinal prospectus notice; (19

“subject security” means a security that results, or would result cg}\a when
issued, in an existing class of securities being considered restricted se@g g

“subordinate voting security” means a restricted security t rries a right to
vote, if there are securities of another class outstanding that ca eater right to vote
on a per security basis; :\

“template version” means a version of a docume%& spaces for information to
be added in accordance with any of the following:

| &Q
(@)  subsection 13.7(2) or 13.8(2); W

(b)  subsection 7.6(2) of Regulatigx@z}ml respecting Short Form Prospectus
Distributions; \
M)

(© subsection 9A.3(2) of ulation 44-102 respecting Shelf Distributions;
(d)  subsection 4A.3%R‘Regulation 44-103 respecting Post-Receipt Pricing;

“transition year” the financial year of an issuer or business in which the
issuer or business c@ its financial year-end;

“TSX/TS??@sonal information form” means a personal information form for an

individual pur to Toronto Stock Exchange Form 4 or TSX Venture Exchange
amended from time to time;

Form 2A, e@
QS.)AICPA GAAS” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
nos

Re% 2-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Staxglards;

\ “U.S. GAAP” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 52-107
respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards;

“U.S. marketplace” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations;
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“U.S. PCAOB GAAS” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and Auditing
Standards;

“venture issuer” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations except the "applicable time" is the date

the prospectus is filed,; '\b(

“waiting period” means the period of time between the issuance of a reﬁ% by
the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority for a eIL Inary
prospectus and the issuance of a receipt by the regulator or, in Québec, tﬁ't, curities
regulatory authority for a final prospectus. &

M.O. 2008-05, s. 1.1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 1; M.O. 2013-03, s. 1& 2013-08, s. 1;

M.O. 2013-13, s. 1.
S &%

1.2. Interpretation of “prospectus”, “prelim% prospectus”, “final

prospectus”, “long form prospectus”, and “short fo spectus”

(2) In this Regulation, a reference to a “prospe L@includes a preliminary long form
prospectus, a final long form prospectus, a pregr‘n ary short form prospectus, and a
final short form prospectus. )\

(2) In this Regulation, a reference tdqa “preliminary prospectus” includes a
preliminary long form prospectus andib\ieﬁminary short form prospectus.

3) In this Regulation, a refe Q?to a “final prospectus” includes a final long form
prospectus and a final short fqr %ﬁ)spectus.

4) In this Regulation erence to a “long form prospectus” includes a preliminary
long form prospectus (h inal long form prospectus.

(5) In this Re n, a reference to a “short form prospectus” includes a preliminary
short form proQ s and a final short form prospectus.

(6) Deéé’subsections (1), (2), and (3), in Form 41-101F1, Form 41-101F2 and
F3

éQL :

a) a reference to a “prospectus” only includes a preliminary long form
@spectus and a final long form prospectus,

(b)  areference to a “preliminary prospectus” only includes a preliminary long
form prospectus, and
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(c) a reference to a “final prospectus” only includes a final long form
prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 1.2; M.O. 2013-08, s. 2.

1.3. Interpretation of “business”
In this Regulation, unless otherwise stated, a reference to a business inclu@
interest in an oil and gas property to which reserves, as defined in Regulation% 01

respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r,\Z?Q have

been specifically attributed. (L
1.4. Interpretation of “affiliate” &

M.O. 2008-05, s. 1.3.

an affiliate of the other issuer under subsection 1.1(2) ulation 51-102 respecting

In this Regulation, an issuer is an affiliate of ano%u r if the issuer would be
Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r. .

M.O. 2008-05, s. 1.4. &

Ne

For the purposes of the def';gifmm‘\ of “full and unconditional credit support”,

1.5. Interpretation of “payments to be

payments to be made by an iss of securities as stipulated in the terms of the
securities include \

dividend payment dates ted in, the provisions of the securities, whether or not the
dividends have been dgcld®d, and

(b) an etionary dividends, provided that the terms of the securities or an
agreement g g rights of holders of the securities expressly provides that the
holder of tgi securities will be entitled, once the discretionary dividend is declared, to

(@ any amount;@?é paid as dividends in accordance with, and on the
I

receive p t from the credit supporter within 15 days of any failure by the issuer to

pay the@ red dividend.
O
M.&2008-05, s. 1.5.

N
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PART 2 REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL PROSPECTUS DISTRIBUTIONS

2.1  Application of the Regulation

(1) Subject to subsection (2), this Regulation applies to a prospectus filed under
securities legislation and a distribution of securities subject to the prospectus
requirement. '\
(2)  This Regulation does not apply to a prospectus filed under Regulation %Ol

respecting Mutual Fund Prospectus Disclosure (chapter V-1.1, r. 38) or a disﬁ@g on of
securities under such a prospectus. (L

Q~
M.O. 2008-05, s. 2.1.
2.2. Language y

(1) An issuer must file a prospectus and any othe%m nt required to be filed

under this Regulation or Regulation 44-101 resp Short Form Prospectus
Distributions (chapter V-1.1, r. 16) in French or in Englis

(2) In Québec, a prospectus and any doc rﬁéﬂt required to be incorporated by
reference into a prospectus must be in French s{ French and English.

3) Despite subsection (1), if an issuerq}es a document only in French or only in
English but delivers to an investor or hspective investor a version of the document in
the other language, the issuer mu that other version not later than when it is first
delivered to the investor or pros;s\ investor.

4) If an issuer files a Qnent under this Regulation that is a translation of a
document prepared in a I% ge other than French or English, the issuer must

(@) attacb@ertificate as to the accuracy of the translation to the filed

document, and
&

(b) e a copy of the document in the original language available on
request.

M.?(ig&-OS, S.2.2.

\% General requirements

(1) An issuer must not file its first amendment to a preliminary prospectus more
than 90 days after the date of the receipt for the preliminary prospectus.
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(2.1) An issuer must not file a final prospectus more than 90 days after the date of the
receipt for the preliminary prospectus or an amendment to the preliminary prospectus
which relates to the final prospectus.

(1.2) If an issuer files an amendment to a preliminary prospectus, the final prospectus
must be filed within 180 days from the date of the receipt of the preliminary prospectus.

(2)  Anissuer must not file Q'\

(@) a prospectus more than 3 business days after the date of the gr\s(k:tus
and

(b) an amendment to a prospectus more than 3 busmess fter the date
of the amendment to the prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 2.3; M.O. 2013-03, s. 2.

2.4. Special warrants %@Q

(1)  Anissuer must not file a prospectus or an g@jment to a prospectus to qualify
the distribution of securities issued upon the ise of special warrants or other
securities acquired on a prospectus-exempt b nless holders of the special warrants
or other securities have been provided wit ntractual right of rescission.

holder of a special warrant who a es another security of the issuer on exercise of
the special warrant as provided he prospectus is, or becomes, entitled under the
securities legislation of a juy ion to the remedy of rescission because of the
prospectus or an amendme e prospectus containing a misrepresentation,

(2) A contractual right of resciss;gander subsection (1) must provide that, if a

(@ the hold rB?;ntitled to rescission of both the holder's exercise of its
special warrant an éprivate placement transaction under which the special warrant
was initially acquj

N3

(b) holder is entitled in connection with the rescission to a full refund of all
considergf aid to the underwriter or issuer, as the case may be, on the acquisition of
the sp arrant, and

<(Q:) if the holder is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original special
§rant subscriber, the holder is entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and refund
if the holder was the original subscriber.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 2.4.
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PART 3 FORM OF PROSPECTUS
3.1. Form of prospectus

(1)  Subject to subsections (2), (2.1) and (3), an issuer filing a prospectus must file
the prospectus in the form of Form 41-101F1.

(2)  An issuer that is an investment fund, other than a scholarship plan, fi@\a
prospectus must file the prospectus in the form of Form 41-101F2.

(2.1) An issuer that is a scholarship plan filing a prospectus must file the ;fr‘{;mé‘ctus in
the form of Form 41-101F3.

3) An issuer that is qualified to file a short form prospectus@%(e a short form
prospectus. %

PART 3A  SCHOLARSHIP PLAN PROSPECTUS IREMENTS

M.O. 2008-05, s. 3.1; M.O. 2013-08, s. 3.

3A.1. Plain language and presentation b‘&
(1) A scholarship plan prospectus musk@'}repared using plain language and in a

format that assists in readability and comprelpension.
M)

(2) A scholarship plan prospect ust

€)) present all inforr@?r?brieﬂy and concisely,

(b) present they listed in Parts A to D of Form 41-101F3 in the order set
out in those parts, e\

(c) us the headings and sub-headings prescribed by Form 41-101F3
unless stated ise,

(d) %ontain only information that is specifically mandated or permitted by
Form F3, and

Qe) not incorporate by reference into the scholarship plan prospectus,
@rmation that is required to be included in a scholarship plan prospectus.

(3) A plan summary must

(@) be prepared for each scholarship plan offered under a scholarship plan
prospectus or multiple scholarship plan prospectus, and
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(b) not exceed 4 pages in length.

M.O. 2013-08, s. 4.

3A.2. Combinations of documents

with one or more scholarship plan prospectuses to a form a multiple scholarshi

prospectus. (L

(2) A scholarship plan prospectus must not be consolidated with \o? more

scholarship plan prospectuses to form a multiple scholarship plan pros Q.]uﬁ unless the
portions of each scholarship plan prospectus prepared in ﬁ; ce with the
r

(1)  Subject to subsection (2), a scholarship plan prospectus may be consolidat
;@T&n

requirements of Parts B and D of Form 41-101F3 are substantially

M.O. 2013-08, s. 4. /\Q/
3A.3. Order of contents of bound documents %%Q

If documents are attached to, or bound wp@ scholarship plan prospectus or
multiple scholarship plan prospectus b‘

(@ the scholarship plan prospe@[@'}r multiple scholarship plan prospectus
must be the first document contained in the package, and

NS

(b) no pages must com ore the scholarship plan prospectus or multiple
scholarship plan prospectus oth , at the option of the scholarship plan, a general
front cover and table of conte@taining to the entire package.

M.O. 2013-08, s. 4. S@

3A.4. Plan summ@

Q) Despite, n 3A.3, a plan summary must not be attached to, or bound with,
any other part & a scholarship plan prospectus, or to any other document, except as
provided '(i(asection.

(2) lan summary of a scholarship plan may be attached to or bound with one or
m plan summaries of other scholarship plans if the binding, to a reasonable person,
\ Id help present the information in a simple, accessible and comparable format.

M.O. 2013-08, s. 4.
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3A.5 Documents to be delivered or sent upon request

(1) Onrequest by a person, a scholarship plan must deliver or send a copy of one or
more the following documents free of charge to the person:

(@) the scholarship plan prospectus or multiple scholarship plan prospectus;

(b) any document incorporated by reference into the scholarship@sn

prospectus; (L
N

(c) any portion of a document described in paragraph (a) or (b).

(2) A document requested under subsection (1) must be deliver sent within 3
business days of receipt of the request.

M.O. 2013-08, s. 4. :\Q/@

PART 4 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND RELAT&OCUMENTS IN A LONG
FORM PROSPECTUS

4.1. Application b‘&o

(1)  Anissuer, other than an investmenk@i, that files a long form prospectus must
include in the long form prospectus the financial statements and the management’s
discussion and analysis required byiis'Re'gulation.

(2)  Subject to Part 15, an i Q'Ment fund that files a long form prospectus must
include in the long form prqs s the financial statements and the management
reports of fund performanc red by this Regulation.

3) For the purposgs QP this Part, “financial statements” do not include pro forma
financial statement §

M.O. 2008-05QQT1.

4.2. Au@(ﬁnancial statements

(2) Q y financial statements included in a long form prospectus filed in the form of
FOQ 1-101F1 must be audited in accordance with Regulation 52-107 respecting
eptable Accounting Principles and Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25) unless
exception in section 32.5 or subsection 35.1(3) of Form 41-101F1 applies.

(2)  Any financial statements, other than an interim financial report, included in or

incorporated by reference into a long form prospectus of an investment fund filed in the
form of From 41-101F2 or From 41-101F3 must meet the audit requirements of Part 2 of
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Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure
(chapter V-1.1, r. 42).

M.O. 2008-05, s. 4.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 2; M.O. 2013-08, s. 5.
4.3. Review of unaudited financial statements

(1)  Any unaudited financial statements included in, or incorporated by referenc&?f
a long form prospectus must have been reviewed in accordance with the nt
standards set out in the Handbook for a review of financial statements by t pefson’s
auditor or a review of financial statements by a public accountant.

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply to an investment fund's ited financial
statements filed after the date of filing of the prospectus that Incorporated by
reference into the prospectus under Part 15. %

3) If Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Acco /g&PrincipIes and Auditing
Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25) permits the financiQJ.o ements of the person in
subsection (1) to be audited in accordance with

@) U.S. AICPA GAAS, the unaudited f {a%cial statements may be reviewed in
accordance with the review standards issuek the American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants;

(a.1) U.S. PCAOB GAAS, th Jhaudited financial statements may be reviewed
in accordance with the review stﬁ%rds issued by the Public Company Accounting

Oversight Board (United States rica);
(b) International rds on Auditing, the unaudited financial statements
may be reviewed in ac ce with International Standards on Review Engagement

issued by the Internati& uditing and Assurance Standards Board, or

(c) augs standards that meet the foreign disclosure requirements of the
designated fogi¥(jurisdiction to which the person is subject, the unaudited financial

statements%

0] may be reviewed in accordance with review standards that meet
disclosure requirements of the designated foreign jurisdiction, or

the
\é (ii) do not have to be reviewed if

(A) the designated foreign jurisdiction does not have review
standards for unaudited financial statements, and
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(B) the long form prospectus includes disclosure that the
unaudited financial statements have not been reviewed.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 4.3; M.O. 2010-17, s. 3.

4.4. Approval of financial statements and related documents

each management’s discussion and analysis, and each management report nd
performance, as applicable, of a person included in, or incorporated by refe;ﬁng into,
the long form prospectus has been approved by the board of directors of th% son.

%ectus unless

rmance of the

(1)  An issuer must not file a long form prospectus unless each financial staéi;%?m,

(2)  An investment fund that is a trust must not file a long form
each financial statement and each management report of fund
investment fund included in, or incorporated by reference into, g form prospectus
has been approved by the trustee or trustees of the investmeRt'$hd or another person
authorized to do so by the constating documents of the in\@nent fund.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 4.4. O%
PART 5 CERTIFICATES b:&
5.1. Interpretation q/Q\
For the purposes of this Part,*'\‘s
(@)  “issuer certificate fc&@'means a certificate in the form set out in
0] section f Form 41-101F1,
(i) S ti& 39.1 of Form 41-101F2,
(ii.%@action 9.1 of Part D of Form 41-101F3,
%ﬁg section 21.2 of Form 44-101F1,

QS)(iv) Regulation 44-102 respecting Shelf Distributions (chapter V-1.1,

Ny

(A) section 1.1 of Appendix A,
(B) section 2.1 of Appendix A,
(C) section 1.1 of Appendix B, or

(D) section 2.1 of Appendix B, or
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(V) Regulation 44-103 respecting Post-Receipt Pricing
(chapter V-1.1, r. 18) in

(A)  paragraph 7 of subsection 3.2(1), or
(B) paragraph 3 of subsection 4.5(2), and \b‘
(b)  “underwriter certificate form” means a certificate in the form set outf?l,Q

()  section 37.3 of Form 41-101F1, \v °
Q)((%

(i) section 39.3 of Form 41-101F2,
(ii.1) section 9.3 of Part D of Form 41-101F3, %
(i)  section 21.3 of Form 44-101F1, Q
(iv)  Regulation 44-102 respecting S%ﬁtributions in
(A) section 1.2 of Appen x’x
(B) section 2.2 of Ap@%x A,
(C) section 1. oMppendix B, or
(D) sectitﬁg?of Appendix B, or
(v) Regulag -103 respecting Post-Receipt Pricing in

(%%ragraph 8 of subsection 3.2(1), or
Z

paragraph 4 of subsection 4.5(2).

M.O. 2008-%& 5.1; M.O. 2013-08, s. 6.

5.2. Qg%f certificates

he date of the certificates in a prospectus or an amendment to a prospectus
?t be the same as the date of the prospectus or the amendment to the prospectus,
applicable.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.2.
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5.3. Certificate of issuer
(1) Except in Ontario, a prospectus must contain a certificate signed by the issuer.

(2) A prospectus certificate that is required to be signed by the issuer under this
Regulation or other securities legislation must be in the applicable issuer certificate

form. b‘
Q\
M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.3. v

5.4. Corporate issuer ({,\"

required to be signed by the issuer under this Regulation or other rities legislation

must be signed %

@) by the chief executive officer and the chief jiR@ncial officer of the issuer,

and
)

(b) on behalf of the board of directors, by@

Q) Except in Ontario, if the issuer is a company, a prospectu; ificate that is

(1) any 2 directors of the issue\»‘other than the persons referred to in
paragraph (a) above, or q/Q

(i) if the issuer ha bﬂly 3 directors, 2 of whom are the persons
referred to in paragraph (a), all of t (rectors of the issuer.

(2) Except in Ontario, if ?r‘egulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
authority is satisfied that e r both of the chief executive officer or chief financial

officer cannot sign a ceRjadate in a prospectus, the regulator or, in Québec, the
securities regulatory §th y may accept a certificate signed by another officer.

M.O. 200805, Sé‘@

5.5. Trus@ er

(1) &gAssuer is a trust, a prospectus certificate that is required to be signed by the
e

iss r this Regulation or other securities legislation must be signed by

§ €) the individuals who perform functions for the issuer similar to those
rformed by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of a company, and

(b) 2 trustees of the issuer, on behalf of the trustees of the issuer.

(2) If a trustee that is signing the certificate of the issuer is

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 22



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(@ anindividual, the individual must sign the certificate,
(b)  acompany, the certificate must be signed

0] by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the

Na

(i) on behalf of the board of directors of the trustee, by Q

trustee, and

(A) any 2 directors of the trustee, other than thf\gt\lﬂsons
referred to in subparagraph (i), or (L

(B) if the trustee has only 3 directors, 2 of wh the persons
referred to in subparagraph (i), all of the directors of the trustee,
(© a limited partnership, the certificate must be/% d by each general

partner of the limited partnership as described in subse 6(2) in relation to an
issuer that is a limited partnership, or %

(d) not referred to in paragraphs (a), (b;@), the certificate may be signed
by any person with authority to bind the trustee. b‘

(3) Despite subsections (1) and (2), i Issuer is an investment fund and the
declaration of trust, trust indenture or trust dgreement establishing the investment fund
delegates the authority to do so, or ot e’?wiSe authorizes an individual or company to do
so, the certificate may be signed b individual or company to whom the authority is
delegated or that is authorized t0§~ he certificate.

4) Despite subsection nd (2), if the trustees of an issuer, other than an
investment fund, do not rm functions for the issuer similar to those performed by
the directors of a coQqpdny, the trustees are not required to sign the prospectus
certificate of the is ovided that at least 2 individuals who do perform functions for
the issuer similar, se performed by the directors of a company sign the certificate.

egllator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority is satisfied that
o performs functions for the issuer similar to those performed by either
ecutive officer or the chief financial officer of a company cannot sign a

@ in a prospectus, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
er Yy may accept a certificate signed by another individual.

(5) If th
an indivi
the chi

N‘o 2008-05, s. 5.5.
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5.6. Limited partnership issuer

(1) If the issuer is a limited partnership, a prospectus certificate that is required to be
signed by the issuer under this Regulation or other securities legislation must be signed

by

(@ the individuals who perform functions for the issuer similar to t oﬁ‘
performed by the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of a compan

(b) each general partner of the issuer.

(l',\\

(2) If a general partner of the issuer is ((8‘
(@) an individual, the individual must sign the certificate,&

(b) a company, the certificate must be signed /&

(1) by the chief executive officer and tho ief financial officer of the
general partner, and

(i) on behalf of the board of dir%::t&s of the general partner, by

(A) any 2 directors ?ﬁﬁ'\general partner, other than the persons
referred to in subparagraph (i), or
M)
(B) ifthe ge | partner has only 3 directors, 2 of whom are the
persons referred to in subparagr D, all of the directors of the general partner,

(c) a limited par ip, the certificate must be signed by each general
partner of the limited p hip and, for greater certainty, this subsection applies to

each general partner§ d to sign,

d at @t e certificate must be signed by the trustees of the general
partner as des&éﬂ in subsection 5.5(2) in relation to an issuer that is a trust, or

any pe

(e) %mt referred to in paragraphs (a) to (d), the certificate may be signed by
ngx/ith authority to bind the general partner.

ndividual who performs functions for the issuer similar to those performed by either

chief executive officer or the chief financial officer of a company cannot sign a
certificate in a prospectus, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
authority may accept a certificate signed by another individual.

(§)<(q the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority is satisfied that

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.6.
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5.7. Other issuer

If an issuer is not a company, trust or limited partnership, a prospectus certificate
that is required to be signed by the issuer under this Regulation or other securities
legislation must be signed by the persons that, in relation to the issuer, are in a similar
position or perform a similar function to the persons required to sign under sections 5.4

to 5.6. b‘
Q\
M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.7. v

5.8. Reverse takeovers ({,\"

Except in Ontario, if an issuer is involved in a proposed revers over that has
progressed to a state where a reasonable person would believe th ikelihood of the
reverse takeover being completed is high, a prospectus must c@a certificate, in the
applicable issuer certificate form, signed

(@) by the chief executive officer and the chletLo%guual officer of the reverse
takeover acquirer, and

(b)  on behalf of the board of directors &’% reverse takeover acquirer, by

0] any 2 directors of th %erse takeover acquirer, other than the
persons referred to in paragraph (a) above?)/

M)
(i) if the reverse t ver acquirer has only 3 directors, 2 of whom are
the persons referred to in para (@), all of the directors of the reverse takeover

acquirer.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.8.

N
N

5.9. Certificate erwriter

(2) Except@htamo a prospectus must contain a certificate signed by each
underwriter ayhS, with respect to the securities offered by the prospectus, is in a
contractu&tionship with the issuer or a securityholder whose securities are being

offeredQL e prospectus.

( )<( prospectus certificate that is required to be signed by an underwriter under this
\b ulation or other securities legislation must be in the applicable underwriter certificate
m.
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3) Except in Ontario, with the consent of the regulator or, in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority, a certificate in a prospectus may be signed by the underwriter's
agent duly authorized in writing by the underwriter.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.9.

5.10. Certificate of investment fund manager '\b‘
(1) If the issuer has an investment fund manager, a prospectus must C(ﬁp
certificate, in the applicable issuer certificate form, signed by the mvest ent” fund
manager.

(2) If the investment fund manager is a company, the certificate t signed

@) by the chief executive officer and the chief ial officer of the

investment fund manager, and Q&

(b) on behalf of the board of directors, by %

0] any 2 directors of the mvesg@ fund manager, other than the
persons referred to in paragraph (a) above, or b‘

(i) if the investment fund %ger has only 3 directors, 2 of whom are
the persons referred to in paragraph ‘a\), of the directors of the investment fund
manager. )

(3) If the investment fund m r is a limited partnership, the certificate must be

signed by the general pr of such limited partnership as described in
subsection 5.6(2) in relatlo issuer that is a limited partnership.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.10
5.10.1. %of principal distributor

(1) If th ger is an investment fund that has a principal distributor, a prospectus
must con %1 certificate, in the applicable underwriter certificate form, signed by the
principqgeributor

( )<( he certificate to be signed by the principal distributor must be signed by an
\ xcer or director of the principal distributor who is authorized to sign.

M.O. 2013-03, s. 3.
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5.11. Certificate of promoter

(1) Except in Ontario, a prospectus must contain a certificate signed by each
promoter of the issuer.

(2) A prospectus certificate required to be signed by a promoter under this
Regulation or other securities legislation must be in the applicable issuer certifi?iv‘

form. Q

3) Except in Ontario, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulator a:ulﬁority
may require any person who was a promoter of the issuer within the 2 preéﬂgl g years
to sign a certificate to the prospectus, in the applicable issuer certificate

(4) Despite subsection (3), in British Columbia, the powers g/regulator with
respect to the matters described in subsection (3) are set OQ he Securities Act
(R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 418). Q

5) Except in Ontario, with the consent of the regul %& in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority, a certificate of a promoter in aQréspectus may be signed by an
agent duly authorized in writing by the person requ)@ sign the certificate.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.11. Qy\b‘
5.12. Certificate of credit supporter q/
M)
(2) If there is a related credit s rter of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer, a

prospectus must contain a certif of the related credit supporter, in the applicable
issuer certificate form, signed

(@) by the chia% cutive officer and the chief financial officer of the credit
supporter, and

on %‘ the board of directors of the credit supporter, by
[

&ﬁ( any 2 directors of the credit supporter, other than the persons

referred ragraph (a) above, or

(b)

t

a (i) if the credit supporter has only 3 directors, 2 of whom are the
pe@ns referred to in paragraph (a), all of the directors of the credit supporter.

With the consent of the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
authority, a certificate in a prospectus may be signed by the credit supporter's agent
duly authorized in writing by the credit supporter.

(3) Except in Ontario, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority
may require any other person that is a credit supporter of either the issuer or a
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subsidiary of the issuer to sign a certificate to the prospectus, in the applicable issuer
certificate form.

(4) Despite subsection (3), in British Columbia, the powers of the regulator with

respect to the matters described in subsection (3) are set out in the Securities Act
(R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 418).

q,Q

N
(2) Except in Ontario, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regigk authority
[

may require any person that is a selling securityholder to sign% ficate to the

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.12.

5.13. Certificate of selling securityholders

prospectus, in the applicable issuer certificate form. @

(2) Despite subsection (1), in British Columbia, the pow% f the regulator with
respect to the matters described in subsection (1) are out in the Securities Act
(R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 418). %

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.13. ,@

5.14. Certificate of operating entity )\b‘

(2) For the purposes of this section, the‘]erm “operating entity” means, in relation to
an issuer, a person through which th Business of the issuer, or a material part of the
business of the issuer, is conducte d for which the issuer is required under securities
legislation, or has undertaken, &'provide to its securityholders separate financial
statements of the person if th r's financial statements do not include consolidated
information concerning the

applicable issuer cerfgi§ate form, signed

(2) A prospectus gf BYTssuer that is a trust must contain a certificate, in the

(a) % chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the operating

entity, and %
C) on behalf of the board of directors of the operating entity, by
<(O 0] any 2 directors of the operating entity, other than the persons
\Q&rred to in paragraph (a) above, or

(i) if the operating entity has only 3 directors, 2 of whom are the
persons referred to in paragraph (a), all of the directors of the operating entity.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.14.
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5.15. Certificate of other persons

(1) Except in Ontario, the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority
may, in its discretion, require any person to sign a certificate to the prospectus, in the
form that the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority considers
appropriate.

(2) Despite subsection (1), in British Columbia, the powers of the regulato@&k
Act

respect to the matters described in subsection (1) are set out in the Securiﬁ%
(R.S.B.C. 1996, c. 418).

M.O. 2008-05, s. 5.15. Q~
PART 6 AMENDMENTS @’

6.1. Form of amendment Q:\

(1) An amendment to a prospectus must be either %%
(@) an amendment that does not fully res)g@he text of the prospectus, or
(b) an amended and restated prospe&@&

(2)  An amendment to a prospectus mus‘tle identified as follows:
M)

(@) for an amendment th es not restate the text of the prospectus:

“Amendment n@%ert amendment number] dated [insert date of
amendment] to [identify pro@ s] dated [insert date of prospectus being amended].”;

or Sv

(b) for an ded and restated prospectus:

‘%ﬁded and restated [identify prospectus] dated [insert date of
amendmentk, ending and restating [identify prospectus] dated [insert date of
prospect Mg amended].”

3) Qgspite subsections (1) and (2), an amendment to a plan summary must be
pr%r d in accordance with Part A of Form 41-101F3 without any further identification,
@ ated as of the date the plan summary is being amended.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 6.1; M.O. 2013-08, s. 7.
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6.2. Required documents for filing an amendment
An issuer that files an amendment to a prospectus must
(@) file a signed copy of the amendment,

(b)  deliver to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authorit
copy of the prospectus blacklined to show the changes made by the amendment@he

amendment is also a restatement of the prospectus, (L
(c) file or deliver any supporting documents requwed"y er this
r

Regulation or other securities legislation to be filed or delivered wi ospectus,
unless the documents originally filed or delivered with the prospect correct as of
the date the amendment is filed, and

(d) in case of an amendment to a final prospecu&B Afe any consent letter
required to be filed with a final prospectus, dated as of the f the amendment.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 6.2. O%
6.3. Auditor’s comfort letter b‘&

An issuer must deliver a new auditor".ﬁmfort letter, if an amendment to

(@ a preliminary long for |3N3pectus materially affects, or relates to, an
auditor’'s comfort letter delivered uésubparagraph 9.1(b)(iii),

(b) a preliminary sl% orm prospectus materially affects, or relates to, an
auditor’s comfort letter deli under subparagraph 4.1(b)(ii) of Regulation 44-101
respecting Short Form PS tus Distributions (chapter V-1.1, r. 16).

M.O. 2008-05, s. 6.

6.4. DeIiver&mendments

Ex in Ontario, an issuer must deliver an amendment to a preliminary
prospe S soon as practicable to each recipient of the preliminary prospectus
acgc&@ to the record of recipients required to be maintained under securities

ation.

S

WO. 2008-05, s. 6.4.

6.5. Amendment to a preliminary prospectus

(1) Except in Ontario, if, after a receipt for a preliminary prospectus is issued but
before a receipt for the final prospectus is issued, a material adverse change occurs, an
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amendment to the preliminary prospectus must be filed as soon as practicable, but in
any event within 10 days after the day the change occurs.

(2) The regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority must issue a
receipt for an amendment to a preliminary prospectus as soon as practicable after the
amendment is filed.

q,Q

6.6. Amendment to a final prospectus )\\

()'Before the

e occurs, an
able, but in any

M.O. 2008-05, s. 6.5.

(2) Except in Ontario, if, after a receipt for a final prospectus is issu
completion of the distribution under the final prospectus, a material
issuer must file an amendment to the final prospectus as soon as
event within 10 days after the day the change occurs. %

(2) Except in Ontario, if, after a receipt for a final prosp '§0r an amendment to the
final prospectus is issued but before the completion o istribution under the final
prospectus or the amendment to the final prospegiuSJsecurities in addition to the
securities previously disclosed in the final prosp éor the amendment to the final
prospectus are to be distributed, an amendmer&io he final prospectus disclosing the
additional securities must be filed, as SCN\ as practicable, but in any event
within 10 days after the decision to mcreas number of securities offered.

must issue a receipt for an amen nt to a final prospectus filed under this section
unless the regulator or, in Que he securities regulatory authority considers that
there are grounds set out in les legislation that would cause the regulator or, in
Québec, the securities regu %authorlty not to issue the receipt for a prospectus.

(3) Except in Ontario, the regu ato§ &\m Québec, the securities regulatory authority

4) Except in Ontar o}b%regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority
must not refuse to a receipt under subsection (3) without giving the issuer who
filed the prospec@ n opportunity to be heard or, in Québec, to present observations

and, if applica produce documents to complete its record.

(5) Ex n Ontario, an issuer must not proceed with a distribution or additional
distrib fi an amendment to a final prospectus is required to be filed until a receipt
for endment to the final prospectus is issued by the regulator or, in Québec, the
seldytitles regulatory authority.

Subsection (5) does not apply to an investment fund in continuous distribution.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 6.6.
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PART 7 NON-FIXED PRICE OFFERINGS AND REDUCTION OF OFFERING
PRICE UNDER A FINAL PROSPECTUS

7.1. Application

This Part does not apply to an investment fund in continuous distribution.

™
N
‘19

(1) A person distributing a security under a prospectus must do so @u d price.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 7.1.

7.2. Non-fixed price offerings and reduction of offering price y\

(2) Despite subsection (1), securities may be distributed for ca hon-fixed prices
under a prospectus if the securities have received a rating, rovisional or final
basis, from at least one designated rating organization or its D& ffiliate at the time of

(@) the filing of the preliminary short form prﬁus, if the issuer is filing a
prospectus in the form of a short form prospectus u& egulation 44-101 respecting

Short Form Prospectus Distributions (chapter V-1. ), or
(b) the filing of the long form prospeq@.‘

3) Despite subsection (1), if securities%e distributed for cash under a prospectus,
the price of the securities may be de ré&s@d from the initial offering price disclosed in
the prospectus and, after such a d se, changed from time to time to an amount not
greater than the initial offering ithout filing an amendment to the prospectus to
reflect the change, if

(@) the securiti @dlstrlbuted through one or more underwriters that have
agreed to purchase a securities at a specified price,

(b) the eeds to be received by the issuer or selling securityholders are
disclosed in t pectus as being fixed, and

distribu@tnder the prospectus at the initial offering price disclosed in the final
prs.

% Despite subsections (2) and (3), the price at which securities may be acquired on
\e ercise of rights must be fixed.

(c)llg%e underwriters have made a reasonable effort to sell all of the securities

M.O. 2008-05, s. 7.2; M.O. 2013-08, s. 8.
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PART 8 BEST EFFORTS DISTRIBUTIONS
8.1. Application

This Part does not apply to an investment fund in continuous distribution.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 8.1.
Q>
8.2. Distribution period (L

. e \ :
(1) Unless an amendment to the final prospectus is filed and the re% ror, in
Québec, the securities regulatory authority has issued a receipt for th ndment, if
securities are being distributed on a best efforts basis, the distributio cease within
90 days after the date of the receipt for the final prospectus. $

(2) Unless a further amendment to the final prospectus is&{ and the regulator or,
in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has iss a receipt for the further
amendment, if an amendment to a final prospectus | and the regulator or, in
Québec, the securities regulatory authority has iss % receipt for the amendment
under subsection (1), the distribution must cease@n 90 days after the date of the
receipt for the amendment to the final prospectu&

(3)  The total period of the distribution ?@g}subsections (1) and (2) must not end

more than 180 days from the date of receipt {&r the final prospectus.
M)

M.O. 2008-05, 5. 8.2. N

8.3.  Minimum amount of f@“

If securities are b i@istributed on a best efforts basis, other than an offering of
securities to be distri tZB ontinuously, and the prospectus discloses that a minimum
amount of funds m raised,

(@) t uer must appoint a registered dealer authorized to make the
distribution nadian financial institution, or a lawyer who is a practicing member in

with a law society of a jurisdiction in which the securities are being
r a notary in Québec, to hold in trust all funds received from subscriptions
inimum amount of funds stipulated in the final prospectus has been raised,
S

\ (b) if the minimum amount of funds is not raised within the appropriate period
of the distribution prescribed by section 8.2, the person holding the funds in trust
referred to in paragraph (a) must return the funds to the subscribers without any

deductions.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 8.3.
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PART 9 REQUIREMENTS FOR FILING A LONG FORM PROSPECTUS

9.1. Required documents for filing a preliminary or pro forma long form
prospectus

(1)  Anissuer that files a preliminary or pro forma long form prospectus must '\b‘
(@) file the following with the preliminary or pro forma long form prospef@

0] in the case of a preliminary long form prospectus, a sigF{s} ?:opy of
the preliminary long form prospectus;

(i) a copy of the following documents, and an@ndments to the

following documents, that have not previously been filed: %
(A) articles of incorporation, amal %n, continuation or any
other constating or establishing documents of the i [, unless the constating or
t

establishing document is a statutory or regulatory in56 :

(B) by-laws or other c%:gpondlng instruments currently in
effect,

(C) any securityholégyor voting trust agreement that the issuer
has access to and that can reasonab e regarded as material to an investor in
securities of the issuer, &

(D) an@rityholders’ rights plans or other similar plans, and

(E) §other contract of the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer
that creates or can §e nably be regarded as materially affecting the rights or

obligations of the is securityholders generally;

(QQ‘a copy of any material contract required to be filed under
sectlon93

(|v) if the issuer is an investment fund, the documents filed under
sut& aphs (ii) and (iii) must include a copy of

§ (A) any declaration of trust or trust agreement of the investment
\\1 d, limited partnership agreement, or any other constating or establishing documents
of the investment fund,

(B) any agreement of the investment fund or the trustee with the
manager of the investment fund,
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(C) any agreement of the investment fund, the manager or
trustee with the portfolio advisers of the investment fund,

(D) any agreement of the investment fund, the manager or
trustee with the custodian of the investment fund, and

(E) any agreement of the investment fund, the manager V‘
trustee with the principal distributor of the investment fund,; Q'\

(iv.1) if the issuer is a scholarship plan, in addition to the docunyinft}'filed
under subparagraph (iv), a copy of the scholarship plan contract for the schéTw hip plan
under the prospectus;

(v) if the issuer has a mineral project, the technic orts required to
be filed with a preliminary long form prospectus under Regu 43-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects (chapter V-1.1, r vand

(vi)  a copy of each report or valuation r{%ﬁ% to in the preliminary long
form prospectus for which a consent is required to b under section 10.1 and that
has not previously been filed, other than a technich rt that

(A) deals with a minera&%ject or oil and gas activities, and

(B) isnot otherwiseﬂquired to be filed under subparagraph (v);

M)
(vii) a copy of any late version of the marketing materials required
to be filed under paragraph 13.7 »and
(b)  deliver to the tor or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority,

concurrently with the fili the preliminary or pro forma long form prospectus, the
following: %

0] ® the case of a pro forma prospectus, a copy of the pro forma
prospectus bl d to show changes and the text of deletions from the latest

prospectUS@ vously filed;
QS) (i) a completed personal information form for
<( (A) each director and executive officer of an issuer,

\E (B) if the issuer is an investment fund, each director and
executive officer of the manager of the issuer,

(C) each promoter of the issuer, and
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(D) if the promoter is not an individual, each director and
executive officer of the promoter;

(i) if a financial statement of an issuer or a business included in, or
incorporated by reference into, a preliminary or pro forma long form prospectus is
accompanied by an unsigned auditor’s report, a signed letter addressed to the regulator
or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority from the auditor of the issuer or of t
business, as applicable, prepared in accordance with the form suggested ch'ﬁﬂs
circumstance in the Handbook;

(iv)  a copy of any template version of the marketing materials reﬁé}ea to be
delivered under paragraph 13.7(4)(c) or 13.12(2)(c). Q~

(2) Despite subparagraph (1)(b)(ii), an issuer is not requir deliver to the
regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a p | information form
for an individual if the issuer, another issuer or, if the issuer 4 investment fund, the
manager of the investment fund issuer or another inves t fund issuer, previously
delivered a personal information form for the individ% all of the following are

satisfied: O

(@) the certificate and consent incILgsv in or attached to the personal
information form was executed by the individuQ ithin 3 years preceding the date of
filing of the preliminary or pro-forma long fo, rospectus;

(b)  the responses given by, th’g‘mdividual to questions 6 through 10 of the
individual's personal information fq, re correct as at a date that is within 30 days of
the filing of the preliminary or prag long form prospectus;

(c) if the person mation form was previously delivered to the regulator
or, in Québec, the securifj gulatory authority by another issuer, the issuer delivers to
the regulator or, in Q é& , the securities regulatory authority, concurrently with the
filing of the prelimi r pro forma long form prospectus, a copy of the previously
delivered perso @ormation form or alternative information that is satisfactory to the
regulator or, i ec, the securities regulatory authority.

3) Ung 14, 2016, subparagraph (1)(b)(ii) does not apply to an issuer in respect
of the ry of a personal information form for an individual if the issuer or, if the
iss an investment fund, the manager of the investment fund issuer, previously
denered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a
ecessor personal information form for the individual and all of the following are
tisfied:

(@) the certificate and consent included in or attached to the predecessor

personal information form was executed by the individual within 3 years preceding the
date of filing of the preliminary or pro-forma long form prospectus;
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(b)  the responses given by the individual to questions 4(B) and (C) and
guestions 6 through 9 or, in the case of a TSX/TSXV personal information form in effect
after September 8, 2011, questions 6 through 10, of the individual's predecessor
personal information form are correct as at a date that is within 30 days of the filing of
the preliminary or pro-forma long form prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 9.1; M.O. 2013-03, s. 4; M.O. 2013-08, s. 9; M.O. 2013-13, s. 2. '\b‘

9.2. Required documents for filing a final long form prospectus (19
An issuer that files a final long form prospectus must ({,\\

0] a signed copy of the final long form prospe@

(@) file the following with the final long form prospectus:

(i) a copy of any document described @r subparagraph 9.1(a)(ii)
that has not previously been filed; %Q

(i) a copy of each material c@:t required to be filed under
section 9.3 that has not previously been filed uncg[ bparagraph 9.1(a)(iii);

(iv) acopy of any docume?ﬁg};ribed under subparagraph 9.1(a)(iv) or
(iv.1) that has not previously been filed;
M)

(v) a copy of any rt or valuation referred to in the final long form
prospectus, for which a consentg uired to be filed under section 10.1 and that has
not previously been filed, othe ?n“a technical report that

(A) Is with a mineral project or oil and gas activities of the
issuer, and 3

@ is not otherwise required to be filed under
subparagraph @, (v) or 9.1(a)(vi);

proces e issuer in the form set out in Appendix B, if an issuer is incorporated or

Ig%mi) a submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of
org @ in a foreign jurisdiction and does not have an office in Canada;

§ (vii)  a submission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of
ocess of

(A) each selling securityholder, and

(A.1) each director of the issuer, and
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(B) any other person that provides or signs a certificate under
Part 5 or other securities legislation, other than an issuer,

in the form set out in Appendix C, if the person is incorporated or
organized in a foreign jurisdiction and does not have an office in Canada or is an
individual who resides outside of Canada;

(viii)  the consents required to be filed under section 10.1; Q

(L

(ix)  the written consent of the credit supporter to the inclwﬁ) of its

financial statements in the final long form prospectus, if financial statemen a credit
supporter are required under Item 33 of Form 41-101F1 to be includ final long
form prospectus and a certificate of the credit supporter is uired under

section 5.12 to be included in the final long form prospectus;

(x) an undertaking of the issuer to file & periodic and timely
disclosure of a credit supporter similar to the disclosure py&@ded under section 12.1 of

Form 44-101F1 of Regulation 44-101 respecting Shor Prospectus Distributions
(chapter V-1.1, r. 16), so long as the securities g distributed are issued and
outstanding; &

(xi)  An undertaking of the iaibér to provide to its securityholders
separate financial statements for an oper‘a@ entity that investors need to make an
informed decision about investing in the issugt’s securities if

M)
an income trust that is formed as a mutual fund
e Tax Act (R.S.C. 1985, c. 1 (5™ Suppl.)), other
INed in section 1.1 of Regulation 81-106 respecting
losure (chapter V-1.1, r. 42),

(A) theissu
trust as that term is used in the
than an "investment fund" a
Investment Fund Continuo

( SXTe underlying business or income producing assets of the
operating entity e net cash flow available for distribution to the issuer’s
securityholders,

Q (C) the issuer’s performance and prospects depend primarily on

the perforcgé!e and operations of the operating entity;
Q (xi) if an agreement, contract or declaration of trust under
su&a agraph (ii) or (iv) or a material contract under subparagraph (iii) has not been
cuted before the filing of the final long form prospectus but will be executed on or
fore the completion of the distribution, the issuer must file with the securities
regulatory authority, no later than the time of filing of the final long form prospectus, an
undertaking of the issuer to the securities regulatory authority to file the agreement,
contract, declaration of trust or material contract promptly and in any event no later

than 7 days after execution of the agreement, contract, declaration of trust or material
contract;
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(xii.1) if a document referred to in subparagraph (ii) does not need to be
executed in order to become effective and has not become effective before the filing of
the final long form prospectus, but will become effective on or before the completion of
the distribution, the issuer must file with the securities regulatory authority, no later than
the time of filing of the final long form prospectus, an undertaking of the issuer to the
securities regulatory authority to file the document promptly and in any event no Iat&
than 7 days after the document becomes effective; and Q\

(xiii)  for distributions of non-voting securities, an undertakj g:}f the
issuer to give notice to holders of non-voting securities of a meeting of secufr‘? olders if
a notice of such a meeting is given to its registered holders of voting se Qn.e :

(xiv) a copy of any template version of the marketi terials required
to be filed under paragraph 13.7(1)(e), 13.7(7)(a), 13.8(1)(e) o N(7)(b) that has not
previously been filed; and

(b) deliver to the regulator or, in Québec, thgé@rities regulatory authority,
no later than the filing of the final long form prospect&

0] a copy of the final long form fogpectus blacklined to show changes
from the preliminary or pro forma long form pros&%tus; and

(i) if the issuer has mad‘elan application to list the securities being
distributed on an exchange in Cana a,'& sopy of a communication in writing from the
exchange stating that the applicati r listing has been made and has been accepted
subject to the issuer meeting the&\ rrements for listing of the exchange;

(i)  a copy template version of the marketing materials required
to be delivered under raph 13.7(4)(c), 13.8(4)(c) or 13.12(2)(c) that has not
previously been d &

elivege
M.O. 2008-05, s. §O 2013-03, s. 5; M.O. 2013-08, s. 10; M.O. 2013-13, s. 3.
' Kontracts

9.3 MateQ
(1) Qggs previously filed, an issuer that files a long form prospectus must file a

maté ontract entered into

§ (@) since the beginning of the last financial year ending before the date of the
ospectus, or

(b) before the beginning of the last financial year ending before the date of the
prospectus if that material contract is still in effect.
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(2) Despite subsection (1), an issuer is not required to file a material contract
entered into in the ordinary course of business unless the material contract is

(@) a contract to which directors, officers, promoters, selling securityholders or
underwriters are parties, other than a contract of employment,

(b) a continuing contract to sell the majority of the issuer's product V‘
services or to purchase the majority of the issuer’s requirements of goods, servicg,\)r
raw materials, (L
. . A\
(c) a franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, f(fr’éhla, trade
secret, process or trade name,

(d) a financing or credit agreement with terms that ha@fect correlation

with anticipated cash distributions, %
(e) an external management or external adminis 'O&nagreement, or
() a contract on which the issuer’s busine@i&bstantially dependent.

(3) A provision in a material contract filed pugsuawt to subsections (1) or (2) may be
omitted or marked to be unreadable if an exe\ ive officer of the issuer reasonably
believes that disclosure of that provision W(?L@Je seriously prejudicial to the interests of
the issuer or would violate confidentiality‘\pro £SioNS.

M)

(4) Subsection (3) does not apphr™\the provision relates to
(@)  debt covenants @aios in financing or credit agreements,

(b) events of or other terms relating to the termination of the material
contract, or

(c) oth @rms necessary for understanding the impact of the material
contract on th@ness of the issuer.
5) If ision is omitted or marked to be unreadable under subsection (3), the
issuer include a description of the type of information that has been omitted or

mar, @ be unreadable immediately after the provision in the copy of the material
coN¢gact filed by the issuer.

Despite subsections (1) and (2), an issuer is not required to file a material
contract entered into before January 1, 2002 if the issuer is a reporting issuer in at least
one jurisdiction immediately before filing the prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 9.3.
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PART 10 CONSENTS AND LICENCES, REGISTRATIONS AND APPROVALS
10.1. Consents of experts
(1)  Anissuer must file the written consent of
(@) any solicitor, auditor, accountant, engineer, or appraiser, '\b‘
(b) any notary in Québec, and (19
(c) any person whose profession or business gives authority to(a'}atement

made by that person.

amendment to a prospectus directly or, if applicable, in a dg t incorporated by

(1.1) Subsection (1) does not apply unless the person is named i rospectus or an
reference into the prospectus or amendment, @f

(@) as having prepared or certified any ;&g the prospectus or the
amendment,

(b)  as having opined on financial stat s from which selected information
included in the prospectus has been derived a |ch audit opinion is referred to in the
prospectus directly or in a document incorp by reference, or

(c) as having prepared o eNm:d a report, valuation, statement or opinion
referred to in the prospectus or th&a&endment directly or in a document incorporated

by reference. ?\

(2) A consent referred toy section (1) must

the final prospectu d or, for the purposes of future financial statements that have
been incorporateé reference in a prospectus under subsection 15.2(3), no later than

@) be filed §o\$i~r than the time the final prospectus or the amendment to

the date that t inancial statements are filed,
(b) ate that the person being named consents
O% () to being named, and
% (i) to the use of that person’s report, valuation, statement or opinion,

(© refer to the report, valuation, statement or opinion stating the date of the
report, valuation, statement or opinion, and

(d)  contain a statement that the person referred to in subsection (1)
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0] has read the prospectus, and

(i) has no reason to believe that there are any misrepresentations in
the information contained in it that are

(A)  derived from the report, valuation, statement or opinion, or

services performed by the person in connection with the report, financial stat ts,

(B)  within the knowledge of the person as a resulté@v e
valuation, statement or opinion.

“\

3) In addition to any other requirement of this section, the consen Q@ auditor or
accountant must also state :

(@) the dates of the financial statements on which th rt of the person is

made, and t\
(b) that the person has no reason to ?/e that there are any
misrepresentations in the information contained in thecs ectus that are

0] derived from the financial Et‘a ments on which the person has
reported, or )\

(i) within the knowledge gﬁhe person as a result of the audit of the
financial statements. *9\ \

(4)  Subsection (1) does not to a designated rating organization or its DRO
affiliate that issues a rating to ecurities being distributed under the prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 10.1; V\/I3 13-03, s. 6; M.O. 2013-08, s. 11.
10.2. Licences,r tions and approvals

If the pq s of the distribution will be used to substantially fund a material
ha

undertakin would constitute a material departure from the business or operations
of the is nd the issuer has not obtained all material licences, registrations and
approv cessary for the stated principal use of proceeds,

<% a) the issuer must appoint a registered dealer authorized to make the
%ri ution, a Canadian financial institution, or a lawyer who is a practicing member in
od standing with a law society of a jurisdiction in which the securities are being
distributed, or a notary in Québec, to hold in trust all funds received from subscriptions
until all material licences, registrations and approvals necessary for the stated principal
use of proceeds have been obtained, and
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(b) if all material licences, registrations and approvals necessary for the
operation of the stated principal use of proceeds have not been obtained within 90 days
from the date of receipt of the final prospectus, the trustee must return the funds to
subscribers.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 10.2.

™
N
‘19

N
Securities that are sold to create the over-allocation position in (lﬁon with a
distribution under a prospectus must be distributed under the prospe .

M.O. 2008-05, s. 11.1. @
<&

11.2. Distribution of securities under a prospectus to nderwriter

PART 11 OVER-ALLOCATION AND UNDERWRITERS

11.1. Over-allocation

Except as required under section 11.3, no per %ay distribute securities under
a prospectus to any person acting as an underwr'y( connection with the distribution
of securities under the prospectus, other than

(@ an over-allotment option graq&@\o one or more persons for acting as an
underwriter in connection with the distributiofpor any security issuable or transferable on
the exercise of such an over-allotmen obﬁm; or

Qa'id as compensation to one or more persons for

of other securities that are distributed under the
or principal amount of the securities issued as
compensation, on an asg verted basis, does not in the aggregate exceed 10% of
the total of the base offer®y on an as-if converted basis plus any securities that would
be acquired upont rcise of an over-allotment option.

(b)  securities issued
acting as an underwriter in rg
prospectus, where the n

2
M.O. 2008-05Q‘{1'.2; M.O. 2013-03, s. 7.

11.3. Takﬁgﬁloy underwriter

%n underwriter has agreed to purchase a specified number or principal amount
of @ ecurities at a specified price, the underwriter must take up the securities, if at all,
\ in 42 days after the date of the receipt for the final prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 11.3.
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PART 12 RESTRICTED SECURITIES
12.1. Application

This Part does not apply to

(@)  securities of mutual funds, '\b‘

(b)  securities that carry a right to vote subject to a restriction on the nuﬁ@ or
percentage of securities that may be voted or owned by persons that are not iti% ns or
residents of Canada or that are otherwise considered as a result of any | plicable
to the issuer to be non-Canadians, but only to the extent of the restrictiorQ,n

(c) securities that are subject to a restriction, imposed y law governing

the issuer, on the level of ownership of the securities by a p or combination of
persons, but only to the extent of the restriction.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 12.1. %((3
12.2. Use of restricted security term &O

(1)  Anissuer must not refer to a security in&%spectus by a term or a defined term
that includes the word "common™ unless t???curity is an equity security to which are
attached voting rights exercisable in all cirgamstances, irrespective of the number or
percentage of securities owned, that afknot less, per security, than the voting rights
attached to any other outstanding ity of the issuer.

(2)  An issuer must not ref
the word “preference” or *“

equity security, to whiclg
security of the issuer.

a prospectus to a term or defined term that includes
ed”, unless the security is a security, other than an
ttached a preference or right over any class of equity

(3) If restricte @urities are referred to in the constating documents of the issuer by
a term that i rent from the appropriate restricted security term, the restricted
securities me described, in one place only in the prospectus, by the term used in
the constgnriglocuments of the issuer; provided that, the description is not on the front
page &« prospectus and is in the same type face and type size as that used

% A class of securities that is or may become restricted securities must be referred
\S) in a prospectus using a term or a defined term that includes the appropriate restricted
security term.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 12.2.
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12.3. Prospectus filing eligibility

(1) An issuer must not file a prospectus under which restricted securities, subject
securities or securities that are, directly or indirectly, convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, restricted securities or subject securities, are distributed unless

(@) the distribution has received prior majority approval of the securityholde
of the issuer in accordance with applicable law, including approval on a class ba&INIf
required and excluding any votes attaching at the time to securities held, di or
indirectly, by affiliates of the issuer or control persons of the issuer, or y\\

(b) at the time of any restricted security reorganization d to the
securities to be distributed Q/

0] the restricted security reorganization @d prior majority
I

approval of the securityholders of the issuer in accordance wi icable law, including
approval on a class basis if required and excluding any Qs ttaching at the time to
securities held, directly or indirectly, by affiliates of theég@ or control persons of the

issuer, O

(i) the issuer was a reporting isgueMin at least one jurisdiction, and

(i)  no purposes or busiqﬁ reasons for the creation of restricted
securities were disclosed that are incons;iite with the purpose of the distribution.

M)
(2) For each approval referred subsection (1), the issuer must have provided
prior written disclosure in an in% tion circular or notice to its securityholders that

included 0

(@) the name h affiliate of the issuer that was a beneficial owner of
securities of the issu r%l the number of securities beneficially owned, directly or
indirectly, by the a@as of the date of the information circular or notice to the extent
known to the iss& er reasonable inquiry,

ﬁg name of each control person and the number of securities beneficially
or indirectly, by the control person as of the date of the information
tice, to the extent known to the issuer after reasonable inquiry,

<(Q:) a statement of the number of votes attaching to the securities that were
@uded for the purpose of the approval to the extent known to the issuer after

\easonable inquiry, and
(d)  the purpose and business reasons for the creation of restricted securities.

(3)  Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply if
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(@) the securities offered by the prospectus are of an existing class of
restricted securities that were created before December 21, 1984,

(b) the issuer was a private issuer immediately before filing the prospectus,

(© the securities offered by the prospectus are of the same class as
securities distributed under a previous prospectus that was filed by an issuer that W8§‘
at the time of filing the previous prospectus, a private issuer, Q'\

(d) the securities offered by the prospectus are previously unissued*j::slﬁcted
securities distributed by way of stock dividend in the ordinary course to se€yrityholders
instead of a cash dividend if at the time of distribution there is a publish ket for the
restricted securities, <b

(e) the securities offered by the prospectus are distril s a stock split that
takes the form of a distribution of previously unissued restr»(&J securities by way of
stock dividend to holders of the same class of restricte Curities if at the time of
distribution there is a published market for the restricted ities and the distribution is
part of a concurrent distribution by way of stock _di nd to holders of all equity
securities under which all outstanding equity securj’\éﬁ the issuer are increased in the
same proportion, or

() as of a date not more than 7(@'} before the date of the prospectus, the
issuer expects that in each local jurisdictiofin which the prospectus will be filed the
number of securities of each class of §y securities held by registered holders whose
last address as shown on the s of the issuer is in the local jurisdiction, or
beneficially owned by persons local jurisdiction, will be less than 2% of the
outstanding number of secyiNgé of the class after giving effect to the proposed

distribution.
N

M.O. 2008-05, s. 12.3
PART 13 A@ING AND MARKETING IN CONNECTION  WITH
E

PROSPECTU RINGS OF ISSUERS OTHER THAN INVESTMENT FUNDS

Z,
M.O. 200¢= art 13; M.O. 2013-13, s. 4.

13&®%Iication

% This Part applies to issuers other than investment funds filing a prospectus in the
\b m of Form 41-101F2 or Form 41-101F3.

(2) In this Part,
“‘comparables” means information that compares an issuer to other issuers;
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“convertible security” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities (c. V-1.1, r. 20);

“exchangeable security” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of
Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities;

“underlying security” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 w‘
Regulation 45-102 respecting Resale of Securities; Q'\

securities of an issuer being made contemporaneously in the United State America
and Canada by way of a prospectus filed with a securities regulato ority in a
jurisdiction of Canada and a U.S. prospectus filed with the SEC; <b

“U.S. cross-border offering” means an offering of secupti f an issuer being
made contemporaneously in the United States of AmericaA% anada by way of a
s

“U.S. cross-border initial public offering” means an initial public gffe:rlqg of

prospectus filed with a securities regulatory authority in a,j iction of Canada and a
U.S. prospectus filed with the SEC, and includes aé&/cross-border initial public
offering;

“U.S. prospectus” means a prospectus @as been prepared in accordance
with the disclosure and other requirements of Lk » federal securities law for an offering
of securities registered under the 1933 Actq/Q

document to a person without al the person to retain, or make a copy of, the
document.

M.O. 2013-13, s. 4. @?\

(3) In this Part, for greater certai tx’,\a‘sreference to “provides” includes showing a

13.1. Legend for C@Bmations during the waiting period

(1) A prelimi rospectus notice or other communication used in connection with
a prospectus g during the waiting period must contain the following legend or
a

words to th% e effect:

Qg)eliminary prospectus containing important information relating to these
sec @ has been filed with securities commissions or similar authorities in certain
jurlSdiclions of Canada. The preliminary prospectus is still subject to completion or

%&ndment. Copies of the preliminary prospectus may be obtained from [insert name

d contact information for dealer or other relevant person or entity.] There will not be

any sale or any acceptance of an offer to buy the securities until a receipt for the final
prospectus has been issued.”.
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(2) If the preliminary prospectus notice or other communication is in writing, include
the wording required under subsection (1) in bold type that is at least as large as that
used generally in the body of the text.

3) Subsection (1) does not apply to standard term sheets and marketing materials.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 13.1; M.O. 2013-13, s. 4.
13.2. Legend for communications following receipt for the final prospectus Q\

(1) A final prospectus notice or other communication used in connect’({ru ith a
prospectus offering following the issuance of a receipt for the final pro S must
contain the following legend or words to the same effect:

detailed information about the securities being offered. Copies rospectus may be
obtained from [insert name and contact information for dealex ther relevant person
or entity.] Investors should read the prospectus before ma@a investment decision.”

“This offering is only made by prospectus. The prospectusg %/alns important

(2) If the final prospectus notice or other comm ion is in writing, include the
wording required under subsection (1) in bold typ @IS at least as large as that used
generally in the body of the text. b‘

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply to stap@'d\ term sheets and marketing materials.

M.O. 2008-05, 5. 13.2; M.O. 2013-1345.'&«
13.3. (Revoked). §~

M.O. 2008-05, s. 13.3; M.O -03, s. 8; M.O. 2013-13, s. 6.

13.4. Testing of thw@?s\exemption — IPO issuers
(1) In this secj ‘Public issuer” means an issuer that
@) @% reporting issuer in a jurisdiction of Canada;
QS) is an SEC issuer;
<(Q:) has a class of securities that has been assigned a ticker symbol by the
\%ancial Industry Regulatory Authority in the United States of America for use on any of

over-the-counter markets in the United States of America;

(d) has a class of securities that have been traded on an over-the-counter
market with respect to which trade data is publicly reported; or
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(e) has any of its securities listed, quoted or traded on a marketplace outside
of Canada or any other facility outside of Canada for bringing together buyers and
sellers of securities and with respect to which trade data is publicly reported.

(2) Subject to subsections (3) to (7), the prospectus requirement does not apply to a
solicitation of an expression of interest in order to ascertain if there would be sufficient
interest in an initial public offering of securities by an issuer pursuant to a long forw‘

prospectus, if Q\

(@) the issuer has a reasonable expectation of filing a preliminary,{?‘ form
prospectus in respect of an initial public offering in at least one jurisdiction ofpa ada;

(b)  the issuer is not a public issuer before the date of t liminary long
form prospectus;

(© an investment dealer makes the solicitation on %of the issuer;

(d) the issuer provided written authorization t(%‘ mvestment dealer to act on
its behalf before the investment dealer made the soligitatlah;

(e) the solicitation is made to an accre%t‘e investor; and

() subject to subsection (3), th?l%'}er and the investment dealer keep all
nf

information about the proposed offering co ntial until the earlier of
M)

(1) the informatio {ng generally disclosed in a preliminary long form
prospectus or otherwise, or

(i) the iss@onﬁrming in writing that it will not be pursuing the

potential offering. Sv

3) An investm aler must not solicit an expression of interest from an
accredited inves rsuant to subsection (2) unless

@) @%Nritten material provided to the accredited investor

QS) 0] is approved in writing by the issuer before it is provided,
<( (i) is marked confidential, and
\é (i)  contains a legend stating that the material does not provide full
disclosure of all material facts relating to the issuer, the securities or the offering and is

not subject to liability for misrepresentations under applicable securities legislation; and

(b) before providing the investor with any information about the issuer, the
securities or the offering, the investment dealer obtains confirmation in writing from the
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investor that the investor will keep information about the proposed offering confidential,
and will not use the information for any purpose other than assessing the investor’s
interest in the offering, until the earlier of

0] the information being generally disclosed in a preliminary long form
prospectus or otherwise, or

(i) the issuer confirming in writing that it will not be pursuir@ae

potential offering. (L

4) If any investment dealer solicits an expression of interest foll}%u\ant to
subsection (2), the issuer must not file a preliminary long form prospe N respect of
an initial public offering until the date which is at least 15 days after, ate on which
any investment dealer last solicited an expression of interest an accredited
investor pursuant to that subsection. &%

(5)  Anissuer relying on the exemption in subsection (ZQ/Qst keep

(@) a written record of any investment de at it authorized to act on its
behalf in making solicitations in reliance on the ex n; and

(b)  acopy of any written authorizationibéferred to in paragraph (2)(d).

(6) If an investment dealer solicits% expression of interest pursuant to
subsection (2), the investment deale&fm keep

(@ a written record of Q‘accredited investor that it solicited in reliance on
the exemption; 0

(b) a copy of written material and written approval referred to in
subparagraph (3)(a)(i); a%

(c) an n confirmations referred to in paragraph (3)(b).
(7 Sub@gn (2) does not apply if

QS) any of the issuer’s securities are held by a control person that is a public

issys(yhd

§ (b) the initial public offering of the issuer would be a material fact or material
ange with respect to the control person.

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.
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13.5. Standard term sheets during the waiting period

(1) An investment dealer that provides a standard term sheet to a potential investor
during the waiting period is exempt from the prospectus requirement with respect to
providing the standard term sheet if

(@) the standard term sheet complies with subsections (2) and (3); '\b‘

(b) other than contact information for the investment dealer or undeﬁw‘%
all information in the standard term sheet concerning the issuer, the secum%n the
offering is disclosed in, or derived from, the preliminary prospectus or any
and

dment;

(©) a receipt for the preliminary prospectus has bee@ed in the local

jurisdiction. %
(2) A standard term sheet provided under subsection ust be dated and include
the following legend, or words to the same effect, on th age:

“A preliminary prospectus containing imj@nt information relating to the
securities described in this document has be ed with the securities regulatory
authorit[y/ies] in [each of/certain of the provmc %ﬁ‘ovinces and territories of Canada].

The preliminary prospectus is stq/subject to completion. Copies of the
preliminary prospectus may be ob ahed from [insert contact information for the
investment dealer or underwriters ‘H&ere will not be any sale or any acceptance of an
offer to buy the securities until a &t for the final prospectus has been issued.

This document does ovide full disclosure of all material facts relating to the
securities offered. Invest ould read the preliminary prospectus, the final prospectus
and any amendment fQr Qeclosure of those facts, especially risk factors relating to the
securities offered, @making an investment decision.”.

3) A stan@‘rerm sheet provided under subsection (1) may contain only the
information peféxred to in subsection (2) and the following information in respect of the
issuer, th@ﬂrmes or the offering:

ng the name of the issuer;

§ (b)  the jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction in which the issuer’'s head office is
ated,;

(c) the statute under which the issuer is incorporated, continued or organized

or, if the issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or foreign
jurisdiction under which it is established and exists;
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(d)  a brief description of the business of the issuer;

(e)  a brief description of the securities;

() the price or price range of the securities;

(g) the total number or doI_Iz_;lr amount of the securities, or range of the t'o\%k
number or dollar amount of the securities; Q

(h) the terms of any over-allotment option; ,\:1'

(1) the names of the underwriters; Q:L

0) whether the offering is on a firm commitment or best basis;

(K) the amount of the underwriting commission, feeé&%count;

0] the proposed or expected closing date of t ring;

(m)  a brief description of the use of proce&(@

(n)  the exchange on whiqh thg secuf{h% are proposed to l?(_e Iisted., prqvided
that the standard term sheet complies wit requirements of securities legislation for
listing representations; ?\\

(o) in the case of debt se ies, the maturity date of the debt securities and a
brief description of any interest p on the debt securities;

(p) in the case @ferred shares, a brief description of any dividends
payable on the securitie ?\

(@) in the of convertible securities, a brief description of the underlying
securities into whi € convertible securities are convertible;

(9] '*the case of exchangeable securities, a brief description of the
underlyin&ﬂrities into which the exchangeable securities are exchangeable;

@; in the case of restricted securities, a brief description of the restriction;

N\

®) in the case of securities for which a credit supporter has provided a
arantee or alternative credit support, a brief description of the credit supporter and the
guarantee or alternative credit support provided;

(u)  whether the securities are redeemable or retractable;
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(v) a statement that the securities are eligible, or are expected to be eligible,
for investment in registered retirement savings plans, tax-free savings accounts or other
registered plans, if the issuer has received, or reasonably expects to receive, a legal
opinion that the securities are so eligible;

(w)  contact information for the investment dealer or underwriters.

consisting of no more than three lines of text in type that is at least as large as t ed
generally in the body of the standard term sheet.

“
M.O. 2013-13, s. 7. Q:l'

4) For the purposes of subsection (3), “brief description” means a descg’ h&n

13.6. Standard term sheets after a receipt for a final prospect

(1) An investment dealer must not provide a standard %’sheet to a potential
investor after a receipt for a final prospectus or any amend ts issued unless

(@) the standard term sheet complies with 8@tions (2) and (3);

(b)  other than contact information for ¢heNnvestment dealer or underwriters,
all information in the standard term sheet com& ing the issuer, the securities or the
offering is disclosed in, or derived from, th prospectus or any amendment; and

(c) a receipt for the final pgﬁé@hjs has been issued in the local jurisdiction.

(2) A standard term sheet pr under subsection (1) must be dated and include
the following legend, or wordst same effect, on the first page:

“A final prospect @taining important information relating to the securities
described in this docu é% as been filed with the securities regulatory authorit[y/ies] in
[each of/certain of @Evinces/provinces and territories of Canada].

Copies& final prospectus may be obtained from [insert contact information

t dealer or underwriters].

for the inve@

qgaocument does not provide full disclosure of all material facts relating to the
sec @ offered. Investors should read the final prospectus, and any amendment, for
disSosUre of those facts, especially risk factors relating to the securities offered, before
\ ing an investment decision.”.
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(3) A standard term sheet provided under subsection (1) may contain only the
information referred to in subsection (2) and the information referred to in
subsection 13.5(3).

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

13.7. Marketing materials during the waiting period '\b‘
(1) An investment dealer that provides marketing materials to a potential E@tor
during the waiting period is exempt from the prospectus requirement with espect to

providing the marketing materials if (L

(@) the marketing materials comply with subsections (2) to (N¢ 3

(b)  other than contact information for the investme er or underwriters
and any comparables, all information in the marketing materi ncerning the issuer,
the securities or the offering is disclosed in, or derived fropfZh€e preliminary prospectus
or any amendment; %

(© other than prescribed language, the @ting materials contain the same
cautionary language in bold type as contained og‘t cover page, and in the summary,
of the preliminary prospectus; )\

(d) atemplate version of the ma&ling materials is approved in writing by the
issuer and the lead underwriter befoEW&marketing materials are provided;

(e) atemplate version Q're marketing materials is filed on or before the day
that the marketing materials a@ provided;

() a receipt f preliminary prospectus has been issued in the local
jurisdiction; and %

() the ment dealer provides a copy of the preliminary prospectus and
any amendmeQ the marketing materials.

(2) If plate version of the marketing materials is approved in writing by the

issuer ad underwriter under paragraph (1)(d) and filed under paragraph (1)(e), an

invg( t dealer may provide a limited-use version of the marketing materials that
\é (a) has a date that is different than the template version,

(b) contains a cover page referring to the investment dealer or underwriters or
a particular investor or group of investors,

(c) contains contact information for the investment dealer or underwriters, or
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(d) has text in a format, including the type’s font, colour or size, that is
different than the template version.

3) If a template version of the marketing materials is divided into separate sections
for separate subjects and is approved in writing by the issuer and lead underwriter
under paragraph (1)(d), and that template version is filed under paragraph (1)(e), an
investment dealer may provide a limited-use version of the marketing materials th&
includes only one or more of those separate sections. Q\

(4) The issuer may remove any comparables, and any disclosure relating to 'those
comparables, from the template version of the marketing materials before m%it under

paragraph (1)(e) or (7)(a) if

separate section of the template version of the marketing materj

(@) the comparables, and any disclosure relating to t:g%}g{ables, are in a

advising that the comparables, and any disclosure rel o the comparables, were
removed in accordance with this subsection, d that the note appears
immediately after where the removed comparablg{@i related disclosure would have
been;

(b)  the template version of the marketing mate@% is filed contains a note

(c) if the prospectus is filed in‘ﬁg\local jurisdiction, a complete template
version of the marketing materials containgag the comparables, and any disclosure
relating to the comparables, is deliverij'm the securities regulatory authority; and

(d) the complete te Qe version of the marketing materials contains
disclosure proximate to the co rables which

() expla@\at comparables are;

(i) ins the basis on which the other issuers were included in the
comparables an he other issuers are considered to be an appropriate basis for a
comparison wi issuer;

C)%'ﬂi) explains the basis on which the compared attributes were included;

qu (iv)  states that the information about the other issuers was obtained
fronu lic sources and has not been verified by the issuer or the underwriters;

\ (v) discloses any risks relating to the comparables, including risks in
making an investment decision based on the comparables; and

(vi) states that if the comparables contain a misrepresentation, the
investor does not have a remedy under securities legislation.
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(5) Marketing materials provided under subsection (1) must be dated and include the
following legend, or words to the same effect, on the first page:

“A preliminary prospectus containing important information relating to the
securities described in this document has been filed with the securities regulatory
authorit[y/ies] in [each of/certain of the provinces/provinces and territories of Canada]. A
copy of the preliminary prospectus, and any amendment, is required to be delive;r\%

with this document.
The preliminary prospectus is still subject to completion. There will not(@ny
sale or any acceptance of an offer to buy the securities until a receipt fq\tQ final

prospectus has been issued. (L
This document does not provide full disclosure of all material elating to the
securities offered. Investors should read the preliminary prospectu inal prospectus

and any amendment for disclosure of those facts, especially ri% ors relating to the
securities offered, before making an investment decision.”. &

(6) If marketing materials are provided durin waiting period under
subsection (1), the issuer must include the template yefabn of the marketing materials
filed under paragraph 1(e) in its final prospectﬁé incorporate by reference the
template version of the marketing materials fied ™nder paragraph 1(e) into its final
prospectus, in the manner described in sunx ion 36A.1(1) of Form 41-101F1 or
subsection 11.6(1) of Form 44-101F1, as a le.

that appeared in marketing majem®ls provided during the waiting period under
subsection (1), the issuer must ?\

@) prepare a@ the time the issuer files the final prospectus or any

(7 If the final prospectus or argé\dment modifies a statement of a material fact

amendment, a revised t te version of the marketing materials that is blacklined to
show the modified st@n t, and

(b) inc the final prospectus, or any amendment, the disclosure required
by subsection 1(3) of Form 41-101F1 or subsection 11.6(3) of Form 44-101F1, as
applicable.

(8) sed template version of the marketing materials filed under subsection (7)
mugt ply with section 13.8.

Ny
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(9) If marketing materials are provided during the waiting period under subsection (1)
but the issuer does not comply with subsection (6), the marketing materials are deemed
for purposes of securities legislation to be incorporated into the issuer’s final prospectus
as of the date of the final prospectus to the extent not otherwise expressly modified or
superseded by a statement contained in the final prospectus.

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7. '\b‘
13.8. Marketing materials after a receipt for a final prospectus (19

. . . . NG
(1)  Aninvestment dealer must not provide marketing materials to a poteﬁ‘}mvestor
after a receipt for a final prospectus or any amendment is issued unless Q~

X

€) the marketing materials comply with subsections (2) t @

(b) other than contact information for the investme(g aler or underwriters
and any comparables, all information in the marketing m concerning the issuer,
the securities or the offering is disclosed in, or derive . the final prospectus and
any amendment;

(c) other than prescribed language, thg m ketlng materials contain the same

cautionary language in bold type as contalned he cover page, and in the summary,
of the final prospectus; q/

(d)  atemplate version of th rharketing materials is approved in writing by the
issuer and the lead underwriter bef&é{he marketing materials are provided;

(e) atemplate versi he marketing materials is filed on or before the day
that the marketing material rst provided;

() a reca@\m final prospectus has been issued in the local jurisdiction;
and

(9) % estment dealer provides a copy of the final prospectus, and any
amendmen@ the marketing materials.

(2) mplate version of the marketing materials is approved in writing by the

ISs lead underwriter under paragraph (1)(d) and filed under paragraph (1)(e), an
in\l%ét ent dealer may provide a limited-use version of the marketing materials that

\ (@) has a date that is different than the template version,

(b)  contains a cover page referring to the investment dealer or underwriters or
a particular investor or group of investors,

(© contains contact information for the investment dealer or underwriters; or
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(d) has text in a format, including the type’s font, colour or size, that is
different than the template version.

(3) If a template version of the marketing materials is divided into separate sections
for separate subjects and is approved in writing by the issuer and lead underwriter
under paragraph (1)(d), and that template version is filed under paragraph (1)(e)
investment dealer may provide a limited-use version of the marketing material t
includes only one or more of those separate sections. (L

(4) The issuer may remove any comparables, and any disclosure relaﬁﬁta those
comparables, from the template version of the marketing materials bef jlihg it under
paragraph (1)(e) or (7)(b) if

(@) the comparables, and any disclosure relating to t@parables, are in a
separate section of the template version of the marketing mate('k ,

(b) the template version of the marketing mat at is filed contains a note
advising that the comparables, and any disclosure tgladhg to the comparables, were
removed in accordance with this subsection @Jided that the note appears
immediately after where the removed compara%e:&nd related disclosure would have

been;
Q\

(© if the prospectus is filed in%e local jurisdiction, a complete template
version of the marketing materials ohtaining the comparables, and any disclosure
relating to the comparables, is del@q to the securities regulatory authority; and

(d) the complete t version of the marketing materials contains the
disclosure referred to in par 13.7(4)(d).

following legend, or, to the same effect, on the first page:

(5) Marketing mateﬁa%%rsovided under subsection (1) must be dated and include the

“A fina@'&pectus containing important information relating to the securities
|

described i document has been filed with the securities regulatory authorit[y/ies] in
[each of/ p of the provinces/provinces and territories of Canada]. A copy of the final
prospe ~and any amendment, is required to be delivered with this document.

his document does not provide full disclosure of all material facts relating to the

%urities offered. Investors should read the final prospectus, and any amendment, for

\ch closure of those facts, especially risk factors relating to the securities offered, before
making an investment decision.”.

(6)  An investment dealer must not provide marketing materials under subsection (1)
unless the issuer
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(@) has included the template version of the marketing materials filed under
paragraph 1(e) in its final prospectus, and any amendment, or incorporated by
reference the template version of the marketing materials filed under paragraph 1(e)
into its final prospectus, and any amendment, in the manner described in
subsection 36A.1(1) of Form 41-101F1 or subsection 11.6(1) of Form 44-101F1, as
applicable, or

described in subsection 36A.1(4) of Form 41-101F1 or subsection 11. of
Form 44-101F1, as applicable. ,\\

(7)  If an amendment to a final prospectus modifies a statement%ir al fact that
us

(b) has included in its final prospectus, and any amendment, the staﬁ@hﬂ

appeared in marketing materials provided under subsection (1), the i t

@) indicate in the amendment to the final prospe@rat the marketing
materials are not part of the final prospectus, as amende& the extent that the
Y

contents of the marketing materials have been modified rseded by a statement
contained in the amendment; %

(b) prepare and file, at the time the iSS)&QBS the amendment to the final
prospectus, a revised template version of the nba‘r ting materials that is blacklined to
show the modified statement; and )\

(© include in the amendment to%e final prospectus the disclosure required
by subsection 36A.1(3) of Form 41-1 1N,‘or subsection 11.6(3) of Form 44 101F1, as
applicable.

(8) Any revised templa Ve“fsion of the marketing materials filed under
subsection (7) must comply is section.

(9) If marketing m eh%are provided under subsection (1) but the issuer did not
comply with subs (6), the marketing materials are deemed for purposes of
securities legislaji be incorporated into the issuer’s final prospectus as of the date
of the final pr s to the extent not otherwise expressly modified or superseded by
a statementeoriained in the final prospectus.

C,

M.O. 2
131 Qoad shows during the waiting period

An investment dealer that conducts a road show for potential investors during
the waiting period is exempt from the prospectus requirement with respect to that road

show if

(@ the road show complies with subsections (2) to (4); and
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(b)  a receipt for the preliminary prospectus has been issued in the local
jurisdiction.

(2)  Subject to section 13.12, an investment dealer must not provide marketing
materials to an investor attending a road show conducted under subsection (1) unless
the marketing materials are provided in accordance with section 13.7.

3) If an investment dealer conducts a road show, the investment dealer@t
establish and follow reasonable procedures to (L

(@) ask any investor attending the road show in person, b(/)&%lephone
conference call, on the internet or by other electronic means to provid name and
contact information;

(b) keep a record of any information provided by the i r; and
(c) provide the investor with a copy of the pr %ry prospectus and any
amendment. %

4) If an investment dealer permits an investorﬁ@r than an accredited investor, to
attend a road show, the investment dealer must ence the road show with the oral
reading of the following statement or a statemel\t the same effect:

“This presentation does not prowdeqm disclosure of all material facts relating to
the securities offered. Investors sh 1read the preliminary prospectus, the final
prospectus and any amendment isclosure of those facts, espeC|aIIy risk factors
relating to the securities offered making an investment decision.”

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

13.10. Road shows ftéY;receipt for afinal prospectus

(1) Aninvest
receipt for a fi

ealer must not conduct a road show for potential investors after a
spectus or any amendment is issued unless

(a)c%he road show complies with subsections (2) to (4); and
@) a receipt for the final prospectus has been issued in the local jurisdiction.
% Subject to section 13.12, an investment dealer must not provide marketing
\n terials to an investor attending a road show conducted under subsection (1) unless

the marketing materials are provided in accordance with section 13.8.

3) If an investment dealer conducts a road show, the investment dealer must
establish and follow reasonable procedures to
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(@) ask any investor attending the road show in person, by telephone
conference call, on the internet or by other electronic means to provide their name and
contact information;

(b) keep a record of any information provided by the investor; and

(c) provide the investor with a copy of the final prospectus and av

amendment. Q\

4) If an investment dealer permits an investor, other than an accredited i ve(syor, to
attend a road show, the investment dealer must commence the road show i fhe oral
reading of the following statement or a statement to the same effect: Q~

“This presentation does not provide full disclosure of all ma Q(acts relating to
the securities offered. Investors should read the final prospec any amendment
o\We

for disclosure of those facts, especially risk factors relatin securities offered,
before making an investment decision.”. Q/

O

13.11. Exception from procedures for roads? s for certain U.S. cross-border
initial public offerings )\

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

(1)  Subject to subsection (2), the foIIow(lag provisions do not apply to an investment
dealer that conducts a road show inc ction with a U.S. cross-border initial public

offering: Qﬂ
(@) paragraphs 13.9®and (b);
(b) paragraphs3 (3)(a) and (b).
(2)  Subsection s not apply unless

(@) tQSrssuer is relying on the exemption from United States filing
requiremen@ ule 433(d)(8)(ii) under the 1933 Act in respect of the road show; and

QS) the investment dealer establishes and follows reasonable procedures to
O 0] ask any investor attending the road show in person, by telephone

%ference call, on the internet or by other electronic means to voluntarily provide their
me and contact information; and
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(i) keep a record of any information voluntarily provided by the
investor.

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

13.12. Exception from filing and incorporation requirements for road shows for
certain U.S. cross-border offerings '\b‘

(1)  Subject to subsections (2) to (4), if an investment dealer provides mﬂ@ing
materials to a potential investor in connection with a road show for a U.S. crgss-Border
offering, the following provisions do not apply to the template version of tﬁa}arketing

materials relating to the road show: Qg‘
()  paragraphs 13.7(1)(e) and 13.8(1)(e): &
(b)  subsections 13.7(6) to (9); :\((/
(c)  subsections 13.8(6) to (9); %Qg

(d) paragraphs 36A.1(1)(b) and ,@ paragraph 36A.1(3)(b),
subsection 36A.1(4) and section 37.6 of Form 41 10M1;

(e) paragraphs  11.6(1)(b) ch'\ (c), paragraph 11.6(3)(b) and
subsection 11.6(4) of Form 44-101F1.
M)

(2) Subsection (1) does not app, less

(@) the underwriters e a reasonable expectation that the securities offered
under the U.S. cross-bord% ering will be sold primarily in the United States of

America; Sv

(b) the is nd the underwriters who sign the prospectus filed in the local
jurisdiction proy a contractual right containing the language set out in
subsection 364 of Form 41-101F1, or words to the same effect, except that the

language pecify that the contractual right does not apply to any comparables
provided é?!ordance with subsection (3); and

? if the prospectus is filed in the local jurisdiction, the template version of the
maNellng materials relating to the road show is delivered to the securities regulatory
ority.

N

3) If the template version of the marketing materials relating to the road show
contains comparables, the template version of the marketing materials must contain the
disclosure referred to in paragraph 13.7(4)(d).
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4) For greater certainty, subsection (1) does not apply to marketing materials other
than the marketing materials provided in connection with the road show.

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

PART 13A ADVERTISING AND MARKETING IN CONNECTION  WITH
PROSPECTUS OFFERINGS OF INVESTMENT FUNDS '\b‘

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7. (19
13A.1. Application ({,\\

This Part applies to investment funds filing a prospect 3the form of

Form 41-101F2 or Form 41-101F3. @

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7. ,\

13A.2. Legend for communications during the Waitéériod

(1) A preliminary prospectus notice or other co;gs ication used in connection with
a prospectus offering during the waiting periodbr‘n t contain the following legend, or
words to the same effect: Q'\

“A preliminary prospectus contaim‘rny important information relating to these
securities has been filed with securiéi commissions or similar authorities in certain

jurisdictions of Canada. The preligmaary prospectus is still subject to completion or
amendment. Copies of the preli prospectus may be obtained from [insert name
and contact information for d %r other relevant person]. There will not be any sale
or acceptance of an offer t e securities until a receipt for the final prospectus has

been issued.”; Sv

(2) If the prelimi rospectus notice or other communication is in writing, include
the wording requi nder subsection (1) in bold type that is at least as large as that
used generall& body of the text.

Z,

M.O. 201 S. 7.
13A. %egend for communications following receipt for the final prospectus
A final prospectus notice or other communication used in connection with a
ospectus offering following the issuance of a receipt for the final prospectus must

contain the following legend, or words to the same effect:

“This offering is made only by prospectus. The prospectus contains important
detailed information about the securities being offered. Copies of the prospectus may be
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obtained from [insert name and contact information for dealer or other relevant person].
Investors should read the prospectus before making an investment decision.”.

(2) If the final prospectus notice or other communication is in writing, include the
wording required under subsection (1) in bold type that is at least as large as that used
generally in the body of the text.

%Q

N
If the issuer is an investment fund, an advertisement used in ¢ qﬁon with a

M.O. 2013-13, s. 7.

13A.4. Advertising during the waiting period

prospectus offering during the waiting period may state only the follo formation:
(@ whether the security represents a share in an i rated entity or an
interest in an unincorporated entity; :\
(b) the name of the issuer; %%Q
(© the price of the security; &O

(d) the fundamental investment objeot{%s of the investment fund;
(e) the name of the manager of tk‘\lfnvestment fund;

M)
) the name of the portfglfs\qanager of the investment fund,;

(9) the name and Ss of a person from whom a preliminary prospectus
may be obtained and purch f securities may be made;

(h) how ma§s§u~rities will be made available;

0] wh e security is or will be a qualified investment for a registered
retirement say plan, registered retirement income fund, registered education
savings plag oNtax free savings account or qualifies, or will qualify, the holder for
special ta&@ﬁment.

N\
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PART 14 CUSTODIANSHIP OF PORTFOLIO ASSETS OF AN INVESTMENT
FUND

14.1. General
(1) This Part applies to an investment fund that prepares a prospectus in accordance
with this Regulation, other than an investment fund subject to Regulation 81-1%"

respecting Mutual Funds (chapter V-1.1, r. 39). Q\

(2)  All portfolio assets of an investment fund must be held under the custo 'arilﬁip of
one custodian that satisfies the requirements of section 14.2. (L

(3) No manager of an investment fund may act as a custodian@fcustodian of

the investment fund. §

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.1. ,\

14.2. Who may act as custodian or sub-custodian %Qg

(1)1 f portfolio assets are held in Canada by, Qustodian or sub-custodian, the
custodian or sub-custodian must be one of the fc%tz MQ:

(@) abank listed in Schedule I, ||$!\Of the Bank Act (S.C. 1991, c. 46);
(b)  atrust company that '\ )

0] is incorpor eQﬁand licenced or registered under the laws of
Canada or a jurisdiction, and a&\

(i) hasﬁ'ty, as reported in its most recent audited financial
statement, of not Iess$ 10,000,000;

(c) wny that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction

and is an affili bank or trust company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), if

financi ements that have been made public, of not less than $10,000,000, or

O (i) the bank or trust company has assumed responsibility for all of the
@todial obligations of the company for that investment fund.

g%o the company has equity, as reported in its most recent audited

(2) If portfolio assets are held outside of Canada by a sub-custodian, the sub-
custodian must be one of the following:

(@) an entity referred to in subsection (1);
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(b)  an entity that

0] is incorporated or organized under the law of a country, or a
political subdivision of a country, other than Canada,

(i) is regulated as a banking institution or trust company by the
government, or an agency of the government of the country or political subdivisiop\w‘
the country under whose laws it is incorporated or organized, and Q

(i)  has equity, as reported in its most recent auditec}\f;rkncial
statements of not less than the equivalent of $100,000,000; (L

(c) an affiliate of an entity referred to in paragraph (a) or (b @3

0] the affiliate has equity, as reported in | st recent audited
financial statements that have been made public, of not Ie&i an the equivalent of
$100,000,000, or Q

(i) the entity referred to in parag(a (@ or (b) has assumed
responsibility for all of the custodial obligations of t@iliate for that investment fund.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.2; M.O. 2010-17, s. 4. )\b‘
14.3. Standard of care q/
N

(1) The custodian and each s stodian of an investment fund, in carrying out
their duties concerning the safe g of, and dealing with, the portfolio assets of the
investment fund, must exercis

(@) the degree@e, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person
would exercise in the& stances, or

(b) atl he same degree of care as they exercise with respect to their own
property of a @& kind, if this is a higher degree of care than the degree of care

referred to % graph (a).

(2) Ciﬁvestment fund may relieve the custodian or a sub-custodian of the
inv é% fund from liability to the investment fund or to a securityholder of the
invsgtment fund for loss that arises out of the failure of the custodian or sub-custodian
\éxercise the standard of care imposed by subsection (1).
(3) An investment fund may indemnify a custodian or sub-custodian against legal
fees, judgments and amounts paid in settlement, actually and reasonably incurred by
that entity in connection with custodial or sub-custodial services provided by that entity
to the investment fund, if those fees, judgments and amounts were not incurred as a
result of a breach of the standard of care described in subsection (1).
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4) No investment fund may incur the cost of any portion of liability insurance that
insures a custodian or sub-custodian for a liability, except to the extent that the
custodian or sub-custodian may be indemnified for that liability under this section.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.3.

Na

14.4. Appointment of sub-custodian Q

Q) The custodian or a sub-custodian of an investment fund may appq’qtigﬁe or
more sub-custodians to hold portfolio assets of the investment fund if, (L

@) in the case where the appointment is by the custodi dg investment
fund gives written consent to each appointment, %

(b) in the case where the appointment is by a sub@dian, the investment
fund and the custodian of the investment fund give written sent to each appointment,

(c) the sub-custodian is an entity describeé&ubsection 14.2(1) or (2), as

applicable, &

(d) the arrangements under which als}&custodian is appointed are such that
the investment fund may enforce rights @@ty, or require the custodian or a sub-
custodian to enforce rights on behalf of the igwestment fund, to the portfolio assets held
by the appointed sub-custodian, and*'\‘s

(e) the appointment is %@‘mvise in compliance with this Regulation.

(2) Despite paragraphs and (b), a general consent to the appointment of
persons that are part n international network of sub-custodians within the
organization of the ¢ tcb n appointed by the investment fund or the sub-custodian
appointed by the c Yan is sufficient if that general consent is part of an agreement
governing the re ip between the investment fund and the appointed custodian or
the custodian Q e appointed sub-custodian.

B3 A ilan or sub-custodian must provide to the investment fund a list of each
person is appointed sub-custodian under a general consent referred to in

sulz@ n (2).
{@0.‘2008-05, s. 14.4.

14.5. Content of agreements

(1)  All custodian agreements and sub-custodian agreements of an investment fund
must provide for
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(@) the location of portfolio assets,
(b)  the appointment of a sub-custodian, if any,

(c) the provision of lists of sub-custodians,

(d)  the method of holding portfolio assets, '\b‘
(e) the standard of care and responsibility for loss, (19
() review and compliance reports, and ({,\"

(g) the safekeeping of portfolio assets on terms consistenb@@e agreement

between the investment fund and the custodian, for an agreement en a custodian
and a sub-custodian.

(2)  The provisions of an agreement referred to unde&?&ction (1) must comply

with the requirements of this Part.

(3) A custodian agreement or sub-custodian,@ement concerning the portfolio
assets of an investment fund must not b‘

@) provide for the creation of qx&ecurity interest on the portfolio assets
except for a good faith claim for payment ofgthe fees and expenses of the custodian or
sub-custodian for acting in that capa ithto secure the obligations of the investment
fund to repay borrowings by the ir@nent fund from a custodian or sub-custodian for

the purpose of settling portfolio tr§~ tions, or
(b)  contain a pr that would require the payment of a fee to the
custodian or sub-custoq] r the transfer of the beneficial ownership of portfolio

assets, other than for gafeXeeping and administrative services in connection with acting
as custodian or sul@vdiam.

VY
M.O. 2008-05<s<‘(zr.5; M.O. 2013-03, s. 9.

14.6. Re@/and compliance reports

(2) &custodian of an investment fund must, on a periodic basis and at least
n‘(a Y,

\ (@) review the agreements referred to in section 14.5 to determine if those
agreements are in compliance with this Part,

(b) make reasonable enquiries to ensure that each sub-custodian is an entity
referred to in subsection 14.2(1) or (2), as applicable, and
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(c) make or cause to be made any changes that may be necessary to ensure
that

(1) the agreements are in compliance with this Part, and

(i) each sub-custodian is an entity referred to in subsection 14.2(1)
or (2), as applicable.

(2)  The custodian of an investment fund must, within 60 days after the end 6&0?]
financial year of the investment fund, advise the investment fund in writing

A
(@) of the names and addresses of all sub-custodians of thei&)@g(ent fund,

(b) if the agreements are in compliance with this Part, an

(c) if, to the best of the knowledge and belief of& ustodian, each sub-
custodian is an entity that satisfies the requirements of section 14.2(1) or (2), as

applicable. %

(3) A copy of the report referred to in subseg@Z) must be delivered by or on
behalf of the investment fund to the securities rgguMtory authority within 30 days after
the filing of the annual financial statements o@g vestment fund.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.6 '\q/
M)
14.7. Holding of portfolio asset payment of fees

(2) Except as provided i
portfolio assets not register

ections (2) and (3) and sections 14.8 and 14.9,
he name of the investment fund must be registered in
the name of the custodi a sub-custodian of the investment fund or any of their
respective nominees itkl% account number or other designation in the records of the
custodian suﬁicien@ how that the beneficial ownership of the portfolio assets is

vested in the inv& nt fund.
The g}

(2) dian or a sub-custodian of the investment fund or the applicable
nominee segregate portfolio assets issued in bearer form to show that the
benefigg nership of the property is vested in the investment fund.

( )<(Q custodian or sub-custodian of an investment fund may deposit portfolio assets
é a depository or a clearing agency that operates a book-based system.
(4) The custodian or sub-custodian of an investment fund arranging for the deposit
of portfolio assets with, and their delivery to, a depository, or clearing agency, that
operates a book-based system must ensure that the records of any of the applicable
participants in that book-based system or the custodian contain an account number or
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other designation sufficient to show that the beneficial ownership of the portfolio assets
is vested in the investment fund.

(5) No investment fund may pay a fee to a custodian or sub-custodian for the
transfer of beneficial ownership of portfolio assets other than for safekeeping and
administrative services in connection with acting as custodian or sub-custodian.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.7. Q
14.8. Custodial provisions relating to derivatives and securitieSy\Ie(;}ﬁing,
repurchases and reverse repurchase agreements q,

(1) For the purposes of subsection (4), “specified derivative” has me meaning

as in Regulation 81-102 respecting Mutual Funds (chapter V-1.1, r.

(2)  An investment fund may deposit portfolio assets as )Qm n for transactions in
Canada involving clearing corporation options, options tures or standardized
futures with a dealer that is a member of an SRO that i icipating member of CIPF
if the amount of margin deposited does not, whe regated with the amount of

margin already held by the dealer on behalf of thed tment fund, exceed 10% of the
net assets of the investment fund, taken at markgt v¥ue as at the time of deposit.

(3) An investment fund may deposit chﬂ%llo assets with a dealer as margin for
transactions outside Canada involving cleaiwng corporation options, options on futures
or standardized futures if

(@) in the case of stan ed futures and options on futures, the dealer is a
member of a futures exch in the case of clearing corporation options, is a
member of a stock exchan d, as a result in either case, is subject to a regulatory
audit,

(b) the d has a net worth, determined from its most recent audited
financial statem that have been made public, in excess of the equivalent of
$50,000,000,

(© %e amount of margin deposited does not, when aggregated with the
argin already held by the dealer on behalf of the investment fund,
% of the net assets of the investment fund, taken at market value as at the
tipfs¢oT deposit.

An investment fund may deposit with its counterparty portfolio assets over which
it has granted a security interest in connection with a particular specified derivatives
transaction.

(5) The agreement by which portfolio assets are deposited in accordance with
subsection (2), (3) or (4) must require the person holding the portfolio assets to ensure
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that its records show that the investment fund is the beneficial owner of the portfolio
assets.

(6) An investment fund may deliver portfolio assets to a person in satisfaction of its
obligations under a securities lending, repurchase or reverse purchase agreement if the
collateral, cash proceeds or purchased securities that are delivered to the investment
fund in connection with the transaction are held under the custodianship of t
custodian or a sub-custodian of the investment fund in compliance with this Part. Q\

(l',\\

14.8.1. Custodial provisions relating to short sales Q~

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.8.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (2), “borrowing agent” has t me meaning as
in Regulation 81-102 respecting Mutual Funds (chapter V-1.1 except that each
reference in that definition to “a mutual fund” must be r &s references to “an

investment fund”.
X

(2) Except where the borrowing agent is the inygstakent fund’s custodian or sub-
custodian, if an investment fund deposits portfoK ets with a borrowing agent as
security in connection with a short sale of securi%ﬁs, he market value of portfolio assets
deposited with the borrowing agent must not, wQ aggregated with the market value of
portfolio assets already held by the borro agent as security for outstanding short
sales of securities by the investment fund, @xceed 10% of the net asset value of the
investment fund at the time of deposit '\‘s

(3)  An investment fund mus eposit portfolio assets as security in connection
with a short sale of securities Y\ dealer in Canada unless that dealer is a registered
dealer and is a member of t estment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada.

(4)  An investment rbkgust not deposit portfolio assets as security in connection
with a short sale of ities with a dealer outside Canada unless that dealer

(@) i&mber of a stock exchange and is subject to a regulatory audit, and

(b) %ﬁs a net worth, determined from its most recent audited financial
statemqg%at have been made public, in excess of the equivalent of $50 million.

3

M.@(?dlZ-O?, s. 1.
A\
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14.9. Separate account for paying expenses

An investment fund may deposit cash in Canada with an entity referred to in
paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 14.2(1) to facilitate the payment of regular operating
expenses of the investment fund.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 14.9.
Na

PART 15 DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE BY INVESV@NT

FUNDS N

15.1. Application

This Part applies only to an investment fund in continuous @Qﬁon.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 15.1; M.O. 2013-08, s. 12. /&

15.2. Incorporation by reference %Qg

(1)  An investment fund must incorporate by re @e into its long form prospectus,
by means of a statement to that effect, the filed documents listed in

(@ section 37.1 of Form 41-‘1\/@5 for investment funds other than
scholarship plans, and
M)

(b) subsection 4.1(1) of Pqﬂéﬁ of Form 41-101F3 for scholarship plans.

(2) If an investment fun
prospectus a document ref
purposes of securities |
fund’s long form prospgct

25 not incorporate by reference into its long form
to in subsection (1), the document is deemed, for the
tion, to be incorporated by reference in the investment
as of the date of the long form prospectus.

(3) An invest @ und must incorporate by reference in its long form prospectus, by
means of a st t to that effect, the subsequently filed documents referred to in

(@) %ECtion 37.2 of Form 41-101F2 for investment funds other than
scholaqg'l)lans, and

<(Q)) subsection 4.1(2) of Part B of Form 41-101F3 for scholarship plans.

§ If an investment fund does not incorporate by reference into its long form
prospectus a document referred to in subsection (3), the document is deemed, for the
purposes of securities legislation, to be incorporated by reference in the investment
fund’s long form prospectus as of the date the investment fund filed the document.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 15.2; M.O. 2013-08, s. 13.
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PART 16 DISTRIBUTION OF PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS AND DISTRIBUTION
LIST

16.1. Distribution of preliminary prospectus and distribution list

Except in Ontario, any dealer distributing a security during the waiting perity‘

must Q\

(@) send a copy of the preliminary prospectus to each prospective u@ﬁaser
who indicates an interest in purchasing the security and requests a cé}ty of such

preliminary prospectus, and Q~

(b) maintain a record of the names and addresses of all ns to whom the
preliminary prospectus has been forwarded. %

M.O. 2008-05, s. 16.1.
PART 17 LAPSE DATE O
17.1. Pro forma prospectus b‘&

(2) In this Part, “pro forma prospectus” S a long form prospectus that complies
with the requirements described in subsectiow (2).

M)
(2) A pro forma prospectus mu prepared in the form of a long form prospectus
in accordance with Form 41-10 orm 41-101F2 or Form 41-101F3, as applicable,
and other securities legislatiop} ept that a pro forma prospectus is not required to
contain prospectus certific@)r to comply with sections 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 of this

Regulation.
Ne

3) This Part g8\ not apply to a prospectus filed in accordance with
Regulation 44-1pecting Short Form Prospectus Distributions (chapter V-1.1, r.

16), Regulati%

Regulation

-102 respecting Shelf Distributions (chapter V-1.1, r. 17) or
3 respecting Post-Receipt Pricing (chapter V-1.1, r. 18).

M.O. 2@&5, s.17.1; M.O. 2013-08, s. 14.
17 TRefiling of prospectus
This section does not apply in Ontario.
(2) In this section, “lapse date” means, with reference to the distribution of a security

that has been qualified under a prospectus, the date that is 12 months after the date of
the most recent final prospectus relating to the security.
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(3)  Anissuer must not continue the distribution of a security to which the prospectus
requirement applies after the lapse date unless the issuer files a new prospectus that
complies with securities legislation and a receipt for that new prospectus is issued by
the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority.

(4) Despite subsection (3), a distribution may be continued for a further 12 months

after a lapse date fif, '\b‘
(@) the issuer delivers a pro forma prospectus not less than 30 dayf&vre
the lapse date of the previous prospectus; y\\
(b) the issuer files a new final prospectus not later than 1 after the

lapse date of the previous prospectus; and

(c) a receipt for the new final prospectus is issue e regulator or, in
Québec, the securities regulatory authority within 20 days a& e lapse date of the
previous prospectus.

(5)  The continued distribution of securities after t %se date does not contravene
subsection (3) unless and until any of the conditio@subsection (4) are not complied
with.

(6) Subject to any extension granteq.lh%'}er subsection (7), if a condition in
subsection (4) is not complied with, a p aser may cancel a purchase made in a
distribution after the lapse date in r & on subsection (4) within 90 days after the
purchaser first became aware of tr@idure to comply with the condition.

application of a reporting is xtend, subject to such terms and conditions as it may
impose, the times prov% y subsection (4) where in its opinion it would not be

prejudicial to the pub@ est to do so.

M.O. 2008-05, s,

(7) The regulator or, in@eec, the securities regulatory authority may, on an

PART 18 @?&TEMENT OF RIGHTS

18.1. @nent of rights

<(Qxcept in Ontario, a prospectus must contain a statement of the rights given to a
@chaser under securities legislation in case of a failure to deliver the prospectus or in
se of a misrepresentation in a prospectus.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 18.1.
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PART 19 EXEMPTION
19.1. Exemption

(1)  The regulator, except in Québec, or the securities regulatory authority may grant
an exemption from the provisions of this Regulation, in whole or in part, subject to such
conditions or restrictions as may be imposed in the exemption. '\b‘

(2) Despite subsection (1), in Ontario, only the regulator may grant sﬁ@an
exemption.

A
3) Except in Ontario, an exemption referred to in subsection (1) is r@.};‘g{under the
P

statute referred to in Appendix B of Regulation 14-101 respecting De (chapter V-
1.1, r. 3) opposite the name of the local jurisdiction.

M.O. 2008-05, s. 19.1. &&
19.2. Application for exemption %%Q

An application made to the securities re I@'y authority or regulator for an
exemption from the provisions of this Regulatiog mdet include a letter or memorandum
describing the matters relating to the exemp{ , and indicating why consideration
should be given to the granting of the exenﬁ?ﬁ.

! \

(1)  Subject to subsectio nd without limiting the manner in which an exemption
under this Part may be % ced, the granting under this Part of an exemption, other

than an exemption frgm Jtbsection 2.2(2), may be evidenced by the issuance of a
receipt for a final p@tus or an amendment to a final prospectus.

(2) The isseéa«,'e of a receipt for a final prospectus or an amendment to a final
n

M.O. 2008-05, s. 19.2.

prospectus% evidence that the exemption has been granted unless

C) the person that sought the exemption sent to the regulator or, in Québec,
the <® ities regulatory authority

§ 0] the letter or memorandum referred to in section 19.2 on or before
\h date of the filing of the pro forma or preliminary prospectus, or

(i) the letter or memorandum referred to in section 19.2 after the date
of the filing of pro forma or the preliminary prospectus and received a written
acknowledgement from the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority
that the exemption may be evidenced in the manner set out in subsection (1), and
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(b) the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority has not
before, or concurrently with, the issuance of the receipt sent notice to the person that
sought the exemption, that the exemption sought may not be evidenced in the manner
set out in subsection (1).

M.O. 2008-05, s. 19.3; M.0O. 2013-03, s. 10. '\b‘
PART 20 TRANSITION, EFFECTIVE DATE, AND REPEAL (19
20.1. (Revoked). ({,\\

M.O. 2008-05, s. 20.1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 6. Q/E

20.2. Effective date &%&
Q

(Omitted).

M.O. 2008-05, s. 20.2.
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APPENDIX A

SCHEDULE 1
PART A PERSONAL INFORMATION FORM AND AUTHORIZATION OF
INDIRECT COLLECTION, USE AND DISCLOSURE OF PERSONAL INFORMATION

This Personal Information Form and Authorization of Indirect Collection, Use a
Disclosure of Personal Information (the “Form”) is to be completed by every indigdMal
who, in connection with an issuer filing a prospectus (the “Issuer”), is required SO
under Part 9 of Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus Re irg ents
(chapter V-1.1, r. 14), Part 4 of Regulation 44-101 respecting Short Fomf? spectus
Distributions (chapter V-1.1, r. 16) or Part 2 of Regulation 81-101 r ng Mutual
Fund Prospectus Disclosure (chapter V-1.1, r. 38). &/

The securities regulatory authorities do not make the information
provided in this Form public.

General Instructions: %@Q

All Questions ,%5
All questions must have a response. The regponse of “N/A” or “Not Applicable” will
not be accepted for any questions, except Ques{ s 1(B), 2(iii) and (v) and 5.

For the purposes of answering the questitgae in this Form, the term “issuer” includes
an investment fund manager. )

Questions 6 to 10

Please place a checkmark (\ appropriate space provided. If your answer to any

of questions 6 to 10 is “Y %ou must, in an attachment, provide complete details,

including the cwcumstarb? relevant dates, names of the parties involved and final
tt

disposition, if know achment must be initialled by the person completing
this Form. Respon ust consider all time periods.

Delivery %
The issueryshwuld deliver completed Forms electronically via the System for
Electroni ument Analysis and Retrieval (SEDAR) under the document type

formation Form and Authorization”. Access to this document type is
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CAUTION

An individual who makes a false statement commits an offence under securities
legislation. Steps may be taken to verify the answers you have given in this Form,
including verification of information relating to any previous criminal record.

O

DEFINITIONS (19

“Offence” An offence includes:

q',\”
(@) a summary conviction or indictable offence under %é;minal Code

(R.S., 1985, c. C-46);
O

(b) a quasi-criminal offence (for example unﬁf\ Income Tax Act

(R.S.C. 1985, c. 1 (5th Suppl.)), the Immigration Refugee Protection Act
(S.C., 2001, c. 27) or the tax, immigration, drugs, %ﬂﬁs, money laundering or
io#);

securities legislation of any Canadian or foreign juris@

(© a misdemeanour or felony undernthe®criminal legislation of the United
States of America, or any state or territory th%' 7or

(d)  an offence under the crimi al‘lagislation of any other foreign jurisdiction;
K
M)

GUIDANCE: If you have T ?\ved a pardon under the Criminal Records Act
(R.S., 1985, c. C-47) for an ce that relates to fraud (including any type of

fraudulent activity), misapp, tion of money or other property, theft, forgery,
falsification of books or do@ ts or similar Offences, you must disclose the pardoned

Offence in this Form. In ircumstances:

(@ the @riate written response would be “Yes, pardon granted on

(date)”; and Q‘

(b) oM must provide complete details in an attachment to this Form.
eedings” means:
$<( (@) a civil or criminal proceeding or inquiry which is currently before a court;
\ (b) a proceeding before an arbitrator or umpire or a person or group of

persons authorized by law to make an inquiry and take evidence under oath in the
matter,;
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(c) a proceeding before a tribunal in the exercise of a statutory power of
decision making where the tribunal is required by law to hold or afford the parties to the
proceeding an opportunity for a hearing before making a decision; or

(d) a proceeding before a self-regulatory entity authorized by law to regulate
the operations and the standards of practice and business conduct of its members
(including where applicable, issuers listed on a stock exchange) and individ 3&
associated with those members and issuers, in which the self-regulatory en&zs
required under its by-laws, rules or policies to hold or afford the parties the op ity
to be heard before making a decision, but does not apply to a proceeding ianhLC one
or more persons are required to make an investigation and to make a r@?, with or
without recommendations, if the report is for the information or advice %b person to
whom it is made and does not in any way bind or limit that person j decision the
person may have the power to make; @

C

“securities regulatory authority” or “SRA” means a bo ted by statute in any

Canadian or foreign jurisdiction to administer securities | egulation and policy (e.g.

securities commission), but does not include an exchang-e:o ther self regulatory entity;
“self regulatory entity” or “SRE” means: ,@

(@) a stock, derivatives, commodities}{&‘ures or options exchange,;

(b) an association of investmen‘aﬁecurities, mutual fund, commodities, or
future dealers; )

(c) an association of ir@ment counsel or portfolio managers;

(d an associatior@wer professionals (e.g. legal, accounting, engineering);
and 5}

(e) any o oup, institution or self-regulatory organization, recognized by a
securities regula uthority, that is responsible for the enforcement of rules, policies,
disciplines or Q under any applicable legislation, or considered an SRE in another

country. %
1. @IFICATION OF INDIVIDUAL COMPLETING FORM

A. < LAST NAME(S) FIRST NAME(S) FULL MIDDLE NAME(S) (No

s initials. If none, please state)

NAME(S) MOST COMMONLY KNOWN BY:

NAME OF ISSUER
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PRESENT or PROPOSED IF DIRECTOR / OFFICER IF OFFICER — PROVIDE
POSITION(S) WITH THE ISSUER DISCLOSE THE DATE TITLE
— check (v} all positions below ELECTED / APPOINTED IF OTHER — PROVIDE
that are applicable. DETAILS
(v} | Month Day Year
Director
Officer -
Other R b‘
A
B. Other than the name given in Question 1A above, provide any legal
names, assumed names or nicknames under which you have carried on
business or have otherwise been known, including information EROM TO
regarding any name change(s) resulting from marriage, divorce, court
order or any other process. Use an attachment if necessary.
MM YY MM YY
RO )4
A\
C. GENDER DATE OF BIRTH PLACE OF BIRTH
Month Day Year City Province/State Country
Male ({/‘\
Female (02
~
D. MARITAL STATUS FULL NAME OF SPOUSE —include OCCUPATION OF SPOUSE
common-law
N
AN\
E. TELEPHONE AND FACSIMILE NUMBERS AND E-MAIL ADDRESS
RESIDENTIAL () " /] FACSIMILE ()
BUSINESS O E-MAIL*

L

* Provide an email address that the regulator o%ué‘bec, the securities regulatory authority may use to contact you
regarding this personal information form. ThispaNaddress may be used to exchange personal information relating to
you. @

AN
F. RESIDENTIAL HISTORY — Provide all residential addresses for the past 10 YEARS starting with your
current principal residential address. If you are unable to recall the complete residential address for a
period which is beyond 5 years from the date of completion of this Form, the municipality and
province or state and country must be identified. The regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory
authority reserves the right to require the full address.

STREET ADDRESS, CITY, PROVINCE/STATE, COUNTRY & FROM TO
POSTAL/ZIP CODE MM YY MM YY
/ g
X
P v 1
(@4
{7
Q\
2, Q ITIZENSHIP
\E YES | NO
(i) Are you a Canadian citizen?
(i) Are you a person lawfully in Canada as an immigrant but are not yet a Canadian
citizen?
(i) If “Yes” to Question 2(ii), the number of years of continuous residence in Canada:
(iv) Do you hold citizenship in any country other than Canada?
(v) If “Yes” to Question 2(iv), the name of the country(ies):
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3. EMPLOYMENT HISTORY

Provide your complete employment history for the 5 YEARS immediately prior to the date of this Form
starting with your current employment. Use an attachment if necessary. If you were unemployed during this period of

time, state this and identify the period of unemployment.

FROM TO
EMPLOYER NAME EMPLOYER ADDRESS POSITION HELD MM Yy MM v,
AW
[
ay
\ L)
4. INVOLVEMENT WITH ISSUERS Q~
o£</ YES [ NO
A. Are you or have you during the last 10 years ever been a director, officer, promoger\\Mber or
control person for any reporting issuer? {

B.

YES | NO

C. While you were a director, ﬁ?f' or insider of an issuer, did any exchange or other self-

regulatory entity ever r us§ roval for listing or quotation of the issuer, including (i) a listing
resulting from a busi ombination, reverse takeover or similar transaction involving the
issuer that is regul an SRE or SRA, (ii) a backdoor listing or qualifying acquisition
involving the is; i those terms are defined in the TSX Company Manual as amended
from time to %(ui) a qualifying transaction, reverse takeover or change of business
involving uer (as those terms are defined in the TSX Venture Corporate Finance Manual
as amer@rom time to time)? If yes, attach full particulars.

0Q~

Ny
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S. EDUCATIONAL HISTORY

A. PROFESSIONAL DESIGNATION(S) — Identify any professional designation held and professional
associations to which you belong, for example, Barrister & Solicitor, C.A., C.M.A., C.G.A., P.Eng.,
P.Geol., CFA, etc. and indicate which organization and the date the designations were granted.

PROFE&%‘;EQ;&?&%’&%@SN and GRANTOR OF DESIGNATION and Lo E i ED
CANADIAN or FOREIGN JURISDICTION | MM YY
AW
[N
O

o

v
Describe the current status of any designation and/or association (e.g. active, red,ﬁihn?acticing,
v

reti
suspended)
z Q "

RoI
B. Provide your post-secondary educational history starting with the most recent.
DATE OBTAINED
SCHOOL LOCATION DEGREE OR DIPLOMA MM DD YY
£\
R
6. OFFENCES Q'\

If you answer “YES” to any item in Questim}g You must provide complete details in an attachment. If you
have received a pardon under the Criminal Regord® Act (R.S.C., 1985, c. C-47) for an Offence that relates to
fraud (including any type of fraudulent acti misappropriation of money or other property, theft, forgery,
falsification of books or documents or s Offences, you must disclose the pardoned Offence in this
Form. 0?\

& YES NO
A. Have you ever, in any Cana&sr foreign jurisdiction, pled guilty to or been found guilty of
an Offence? \
J
B. Are you the subje /current charge, indictment or proceeding for an Offence, in any
Canadian or forgigq ju)isdiction?

N

Vi
C. To the best %oﬁr knowledge, are you currently or have you ever been a director, officer,
promotegigsider, or control person of an issuer, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, at
the tinf€ oNgfents that resulted in the issuer:
(i) 7 \Pleading guilty to or being found guilty of an Offence?
it v now being the subject of any charge, indictment or proceeding for an alleged

NI
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7.

A.

BANKRUPTCY

If you answer “YES” to any item in Question 7, you must provide complete details in an attachment and
attach a copy of any discharge, release or other applicable document. You must answer “YES” or “NO” for EACH of
(A), (B) and (C), below.

YES

Have you, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, within the past 10 years had a petition in
bankruptcy issued against you, made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a
proposal under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, been subject to any proceeding,
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver-manager or trustee
appointed to manage your assets?

Are you now an undischarged bankrupt?

(JQ

To the best of your knowledge, are you currently or have you ever been a director, officer,
promoter, insider or control person of an issuer, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, atQ_
the time of events, or for a period of 12 months preceding the time of events, where th

issuer: Yo

[

N
v

0] has made a petition in bankruptcy, a voluntary assignment in bankruptc \Y4
proposal under any bankruptcy or insolvency legislation, been subject to any p ing,
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver-man %ustee
appointed to manage the issuer’s assets? N

(ii) is now an undischarged bankrupt? ZX

PROCEEDINGS O%

If you answer “YES” to any item in Question 8, you mus@e complete details in an attachment.

N

YES

NO

CURRENT PROCEEDINGS BY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OR SELF
REGULATORY ENTITY. Are you now, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, the
subject of:

0] a notice of hearing or similar notigdissued by an SRA or SRE?

(i) a proceeding of or, to your kn%@e, an investigation by, an SRA or SRE?
(iii) settlement discussions or n Ntions for settlement of any nature or kind
whatsoever with an SRA or SREZ \|

S

YES

NO

PRIOR PROCEEDINGS BY SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY OR SELF

REGULATORY ENTITY. Have you ever:
@) been reprinfRRy
or been the subjedt oN2y proceedings of any kind whatsoever, in any Canadian or foreign
jurisdiction, byn)

(i) ha gistration or licence for the trading of securities, exchange or commodity
futures cgntrads, real estate, insurance or mutual fund products cancelled, refused,
restricpﬁr)uspended, by an SRA or SRE?

(iii) weven prohibited or disqualified by an SRA or SRE under securities, corporate or
r legislation from acting as a director or officer of a reporting issuer or been
roybited or restricted by an SRA or SRE from acting as a director, officer or employee of,
n agent or consultant to, a reporting issuer?

iv) had a cease trading or similar order issued against you or an order issued against
you by an SRA or SRE that denied you the right to use any statutory prospectus or
registration exemption?

(V) had any other proceeding of any kind taken against you by an SRA or SRE?
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9.

YES

NO

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT(S)

Have you ever entered into a settlement agreement with an SRA, SRE, attorney general or
comparable official or body, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, in a matter that involved
actual or alleged fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach
of fiduciary duty, insider trading, unregistered trading in securities or exchange or commodity
futures contracts, illegal distributions, failure to disclose material facts or changes or similar
conduct, or any other settlement agreement with respect to any other violation of securities
legislation in a Canadian or foreign jurisdiction or the rules, by-laws or policies of any SRE?

YES

NO

To the best of your knowledge, are you now or have you ever been a director, officer,
promoter, insider, or control person of an issuer at the time of such event, in any
Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, for which a securities regulatory authority or self
regulatory entity has:

to trade securities, exchange or commodity futures contracts, or to sell or trade real
insurance or mutual fund products? N\

0] refused, restricted, suspended or cancelled the registration or licensing of an |§D<‘

(i) issued a cease trade or similar order or imposed an administrative pe ny
nature or kind whatsoever against the issuer, other than an order for failuret& ancial

statements that was revoked within 30 days of its issuance?

(iif) refused a receipt for a prospectus or other offering document, d any
application for listing or quotation or any other similar application, or i n order that

denied the issuer the right to use any statutory prospectus or regist xemptions?

(iv) issued a notice of hearing, notice as to a proceeding o@il&(notice against the
issuer?

trading halt, suspension or delisting of the issuer, in connefXion with an alleged or actual
contravention of an SRA’s or SRE’s rules, regulation iCies or other requirements, but
excluding halts imposed (i) in the normal course fo r dissemination of information, or
(i) pursuant to a business combination, reverse ta epyer or similar transaction involving the
issuer that is regulated by an SRE or SRA, inc| g a qualifying transaction, reverse
takeover or change of business involving th r (as those terms are defined in the TSX
Venture Corporate Finance Manual as q;ﬁe&ded from time to time)?

AN
\" commenced any other proceeding of an INd agalns e Issuer, Including a
d any other p d'gfyk'd%" i including

or alleged fraud, theft, deceit, misr tation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of

fiduciary duty, insider trading, u red trading in securities or exchange or commodity
futures contracts, illegal distri #failure to disclose material facts or changes or similar
conduct by the issuer, or an r violation of securities legislation or the rules, by-laws or
policies of an SRE?

(vi) entered into a settlement a@sﬂfwith the issuer in a matter that involved actual

J
CIVIL PRO INGS

If you ans@ %ES” to any item in Question 9, you must provide complete details in an attachment.

YES

NO

JUDGMENT, GARNISHMENT AND INJUNCTIONS
Has a court in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction:

rendered a judgment, ordered garnishment or issued an injunction or similar ban
ether by consent or otherwise) against you in a claim based in whole or in part on fraud,
\theft deceit, misrepresentation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of fiduciary duty, insider
trading, unregistered trading, illegal distributions, failure to disclose material facts or
changes, or allegations of similar conduct?

(ii) rendered a judgment, ordered garnishment or issued an injunction or similar ban
(whether by consent or otherwise) against an issuer of which you are currently or have ever
been a director, officer, promoter, insider or control person in a claim based in whole or in
part on fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of fiduciary
duty, insider trading, unregistered trading, illegal distributions, failure to disclose material
facts or changes, or allegations of similar conduct?
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10.

<<O

Ny

YES

NO

CURRENT CLAIMS

0] Are you now subject, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, to a claim that is
based in whole or in part on actual or alleged fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation,
conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of fiduciary duty, insider trading, unregistered trading,
illegal distributions, failure to disclose material facts or changes, or allegations of similar
conduct?

(i) To the best of your knowledge, are you currently or have you ever been a director,
officer, promoter, insider or control person of an issuer that is now subject, in any Canadian
or foreign jurisdiction, to a claim that is based in whole or in part on actual or alleged fraud,
theft, deceit, misrepresentation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of fiduciary duty, insider
trading, unregistered trading, illegal distributions, failure to disclose material facts or
changes, or allegations of similar conduct?

| N
a A

YES

SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

@) Have you ever entered into a settlement agreement, in any Canadian or f
jurisdiction, in a civil action that involved actual or alleged fraud, theft, deceit,
misrepresentation, conspiracy, breach of trust, breach of fiduciary duty, insid
unregistered trading, illegal distributions, failure to disclose material facts g aMes, or
allegations of similar conduct?

(i) To the best of your knowledge, are you currently or have yo >Nbeen a director,
officer, promoter, insider or control person of an issuer that has ent 0 a settlement
agreement, in any Canadian or foreign jurisdiction, in a civil acti nvolved actual or
alleged fraud, theft, deceit, misrepresentation, conspiracy, b @ trust, breach of
fiduciary duty, insider trading, unregistered trading, illegal d| utions, failure to disclose
material facts or changes, or allegations of similar conduc

'\
INVOLVEMENT WITH OTHER ENTO'@S

NS

YES

NO

Has your employment in a sales, invest r advisory capacity with any employer
engaged in the sale of real estate, ins or mutual funds ever been suspended or
terminated for cause? If yes, attach\f ticulars.

N\
N4

Has your employment with &Kf r company registered under the securities laws of any
Canadian or foreign jurisdioNdg as a securities dealer, broker, investment advisor or

underwriter, ever been Yysp¥nded or terminated for cause? If yes, attach full particulars.
A
N

Has your emplo nt)as an officer of an issuer ever been suspended or terminated for
cause? If yes, ull particulars.

&
S
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SCHEDULE 1

PART B CERTIFICATE AND CONSENT

l, hereby certify that:
(Please Print — Name of Individual)

(@) | have read and understand the questions, cautions, acknowledgement a

consent in the personal information form to which this certificate and cons Ns

attached or of which this certificate and consent forms a part (the “Form”), he

answers | have given to the questions in the Form and in any attachmen it are
correct, except where stated to be answered to the best of my knowledge, iﬁw ich case
| believe the answers to be correct;

(b) | have been provided with and have read and unde %% the Personal
Information Collection Policy (the “Personal Information CoIIec@olicy”) in Schedule
2 of Appendix A to Regulation 41-101 respecting General Pro& s Requirements;

(© | consent to the collection, use and disclosure@a regulator or a securities
regulatory authority listed in Schedule 3 of Appendix egulation 41-101 respecting
General Prospectus Requirements (collectively the ‘@.llators”) of the information in the
Form and to the collection, use and disclosurg _byMhe regulators of further personal
information in accordance with the Personal Im& ation Collection Policy including the
collection, use and disclosure by the regulqi@of the information in the Form in respect
of the prospectus filings of the Issuer and thg?prospectus filings of any other issuer in a
situation where | am or will be: * )

0] a director, executiv: Q‘i’cer or promoter of the other issuer,
(i) a director or gtive officer of a promoter of the other issuer, if the
promoter is not an indivicg ~ DI

@ii)  wher @other iIssuer is an investment fund, a director or executive
officer of the invéi@nt fund manager; and

(d) I amQ%e that | am providing the Form to the regulators and | understand that |

am unde urisdiction of the regulators to which | submit the Form, and that it is a
breach ecurities legislation to provide false or misleading information to the
regyl , whenever the Form is provided in respect of the prospectus filings of the

IssNéror the prospectus filings of any other issuer of which I am or will be a director,
écutive officer or promoter.

Date [within 30 days of the date of the preliminary prospectus]

Signature of Person Completing this Form
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SCHEDULE 2
PERSONAL INFORMATION COLLECTION POLICY

The regulators and securities regulatory authorities (the “regulators”) listed in
Schedule 3 of Appendix A to Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus
Requirements collect the personal information in the personal information form as this
term is defined in Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus Requirements (t
“Personal Information Form”), under the authority granted to them under provinci d
territorial securities legislation. Under securities legislation, the regulators do n(ﬂ&ke
any of the information provided in the Personal Information Form public. '\\

tion Form
rovincial and
or permit the
the regulators that
reasonable grounds
ith integrity and in the

The regulators collect the personal information in the Personal |
for the purpose of enabling the regulators to administer and enf
territorial securities legislation, including those provisions that r
regulators to refuse to issue a receipt for a prospectus if it appe
the past conduct of management or promoters of the Issuer aK%N
for belief that the business of the Issuer will not be cond Qd
best interests of its securityholders. %%

You understand that by signing the certy@ and consent in the Personal
Information Form, you are consenting to the Issyer Ssbmitting your personal information
in the Personal Information Form (the “Infag&tion”) to the regulators and to the
collection and use by the regulators of the mation, as well as any other information
that may be necessary to administer an force provincial and territorial securities
legislation. This may include the o"bption of information from law enforcement
agencies, other government or no -'ggvernmental regulatory authorities, self-regulatory
organizations, exchanges, and tion and trade reporting systems in order to
conduct background checks the Information and perform investigations and
conduct enforcement proceQd} as required to ensure compliance with provincial and
territorial securities legis|apsN. Your consent also extends to the collection, use and
disclosure of the Infor ;k as described above in respect of other prospectus filings of
the Issuer and the@ectus filings of any other issuer in a situation where you are or
will be a:

@) égirector, executive officer or promoter of the other issuer,

@S—’a director or executive officer of a promoter of the other issuer, if the

pro is not an individual, or

§ (© where the other issuer is an investment fund, a director or executive
icer of the investment fund manager.

You understand that the Issuer is required to deliver the Information to the
regulators because the Issuer has filed a prospectus under provincial and territorial
securities legislation. You also understand that you have a right to be informed of the
existence of personal information about you that is kept by regulators, that you have the
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right to request access to that information, and that you have the right to request that
such information be corrected, subject to the applicable provisions of the freedom of
information and protection of privacy legislation adopted by each province and territory.

You also understand and agree that the Information the regulators collect about
you may also be disclosed, as permitted by law, where its use and disclosure is for the
purposes described above. The regulators may also use a third party to process_t
Information, but when this happens, the third party will be carefully selecte ﬁnd
obligated to comply with the limited use restrictions described above and with prﬁ&ial

and federal privacy legislation. .

Warning: It is an offence to submit information that, in a ma%%}(ect and at

the time and in the light of the circumstances in which it is submitt isleading or

untrue.
Questions Q&§

If you have any questions about the collecti %ee, and disclosure of the
information you provide to the regulators, you @ontact the regulator in the
jurisdiction in which the required information is fileg\ e address or telephone number
listed in Schedule 3. b‘

N
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SCHEDULE 3

REGULATORS AND SECURITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITIES

Local Jurisdiction

Alberta

British Columbia

Manitoba

N\
&
New B%—@(
<<O
N3

Regulation 41-101

Regulator

Securities Review Officer

Alberta Securities Commission

Suite 600 Q’\b‘
250 — 5th Street S.W (L
Calgary, Alberta T2P OR4 ,\ N
Telephone: 403-297-6454

E-mail: inquiries@seccom.ab.ca Q~
www.albertasecurities.com <§/
Review Officer ’&
British Columbia Securitie@mission

P.O. Box 10142 Pacific C
701 West Georgia Stre
Vancouver, British Coﬁi ia V7Y 1L2

Telephone: 604-8
Toll Free within§ Columbla
@

and Alberta 73-6393
E-mail: inguirie¥@bcsc.bc.ca
www.bc

%7 Corporate Finance
$ anitoba Securities Commission

0-400 St. Mary Avenue
|nn|peg Manitoba R3C 4K5
Telephone: 204-945-2548
E-mail: securities@gov.mb.ca
www.msc.gov.mb.ca

Director Corporate Finance and Chief
Financial Officer

New Brunswick Securities Commission
85 Charlotte Street, Suite 300

Saint John, New Brunswick E2L 2J2
Telephone: 506-658-3060

Fax: 506-658-3059

E-mail: information@nbsc-cvmnb.ca
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Local Jurisdiction

Newfoundland and
Labrador

Northwest Territories

Nova Scotia

Nunavut

Ontario %
Y

N\

\3

Regulation 41-101

Regulator

Director of Securities

Department of Government Services and Lands
P.O. Box 8700

West Block, 2nd Floor, Confederation Building

St. John’s, Newfoundland A1B 4J6 b‘
Telephone: 709-729-4189 Q\
www.gov.nf.ca/gsl/ccals (L

A\
Superintendent of Securities q',\

Department of Justice
Government of the Northwest Territorie%g/

P.O. Box 1320 %
Yellowknife, Northwest Territories% L9
Telephone: 867-873- 7490
www.justice.gov.nt. ca/Secu% egistry

Deputy Director

Compliance and Enfoﬂ% ent Division
Nova Scotia Securl ommission
P.O. Box 458

Halifax, Nova(i/ ia B3J 2P8
Telephon 424-5354
WwWw.goyY.ns: A/nssc

S tendent of Securities
rnment of Nunavut
gal Registries Division
.0. Box 1000 — Station 570
Igaluit, Nunavut XO0A OHO
Telephone: 867-975-6590

Administrative Assistant to the Director of Corporate
Finance

Ontario Securities Commission

19th Floor, 20 Queen Street West

Toronto, Ontario M5H 2S8

Telephone: 416-597-0681

E-mail: Inquiries@osc.gov.on.ca

WWW.0SC.gov.on.ca
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Local Jurisdiction Regulator

Prince Edward Island Superintendent of Securities
Government of Prince Edward Island
95 Rochford Street, P.O. Box 2000, 4th Floor
Charlottetown, Prince Edward Island C1A 7N8
Telephone: 902-368-4550 b‘
www.gov.pe.ca/securities '\

Québec Autorité des marches financiers N
800, square Victoria, 22e étage q,
C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse Q~
Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3 Q/
Attention: Responsable de l'acces a@naﬁon
Telephone: 514-395-0337 %
Toll Free in Québec: 1-877-525

www.lautorite.qc.ca %

Saskatchewan Director
Financial and Qﬁ@mer Affairs  Authority  of

Saskatchewan

Suite 601, 191 katchewan Drive
Regina, Sask wan S4P 4H2
Telephoney O -787-5842

WWW. f% sk ca

Yukon S tendent of Securities
of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
partment of Community Services
5?‘307 Black Street, Whitehorse, Yukon, Y1A 2N1
Phone: 867-667-5466, Fax: 867-393-6251

M.O. 2008-05&9; M.O. 2010-17, s. 7; M.O. 2013-03, s. 11.
&
Q~
<<O
N3
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APPENDIX B ISSUER FORM OF SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND
APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

1. Name of issuer (the "Issuer"):

2. Jurisdiction of incorporation, or equivalent, of Issuer: '\b‘

N
W5

3. Address of principal place of business of Issuer: &
4, Description of securities (the "Securities"): /&
<&
<
5. Date of the prospectus (the "Prospectus") uy@/hich the Securities are offered:
A
N\
6. Name of agent for service of procesgbhe "Agent"):

A

7. Address for service o@o‘cess of Agent in Canada (the address may be

anywhere in Canada): %
s
\\

8. The Iss%gnates and appoints the Agent at the address of the Agent stated

above as its upon whom may be served any notice, pleading, subpoena,
summons gpotier process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, quasi-
criminal, or other proceeding (the "Proceeding") arising out of, relating to or
concer e distribution of the Securities made or purported to be made under the
Pro @ s or the obligations of the Issuer as a reporting issuer, and irrevocably waives

ight to raise as a defence in any such Proceeding any alleged lack of jurisdiction to

n
{%&g such Proceeding.

9. The Issuer irrevocably and unconditionally submits to the non-exclusive
jurisdiction of
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(@ the judicial, quasi-judicial and administrative tribunals of each of the
provinces [and territories] of Canada in which the securities are distributed under the
Prospectus; and

(b)  any administrative proceeding in any such province [or territory], in any
Proceeding arising out of or related to or concerning the distribution of the Securities
made or purported to be made under the Prospectus or the obligations of the issue;\&
a reporting issuer. Q

10. Until 6 years after it has ceased to be a reporting issuer in any CQ adian

province or territory, the Issuer shall file a new submission to jurif? jon and

appointment of agent for service of process in this form at least Qr_d ys before
0

termination of this submission to jurisdiction and appointment of r service of

process. @
&

11. Until 6 years after it has ceased to be a reportin er in any Canadian
province or territory, the Issuer shall file an amended s ission to jurisdiction and
appointment of agent for service of process at least 3 before any change in the
name or above address of the Agent.

12.  This submission to jurisdiction and appo\ t’r%nt of agent for service of process
shall be governed by and construed in accord& with the laws of [insert province or
territory of above address of Agent]. q/Q

Dated: . \ )

wture of Issuer

@Print name and title of signing officer of Issuer

AGENT 5

[insert name er] under the terms and conditions of the appointment of agent for

The unde!;g@sd accepts the appointment as agent for service of process of
service of ppocess stated above.

Date : ()g)
<<O\ Signature of Agent

Ny

M.O. 2008-05, Sch. B.

Print name of person signing and, if Agent is not an
individual, the title of the person
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APPENDIX C NON-ISSUER FORM OF SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND
APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

1. Name of issuer (the "Issuer"):

2. Jurisdiction of incorporation, or equivalent, of Issuer: '\b‘

N
W5

3. Address of principal place of business of Issuer: &

4. Description of securities (the "Securities"): /&
<3
<

5. Date of the prospectus (the "Prospectus") uy@/hich the Securities are offered:

n>

6. Name of person filing this form (the "&Hng Person"):
M)

<=~E N
7. Filing Person’s relation@?i Issuer:
‘bg
\

8. Jurisdiction Zrorporation, or equivalent, of Filing Person, if applicable, or
jurisdiction of res@' e of Filing Person:

X
N

N

9. Qgéss of principal place of business of Filing Person:

o)

§ Name of agent for service of process (the "Agent"):
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11. Address for service of process of Agent in Canada (the address may be
anywhere in Canada):

12.  The Filing Person designates and appoints the Agent at the address of the Agent
stated above as its agent upon whom may be served any notice, pleading, subpo nv
summons or other process in any action, investigation or administrative, criminal, I-
criminal, penal or other proceeding (the "Proceeding”) arising out of, relati
concerning the distribution of the Securities made or purported to be madepun
Prospectus, and irrevocably waives any right to raise as a defence h{;&
Proceeding any alleged lack of jurisdiction to bring the Proceeding. Q~

dér the
y such

13. The Filing Person irrevocably and unconditionally submit@e non-exclusive

jurisdiction of %

(@ the judicial, quasi-judicial and administrati %unals of each of the
provinces [and territories] of Canada in which the secyNg# are distributed under the
Prospectus; and O

(b)  any administrative proceeding in gnysuch province [or territory], in any
Proceeding arising out of or related to or con\ ing the distribution of the Securities
made or purported to be made under the P ctus.

14.  Until 6 years after completion ffhe‘distribution of the Securities made under the
Prospectus, the Filing Person@ file a new submission to jurisdiction and

appointment of agent for servi process in this form at least 30 days before
termination of this submissio@hrisdiction and appointment of agent for service of

process. %

15. Until 6 years teB ompletion of the distribution of the Securities under the
Prospectus, the Fili erson shall file an amended submission to jurisdiction and

appointment of or service of process at least 30 days before a change in the
name or abov@ress of the Agent.

16.  Thy mission to jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service of process
shall b erned by and construed in accordance with the laws of [insert province or
terrj @ f above address of Agent].

\%aed:

Signature of Filing Person

Print name of person signing and, if the Filing Person
is not an individual, the title of the person

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 95



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

AGENT
The undersigned accepts the appointment as agent for service of process of

[insert name of Filing Person] under the terms and conditions of the appointment of
agent for service of process stated above.

Dated: Dated:
Signature of Agemt Q’\b‘

N
Print name of person signing and, if Agé?lt;lk not an

individual, the title of the person
&
L&
Q

M.O. 2008-05, Sch. C; M.O. 2013-03, s. 12.
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APPENDIX D

Jurisdiction

Alberta
British Columbia
Manitoba

New Brunswick
Newfoundland and Labrador
Northwest Territories

Nova Scotia

Nunavut

Ontario

Prince Edward Islanég
&
Saskatche
&
Yu ko@Q
K
\3

M.O. 2013-13, s. 8

Regulation 41-101

N

January 1, 2014

PRELIMINARY PROSPECTUS NOTICE PROVISIONS

Securities Legislation Reference

Paragraph 123(a) of the Securities Act
(R.S.A. 2000, c. S-4)

Paragraph 78(2)(a) of the Securities Acg\b‘
(R.S.B.C. 1996, ch. 418) N

Paragraph 38(b) of the Securit'paé«tst

(C.C.S.M. c. S50)
<&

Paragraph 82(2)(a) of the Securities Act
(SNB 2004, ¢ S-5.5)
AV

Paragraph 66(2)(a) of the Securities Act
(R.S.N.L. 1990, c. S-13)

~ <
Paragraph 97(a) of the Securities Act
(SNWT 2008, c. 10)

P2 ’}aph 70(2)(a) of the Securities Act
(RVS.N.S. 1989, c. 418)
M)

Paragraph 97(a) of the Securities Act
(S.Nu. 2008, c. 12)

Paragraph 65(2)(a) of the Securities Act
(R.S.0. 1990, c. S.5)

Paragraph 97(a) of the Securities Act
(R.S.P.E.I. 1988, c S-3)

Paragraph 73(2)(a) of The Securities
Act, 1988 (S.S. 1988-89, c. S-42.2)

Paragraph 97(a) of the Securities Act
(R.S.Y. 2002, c. 201)

PAGE 97



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

APPENDIX E FINAL PROSPECTUS NOTICE PROVISIONS

Jurisdiction

British Columbia

New Brunswick

Newfoundland and Labrador

Nova Scotia

Ontario

Saskatchewan

M.O. 2013-13, s. 8

Regulation 41-101

Securities Legislation Reference

Paragraph 82(c) of the Securities Act

Section 86 of the Securities Act, but only in respec\&‘
a communication described in paragraph 82(2) f
that Act

N
Section 70 of the Securities Act, but on?? ﬂ;espect of

a communication described in parag 6(2)(a) of

that Act %

Section 74 of the Securities A%‘ t only in respect of
a communication describe ragraph 70(2)(a) of
that Act

Section 69 of the S u%ﬂes Act (Ontario), but only in
respect of a co ation described in clause
65(2)(a) of tha ch

Paragrap}:i‘g(}) of The Securities Act, 1988

NS
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FORM 41-101F1 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A PROSPECTUS
GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The objective of the prospectus is to provide information concerning the issuer
that an investor needs in order to make an informed investment decision. This Form
sets out specific disclosure requirements that are in addition to the general requireme
under securities legislation to provide full, true and plain disclosure of all materia S
relating to the securities to be distributed. Certain rules of specific application se
prospectus disclosure obligations in addition to those described in this Form. ,\\

(2) Terms used and not defined in this Form that are defined or i (}ted in the
Regulation bear that definition or interpretation. Other definitio set out in
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r. 3).

3) In determining the degree of detail required, a standz% materiality must be
applied. Materiality is a matter of judgment in the pa lal circumstance, and is
determined in relation to an item’s significance to inves alysts and other users of
the information. An item of information, or an aggreg items, is considered material
if it is probable that its omission or misstate é/vould influence or change an
investment decision with respect to the iss ecurities. In determining whether
information is material, take into account botl‘@hntltatlve and qualitative factors. The
potential significance of items must be ered individually rather than on a net
basis, if the items have an offsetting effect.
M)

(4) Unless an item specifically rege\yes disclosure only in the preliminary prospectus,
the disclosure requirements s in this Form apply to both the preliminary
prospectus and the prospe etails concerning the price and other matters
dependent upon or relating ce, such as the number of securities being distributed,
may be left out of the prel{iRpRary prospectus, along with specifics concerning the plan of
distribution, to the ext t tDAt these matters have not been decided.

(5)  The discl must be understandable to readers and presented in an easy-to-
read format. esentation of information should comply with the plain language

principles i in section 4.1 of Policy Statement to Regulation 41-101 respecting
General ctus Requirements (Decision 2008-PDG-0055, 2008-02-28). If technical
terms uired, clear and concise explanations should be included.

( )<(Qo reference need be made to inapplicable items and, unless otherwise required
\?éhis Form, negative answers to items may be omitted.
(7)  Where the term *“issuer” is used, it may be necessary, in order to meet the
requirement for full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts, to also include
disclosure with respect to persons that the issuer is required, under the issuer's GAAP,
to consolidate, proportionately consolidate or account for using the equity method (for
example, including "subsidiaries" as that term is used in Canadian GAAP applicable to
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publicly accountable enterprises). If it is more likely than not that a person will become
an entity that the issuer will be required, under the issuer's GAAP, to consolidate,
proportionately consolidate or account for using the equity method, it may be necessary
to also include disclosure with respect to the person.

(8) Anissuer that is a special purpose entity may have to modify the disclosure items
to reflect the special purpose nature of its business. '\b‘

(9) If disclosure is required as of a specific date and there has been a ﬂj%r
change or change that is otherwise significant in the required information su t to
that date, present the information as of the date of the change or a date s b%q
the change instead.

uent to

(10) If an issuer discloses financial information in a prelims prospectus or
prospectus in a currency other than the Canadian dollar, ently display the
presentation currency.

?nformation in a narrative
s, artwork or other forms of

(11) Except as otherwise required or permitted,
form. The issuer may include graphs, photographs
illustration, if relevant to the business of the r or the distribution and not
misleading. Include descriptive headings. Exc r information that appears in a
summary, information required under more tha)\ tem need not be repeated.

(12) Certain requirements in this Form ‘raake reference to requirements in another
regulation or form. Unless this For &at‘es otherwise, issuers must also follow the
instruction or requirement in the r regulation or form. These references include
references to Form 51-102F2 o lation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations (chapter V-1.1, r . Venture issuers must include such disclosure in a
preliminary prospectus or ctus even if they are not otherwise required to file an
annual information form x that regulation.

(13) Wherever thj *@m uses the word “subsidiary”, the term includes companies and
other types of ness organizations such as partnerships, trusts and other
unincorporate ess entities.

(14) WherS/equirements in this Form make reference to, or are substantially similar

ents in Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous

DIS I@ Obligations, issuers may apply the general provision in subpart 1(d) of

102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations.

ever, issuers must supplement this disclosure if the supplemented disclosure is

cessary to ensure that the prospectus provides full, true and plain disclosure of all

material facts related to the securities to be distributed as required under Item 29 of this
Form.

(15) Forward-looking information, as defined in Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, included in a prospectus must comply with
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section 4A.2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations and
must include the disclosure described in section 4A.3 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations. In addition to the foregoing, FOFI or a financial
outlook, each as defined in Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations, included in a prospectus must comply with Part 4B of Regulation 51-102
respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations. If the forward-looking information relates
to an issuer or other entity that is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction, section 4A.
section 4A.3 and Part 4B of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Discé&
Obligations apply as if the issuer or other entity were a reporting issuer in at(l't, t 1
jurisdiction. ,\\

(}'or 13.8(1)

(16) Marketing materials prepared in accordance with subsections 1

of the Regulation are the only documents that can be incorporated erence into a
long form prospectus. @
Item 1 Cover Page Disclosure Q&

1.1. Required statement %Q/

State in italics at the top of the cover page ty@owing:

“No securities regulatory authority haibéxpressed an opinion about these
securities and it is an offence to claim othe :

1.2. Preliminary prospectus discl e
Every preliminary prospe ust have printed in red ink and in italics at the top

of the cover page immediatel ove the disclosure required under section 1.1 the
following, with the brackete mation completed:

“A copy of thj bzﬁminary prospectus has been filed with the securities
regulatory authorit@&n [each of/certain of the provinces/provinces and territories of
Canada] but h yet become final for the purpose of the sale of securities.
Information co@d in this preliminary prospectus may not be complete and may have
to be ame \ The securities may not be sold until a receipt for the prospectus is
obtained @ne securities regulatory authority(ies).”

INS&@%TION
\é Issuers must complete the bracketed information by

(@) inserting the names of each jurisdiction in which the issuer intends to offer
securities under the prospectus,

(b)  stating that the filing has been made in each of the provinces of Canada or
each of the provinces and territories of Canada, or
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(c) identifying the filing jurisdictions by exception (i.e., every province of
Canada or every province and territory of Canada, except [excluded jurisdictions]).

1.3. Basic disclosure about the distribution

State the following immediately below the disclosure required under sections 1&
and 1.2 with the bracketed information completed: '\

“[PRELIMINARY] PROSPECTUS %

N
[INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OR NEW ISSUE AND/OR SECONDAZ/ (LERING]

[(Date)] Q
&

[Name of Issuer]

[number and type of securities qualified for distribution @ the prospectus, including
any options or warrants, and the pr'ée r security]”

1.4. Distribution &

(1) If the securities are being distribute@f;?.I cash, provide the information called for
below, in substantially the following tabular f or in a note to the table:

M)
(2) Describe the terms of any o llotment option or any option to increase the size
of the distribution before closing.?\

(2.1) |If there may be an o cation position provide the following disclosure:

%res [insert type of securities qualified for distribution under

art of the underwriters’ over-allocation position acquires those
rospectus, regardless of whether the over-allocation position is
gh the exercise of the over-allotment option or secondary market

A purchaser w
the prospectus] for
securities under
ultimately fille

purchases. %
(3) &distribution of the securities is to be on a best efforts basis and a minimum

offeyi ount

ﬁ (@) is required for the issuer to achieve one or more of the purposes of the
ering, provide totals for both the minimum and maximum offering amount, or

(b) is not required for the issuer to achieve any of the purposes of the offering,
state the following in boldface type:

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 102



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

“No minimum amount of funds must be raised under this offering.
This means that the issuer could complete this offering after raising only a small
proportion of the offering amount set out above.”.

4) If a minimum subscription amount is required from each subscriber, provide
details of the minimum subscription requirements in the table required under

subsection (1). \b‘

(5) If debt securities are being distributed at a premium or a discount, 6@ in
boldface type the effective yield if held to maturity. .
(6) Disclose separately those securities that are underwritten, thq (lﬁer option
and those to be sold on a best efforts basis, and, in the cas best efforts
distribution, the latest date that the distribution is to remain open. %

(7 In column (b) of the table, disclose only commissions %r payable in cash by
the issuer or selling securityholder and discounts granted. odt in a note to the table

(@) commissions or other consideration paid.ory@ayable by persons other than
the issuer or selling securityholder, &

(b) consideration other than discoun@ranted and cash paid or payable by
the issuer or selling securityholder, includir\g\&brrants and options, and

(c) any finder’s fees or simKw'Pequired payment.

(8) If a security is being distrj
the name of the securityhold
prospectus where further i
the portion of the expen%

Qed for the account of a selling securityholder, state

a cross-reference to the applicable section in the
tion about the selling securityholder is provided. State
the distribution to be borne by the selling securityholder
and, if none of the gx¥nses of the distribution are being borne by the selling
securityholder, incI@statement to that effect and discuss the reason why this is the

case.
< ,2
X

% Price to public Underwriting Proceeds to issuer or
C) (@) discounts or selling securityholders
Q~ commission (©)
QO (b)
PeN&ecurity
\ I
\\

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Estimate amounts, if necessary. For non-fixed price distributions that are being
made on a best efforts basis, disclosure of the information called for by the table may be
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set forth as a percentage or a range of percentages and need not be set forth in tabular
form.

(2) If debt securities are being distributed, also express the information in the table
as a percentage.

1.5. Offering price in currency other than Canadian dollar '\b‘

If the offering price of the securities being distributed is disclosed in a djl,%wy
other than the Canadian dollar, disclose in boldface type the currency. ,\\

1.6. Non-fixed price distributions Qg‘

If the securities are being distributed at non-fixed prices, dis

(@) the discount allowed or commission payable to w&derwriter,

(b) any other compensation payable to the u@ter and, if applicable, that
the underwriter's compensation will be increased or ;ﬁc sed by the amount by which

the aggregate price paid for the securities by the p sers exceeds or is less than the
gross proceeds paid by the underwriter to the iss&sr r selling securityholder,

(c) that the securities to be ‘d@uted under the prospectus will be

distributed, as applicable, at
M)

(1) prices determi y reference to the prevailing price of a specified
security in a specified market, ?\

(i) market @0} prevailing at the time of sale, or

(i) g&be negotiated with purchasers,

(d) tha S may vary from purchaser to purchaser and during the period of
distribution,

prevaili ce of a specified security in a specified market, the price of the specified

(e)g W the price of the securities is to be determined by reference to the
sec<® the specified market at the latest practicable date,

§ ) if the price of the securities will be the market price prevailing at the time
the sale, the market price at the latest practicable date, and

() the net proceeds or, if the distribution is to be made on a best efforts

basis, the minimum amount of net proceeds, if any, to be received by the issuer or
selling securityholder.
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1.7. Pricing disclosure

If the offering price or the number of securities being distributed, or an estimate
of the range of the offering price or of the number of securities being distributed, has
been publicly disclosed in a jurisdiction or a foreign jurisdiction as of the date of the
preliminary prospectus, include this information in the preliminary prospectus.

Na

1.8. Reduced price distributions Q

If an underwriter wishes to be able to decrease the price at which se ri(ﬁk are
distributed for cash from the initial offering price fixed in the prospectuﬁl}' ude in
boldface type a cross-reference to the section in the prospectus disclosure
concerning the possible price decrease is provided.

1.9. Market for securities &

(1) Identify the exchange(s) and quotation system(s), j § on which securities of
the issuer of the same class or series as the securitie ay distributed are traded or
guoted and the market price of those securities as of jhe”@est practicable date.

(2) Disclose any intention to stabilize the m%fﬁ(%t Provide a cross-reference to the
section in the prospectus where further go\ ation about market stabilization is

provided.
q/

(3) If no market for the securities efhg‘distributed under the prospectus exists or is
expected to exist upon completiob the distribution, state the following in boldface

type:

“There is no market h which these securities may be sold and purchasers
may not be able to resel urities purchased under this prospectus. This may affect
the pricing of the secu % n the secondary market, the transparency and availability of
trading prices, the&&ity of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. See

‘Risk Factors’.

4) If th isgler has complied with the requirements of the Regulation as an IPO
venture | /7 include a statement, in substantially the following form, with bracketed
inform ompleted:
<(QAS at the date of this prospectus, [name of issuer] does not have any of its
%urities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does
t intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange,
a U.S. marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America
other than the Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange or the
PLUS markets operated by PLUS Markets Group plc.”
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1.10. Risk factors

Include a cross-reference to sections in the prospectus where information about
the risks of an investment in the securities being distributed is provided.

1.11. Underwriter(s)

Na

(1)  State the name of each underwriter. Q

(2) If applicable, comply with the requirements of Regulation 33-105 esp cting
Underwriting Conflicts (chapter V-1.1, r. 11) for front page prospectus discl(ﬁv :

(3) If an underwriter has agreed to purchase all of the securities Q&g distributed at
a specified price and the underwriter’s obligations are subject to itions, state the
following, with bracketed information completed: %

and when issued by [name of issuer] and accepted in accordance with the
conditions contained in the underwriting agreemen ferred to under ‘Plan of
Distribution™. &

“We, as principals, conditionally offer these securiti @ject to prior sale, if, as
ée

4) If an underwriter has agreed to purcha k‘specified number or principal amount
of the securities at a specified price, stateé@t e securities are to be taken up by the
underwriter, if at all, on or before a date ngt later than 42 days after the date of the
receipt for the final prospectus. )

(5) If there is no underwrite Qvolved in the distribution, provide a statement in
boldface type to the effect th %’Underwriter has been involved in the preparation of

the prospectus or performe review or independent due diligence of the contents of
the prospectus. 5}
(6) Provide the f tng tabular information
D
Underwriter’sQ&Ttion Maximum size | Exercise period | Exercise price or
or number of or Acquisition average
C)% securities date acquisition price
QD available

Over@@ytment option

CoNpensation option

other option granted by
ISsuer or insider of issuer to
underwriter

Total securities under
option issuable to
underwriter
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Underwriter’s Position Maximum size | Exercise period | Exercise price or
or number of or Acquisition average
securities date acquisition price
available

Other compensation
securities issuable to
underwriter

N
NV

INSTRUCTION (19

If the underwriter has been granted compensation securities, state, ootnote

whether the prospectus qualifies the grant of all or part of the comp an securities
and provide a cross-reference to the applicable section in the pros %@) here further

information about the compensation securities is provided.
1.12. Enforcement of judgments against foreign person

If the issuer, a director of the issuer, a selling se %&holder, or any other person
that is signing or providing a certificate under Part 5 gkthe/Regulation or other securities

legislation, or any person for whom the issuer is r to file a consent under Part 10
of the Regulation, is incorporated, continued, or gtheMvise organized under the laws of a
foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Cana®#qYstate the following on the cover page

or under a separate heading elsewhe(el/ the prospectus, with the bracketed
information completed: '\
M)

“The [issuer, director of th “Aeuer selling securityholder, or other person] is
incorporated, continued or othe Q‘organlzed under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction
or resides outside of Canada, 0

[the person nam ow] has appointed the following agent(s) for service of
process:
A
Name of Person A\ Name and Address of Agent
A

Pu@%gers are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce

judgm btained in Canada against any person that is incorporated, continued or

oth organized under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of
da, even if the party has appointed an agent for service of process.

§.13. Restricted securities
Q) Describe the number and class or classes of restricted securities being

distributed using the appropriate restricted security terms in the same type face and
type size as the rest of the description.
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(2) If the securities being distributed are restricted securities and the holders of the
securities do not have the right to participate in a takeover bid made for other equity
securities of the issuer, disclose that fact.

1.14. Earnings coverage

If any of the earnings coverage ratios required to be disclosed under Item 9&
less than one-to-one, disclose this fact in boldface type. Q'\

N
2.1. Table of contents Qgﬁl,

Include a table of contents. &
L&

ltem 2 Table of Contents

ltem 3 Summary of Prospectus

3.1. General %Qg

(2) Briefly summarize, near the beginning of t&i@)spectus, information appearing
elsewhere in the prospectus that, in the opinion,of We issuer or selling securityholder,
would be most likely to influence the investor’s)( ision to purchase the securities being
distributed, including a description of q/Q

(@  the principal business of, tHNSSuer and its subsidiaries,

(b)  the securities to b @'ﬁributed, including the offering price and expected
net proceeds, P?“

(c) use of proc%@
(d) risk f% )
(e) f@tﬁl information, and
) ¥ restricted securities, subject securities or securities that are directly or
indirec vertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted securities or
subé( curities, are to be distributed under the prospectus
\é 0] include a summary of the information required by section 10.6, and
(i) include, in boldface type, a statement of the rights the holders of
restricted securities do not have, if the holders do not have all of the rights referred to in

section 10.6.

(2) For the financial information provided under paragraph (1)(e),
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(@) describe the type of information appearing elsewhere in the prospectus on
which the financial information is based,

(b)  disclose whether the information appearing elsewhere in the prospectus
on which the financial information is based has been audited,

(c) disclose whether the financial information has been audited, and Q’\b‘
(d) if neither the information appearing elsewhere in the prospectug.on Which
the financial information is based nor the financial information has bé@ audited,

prominently disclose that fact. Q~

3) For each item summarized under subsection (1), provide a&reference to the

information in the prospectus. %

3.2. Cautionary language Q

At the beginning of the summary, include a st r%)]t in italics in substantially the
following form:

al features of this distribution and
yled information and financial data and

sjectus.”
)

“The following is a summary of the
should be read together with the more
statements contained elsewhere in this g{)

ltem 4 Corporate Structure *

4.1. Name, address and ir@aration

Q) State the issuer’s g@porate name or, if the issuer is an unincorporated entity,
the full name under wiRichit exists and carries on business, and the address(es) of the
issuer’'s head and reRs¥red office

(2) Statet 'a'[ute under which the issuer is incorporated, continued or organized
if the i is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the jurisdiction or foreign
jUI’ISdICtIO&eI’ which it is established and exists.

(3) scribe the substance of any material amendments to the articles or other
Ing or establishing documents of the issuer.

\. . Intercorporate relationships

(1) Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships
among the issuer and its subsidiaries.

(2) For each subsidiary described in subsection (1), state

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 109



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(@) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the issuer,

(b)  the percentage of each class of restricted securities of the subsidiary
beneficially owned, or controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the issuer, and

(© where the subsidiary was incorporated, continued, formed or organiz%\

3) If the securities distributed under the prospectus are being issued in (k:tlon
with a restructuring transaction, describe by way of a diagram or oth e these
intercorporate relationships both before and after the completion proposed
transaction.

(4) A particular subsidiary may be omitted from the dis required by this
section if, at the most recent financial year end of the issuer :\

(@) the total assets of the subsidiary do not ?‘O 10% of the consolidated
assets of the issuer,

(b)  the revenue of the subsidiary doegz%t exceed 10% of the consolidated
revenue of the issuer, and

(© the conditions in paragraphs {%ﬁnd (b) would be satisfied if
M)

0] the subsidiarie t may be omitted under paragraphs (a) and (b)
were considered in the aggregat%

(i) the ref to 10% in those paragraphs was changed to 20%.

ltem 5 Descri@%usiness

5.1. Describe usiness

(2) Des 'thhe business of the issuer and its operating segments that are
reportabl cg‘éfments as those terms are described in the issuer's GAAP. Disclose
informa@)for each reportable segment of the issuer in accordance with
sub @ n5.1(1) of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Dig ure Obligations

Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, receivership or similar
proceedings against the issuer or any of its subsidiaries, or any voluntary bankruptcy,
receivership or similar proceedings by the issuer or any of its subsidiaries, within
the 3 most recently completed financial years or completed during or proposed for the
current financial year.
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3) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of the
issuer or any of its subsidiaries within the 3 most recently completed financial years or
completed during or proposed for the current financial year.

4) If the issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are
fundamental to the issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the issuer’s
relationship with the environment or with the communities in which the issuer do
business, or human rights policies, describe them and the steps the issuer has taé\lo
implement them. (L

5.2. 3-year history ({,\\

(1) Describe how the issuer’s business has developed over th é?% completed
financial years and any subsequent period to the date of the pros , including only
events, such as acquisitions or dispositions, or conditions t ve influenced the
general development of the business.

(2) If the issuer produces or distributes more than 1 @&t or provides more than 1
kind of service, describe the products or services. O

3) Discuss changes in the issuer’s business @3 he issuer expects will occur during
the current financial year. )\

5.3. Issuers with asset-backed securit%outstanding
M)
If the issuer has asset-back ecurities outstanding that were distributed under
a prospectus, disclose informati ccordance with section 5.3 of Form 51-102F2 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting (ﬁl’huous Disclosure Obligations.

5.4. Issuers with min<=S rojects

If the issue a mineral project, disclose information for the issuer in
accordance wit tion 5.4 of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Dﬁ?&re Obligations. For the purposes of this section, the alternative
disclosure % Nted in Instruction (i) to section 5.4 of Form 51-102F2 does not apply.

5.5. Qgérs with oil and gas operations

( )<(q the issuer is engaged in oil and gas activities as defined in Regulation 51-101
éecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities (chapter V-1.1, r. 23) and
y of the oil and gas information is material as contemplated under Regulation 51-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities in respect of the issuer,
disclose that information in accordance with Form 51-101F1 of Regulation 51-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities
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(@) as at the end of, and for, the most recent financial year for which the
prospectus includes an audited statement of financial position of the issuer,

(b) in the absence of a completed financial year referred to in paragraph (a),
as at the most recent date for which the prospectus includes an audited statement of
financial position of the issuer, and for the most recent financial period for which the
prospectus includes an audited statement of comprehensive income of the issuer, or\b‘

(c) if the issuer was not engaged in oil and gas activities at the date St(a, in
paragraphs (a) or (b), as of a date subsequent to the date the issuer first en g in oil
and gas activities as defined in Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards Gl’lp closure
for Oil and Gas Activities and prior to the date of the preliminary prosp@

(2) Include with the disclosure under subsection (1) a re n the form of
Form 51-101F2 of Regulation 51-101 respecting Standards o osure for Oil and
Gas Activities, on the reserves data included in the dt ure required under

subsection (1). %Q

3) Include with the disclosure under subsect ) a report in the form of
Form 51-101F3 of Regulation 51-101 respecting @iards of Disclosure for Oil and
Gas Activities that refers to the information disclcgs nder subsection (1).

(4)  To the extent not reflected in the in?@tlon disclosed in response to subsection
(1), disclose the information contemplate Part 6 of Regulation 51-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and aB\Activities in respect of material changes that
occurred after the applicable stategof financial position referred to in subsection (1).

INSTRUCTION 0?‘

Disclosure in a pr @JS must be consistent with Regulation 51-101 respecting
Standards of Disclosuge fQ*Oil and Gas Activities if the issuer is engaged in oil and gas
activities as define@sgulaﬁon 51-101 respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and
Gas Activities.

Item 6 %U%e of Proceeds
6.1. g@eds
Se

rityholder or, in the case of a non-fixed price distribution or a distribution to be

de on a best efforts basis, the minimum amount, if any, of net proceeds to be

received by the issuer or selling securityholder from the sale of the securities
distributed.

(§)<(Qtate the estimated net proceeds to be received by the issuer or selling
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(2)  State the particulars of any provisions or arrangements made for holding any part
of the net proceeds of the distribution in trust or escrow subject to the fulfillment of
conditions.

(3) If the prospectus is used for a special warrant or similar transaction, state the
amount that has been received by the issuer of the special warrants or similar securities
on the sale of the special warrants or similar securities. '\b‘

6.2. Junior issuers (19

A junior issuer must disclose ({,\"
(b)  the following breakdown of those funds: &

(@) the total funds available, and

0] the estimated net proceeds from the xf the securities offered
under the prospectus;

(i) the estimated consolidated v&@g capital (deficiency) as at the
most recent month end before filing the prospect&s‘;

(i) the total other funds q@%le to be used to achieve the principal
purposes identified by the junior issuer pursugmt to this Item.

M)
6.3. Principal purposes —gene

Q) Describe in reasonabl %ﬂ and, if appropriate, using tabular form, each of the
principal purposes, with ap ate amounts, for which

(@ the netggd\s will be used by the issuer, or

(b) the available as required under section 6.2 will be used by a junior
issuer.

(2) If t@osing of the distribution is subject to a minimum offering amount, provide

disclo the use of proceeds for the minimum and maximum offering amounts.

rence to various potential thresholds of proceeds raised, in the event that the issuer

(g){(Q the following apply, disclose how the proceeds will be used by the issuer, with
\a ses less than the maximum offering amount:

(@ the closing of the distribution is not subject to a minimum offering amount;

(b)  the distribution is to be on a best efforts basis;
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(c) the issuer has significant short-term non-discretionary expenditures
including those for general corporate purposes, or significant short-term capital or
contractual commitments, and may not have other readily accessible resources to
satisfy those expenditures or commitments.

4) If the issuer is required to provide disclosure under subsection (3), the issuer
must discuss, in respect of each threshold, the impact, if any, of raising each threshow‘
amount on its liquidity, operations, capital resources and solvency. '\

Q
INSTRUCTIONS \:L
(L

If the issuer is required to disclose the use of proceeds at v Qs thresholds
under subsections 6.3(3) and (4), include as an example a thresh % t reflects the

receipt of 15 % of the offering or less. @

6.4. Principal purposes —indebtedness :\

(2) If more than 10% of the net proceeds willéﬁésed to reduce or retire
indebtedness and the indebtedness was incurred withi 2 preceding years, describe
the principal purposes for which the proceeds of th& btedness were used.

(2) If the creditor is an insider, associate orha\hﬁate of the issuer, identify the creditor
and the nature of the relationship to the i r, and disclose the outstanding amount

owed.
N
6.5. Principal purposes — asse uisition

(2) If more than 10% of th@’proceeds are to be used to acquire assets, describe

the assets. %

(2) If known, disclqgse Yte particulars of the purchase price being paid for or being
allocated to the ass& categories of assets, including intangible assets.

3) If the v%l‘of the assets is an insider, associate or affiliate of the issuer, identify
the vendor and\the nature of the relationship to the issuer, and disclose the method
used in d@ﬂning the purchase price.

(4) @gscribe the nature of the title to or interest in the assets to be acquired by the
[ sﬁ{r

% If part of the consideration for the acquisition of the assets consists of securities
of the issuer, give brief particulars of the class, number or amount, voting rights, if any,

and other appropriate information relating to the securities, including particulars of the
issuance of securities of the same class within the 2 preceding years.
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6.6. Principal purposes —insiders, etc.

If an insider, associate or affiliate of the issuer will receive more than 10% of the
net proceeds, identify the insider, associate or affiliate and the nature of the relationship
to the issuer, and disclose the amount of net proceeds to be received.

6.7. Principal purposes —research and development '\b‘

If more than 10% of the net proceeds from the distribution will be Lé@for
research and development of products or services, describe

N
(@) the timing and stage of research and developmer@o}ams that

management anticipates will be reached using such proceeds, <b

(b)  the major components of the proposed programs ill be funded using
the proceeds from the distribution, including an estimate of ame ed costs,

(© if the issuer is conducting its own r@& h and development, is
subcontracting out the research and development gL iSJAsing a combination of those
methods, and ,&

(d) the additional steps required to\kach commercial production and an
estimate of costs and timing. q/

6.8. Business objectives and miljt'NmS
(1)  State the business objecti Q'mat the issuer expects to accomplish using the net

proceeds of the distribution u Section 6.1, or in the case of a junior issuer, using the
funds available described u ection 6.2.

described under supSs§Non (1) to be accomplished and state the specific time period in

(2) Describe each si&mant event that must occur for the business objectives
which each evendﬁm'cted to occur and the costs related to each event.

6.9. Una%cged funds in trust or escrow
(2) Jx8tdse that unallocated funds will be placed in a trust or escrow account,
inv -l@ or added to the working capital of the issuer.

\@; Give details of the arrangements made for, and the persons responsible for,

(@) the supervision of the trust or escrow account or the investment of
unallocated funds, and

(b)  the investment policy to be followed.
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6.10. Other sources of funding

If any material amounts of other funds are to be used in conjunction with the
proceeds, state the amounts and sources of the other funds.

6.11. Financing by special warrants, etc.

(2) If the prospectus is used to qualify the distribution of securities issued up%%he
exercise of special warrants or the exercise of other securities acquired’k a
prospectus-exempt basis, describe the principal purposes for which the procq@‘s‘ f the
prospectus-exempt financing were used or are to be used. (L

(2) If all or a portion of the funds have been spent, explain h@funds were

spent. &

ltem 7 Dividends or Distributions :\
7.1. Dividends or distributions %Qg

(2) Disclose the amount of cash dividends or @utions declared per security for
each class of the issuer’s securities for each of {he'S most recently completed financial
years and its current financial year. )\

(2) Describe any restrictions that could%event the issuer from paying dividends or
distributions. )

3) Disclose the issuer’s divi %‘or distribution policy and any intended change in
dividend or distribution policy.

Item 8 Manageme@scussion and Analysis
8.1. Interpretati@

(2) For the% ses of this Item, MD&A means a completed Form 51-102F1 of
Regulation%; 2 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations or, in the case of an
SEC issugr,&/completed Form 51-102F1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclo bligations or management’s discussion and analysis prepared in
acc & with Item 303 of Regulation S-K under the 1934 Act.

% For MD&A in the form of Form 51-102F1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
\S ntinuous Disclosure Obligations, the issuer

@) must read the references to a "venture issuer" in Form 51-102F1 of

Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations to include an IPO
venture issuer,
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(b) must disregard

0] the Instruction to section 1.11 of Form 51-102F1 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations, and

(i) section 1.15 of Form 51-102F1 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations, and

(c) must include the disclosure required by section 1.10 of Form 51-10}% of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations in the prospggtq‘ g

INSTRUCTION Q:l'
For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c), an issuer cannot s@&equirement in

section 1.10 of Form 51-102F1 of Regulation 51-102 respectin inuous Disclosure
Obligations by incorporating by reference its fourth quarter MD& to the prospectus.

8.2. MD&A %%Q

(2) Provide MD&A for ,@
(@) the most recent annual financial&&ements of the issuer included in the
prospectus under Item 32, and q/Q

(b)  the most recent interi hlqa‘ncial report of the issuer included in the
prospectus under Item 32. 2&

(2) If the prospectus incl he issuer's annual statements of comprehensive
income, statements of cha n equity, and statements of cash flow for 3 financial

years under Item 32, Q e MD&A for the second most recent annual financial
% uded in the prospectus under Item 32.

statements of the iss§

(3) Despite s ion (2), MD&A for the second most recent annual financial
statements of% uer included in the prospectus under Item 32 may omit disclosure
regarding s@ ent of financial position items.

8.3. anked)

8. Qisclosure of outstanding security data

Disclose the designation and number or principal amount of

(@) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the issuer for which
there are securities outstanding,
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(b) each class and series of securities of the issuer for which there are
securities outstanding if the securities are convertible into, or exercisable or
exchangeable for, voting or equity securities of the issuer, and

(c) subject to subsection (2), each class and series of voting or equity
securities of the issuer that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of
outstanding securities of the issuer. '\b‘

(2) If the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities of th

that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding s es of
the issuer is not determinable, the issuer must disclose the maximunfﬁﬂber or
principal amount of each class and series of voting or equity securities t@a e issuable

on the conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities issuer and, if
that maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the 4 r must describe
the exchange or conversion features and the manner in which mber or principal
amount of voting or equity securities will be determined. :\

3) The disclosure under subsections (1) and (2) m prepared as of the latest

practicable date. O
8.5. More recent financial information &

If the issuer is required to include rpﬁ recent historical financial information in
the prospectus under subsection 32.6(2;, th@Assuer is not required to update the MD&A
already included in the prospectus uie ¥s Item.

8.6. Additional disclosure f Qe'nture issuers or IPO venture issuers without
significant revenue 0

(2) If the issuer is ure issuer or an IPO venture issuer that has not had
significant revenue fr % erations in either of its last 2 financial years, disclose a
breakdown of mate@mponents of

(@) e@!‘aﬁon and evaluation assets or expenditures,

(b)c)%@ensed research and development costs,

® intangible assets arising from development,
\é general and administrative expenses, and

(e) any material costs, whether expensed or recognized as assets, not
referred to in paragraphs (a) through (d).
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(2) Present the analysis of exploration and evaluation assets or expenditures
required by subsection (1) on a property-by-property basis, if the issuer’s business
primarily involves mining exploration and development.

(3) Provide the disclosure in subsection (1) for the following periods:

(@ the 2 most recently completed financial years; and '\b‘

(b)  the most recent year-to-date interim period and the comparative ﬁ%to-
date period presented in the interim financial report included in the prospectuN‘g Y.

(4) Subsection (1) does not apply if the information required unde @(Qéubsection
has been disclosed in the financial statements included in the prospe&@

8.7. Additional disclosure for junior issuers &
For a junior issuer that had negative cash flow f, operating activities in its
most recently completed financial year for which fi | statements have been

included in the prospectus, disclose

(@) the period of time the proceeds rai%e?\mder the prospectus are expected
to fund operations, Q\

(b) the estimated total operating‘cl>sts necessary for the issuer to achieve its
stated business objectives during thzﬁéﬁio'd of time, and

(c) the estimated am Q'Uf other material capital expenditures during that
period of time. 0

In determining ca @v from operating activities, the issuer must include cash
payments related to diyideys and borrowing costs.
8.8. Additioné@: osure for issuers with significant equity investees
(1) An is%gthat has a significant equity investee must disclose

summarized financial information of the equity investee, including the

agz%d amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss, and

§ (b) the issuer's proportionate interest in the equity investee and any
ntingent issuance of securities by the equity investee that might significantly affect the

issuer's share of profit or loss.

(2) Provide the disclosure in subsection (1) for the following periods:

(@) the 2 most recently completed financial years;
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(b) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the comparative year-to-
date period presented in the interim financial report included in the prospectus, if any.

(3)  Subsection (1) does not apply if

(@ the information required under that subsection has been disclosed in tfs‘
financial statements included in the prospectus, or Q'\

(b) the issuer includes in the prospectus separate financial statemthgk‘ the
equity investee for the periods referred to in subsection (2). (L

&
9.1 Earnings coverage ratios %&

Item 9 Earnings Coverage Ratios

(1) If the securities being distributed are debt securitie %w g a term to maturity in
excess of one year or are preferred shares, disclose @» owing earnings coverage
ratios adjusted in accordance with subsection (2): O

(@) the earnings coverage ratio base@the most recent 12-month period
included in the issuer's annual financial statemeQ included in the prospectus,

(b) if there has been a change% year end and the issuer's most recent
financial year is less than 9 months i 'éggth, the earnings coverage calculation for its
old financial year, and

(© the earnings co ratio based on the 12-month period ended on the
last day of the most recentl leted period for which an interim financial report of the
issuer has been includedi3 prospectus.

(2)  Adjust the r% ferred to in subsection (1) to reflect

(@) tﬁ uance of the securities being distributed under the prospectus,
based ont e at which these securities are expected to be distributed,

<(O 0] the issuance of all preferred shares since the date of the annual
\%incial statements or interim financial report, and

C) in the case of a distribution of preferred shares,

(i) the repurchase, redemption or other retirement of all preferred
shares repurchased, redeemed, or otherwise retired since the date of the annual
financial statements or interim financial report and of all preferred shares to be
repurchased, redeemed, or otherwise retired from the proceeds to be realized from the
sale of securities under the prospectus,
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(© the issuance of all financial liabilities, as defined in accordance with the
issuer's GAAP, since the date of the annual financial statements or interim financial
report, and

(d) the repayment, redemption or other retirement of all financial liabilities, as
defined in accordance with the issuer's GAAP, since the date of the annual financ
e&&d

he

statements or interim financial report and all financial liabilities to be repaid or red
from the proceeds to be realized from the sale of securities distributed und't

prospectus. .

(3)  (paragraph revoked). Q~
4) If the earnings coverage ratio is less than one-to-one, discl the prospectus
the dollar amount of the numerator required to achieve a ratio o 0-one.

A\

(5) If the prospectus includes a pro forma income state t, calculate the pro forma
earnings coverage ratios for the periods of the pro income statement, and
disclose them in the prospectus.

INSTRUCTIONS b‘«o

(2) Cash flow coverage may be disclq@%ut only as a supplement to earnings

coverage and only if the method of calculatiog is fully disclosed.
M)

(2) Earnings coverage is calcul by dividing an entity's profit or loss attributable to
owners of the parent (the num by its borrowing costs and dividend obligations
(the denominator).

3) For the earnings @e calculation

(@) the n tor should be calculated using consolidated profit or loss
attributable to 0& of the parent before borrowing costs and income taxes;

(b) '%uted interest income from the proceeds of a distribution should not be
added to Qﬂmerator;

<<®; (paragraph revoked):

§ (d)  for distributions of debt securities, the appropriate denominator is
rrowing costs, after giving effect to the new debt securities issue and any retirement
of obligations, plus the borrowing costs that have been capitalized during the period;

(e) for distributions of preferred shares
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0] the appropriate denominator is dividends declared during the
period, together with undeclared dividends on cumulative preferred shares, after giving
effect to the new preferred share issue, plus the issuer's annual borrowing cost
requirements, including the borrowing costs that have been capitalized during the
period, less any retirement of obligations, and

(i) dividends should be grossed-up to a before-tax equivalent U?\l&
the issuer's effective income tax rate; and

() for distributions of both debt securities and preferred s ;}' the
appropriate denominator is the same as for a preferred share issue, exéqpttthat the
denominator should also reflect the effect of the debt securities belng ed pursuant
to the prospectus.

(4) The denominator represents a pro forma calculation @ aggregate of an
issuer's borrowing cost obligations on all financial liabilitie dividend obligations
(including both dividends declared and undeclared divid n cumulative preferred
shares) with respect to all outstanding preferred shares,% justed to reflect

(@) the issuance of all financial |Iabl|ltlex§6 in addition in the case of an
issuance of preferred shares, all preferred shar& ued since the date of the annual
financial statements or interim financial report

(b) the issuance of the securiti that are to be distributed under the
prospectus, based on a reasonable lhnate of the price at which these securities will
be distributed; and i

(© the repayment q Vémption of all financial liabilities since the date of the

annual financial statements erim financial report, all financial liabilities to be repaid
or redeemed from the ds to be realized from the sale of securities under the
prospectus and, in a - in the case of an issuance of preferred shares, all preferred

shares repaid or re d since the date of the annual financial statements or interim
financial report preferred shares to be repaid or redeemed from the proceeds to
be reallzed fro sale of securities under the prospectus.

ph revoked).

(6) &debt securities, disclosure of earnings coverage shall include language
5 rto the following, with the bracketed and bulleted information completed:

“[Name of the issuer]'s borrowing cost requirements, after giving effect to the
issue of [the debt securities to be distributed under the prospectus], amounted to $-- for
the 12 months ended --. [Name of the issuer]'s profit or loss attributable to owners of the
parent before borrowing costs and income tax for the 12 months then ended was $--,
which is -- times [name of the issuer]'s borrowing cost requirements for this period."
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(7) For preferred share issues, disclosure of earnings coverage shall include
language similar to the following, with the bracketed and bulleted information
completed:

"[Name of the issuer]'s dividend requirements on all of its preferred shares, after
giving effect to the issue of [the preferred shares to be distributed under the
prospectus], and adjusted to a before-tax equivalent using an effective income tax a&
of --%, amounted to $-- for the 12 months ended --. [Name of the issuer]'s borr, g
cost requirements for the 12 months then ended amounted to $--. [Name of the i
profit or loss attributable to owners of the parent before borrowing costs and i cQrhe tax
for the 12 months ended -- was $--, which is -- times [name of the issuerra; gregate
dividend and borrowing cost requirements for this period."

(8) Other earnings coverage calculations may be include % supplementary
disclosure to the required earnings coverage calculations ou above as long as
their derivation is disclosed and they are not given greater prm% ce than the required

earnings coverage calculations. %Q

Item 10 Description of the Securities Distrib%
10.1. Equity securities &
If equity securities are being distribvﬁ State the description or the designation

of the class of the equity securities describe all material attributes and
characteristics, including * \

(@) dividend rights, Q‘
?\

(b)  voting rights, %0

gssolution or winding-up,

(c) rights u&
(d) pre@tlve rights,

(e) &version or exchange rights,
QS) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions,
<( g)  sinking or purchase fund provisions,

\E (h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and
any other material restrictions, and

(1) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital.
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10.2. Debt securities

If debt securities are being distributed, describe all material attributes and
characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, including

€) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any,

Na

(b)  conversion or exchange rights, Q
(© redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender prp{igﬁﬂs,

(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions,

(e) the nature and priority of any security for the (@%/curities, briefly

identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge, %

() provisions permitting or restricting the issuan f additional securities, the
incurring of additional indebtedness and other materi% tive covenants, including
restrictions against payment of dividends and restricji gainst giving security on the
assets of the issuer or its subsidiaries, and provisig& to the release or substitution of
assets securing the debt securities,

() the name of the trustee undeb@%ndenture relating to the debt securities
and the nature of any material relationship Wgetween the trustee or any of its affiliates
and the issuer or any of its affiliates,id\‘s

(h)  any financial arran Q@nts between the issuer and any of its affiliates or
among its affiliates that could tthe security for the indebtedness.

10.3. Asset-backed seg@s

(1) This section ies only if any asset-backed securities are being distributed
under the prosp

(2) Des 'thhe material attributes and characteristics of the asset-backed
securitiest ding

<<®§ the rate of interest or stipulated yield and any premium,

$ (b) the date for repayment of principal or return of capital and any

\u cumstances in which payments of principal or capital may be made before such date,
including any redemption or pre-payment obligations or privileges of the issuer and any
events that may trigger early liquidation or amortization of the underlying pool of
financial assets,
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(c) provisions for the accumulation of cash flows to provide for the repayment
of principal or return of capital,

(d) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and
any other material negative covenants applicable to the issuer,

(e) the nature, order and priority of the entitlements of holders of ass
backed securities and any other entitled persons to receive cash flows generate(@m

the underlying pool of financial assets, and (L

() any events, covenants, standards or preconditions that may r \fébly be
expected to affect the timing or amount of payments or distributions t ade under
the asset-backed securities, including those that are dependent ased on the

economic performance of the underlying pool of financial assets. &
(3) Provide financial disclosure that describes the underlying financial assets for
(@) the 3 most recently completed financial ye?o‘g@nded more than
0] 90 days before the date of the&@)ectus, or

(i) 120 days before the dam\%? the prospectus, if the issuer is a
venture issuer, q/Q

(b) if the issuer has not hﬁ&‘asset-backed securities outstanding for 3
financial years, each completed finggr&&al year ended more than

0] 90 days t@%‘the date of the prospectus, or

(i) 120S before the date of the prospectus, if the issuer is a

to a date not an 90 days before the date of the prospectus if the issuer has not
had asset-bQ securities outstanding for at least 1 financial year.

4) e purposes of the financial disclosure required by subsection (3), if an
ISs &nged its financial year end during any of the financial years referred to in
su lon (3) and the transition year is less than 9 months, the transition year is not a
\' ncial year.
(5) Despite subsection (4), all financial disclosure that describes the underlying pool
of financial assets of the issuer for a transition year must be included in the prospectus
for the most recent interim period, if any, ended

venture issuer,
(c) ap %om the date the issuer had asset-backed securities outstanding
K
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(&) subsequent to the most recent financial year refer to in paragraphs (3)(a)
and (3)(b) in respect of which financial disclosure on the underlying pool of financial
assets is included in the prospectus, and

(b) more than
0] 45 days before the date of the prospectus, or '\b‘

(i) 60 days before the date of the prospectus if the issuer is a(/'t%ure
issuer.

N
(6) If the issuer files financial disclosure that describes the un ()(g pool of
financial assets for a more recent period than required under su Yon (3) or (5)
before the prospectus is filed, the issuer must include that ecent financial
disclosure that describes the underlying pool of financial assets% prospectus.

issuer is publicly disseminated by, or on behalf of, the 4 through news release or
otherwise for a more recent period than required unggr section (3) or (5), the issuer
must include the content of the news releas public communication in the

prospectus. b‘

(7 If financial disclosure that describes the underlyi%l f financial assets of the

(8) The disclosure in subsections (3) arﬁi@) must include a discussion and analysis
of

NS

(@) the composition of th | as at the end of the period,

(b) profit and losse % the pool for the period presented on at least an
annual basis or such short od as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying

pool of assets, Sv

(© the p t, prepayment and collection experience of the pool for the
period on at lea annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the
nature of the ing pool of assets,

(d)c)%tervicing and other administrative fees, and

any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in

pa@%hs (a) through (d).

Describe the type of financial assets, the manner in which the financial assets
originated or will originate and, if applicable, the mechanism and terms of the
agreement governing the transfer of the financial assets comprising the underlying pool
to or through the issuer, including the consideration paid for the financial assets.

(10) Describe any person who
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(@) originated, sold or deposited a material portion of the financial assets
comprising the pool, or has agreed to do so,

(b)  acts, or has agreed to act, as a trustee, custodian, bailee or agent of the
issuer or any holder of the asset-backed securities, or in a similar capacity,

(© administers or services a material portion of the financial ﬁ‘e?s‘
comprising the pool or provides administrative or managerial services to the is% ) or

has agreed to do so, on a conditional basis or otherwise, if ,\\

(1) finding a replacement provider of the services at a omparable
to the cost of the current provider is not reasonably likely, Q/

(i) a replacement provider of the services is li achieve materially

worse results than the current provider,

(i) the current provider of the servicei&o% ly to default in its service
obligations because of its current financial condition,é

(iv)  the disclosure is otherwise nqateMal,

(d) provides a guarantee, alks@}ve credit support or other credit
enhancement to support the obligations of tiye issuer under the asset-backed securities
or the performance of some or all ofie'ﬁn&ncial assets in the pool, or has agreed to do
so, or

(e) lends to the issug ?Brder to facilitate the timely payment or repayment of
amounts payable under the -backed securities, or has agreed to do so.

(11) Describe the g ne& business activities and material responsibilities under the
asset-backed secu@f a person referred to in subsection (10).

(12) Describ&erms of any material relationships between

affiliat

<(Q)) the issuer.

@) Describe any provisions relating to termination of services or responsibilities of
any of the persons referred to in subsection (10) and the terms on which a replacement
may be appointed.

(a)g%y of the persons referred to in subsection (10) or any of their respective

(14) Describe any risk factors associated with the asset-backed securities, including
disclosure of material risks associated with changes in interest rates or prepayment
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levels, and any circumstances where payments on the asset-backed securities could be
impaired or disrupted as a result of any reasonably foreseeable event that may delay,
divert or disrupt the cash flows dedicated to service the asset-backed securities.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Present the information required under subsections (3) through (8) in a mann

that will enable a reader to easily determine whether, and the extent to whic@ae
ve

events, covenants, standards and preconditions referred to in paragraph (2)%
occurred, are being satisfied or may be satisfied. ,\\
q(compiled

from a larger

(2) If the information required under subsections (3) through (8),4
specifically from the underlying pool of financial assets, but is co
pool of the same assets from which the securitized assets are rand Selected so that
the performance of the larger pool is representative of the pe nce of the pool of
securitized assets, then an issuer may comply with subse&% (3) through (8) by
providing the financial disclosure required based on the laggQP pool and disclosing that it
has done so. %

®)

3) Issuers are required to summarize contrag&@mangements in plain language
and may not merely restate the text of the contrgcts'seferred to. The use of diagrams to
illustrate the roles of, and the relationship\ ong, the persons referred to in
subsection (10), and the contractual a ements underlying the asset-backed
securities is encouraged. \

M)

10.4. Derivatives *

If derivatives are bei Stributed, describe fully the material attributes and
characteristics of the derivaQd®d7including

(@ the caIt&%f the value or payment obligations under the derivatives,
(b) the Ise of the derivatives,
(c) lements that are the result of the exercise of the derivatives,
QS) the underlying interest of the derivatives,
<( e) the role of a calculation expert in connection with the derivatives,

\é (f)

(9) the risk factors associated with the derivatives.

the role of any credit supporter of the derivatives, and
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10.5. Special warrants, etc.

If the prospectus is used to qualify the distribution of securities issued upon the
exercise of special warrants or other securities acquired on a prospectus-exempt basis,
provide the following disclosure in the prospectus to indicate that holders of such
securities have been provided with a contractual right of rescission:

“The issuer has granted to each holder of a special warrant a contractual r%‘g“
rescission of the prospectus-exempt transaction under which the special Warrﬁk as
initially acquired. The contractual right of rescission provides that if a holder gf a special
warrant who acquires another security of the issuer on exercise of the spégi; warrant
as provided for in the prospectus is, or becomes, entitled under the sec legislation
of a jurisdiction to the remedy of rescission because of the ectus or an
amendment to the prospectus containing a misrepresentation,

(@) the holder is entitled to rescission of both the'\ der's exercise of its
special warrant and the private placement transaction un Q\N ich the special warrant
was initially acquired, %

(b) the holder is entitled in connection wj@ rescission to a full refund of all
consideration paid to the underwriter or issuer, a%t‘h case may be, on the acquisition of
the special warrant, and )\

(c) if the holder is a permitted a&ignee of the interest of the original special
warrant subscriber, the holder is enti eB\{@exercise the rights of rescission and refund
as if the holder was the original su er.”

INSTRUCTION 0?‘

If the prospectu @alifying the distribution of securities issued upon the
exercise of securities (Ot than special warrants, replace the term “special warrant”
with the type of the é?ity being distributed.

10.6. RestricQQ?ecurities

Q) If gsuer has outstanding, or proposes to distribute under a prospectus
restrict curities, subject securities or securities that are, directly or indirectly,
con @Z into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted securities or subject
ste es, provide a detailed description of

\ (@) the voting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the subject of
the distribution or that will result from the distribution, either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
securities of any other class of securities of the issuer that are the same as or greater
than, on a per security basis, those attached to the restricted securities,
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(b)  any significant provisions under applicable corporate and securities law
that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities that are the subject of the
distribution or that will result from the distribution, either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of another class of equity
securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the constating documents or
otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securities,

(© any rights under applicable corporate law, in the constating documegﬁ\or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are the subject of the distrib@ydH or
that will result from the distribution, either directly or following a conversion, excharige or
exercise, to attend, in person or by proxy, meetings of holders of equity se&fijes of the
issuer and to speak at the meetings to the same extent that holders of [ty securities

are entitled, and
&

(d) how the issuer complied with, or the basis upon W@W&S exempt from,
the requirements of Part 12 of the Regulation. :\

(2) If holders of restricted securities do not have % the rights referred to in
subsection (1) the detailed description referred to iptha? subsection must include, in
boldface type, a statement of the rights the holders,{ t have.

3) If the issuer is required to include the&b&losure referred to in subsection (1),
state the percentage of the aggregate on’c@ightS attached to the issuer’s securities
that will be represented by restricted secwities after effect has been given to the
issuance of the securities being offeg'\ﬂ

10.7. Other securities ?g‘

If securities other th ity securities, debt securities, asset-backed securities
or derivatives are beig istributed, describe fully the material attributes and

characteristics of tho§ rities.
10.8. Modificatj @ terms
&2

Q) Descp rovisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any rights
attached securities being distributed.

(2) athe rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in
C ance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions of the

é‘erning statute relating to the securities, explain briefly.

10.9. Ratings

(2) If the issuer has asked for and received a credit rating, or if the issuer is aware
that it has received any other kind of rating, including a stability rating or a provisional
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rating, from one or more credit rating organizations for securities of the issuer that are
outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose

(@) each rating received from a credit rating organization;

(b) for each rating disclosed under paragraph (a), the name of the credit
rating organization that has assigned the rating; '\b‘

(c) a definition or description of the category in which each credﬂ%ing
organization rated the securities and the relative rank of each ratlng hih the
organization’s overall classification system;

(d)  an explanation of what the rating addresses and what @Tes if any, of
the securities are not addressed by the rating; %

(e)  any factors or considerations identified by the c@aﬂng organization as
giving rise to unusual risks associated with the securities;

() a statement that a credit rating % stability rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the credit rating organlsa‘t ; and

() any announcement made by, %any proposed announcement known to
the issuer that is to be made by, a cre(ﬂﬁatlng organization to the effect that the
organization is reviewing or intends F‘ewse or withdraw a rating previously assigned
and required to be disclosed unde@l&section.

(2) If payments were, or rea bly will be, made to a credit rating organization that
provided a rating describe ubsection (1), state that fact and state whether any
payments were made t redit rating organization in respect of any other service
provided to the |ssue§ credit rating organization during the last 2 years.

INSTRUCTIONS

Ther gy be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a credit
ion when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cash settled
truments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as
the @ ued subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the price, value or
% of the underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysis. Rather than being

ressed in the rating itself, these factors may be described by a credit rating
anization by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Any such attributes
must be discussed in the disclosure under this section.

A provisional rating received before the issuer's most recently completed
financial year is not required to be disclosed under this section.
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10.10 Other attributes

(1) If the rights attaching to the securities being distributed are materially limited or
qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other class of securities
ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being distributed, include information about
the other securities that will enable investors to understand the rights attaching to the
securities being distributed. '\b‘

(2) If securities of the class being distributed may be partially redee@ or
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be redgerp d or

repurchased. (L

INSTRUCTION Qg‘

This section requires only a brief summary of the pro@ that are material
from an investment standpoint. The provisions attachingAt®mthe securities being
distributed or any other class of securities do not need to et’out in full. They may, in
the issuer’s discretion, be attached as a schedule to the<po ectus.

Item 11 Consolidated Capitalization ,@
11.1. Consolidated capitalization )\b‘

Describe any material change in, a‘rmlthe effect of the material change on, the
share and loan capital of the issuer, &\a consolidated basis, since the date of the
issuer’s financial statements for its t recently completed financial period included in
the prospectus, including any | change that will result from the issuance of the
securities being distributed un%%?e prospectus.

Item 12 Options toS hase Securities

12.1. Options to @ase securities

(2) For an @a that is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately before
filing the pr tus, state, in tabular form, as at a specified date within 30 days before
the date prospectus, information about options to purchase securities of the
issuer,ggéubsidiary of the issuer, that are held or will be held upon completion of the

distzi(@ n by
§ (@) all executive officers and past executive officers of the issuer, as a group,
d all directors and past directors of the issuer who are not also executive officers, as

a group, indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and the aggregate
number of directors to whom the information applies,

(b)  all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the
issuer, as a group, and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries who are not
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also executive officers of the subsidiary, as a group, excluding, in each case, individuals
referred to in paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and
the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies,

(c) all other employees and past employees of the issuer as a group,

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the issuer ?iw‘

group, Q

(e) all consultants of the issuer as a group, and y\\
() any other person, other than the underwriter(s), naming e }son.

(2) Describe any material change to the information required included in the
prospectus under subsection (1) to the date of the prospectus. %

INSTRUCTIONS Q

(2) Describe the options, warrants, or other simj %bcurities stating the material
provisions of each class or type of option, including'\

(@) the designation and number of thl\%curities under option;

(b) the purchase price of the sec‘airties under option or the formula by which
the purchase price will be determined ahd the expiration dates of the options;

(c) if reasonably ascer le, the market value of the securities under option
on the date of grant; 0
(d) if reasonab ertainable, the market value of the securities under option

on the specified date&

(e) wit ect to options referred to in paragraph (1)(f), the particulars of the
grant incIudingQ onsideration for the grant.

(2) Fo purposes of paragraph (1)(f), provide the information required for all
option pt warrants and special warrants.

I e&@ Prior Sales
t§\.1. Prior sales

For each class or series of securities of the issuer distributed under the
prospectus and for securities that are convertible or exchangeable into those classes or
series of securities, state, for the 12-month period before the date of the prospectus,
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(@) the price at which the securities have been issued or are to be issued by
the issuer or sold by the selling securityholder,

(b) the number of securities issued or sold at that price, and
(© the date on which the securities were issued or sold.
13.2. Trading price and volume Q’\b‘

(2) For the following securities of the issuer that are traded or quoted on CQ adian
marketplace, identify the marketplace and the price ranges and volu ded or
qguoted on the Canadian marketplace on which the greatest volquoj trading or
guotation for the securities generally occurs; Q/

(@) each class or series of securities of the issue@&ributed under the
prospectus; :\

(b) securities of the issuer into which those clﬁg or series of securities are
convertible or exchangeable. O

(2) For the following securities of the issug( tiwmt are not traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketplace but are traded or quot n a foreign marketplace, identify the
foreign marketplace and the price ranges volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on which the greatest volumérzor quotation for the securities generally

OCCUrs; ! N

(@) each class or ser Q‘Df securities of the issuer distributed under the

prospectus; 0
(b) securities c@ssuer into which those classes or series of securities are

convertible or exchanggal)e.

(3) Provide t?@ormaﬁon required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly

basis for eac or, if applicable, partial months of the 12-month period before the
date of the % ectus.

Item 1%C)Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual
Rest n on Transfer

&1. Escrowed securities and securities subject to contractual restriction on
nsfer

(1) State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the prospectus, in

substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities of each class of
securities of the issuer held, to the knowledge of the issuer, in escrow or that are
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subject to a contractual restriction on transfer and the percentage that number
represents of the outstanding securities of that class.

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT TO CONTRACTUAL
RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER

Designation of class Number of securities held in escrow | Percentage of class N
or that are subject to a contractual '\

restriction on transfer ( \Q

and conditions governing the release of the securities from escr the date the
contractual restriction on transfer ends, as applicable.

N s
N
(2) In a note to the table disclose the name of the depository, if an§Q1;\/he date of

3) Describe any material change to the information re Lﬂ?&o be included in the
prospectus under subsection (1) to the date of the prospe@

INSTRUCTIONS %
O

Q) For purposes of this section, escrow in&lzj%es securities subject to a pooling

agreement. Q\

(2) For the purposes of this section, secMfities subject to contractual restrictions on
transfer as a result of pledges madet&l rs are not required to be disclosed.

Item 15 Principal Security@'@rs and Selling Securityholders

15.1. Principal securityh s and selling securityholders

(1) Provide the foll w&nformaﬂon for each principal securityholder of the issuer
and, if any securiti being distributed for the account of a securityholder, for each
selling securityh

@& name;

(@
C‘)the number or amount of securities owned, controlled or directed of the
clags(bdMg distributed;

% (c) the number or amount of securities of the class being distributed for the
chount of the securityholder;

(d) the number or amount of securities of the issuer of any class to be owned,

controlled or directed after the distribution, and the percentage that number or amount
represents of the total outstanding;
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(e)  whether the securities referred to in paragraph (b), (c) or (d) are owned
both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only.

(2) If securities are being distributed in connection with a restructuring transaction,
indicate, to the extent known, the holdings of each person described in paragraph (1)(a)
that will exist after effect has been given to the transaction.

securityholder and those securities were purchased by the selling securityhold hin
the 2 years preceding the date of the prospectus, state the date %" elling
securityholder acquired the securities and, if the securities were ired in
the 12 months preceding the date of the prospectus, the cost to the sec Ider in the
aggregate and on an average cost-per-security basis.

4) If, to the knowledge of the issuer or the underwriter securities being
distributed, more than 10% of any class of voting securities ssuer is held, or is to

be held, subject to any voting trust or other similar agre nt; disclose, to the extent

3) If any of the securities being distributed are being distributed for the accc;u@ﬁﬁa
I

known, the designation of the securities, the number or t of the securities held or
to be held subject to the agreement and the duration agreement State the names
and addresses of the voting trustees and outlln ly their voting rights and other

powers under the agreement.

(5) If, to the knowledge of the issuer(@\he underwriter of the securities being
distributed, any principal securityholder oruselling securityholder is an associate or
affiliate of another person named as a'b(irwcipal securityholder, disclose, to the extent
known, the material facts of the relasnship, including any basis for influence over the
issuer held by the person other t e holding of voting securities of the issuer.

(6) In addition to the , include in a footnote to the table the required
calculation(s) on a fuIIy-dg basis.

(7 Describe an @erial change to the information required to be included in the
prospectus und@ection (1) to the date of the prospectus.

INSTRUCTQI&

sec der of an issuer, disclose, to the extent known, the name of each individual

& ompany, partnership, trust or other unincorporated entity is a principal
I
gh tAirough ownership of or control or direction over the securities of that company,

t or other unincorporated entity, or membership in the partnership, as the case may
, Is a principal securityholder of that entity.
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ltem 16 Directors and Executive Officers
16.1. Name, occupation and security holding

(1) Provide information for directors and executive officers of the issuer in
accordance with section 10.1 of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations as at the date of the prospectus.

(2) If information similar to the information required under subsection (1) is pfg?ied

for any director or executive officer, who is not serving in such capacity as at ;gev te of
I ; . : N\

the prospectus, clearly indicate this fact and explain whether the issuer Sil) es that

this director or executive officer is liable under the prospectus. &

16.2. Cease trade orders, bankruptcies, penalties or sanction <b

Provide information for directors and executive c&g(s of the issuer in
accordance with section 10.2 of Form 51-102F2 of lation 51-102 respecting
Continuous Disclosure Obligations as if the reference at section to "date of the
AIF" read "date of the prospectus”. %

Q)
16.3. Conflicts of interest &
Ne

Disclose particulars of existing or p% ial material conflicts of interest between
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer andza director or officer of the issuer or of a
M)

subsidiary of the issuer. *'\
16.4. Management of junior i Qrs

A junior issuer mus@)vide the following information for each member of

management:
Ne

(a) state dividual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the
issuer and reIeV@ ucational background;

(b) tate whether the individual works full time for the issuer or what
proportiorééﬂe individual’s time will be devoted to the issuer;

q; state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of
theNgsTer

\ (d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during
the 5 years before the date of the prospectus, disclosing with respect to each

organization as of the time such occupation or employment was carried on:

0] its name and principal business;
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(i) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the issuer;

(i) positions held by the individual; and

(iv)  whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual;
(e)  describe the individual's experience in the issuer’s industry;

() state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition bl%m-
disclosure agreement with the issuer.

INSTRUCTION Q:l'

For purposes of this section, “management” means a %%/ctors, officers,

employees and contractors whose expertise is critical to the is s subsidiaries and
proposed subsidiaries in providing the issuer with a reasona}& portunity to achieve
its stated business objectives. Q/

Item 17 Executive Compensation %

17.1. Disclosure &O

Include in the prospectus a Stater?@o Executive Compensation prepared in
accordance with Form 51-102F6 of lation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations and describe tention to make any material changes to that
compensation. i

ltem 18 Indebtedness o@ ectors and Executive Officers
18.1. Aggregate indeb
Provide mf@on for the issuer in accordance with section 10.1 of

Form 51-102F5 lation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations as
if the referean hat section to "date of the information circular* read "date of the

prospectus %

18.2. tedness of directors and executive officers under securities purchase
an programs

% Provide information for the issuer in accordance with section 10.2 of

m 51-102F5 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations as

if the reference in this section to “date of the information circular” read “date of the

prospectus”.

(2) Do not disclose the information required under subsection (1) for
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(@) any indebtedness that has been entirely repaid on or before the date of
the prospectus, or

(b) routine indebtedness (as defined in paragraph 10.3(c) of Form 51-102F5
of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations as if reference in
this paragraph to "the company" read "the issuer").

q,Q

19.1. Audit committees )\\

Item 19 Audit Committees and Corporate Governance

Q) Include in the prospectus the disclosure for the issuer in ()(ance with
Form 52-110F1 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Committe pter V-1.1, r.
28), as applicable, if the issuer is neither a venture issuer nor an I@ ture issuer.

(2) Include in the prospectus the disclosure for the i9§§7in accordance with
Form 52-110F2 of Regulation 52-110 respecting Audit Co ttées, as applicable, if the
issuer is a venture issuer or an IPO venture issuer. %

19.2. Corporate governance ,@

(2) Include in the prospectus the disclosum\% accordance with Form 58-101F1 of
Regulation 58-101 respecting Disclosure %;Q)rporate Governance Practices (chapter
V-1.1,r. 32), as applicable, if the issuer is rgither a venture issuer nor an IPO venture
issuer. * )

(2) Include in the prospectu f@‘disclosure in accordance with Form 58-101F2 of
Regulation 58-101 respecti ISclosure of Corporate Governance Practices, as
applicable, if the issuer is a@re issuer or an IPO venture issuer.

ltem 20 Plan o&bmtion
20.1. Name of writers
(1) If th gurities are being distributed by an underwriter, state the name of the

underwrit describe briefly the nature of the underwriter’s obligation to take up and
pay for. ecurities.

()<(Qisclose the date by which the underwriter is obligated to purchase the
\ rities.
20.2. Disclosure of conditions to underwriters’ obligations
If securities are distributed by an underwriter that has agreed to purchase all of

the securities at a specified price and the underwriter’'s obligations are subject to
conditions,
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€)) include a statement in substantially the following form, with the bracketed
information completed and with modifications necessary to reflect the terms of the
distribution:

“Under an agreement dated [insert date of agreement] between [insert
name of issuer or selling securityholder] and [insert name(s) of underwriter(s)]
underwriter[s], [insert name of issuer or selling security shareholder] has agreed Il
and the underwriter[s] [has/have] agreed to purchase on [insert closing dﬂ%
securities at a price of [insert offering price], payable in cash to [insert name q\sls er or
selling securityholder] against delivery. The obligations of the underwriterﬂgl der the
agreement may be terminated at [its/their] discretion on the basis escribe any
“market out”, “disaster out”, “material change out” or similar provisio may also be
terminated upon the occurrence of certain stated events. The % riter[s] [is/are],

however, obligated to take up and pay for all of the securities |f% the securities are
purchased under the agreement.”, and

(b) describe any other conditions and indicat%%y information known that is
relevant to whether such conditions will be satisfied

20.3. Best efforts offering &

than on the basis described in section 20.2.
N

Outline briefly the plan of distribut;@&r}any securities being distributed other

20.4. Minimum distribution *

If securities are being @“uted on a best efforts basis and minimum funds are
to be raised, state

(@ the mm&%mds to be raised,

(b) tha RE) Tssuer must appoint a registered dealer authorized to make the
distribution, a gZgQadian financial institution, or a lawyer who is a practicing member in

good standpng With a law society of a jurisdiction in which the securities are being
distributeq; notary in Québec, to hold in trust all funds received from subscriptions
until th mum amount of funds stipulated in paragraph (a) has been raised, and

<(Q:) that if the minimum amount of funds is not raised within the distribution
@od the trustee must return the funds to the subscribers without any deductions.
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20.5. Determination of price

Disclose the method by which the distribution price has been or will be
determined and, if estimates have been provided, explain the process of determining
the estimates.

20.6. Stabilization
Na

If the issuer, a selling securityholder or an underwriter knows or has reﬁ@ to
believe that there is an intention to over-allot or that the price of any securigy may be
stabilized to facilitate the distribution of the securities, describe the natﬁ} t these
transactions, including the anticipated size of any over-allocation posi Q~ nd explain
how the transactions are expected to affect the price of the securities

20.7. Approvals %&

If the proceeds of the distribution will be used to stantially fund a material
undertaking that would constitute a material departure e business or operations
of the issuer and the issuer has not obtained all t licences, registrations and
approvals necessary for the stated principal use OK eds, include a statement that

(@) the issuer will appoint a regi &&d dealer authorized to make the
distribution, a Canadian financial institutio %a lawyer who is a practicing member in
good standing with a law society of a jt?r%diction in which the securities are being
distributed, or a notary in Québec, to h&dm’n trust all funds received from subscriptions
until all material licences, registrati and approvals necessary for the stated principal
use of proceeds have been obtaiged:and

(b) if all materia ces, registrations and approvals necessary for the
operation of the materia rtaking have not been obtained within 90 days from the
date of receipt of the figal DPospectus, the trustee will return the funds to subscribers.

20.8. Reduced distributions

If the, r%erwriter may decrease the offering price after the underwriter has made
a reason ort to sell all of the securities at the initial offering price disclosed in the
prospe M accordance with the procedures permitted by the Regulation, disclose this

nt that the aggregate price paid by purchasers for the securities is less than the
é‘ss proceeds paid by the underwriter to the issuer or selling securityholder.

20.9. Listing application
If application has been made to list or quote the securities being distributed,

include a statement, in substantially the following form, with bracketed information
completed:
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“The issuer has applied to [list/quote] the securities distributed under this
prospectus on [name of exchange or other market]. [Listing/Quotation] will be subject to
the issuer fulfilling all the listing requirements of [name of exchange or other market].”

20.10. Conditional listing approval

If application has been made to list or quote the securities being distributed n
exchange or marketplace and conditional listing approval has been received, i a
statement, in substantially the following form, with the bracketed information cp{nQ ted:

“lname of exchange or marketplace] has conditionally (kved the
[listing/quotation] of these securities. [Listing/Quotation] is subjec % he [name of
issuer]’s fulfilling all of the requirements of the [name of exchange rketplace] on or
before [date], [including distribution of these securities to a mip number of public
securityholders].”

Q’\
20.11. IPO venture issuers %Q/

If the issuer has complied with the requir s of the Regulation as an IPO
venture issuer, include a statement, in substan%l‘ll the following form, with bracketed
information completed:

“As at the date of the prospectus,‘?trame of issuer] does not have any of its

securities listed or quoted, has not applieq to list or quote any of its securities, and does
not intend to apply to list or quote of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange,
a U.S. marketplace, or a mar e outside of Canada and the United States of
America other than the Altern vestment Market of the London Stock Exchange or
the PLUS markets operate US Markets Group plc.”

20.12. Constraigt ?\

If there ay, @Btraints imposed on the ownership of securities of the issuer to
ensure that t% uer has a required level of Canadian ownership, describe the

mechanismyif any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the securities of the
issuer wil onitored and maintained.
20. 102 Special warrants acquired by underwriters or agents
§ Disclose the number and dollar value of any special warrants acquired by any
d

erwriter or agent and the percentage of the distribution represented by those special
warrants.
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[tem 21 Risk Factors
21.1. Risk factors

(1) Disclose risk factors relating to the issuer and its business, such as cash flow
and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks inherent in
the business carried on by the issuer, environmental and health risks, reliance on k
personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political conditions and financial g {bry
and any other matter that would be likely to influence an investor’s decision to pﬂ&se
securities of the issuer.

A\
(2) If there is a risk that securityholders of the issuer may become | (16 make an
additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that [/

(3) Describe any risk factors material to the issuer that a re le investor would
consider relevant to an investment in the securities being di ted and that are not
otherwise described under subsection (1) or (2). %Q

O

(1) Disclose risks in the order of seriousnegs ™Mom the most serious to the least
serious. Q'\

(2) A risk factor must not be de-empﬂsized by including excessive caveats or

conditions. )
ltem 22 Promoters Qﬂ
?\

22.1. Promoters %0

(2) For a person t§t\§;r has been within the 2 years immediately preceding the

INSTRUCTIONS

date of the prospec promoter of the issuer or subsidiary of the issuer, state

(@) tQQ@rson’s name,

(b) %e number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity
securiti% the issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or controlled or
dire @ irectly or indirectly, by the person,

§ (c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property,

ntracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter
directly or indirectly from the issuer or from a subsidiary of the issuer, and the nature
and amount of any assets, services or other consideration received or to be received by
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer in return, and
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(d)  for an asset acquired within the 2 years before the date of the preliminary
prospectus, or to be acquired, by the issuer or by a subsidiary of the issuer from a
promoter,

0] the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
which the consideration has been or will be determined,

(i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagr@?)‘
and the person’s relationship with the issuer or the promoter, or an affiliate of théL er

or the promoter, and

N
(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the prom d the cost
of the asset to the promoter. <b

(2) If a promoter referred to in subsection (1) is, as at the of the preliminary
prospectus, or was within 10 years before the date of theﬁ% fhinary prospectus, a
director, chief executive officer, or chief financial officer onQp rson, that

(@) was subject to an order that was issue \ﬁ@e the promoter was acting in
the capacity as director, chief executive officer or (K nancial officer, or

(b)  was subject to an order that was)i{%ed after the promoter ceased to be a
director, chief executive officer or chief fj %:lal officer and which resulted from an
event that occurred while the promoter wag acting in the capacity as director, chief
executive officer or chief financial offi eNtate the fact and describe the basis on which
the order was made and whether t@{der is still in effect.

3) For the purposes of su 10n (2), “order” means any of the following, if in effect
for a period of more than 3 ecutive days:

(&) acease a szer,
(b) an Q Similar to a cease trade order, or

(c) %order that denied the relevant person access to any exemption under
securities&aﬁon.

4) <<® promoter referred to in subsection (1)

§ €) is, as at the date of the preliminary prospectus, or has been within

\h 10 years before the date of the preliminary prospectus, a director or executive
officer of any person that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a
year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal
under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted
any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact, or
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(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the preliminary prospectus,
become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or
compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to
hold the assets of the promoter, state the fact.

(5) Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which the)g
imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances that gﬁ} ise
to the settlement agreement, if a promoter referred to in subsection (1) has bQQ S bject
to

(@) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relatin rovincial and
territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial rities regulatory
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a @mal and territorial
securities regulatory authority, or %

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposet@) court or regulatory body
that would be likely to be considered important to ageasbnable investor in making an
investment decision. ,{6

(6) Despite subsection (5), no disclosurer\&ﬁ‘equwed of a settlement agreement
entered into before December 31, 20 nless the disclosure would likely be
considered important to a reasonable invest@’in making an investment decision.

M)
INSTRUCTIONS *
Q) The disclosure requir subsections (2), (4) and (5) also applies to any
personal holding companie ny of the persons referred to in subsections (2), (4),
and (5).

ase trade order which applies to a promoter referred to in
rder” for the purposes of paragraph (2)(a) and must be disclosed,

irector, chief executive officer or chief financial officer was named in

(2) A manage
subsection (1) is
whether or no

the order
(3) e purposes of this section, a late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies
tot filing of an insider report, is not a “penalty or sanction”.

% The disclosure in paragraph (2)(a) only applies if the promoter was a director,

ief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued against the
person. The issuer does not have to provide disclosure if the promoter became a
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was issued.
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Item 23 Legal Proceedings and Regulatory Actions
23.1. Legal proceedings

(1) Describe any legal proceedings the issuer is or was a party to, or that any of its
property is or was the subject of, since the beginning of the most recently completed
financial year for which financial statements of the issuer are included in the prospectuv

N

(2) Describe any such legal proceedings the issuer knows to be contemplated.&

(3) For each proceeding described in subsections (1) and (2), include ‘fi;\%lme of
the court or agency, the date instituted, the principal parties to the Q.; eding, the
[

nature of the claim, the amount claimed, if any, whether the p ng is being
contested, and the present status of the proceeding. @
INSTRUCTION /&Q/

Information with respect to any proceeding that es a claim for damages if
the amount involved, exclusive of interest and co ,(n@)es not exceed 10% of the
current assets of the issuer may be omitted. Ho@, if any proceeding presents in
large degree the same legal and factual issues gs ower proceedings pending or known
to be contemplated, include the amount involvs&'rw the other proceedings in computing

the percentage. q/Q

23.2. Regulatory actions *\«

Describe any ?g‘

@) penalties or
provincial and territorial

within the 3 years im@di

(b) an I penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
against the is cessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure
of all mater@ ts relating to the securities being distributed, and

¥Ons imposed against the issuer by a court relating to
rities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority
ly preceding the date of the prospectus,

and territorial securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority

@S" settlement agreements the issuer entered into before a court relating to
proyi
gitz@ e 3 years immediately preceding the date of the prospectus.

m 24 Interests of Management and Others in Material Transactions
24.1 Interests of management and others in material transactions

Provide information for the issuer for this section in accordance with section 13.1
of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations
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as if the reference in that section to “within the 3 most recently completed financial
years or during the current financial year that has materially affected or is reasonably
expected to materially affect your company” read “within the 3 years before the date of
the prospectus that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect
the issuer or a subsidiary of the issuer”.

24.2. Underwriting discounts '\b‘

Disclose any material underwriting discounts or commissions upon thei% of
securities by the issuer if any of the persons listed in section 13.1 of Form 5 -1Q 2 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations were or 0 be an
underwriter or are associates, affiliates or partners of a person that w S to be an
underwriter.

Item 25 Relationship Between Issuer or Selling&urityholder and
Underwriter

25.1. Relationship between issuer or selling securi%@er and underwriter

(2) If the issuer or selling securityholder is a co;@ed issuer or related issuer of an
underwriter of the distribution, or if the issue&o selling securityholder is also an
underwriter of the distribution, comply with IQ requirements of Regulation 33-105
respecting Underwriting Conflicts. q/

(2) For the purposes of subsectio (i\ “connected issuer” and “related issuer” have
the same meanings as in Regulatia:gi-l% respecting Underwriting Conflicts.

Item 26 Auditors, Tran%%ents and Registrars

State the na@hd address of the auditor of the issuer.

26.1. Auditors

26.2. Transf@'ents, registrars, trustees or other agents

trustee her agent appointed by the issuer to maintain the securities register and

the @ r of transfers for such securities and indicate the location (by municipality) of

ead¥ OT the offices of the issuer or transfer agent, registrar, trustee or other agent where

@securities register and register of transfers are maintained or transfers of securities
e recorded.

I?é%n class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar,
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Item 27 Material Contracts
27.1. Material contracts
Give particulars of any material contract
(@) required to be filed under section 9.3 of the Regulation, or

(b)  that would be required to be filed under section 9.3 of the Regula(@out
for the fact that it was previously filed. N

N
INSTRUCTIONS Q:l'

(2) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars be given under
this section, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in th ectus. Particulars
need only be provided for those contracts that do not h&{ e particulars given
elsewhere in the prospectus.

(2) Particulars of contracts must include the d@%of, parties to, consideration

provided for in, and general nature and key terms g¢, contracts.
Item 28 Experts Qy\b‘
28.1. Names of experts q/

NS

Name each person *
(@) who is named aving prepared or certified a report, valuation,
statement or opinion in the ctus or an amendment to the prospectus, and

(b)  whose o&on or business gives authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinio e by the person.

28.2. InteresQQaperts

Fo person referred to in section 28.1, provide the disclosure in accordance
with s 16.2 of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Dis I@ Obligations, as of the date of the prospectus, as if that person were a person

f&ged to in section 16.1 of Form 51-102F2 of Regulation 51-102 respecting

r
\égtlnuous Disclosure Obligations.
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[tem 29 Other Material Facts
29.1. Other material facts

Give particulars of any material facts about the securities being distributed that
are not disclosed under any other Items and are necessary in order for the prospectus
to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities w‘
be distributed. N

%Q
(1',\«
30.1. General Q~

Include a statement in substantially the following form, the bracketed
information completed: %

Item 30 Rights of Withdrawal and Rescission

Province of [insert name of local jurisdiction, if applicab vides purchasers with the
right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase secuitied. This right may be exercised
within 2 business days after receipt or deeme eipt of a prospectus and any
amendment. [In several of the provinces/provigce® and territories,] [T/tlhe securities
legislation further provides a purchaser with\ edies for rescission [or[, in some
jurisdictions,] revisions of the price or dan‘ka%] if the prospectus and any amendment
contains a misrepresentation or is not deliyered to the purchaser, provided that the
remedies for rescission[, revisions f'ﬂqe price or damages] are exercised by the
purchaser within the time limit presgI®ed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s
province [or territory]. The purc should refer to any applicable provisions of the
securities legislation of the & Ser’s province [or territory] for the particulars of these

“Securities legislation in [certain of the provincez@t rritories] of Canada/the

rights or consult with a lega Ker.”

30.2. Non-fixed pri@&ngs

In the cas @ non-fixed price offering, replace, if applicable in the jurisdiction in
which the pro%\'ﬂs is filed, the second sentence in the legend in section 30.1 with a
u

statement i% tantially the following form:

Qg)right may only be exercised within 2 business days after receipt or deemed
rec iQ a prospectus and any amendment, irrespective of the determination at a later
dafsgoTthe purchase price of the securities distributed.”

.3. Convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities
In the case of an offering of convertible, exchangeable or exercisable securities

in which additional amounts are payable or may become payable upon conversion,
exchange or exercise, provide a statement in the following form:
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“In an offering of [state name of convertible, exchangeable or exercisable
securities], investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a
misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial [and
territorial] securities legislation, to the price at which the [state name of convertible,
exchangeable or exercisable securities] is offered to the public under the prospectus
offering. This means that, under the securities legislation of certain provinces [and
territories], if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon [conversion, exchang
exercise] of the security, those amounts may not be recoverable under the sta@(y
right of action for damages that applies in those provinces [and territoriesf. he
purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities Iegislaf%r]\ f the
purchaser’s province [or territory] for the particulars of this right of action fonB ages or

consult with a legal adviser.”.
%&

Item 31 List of Exemptions from Regulation @
31.1. List of exemptions from Regulation /&

List all exemptions from the provisions of the @tion, including this Form,
granted to the issuer applicable to the distribution.ofZhe prospectus, including all
exemptions to be evidenced by the issuance of a K t for the prospectus pursuant to
section 19.3 of the Regulation. b‘

ltem 32 Financial Statement Discloiﬁgfor Issuers
32.1. Interpretation of “issuer” *'\‘\

(1) The financial statements issuer required under this Item to be included in a
prospectus must include 0

(@) the financia@ments of any predecessor entity that formed, or will form,
the basis of the busingss the issuer, even though the predecessor entity is, or may

have been, a differ al entity, if the issuer has not existed for 3 years,

(b) t ancial statements of a business or businesses acquired by the
issuer withi @ears before the date of the prospectus or proposed to be acquired, if a
reasonab estor reading the prospectus would regard the primary business of the
issuer the business or businesses acquired, or proposed to be acquired, by the

§ (© the restated combined financial statements of the issuer and any other

tity with which the issuer completed a transaction within 3 years before the date of the
prospectus or proposes to complete a transaction, if the issuer accounted for or will
account for the transaction as a combination in which all of the combining entities or
businesses ultimately are controlled by the same party or parties both before and after
the combination, and that control is not temporary.
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(2)  An issuer is not required to include the financial statements for an acquisition to
which paragraph (1)(a) or (b) applies if

(@) the issuer was a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction of Canada

(1) on the date of the acquisition, in the case of a completed
acquisition; or \b‘

(i) immediately before the filing of the prospectus, in the caé&f a
proposed acquisition; N
(!ﬁsh, cash

(c) the issuer provides disclosure in respect of the sed or completed
acquisition in accordance with Item 35.

(b) the issuer’'s principal asset before the acquisition is
equivalents, or its exchange listing; and Q/

32.2. Annual financial statements %Qg

(1) Subject to section 32.4, include annual,@mial statements of the issuer
consisting of b‘

(@) a statement of comprehensiy, %ome, a statement of changes in equity,

and a statement of cash flows for each of thg#3 most recently completed financial years
ended more than )

0] 90 days bef@ﬂe date of the prospectus, or

(i) 120 d \éfore the date of the prospectus, if the issuer is a
venture issuer, 5

(b) a sta t of financial position as at the end of the 2 most recently
completed finan% ars described in paragraph (a),

(c) tatement of financial position as at the beginning of the earliest
comparatj Qeriod for which financial statements that are included in the prospectus
comply@@FRS in the case of an issuer that

<(O 0] discloses in its annual financial statements an unreserved
&tement of compliance with IFRS, and

(i) does any of the following

(A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its annual
financial statements,
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(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its annual
financial statements, or

(C) reclassifies items in its annual financial statements,

(d) in the case of an issuer's first IFRS financial statements, the opening IFRS
statement of financial position at the date of transition to IFRS, and

(e) notes to the annual financial statements. (19
| | | N s
(2.1) If an issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a sepdr}ée income
statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immed'QJy efore the
statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (1).

(2) If the issuer has not completed 3 financial years, incIude@ﬂancial statements
described under subsection (1) for each completed financial ded more than

(@) 90 days before the date of the prospectus(oo@

(b) 120 days before the date of the p;@ctus, if the issuer is a venture

issuer.
™

3) If the issuer has not included ing@ prospectus financial statements for a
completed financial year, include the Wfinancial statements described under
subsection (1) or (2) for a period from thMate the issuer was formed to a date not more
than 90 days before the date of the pectus.

4) If an issuer changed '{zp?n‘ancial year end during any of the financial years
referred to in this section e transition year is less than 9 months, the transition
year is deemed not to b Wrancial year for the purposes of the requirement to provide
financial statements k& ecified number of financial years in this section.

(5) Despite s @tlon (4), all financial statements of the issuer for a transition year
referred to in tion (4) must be included in the prospectus.

busine usinesses acquired by the issuer, or of any other entity are required under
this<<s® , then include
§ (a) statements of comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity,
d statements of cash flow for the entities or businesses for as many periods before
the acquisition as may be necessary so that when these periods are added to the
periods for which the issuer's statements of comprehensive income, statements of
changes in equity, and statements of cash flow are included in the prospectus, the
results of the entities or businesses, either separately or on a consolidated basis,
total 3 years,

(6) Su?%/to section 32.4, if financial statements of any predecessor entity,
n
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(b) statements of financial position for the entities or businesses for as many
periods before the acquisition as may be necessary so that when these periods are
added to the periods for which the issuer's statements of financial position are included
in the prospectus, the financial position of the entities or businesses, either separately
or on a consolidated basis, total 2 years,

financial statements described under paragraphs (a) and (b) for each co ed
financial year of the entities or businesses for which the issuer's financial st ments in
the prospectus do not include the financial statements of the entities orfﬁw inesses,
either separately or on a consolidated basis, and ended more than &

(c) if the entities or businesses have not completed 3 financial year&%e

(1) 90 days before the date of the prospectus, or <b

(i) 120 days before the date of the pro{&&é if the issuer is a

venture issuer,
(d) if an entity's or business's first IFRS |aI statements are included
under paragraphs (a), (b) or (c), the opening IFR ment of financial position at the
date of transition to IFRS, and
(e) a statement of financial p@"\\ as at the beginning of the earliest
comparative period for which financial statggents that are included in the prospectus
comply with IFRS in the case of an iE&\Ihat

0] discloses i Q? annual financial statements an unreserved
statement of compliance with E ~and

(i) doex f the following

&pplies an accounting policy retrospectively in its financial

statements, Q

(B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its financial
statemen(%l

Oa (C) reclassifies items in its financial statements.

@3 Interim financial report

(2) Include a comparative interim financial report of the issuer for the most recent
interim period, if any, ended

(&) subsequent to the most recent financial year in respect of which annual
financial statements of the issuer are included in the prospectus, and
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(b) more than
(1) 45 days before the date of the prospectus, or

(i) 60 days before the date of the prospectus if the issuer is a venture
issuer. '\b‘

(2)  The interim financial report referred to in subsection (1) must include (19

(@) a statement of financial position as at the end of the interim 63%3 and a
statement of financial position as at the end of the immediately prece pancial year,

if any din@
, Q;((’

(b)  a statement of comprehensive income, a statem hanges in equity,
and a statement of cash flows, all for the year-to-date interi od, and comparative
financial information for the corresponding interim period 'Qne immediately preceding
financial year, if any, %%

(© for interim periods other than the firs 'l@im period in an issuer's financial
year, a statement of comprehensive income for\the\3 month period ending on the last
day of the interim period and comparative fin& al information for the corresponding
period in the immediately preceding financiﬁ/%ar, if any,

(d) a statement of financi I'}sosition as at the beginning of the earliest

comparative period for which finapge statements that are included in the prospectus
comply with IFRS in the case of er that
0] disclos ts interim financial report an unreserved statement of

compliance with Internati% ccounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and

(ii) & any of the following

Q (A) applies an accounting policy retrospectively in its interim

financial re%t,

C) (B) makes a retrospective restatement of items in its interim
fing eport, or

\é (C) reclassifies items in its interim financial report,
(e) in the case of the first interim financial report required to be filed in the
year of adopting IFRS, the opening IFRS statement of financial position at the date of
transition to IFRS, and

) notes to the interim financial report.
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(3) If an issuer presents the components of profit or loss in a separate income
statement, the separate income statement must be displayed immediately before the
statement of comprehensive income filed under subsection (2).

4) If the issuer is required to include under subsection 32.3(1), a comparative
interim financial report of the issuer for the second or third interim period in the yea'\w‘
adopting IFRS, include

€) the issuer's first interim financial report in the year of adopting IF,KS%

(b)  both Qﬂ’

(1) the opening IFRS statement of financial p at the date of
transition to IFRS, and

(i) the annual and date of transition to IF xoncmatlons required by
IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial ing Standards to explain
how the transition from previous GAAP to IFRS affe e issuer's reported financial
position, financial performance and cash flows. &

(5) Subsection (4) does not apply to an issu@ihat was a reporting issuer in at least
one jurisdiction immediately before filing th spectus.

32.4. Exceptions to financial stat&&snequwements

(1) Despite section 32.2, an |s not required to include the following financial
statements in a prospectus

(@) the statem@ comprehensive income, the statement of changes in
equity, and the statemenQof cash flows for the third most recently completed financial
year, if the issuer j porting issuer in at least one jurisdiction immediately before
filing the prospe

equity, a statement of cash flows for the third most recently completed financial

year, @‘ e financial statements for the second most recently completed financial

%0

% (1) the issuer is a reporting issuer in at least one jurisdiction
mediately before filing the prospectus, and

(b) jfﬁg statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in

(i) the issuer includes financial statements for a financial year ended
less than

(A) 90 days before the date of the prospectus, or
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(B) 120 days before the date of the prospectus, if the issuer is a
venture issuer,

(c) the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of changes in
equity, and the statement of cash flows for the third most recently completed financial
year, and the statement of financial position for the second most recently compl t%
financial year, if the issuer includes financial statements for a financial year endegéss

than 90 days before the date of the prospectus, (L

(d) the statement of comprehensive income, the statement o@r‘fges in
equity, and the statement of cash flows for the third most recently co d financial
year, and the financial statements for the second most recently ted financial

year, if

(1) the issuer is a reporting issuer in %ast one jurisdiction
immediately before filing the prospectus,

(i) the issuer includes audited fina i&tatements for a period of at
least 9 months commencing the day after the mos éntly completed financial year for
which financial statements are required under se&ti‘o 32.2,

(i) the business of the iss@not seasonal, and

(iv)  none of the finangiaﬂ\et‘atements required under section 32.2 are for

a financial year that is less than 9 S,
(e) the statement Qf prehensive income, the statement of changes in
equity, and the statement flows for the third most recently completed financial

year, and the statemen\ ancial position for the second most recently completed
financial year, if

0] @e issuer includes audited financial statements for a period of at
least 9 month encing the day after the most recently completed financial year for
which finan@ atements are required under section 32.2,

QS) (i) the business of the issuer is not seasonal, and

(i)  none of the financial statements required under section 32.2 are for
@nancial year that is less than 9 months, or

) the separate financial statements of the issuer and the other entity for
periods prior to the date of the transaction, if the restated combined financial statements
of the issuer and the other entity are included in the prospectus under
paragraph 32.1(c).
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(2) Paragraphs (1)(a), (b) and (d) do not apply to an issuer
(&) whose principal asset is cash, cash equivalents or its exchange listing; or

(b) in respect of financial statements of a reverse takeover acquirer for a
completed or proposed transaction by the issuer that was or will be accounted for as a

reverse takeover. b‘
N
Q

32.5. Exceptions to audit requirement

The audit requirement in section 4.2 of the Regulation does not éﬁ}y\ to the
following financial statements Q~

(@) any financial statements for the second and third mo ently completed
financial years required under section 32.2, if %

0] those financial statements were pr %Iy included in a final
prospectus without an auditor’s report pursuant to ?no mption under applicable
securities legislation, and O

(i) an auditor has not issuedsg uditor’'s report on those financial
statements, )\

(b) any financial statements for t%econd and third most recently completed
financial years required under section*BQ.\Z,ﬂif

0] the issuer is for issuer,

(i.1) an aud@as not issued an auditor's report on those financial

statements, and Sv

(i) inancial statements for the most recently completed financial
year required un ction 32.2 is not less than 12 months in length, or

(c) éﬁ/ interim financial report required under section 32.3.
32.6. @onal financial statements or financial information filed or released

( )<(q the issuer files financial statements for a more recent period than required
%ﬂer section 32.2 or 32.3 before the prospectus is filed, the issuer must include in the
ospectus those more recent financial statements.

(2) If historical financial information about the issuer is publicly disseminated by, or
on behalf of, the issuer through news release or otherwise for a more recent period than
required under section 32.2, the issuer must include the content of the news release or
public communication in the prospectus.
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32.7. Pro forma financial statements for an acquisition

(1)  An issuer must include in the prospectus the pro forma financial information set
out in subsection (2) if

(@) the issuer has completed or proposes an acquisition of a business IV‘
which financial statement disclosure is required under section 32.1; Q'\

(b) less than 9 months of the acquired business operations I)ﬁ/g’%een
reflected in the issuer's most recent audited financial statements incIG’Q; in the

prospectus; and Q~

(© the inclusion of the pro forma financial statements ¢ cessary for the
prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all mat | cts relating to the
securities to be distributed.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), include the foéko%?g

(@) a pro forma statement of financial p of the issuer, as at the date of
the issuer’s most recent statement of financial 9%on included in the prospectus, that
gives effect, as if it had taken place as at the da@&f the pro forma statement of financial
position, to the acquisition that has been cq@ted, or is expected to be completed, but
is not reflected in the issuer’'s most recent sgatement of financial position for an annual
or interim period; '\‘s

Qstatement of the issuer that gives effect to the

0 be completed, since the beginning of the issuer’s
year for which it has included financial statements in
n place at the beginning of that financial year, for each of

(b) a pro forma inco
acquisition completed, or exp
most recently completed fi
its prospectus, as if it ha
the following periods: %

0] @e most recently completed financial year for which the issuer has
included finan'Q tements in its prospectus; and

the interim period for which the issuer has included an interim
financi ort in its prospectus, that started after the financial year referred to in
sub aph (i) and ended

§ (A) in the case of a completed acquisition, immediately before
\h acquisition date or, in the issuer’s discretion, after the acquisition date;

(B) inthe case of a proposed acquisition, immediately before the

date of the filing of the prospectus, as if the acquisition had been completed before the
filing of the prospectus and the acquisition date were the date of the prospectus; and
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(c) pro forma earnings per share based on the pro forma financial statements
referred to in paragraph (b).

3) If an issuer is required to include pro forma financial statements in its prospectus
under subsection (1),

(@) in the case where the pro forma financial statements give effect to mo\ﬁ‘
than one acquisition, the issuer must identify in the pro forma financial statementss'&s

acquisition, (L
N

0] adjustments attributable to the acquisition for here are firm
commitments and for which the complete financial effects are obje@ determinable;

(b)  the issuer must include in the pro forma financial statements

(i) adjustments to conform amounts for the(gmness to the issuer’s
accounting policies; and Q

(i)  a description of the underlying agsufgptions on which the pro forma
financial statements are prepared, cross-refer to each related pro forma
adjustment; b‘

(c) in the case where the financj Qear-end of the business differs from the
issuer’'s year-end by more than 93 days, fe# the purpose of preparing the pro forma
income statement of the issuer’'s most rédently completed financial year, the issuer must
construct an income statement of business for a period of 12 consecutive months
ending no more than 93 days be r after the issuer’s year-end, by adding the results
for a subsequent interim pegdQXtd a completed financial year of the business and
deducting the comparable i results for the immediately preceding year;

(d) in the cgsedWhere a constructed income statement is required under
paragraph (c), the rma financial statements must disclose the period covered by
the constructed i e statement on the face of the pro forma financial statements and
must include aQn stating that the financial statements of the business used to prepare
the pro for ¥nancial statements were prepared for the purpose of the pro forma
financial ents and do not conform with the financial statements for the business
includ where in the prospectus;

<(Qe) in the case where an issuer is required to prepare a pro forma income
ﬁement for an interim period required by paragraph (2)(b), and the pro forma income
tement for the most recently completed financial year includes results of the business
which are also included in the pro forma income statement for the interim period, the
issuer must disclose in a note to the pro forma financial statements the revenue,
expenses, and profit or loss from continuing operations included in each pro forma
income statement for the overlapping period; and
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() a constructed period referred to in paragraph (c) does not have to be
audited.

32.8. Pro forma financial statements for multiple acquisitions
Despite subsection 32.7(1), an issuer is not required to include in its prospectus
the pro forma financial statements otherwise required for each acquisition if the is%u\v‘

includes in its prospectus one set of pro forma financial statements that

(@) reflects the results of each acquisition since the beginning of tie i(sl'uer’s
most recently completed financial year for which financial statements of tq iSsuer are

included in the prospectus, and Q~

(b) is prepared as if each acquisition had occurred at eginning of the
most recently completed financial year of the issuer for which fi statements of the
issuer are included in the prospectus. :\

32.9. Exemption from financial statement disclosurg@il & gas acquisitions

Q) In the case where sections 32.2, 32.3 and K@pply to a completed or proposed
acquisition by operation of section 32.1, those seg‘io s do not apply if

(@) the acquisition is an acquisitigx@ a business which is an interest in an oil
and gas property;
M)

(b)  the acquisition is not cquisition of securities of another issuer, unless
the vendor transferred the busi ferenced in paragraph (1)(a) to the other issuer
and that other issuer 0
(1) was @d for the sole purpose of facilitating the acquisition; and
(i) than assets or operations relating to the transferred business,
has no
é (A)  substantial assets; or
QS) (B)  operating history;
<(Q:) the issuer is unable to provide the financial statements in respect of the
@msition otherwise required under sections 32.2 and 32.3 because those financial
tements do not exist or because the issuer does not have access to those financial

statements;

(d) the acquisition does not constitute a reverse takeover,
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(e)  subject to subsections (2) and (3), in respect of the business for each of
the financial periods for which financial statements would, but for this section, be
required under sections 32.2 and 32.3, the prospectus includes

0] an operating statement for the business prepared in accordance
with section 3.17 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards (chapter V-1.1, r. 25); '\b‘

(i) a pro forma operating statement of the issuer that gives eﬂ)% to
the acquisition completed or to be completed since the beginning of the issyer’s” most

: . . . : AN
recently completed financial year for which financial statements are refQited to be

included in the prospectus, as if the acquisition had taken place at the nhing of that
financial year, for each of the financial periods referred to in pa h 32.7(2)(b),
unless

(A)  more than nine months of the ace& business operations
have been reflected in the issuer’'s most recent audited fi ial statements included in
the prospectus; or %

(B) the inclusion of the p@ma financial statements is not
necessary for the prospectus to contain full, tr& d plain disclosure of all material
facts relating to the securities to be distributed;)\

(i)  a description of the prcgagrty or properties and the interest acquired
by the issuer; and )

(iv)  disclosure annual oil and gas production volumes from the
business;

() the operati @%tement for the three most recently completed financial
years has been auditeg; %

(9) the @)ectus discloses

to the b s, the material assumptions used in preparing the estimates and the
elationship to the issuer or to the vendor of the person who prepared the

identity@q.
esti&@ and

§ (i) the estimated oil and gas production volumes from the business for
\h first year reflected in the estimated disclosure under subparagraph (i).

&ES( the estimated reserves and related future net revenue attributable

(2)  Subparagraphs (1)(e)(i), (i) and (iv) do not apply if production, gross sales,
royalties, production costs and operating income were nil, or are reasonably expected to
be nil for the business for each financial period and the prospectus discloses that fact.
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3) Paragraphs (1)(e) and (f) do not apply in respect of the third most recently
completed financial year if the issuer has completed the acquisition and has included in
the prospectus the following:

(@) information in accordance with Form 51-101F1 of Regulation 51-101
respecting Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities as at a date commencing
on or after the acquisition date and within 6 months of the date of the preliminau

prospectus; Q
(b) a report in the form of Form 51-101F2 of Regulation 51-101 es%cting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities on the reserves data in in the
disclosure required under paragraph (a); Q~
(c) a report in the form of Form 51-101F3 of Regulati -101 respecting
Standards of Disclosure for Oil and Gas Activities that re o the information
disclosed under paragraph (a). &

Item 33 Credit Supporter Disclosure, Including %{@u ial Statements
33.1 Credit supporter disclosure, including fig@al statements

If a credit supporter has provided a guasgh[ee or alternative credit support for all
or substantially all of the payments to be P@e under the securities being distributed,
include statements by the credit suppor providing disclosure about the credit
supporter that would be required under iems 4, 5, 8, 9, 16, 21, 23, 25, 26, and 32 if the
credit supporter were the issuer e securities to be distributed and such other
information about the credit su r as is necessary to provide full, true and plain
disclosure of all material facts@ﬁg to the securities to be distributed.

Item 34 Exemption@ertain Issues of Guaranteed Securities

34.1. Definitions@wterpretaﬂon

Q) In this IQQ‘

(@) e impact of subsidiaries, on a combined basis, on the financial
statemqg)of the parent entity is “minor” if each item of the summary financial
info @ n of the subsidiaries, on a combined basis, represents less than 3% of the
g(c nsolidated amounts,

tgt

\ (b) a parent entity has “limited independent operations” if each item of its
summary financial information represents less than 3% of the total consolidated
amounts,

(c) a subsidiary is a “finance subsidiary” if it has minimal assets, operations,
revenue or cash flows other than those related to the issuance, administration and
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repayment of the security being distributed and any other securities guaranteed by its
parent entity,

(d) “parent credit supporter” means a credit supporter of which the issuer is a
subsidiary,

(e) “parent entity” means a parent credit supporter for the purposes'\w‘
sections 34.2 and 34.3 and an issuer for the purpose of section 34.4, Q

() “subsidiary credit supporter” means a credit supporter that is a,:\ugl/diary
of the parent credit supporter, and (L

()  “summary financial information” includes the following @;&

0] revenue;

(i) profit or loss from continuing operati Q attributable to owners of

the parent; %

(i) profit or loss attributable to ow;@)f the parent; and

(iv)  unless the accounting N@[ples used to prepare the financial
statements of the entity permits the prep@n of the entity's statement of financial

position without classifying assets and liabilies between current and non-current and
the entity provides alternative m aﬁhgful financial information which is more
appropriate to the industry,

(A) cu \@?g;ets;

(B) 5 -current assets;

& current liabilities; and

Q (D)  non-current liabilities.

|NSTRUC€$M

ge section 1.1 of the Regulation for the definitions of “profit or loss attributable
t Q/ners of the parent” and “profit or loss from continuing operations attributable to
ﬂ\égers of the parent”.

(2) For the purposes of this Item, consolidating summary financial information must
be prepared on the following basis
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(@ an entity’s annual or interim summary financial information must be
derived from the entity’s financial information underlying the corresponding consolidated
financial statements of the parent entity included in the prospectus,

(b)  the parent entity column must account for investments in all subsidiaries
under the equity method, and

(© all subsidiary entity columns must account for investments in non@&t‘
supporter subsidiaries under the equity method. (L

34.2. lIssuer is wholly-owned subsidiary of parent credit supporter q;\\

An issuer is not required to include the issuer discl required by
Items 4, 5, 8, 9, 21, 23, 25, 26, and 32, if

(@) a parent credit supporter has provided full and w(&ﬂitional credit support
for the securities being distributed,

(b)  the securities being distributed are no ertlble debt securities, non-
convertible preferred shares, or convertible deb, @urltles or convertible preferred
shares that are convertible, in each case, into & onvertible securities of the parent
credit supporter, y\

(© the parent credit supporter is‘,\he beneficial owner of all the issued and
outstanding voting securities of the iE&\\

(d) no other subsidi the parent credit supporter has provided a
guarantee or alternative credi ort for all or substantially all of the payments to be
made under the securities istributed, and

(e) the isa&inﬁmes in the prospectus

0] @statement that the financial results of the issuer are included in
the consolidat&ncial results of the parent credit supporter, if

C)% (A) theissuer is a finance subsidiary, and

(B) the impact of any subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter
och mbined basis, excluding the issuer, on the consolidated financial statements of

\ parent credit supporter is minor, or

(i) for the periods covered by the parent credit supporter’s
consolidated interim financial report and consolidated annual financial statements
included in the prospectus under Item 33, consolidating summary financial information
for the parent credit supporter presented with a separate column for each of the
following:
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(A)  the parent credit supporter;
(B) theissuer;

(C) any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a
combined basis;

(D) consolidating adjustments; (19
(E) the total consolidated amounts. ({,\\
34.3. lIssuer is wholly-owned subsidiary of, and 1 or more idiary credit
supporters controlled by, parent credit supporter
(1) An issuer is not required to include the issue &Closure required by
Items 4, 5, 8, 9, 21, 23, 25, 26, and 32, or the credit sup dlsclosure of 1 or more

subsidiary credit supporters required by Item 33, if %

(@) a parent credit supporter and 1 or m @Jbsidiary credit supporters have
each provided full and unconditional credit supp%t‘f the securities being distributed,

(b)  the guarantees or alternative E@I} supports are joint and several,
convertible preferred shares, or ertible debt securities or convertible preferred

shares that are convertible, in ase, into non-convertible securities of the parent
credit supporter, % ~

(c) the securities being dis§ri5\ted are non-convertible debt securities, non-

(d) the parent @ supporter is the beneficial owner of all the issued and
outstanding voting se % f the issuer,

the parent cre, port has consolidated the financial statements of each subsidiary

(e) t eg@nt credit supporter controls each subsidiary credit supporter and
credit supp§£e into the parent credit supporter’s financial statements that are included

in the pro s, and
(§~ the issuer includes in the prospectus, for the periods covered by the
pa credit supporter’s financial statements included in the prospectus under Item 33,
%solidating summary financial information for the parent credit supporter presented
\v h a separate column for each of the following:
0] the parent credit supporter;

(i) the issuer;
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(i)  each subsidiary credit supporter on a combined basis;

(iv)  any other subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined
basis;

(v) consolidating adjustments;

Na

(vi)  the total consolidated amounts. Q

(2) Despite paragraph (1)(f), the information set out in a column in accorda'%;kith
q’set out in
pact of any
uding the issuer
statements of the

(@) subparagraph (1)(f)(iv) may be combined with the infor
accordance with any of the other columns in paragraph (1)(f) if
subsidiaries of the parent credit supporter on a combined basis,
and all subsidiary credit supporters, on the consolidated fin
parent credit supporter is minor, and

(b) subparagraph (1)(f)(ii), may be combmed& he information set out in
accordance with any of the other columns in paragr (f) if the issuer is a finance

subsidiary.

34.4. One or more credit supporters contrQ@ by issuer

An issuer is not required to include‘tﬁe credit supporter disclosure for 1 or more
credit supporters required by Item 33, if

(@ one or more cre@orters have each provided full and unconditional

credit support for the securitie ng distributed,

(b) there is ma@n 1 credit supporter, the guarantee or alternative credit

supports are joint and&

(c) twntles being distributed are non-convertible debt securities, non-

convertible pr shares, or convertible debt securities or convertible preferred
shares that@ onvertible, in each case, into non-convertible securities of the issuer,

C) the issuer controls each credit supporter and the issuer has consolidated
the fi lal statements of each credit supporter into the issuer’s financial statements
thdd@r€ included in the prospectus, and

\ (e) theissuer includes in the prospectus

0] a statement that the financial results of the credit supporter(s) are
included in the consolidated financial results of the issuer, if

(A) theissuer has limited independent operations, and
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(B) the impact of any subsidiaries of the issuer on a combined
basis, excluding the credit supporter(s) but including any subsidiaries of the credit
supporter(s) that are not themselves credit supporters, on the consolidated financial
statements of the issuer is minor, or

(i) for the periods covered by the issuer’s financial statemw
n

included in the prospectus under Item 32, consolidating summary financial inforr‘%
for the issuer, presented with a separate column for each of the following: (L

(A) theissuer; (l',\\
(B) the credit supporters on a combined basi Qg‘
(C) any other subsidiaries of the issuer %mbined basis;
(D) consolidating adjustments; Q&
(E) the total consolidated am@%
Item 35 Significant Acquisitions b‘&
35.1. Application and definitions q/Q\
(1)  This Item does not apply to '\‘s
@ed transaction by the issuer that was or will be a

that is a proposed reverse takeover that has
sonable person would believe that the likelihood of the

(@) a completed or pr
reverse takeover or a tran
progressed to a state wher
reverse takeover being c%

(b) a con@d or proposed acquisition

(& by the issuer if

cash eO
\$<<

acquisition; and

% (A) the issuer’s principal asset before the acquisition is cash,
[Yefents or its exchange listing; or

(B) the issuer was not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction

() on the acquisition date, in the case of a completed

(1 immediately before filing the prospectus, in the case
of a proposed acquisition; and
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(i) to which Item 32 applies by operation of section 32.1.
(2) (paragraph revoked).

(3) The audit requirement in section 4.2 of the Regulation does not apply to any
financial statements or other information included in the prospectus under this Item,
other than the financial statements or other information for the most recently complet

financial year of a business or related businesses acquired, or proposed to be aco@?.

by the issuer. (L

4) In this Item, "significant acquisition” means an acquisition of a busine{s}i}r\related

businesses that, Q~

(@) if the issuer was a reporting issuer in at least %/diction on the
acquisition date, is determined to be a significant acquisiti er section 8.3 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obllgatl g(zf

(b) if the issuer was not a reporting issuer in sdlctlon on the acquisition
date, would be determined to be a S|gn|f|cant ition under section 8.3 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous DISC|OS Ilgatlons as if

(1) the issuer was a reportln&tﬂ%er on the acquisition date,

(i) the references to a “vergre issuer” were read as an "IPO venture
issuer" if the issuer is an IPO venture !'s%en,

(i) for the purp f the optional tests, the issuer used its financial
statements for the most rec completed interim period or financial year that is
included in the prospectus, %

completed financial f the business or related businesses were the financial year of
the business en ore the date of the prospectus, and the 12 months ended on the
last day of t @mst recently completed interim period of the business or related
businesses ge the 12 months ended on the last day of the most recently completed

(iv) fog trﬁ urposes of the optional profit or loss test, the most recently

interim p efore the date of the prospectus,

9 (v) subsection 8.3(11.1) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Di ure Obligations did not apply,

\ (vi) references to “audited annual statements filed” meant “audited
annual financial statements included in the long form prospectus”, and

(vii) in subsection 8.3(15) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous

Disclosure Obligations, the reference to “been required to file, and has not filed,” meant
“been required to include, and has not included, in the long form prospectus”.
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35.2. Completed acquisitions for which issuer has filed business acquisition
report

If an issuer completed an acquisition of a business or related businesses since
the beginning of its most recently completed financial year for which financial
statements are included in the prospectus, and it has filed a business acquisition re
under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations féq
acquisition, include all of the disclosure included in, or incorporated by referen%
that business acquisition report.

35.3. Completed acquisitions for which issuer has not filed busi @acqwsmon
report because issuer was not reporting issuer on acquisition d

(1)  Anissuer must include the disclosure required under su @1 (2), if

(@ the issuer completed an acquisition of a b or related businesses
since the beginning of the issuer’s most recently co flnanC|aI year for which
financial statements of the issuer are included in the &ctus

(b)  the issuer was not a reporting ISSL& any jurisdiction on the acquisition
date,

(© the acquisition is a significant‘;?quisition, and
M)

(d) the acquisition date ore than

(1) 90 days e the date of the prospectus, if the financial year of
the acquired business ende ays or less before the acquisition, or
(i) 7 d before the date of the prospectus.

(2) For an ac on to which subsection (1) applies, include all the disclosure that
would be req 0 be included in, or incorporated by reference into, a business
acquisition t filed under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosur@gaﬂons as if

ng the issuer was a reporting issuer in at least 1 jurisdiction on the acquisition

da&
\é (b)

(c) the issuer was a venture issuer at the acquisition date, if the issuer is an
IPO venture issuer,

the business acquisition report was filed as at the date of the prospectus,
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(d)  subsections 8.4(4) and 8.4(6) of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous
Disclosure Obligations did not apply, and

(e) references to financial statements filed or required to be filed meant
financial statements included in the prospectus.

35.4. Financial Performance consolidated in financial statements of issuer \b‘

Despite section 35.2 and subsection 35.3(1), an issuer may omit the Nﬁ@ial
statements or other information of a business required to be included in the tus
if at least 9 months of the acquired business or related busmes inancial
performance have been reflected in the issuer's most recent Q?.Le financial

statements included in the prospectus. <b

35.5. Recently completed acquisitions @

(1) Include the information required under subseci 'SZ) for any significant
acquisition completed by the issuer %

(@) since the beginning of the issuer’s rg%e@cently completed financial year
for which financial statements of the issuer are ire‘u d in the prospectus, and

(b)  for which the issuer has not ip@d any disclosure under section 35.2 or
subsection 35.3(2). \
M)

(2) For a significant acquisition ich subsection (1) applies, include the following
(@) the information ezXréd by sections 2.1 through 2.6 of Form 51-102F4 of
Regulation 51-102 respecti tinuous Disclosure Obligations, and

(b) the finan;iab?;tements of or other information about the acquisition under

subsection (3) for t uired business or related businesses, if

he issuer was not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately
before fllln% rospectus, or

% (i) the issuer was a reporting issuer in at least 1 jurisdiction

ly before filing the prospectus, and the inclusion of the financial statements or
nformation is necessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain

\ losure of all material facts relating to the securities to be distributed.

3) The requirement to include financial statements or other information under

paragraph (2)(b) must be satisfied by including

@) if the issuer was a reporting issuer in at least 1 jurisdiction on the
acquisition date, the financial statements or other information that will be required to be
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included in, or incorporated by reference into, a business acquisition report filed under
Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations,

(b) if the issuer was not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction on the acquisition
date, the financial statements or other information that would be required by
subsection 35.3(2), or

(© satisfactory alternative financial statements or other information. Q’\b‘

(L

35.6. Probable acquisitions )\\

q’proposed

gressed to a
of the issuer
at the date of the

(2) Include the information required under subsection (2) for
acquisition of a business or related businesses by an issuer that h
state where a reasonable person would believe that the likek
completing the acquisition is high, and that, if completed by the

prospectus, would be a significant acquisition. Q

(2) For a proposed acquisition of a business or relatﬁinesses by the issuer that
has progressed to a state where a reasonable pers d believe that the likelihood
of the issuer completing the acquisition is high gQ which subsection (1) applies,

include
™

(@ the information required by S?@r}s 2.1 through 2.6 of Form 51-102F4 of
Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuo Disclosure Obligations, modified as
necessary to convey that the acquism not been completed, and

(b)  the financial state Qf& or other information of the probable acquisition
under subsection (3) for the a% et business or related businesses, if

(1) the i was not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately
before filing the pros@&, or

(i) @e issuer was a reporting issuer in at least 1 jurisdiction
immediately b@é%‘(iling the prospectus, and the inclusion of the financial statements or

other inforgaati is necessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain
disclosur@ﬂl material facts relating to the securities to be distributed.

3) &a proposed acquisition of a business or related businesses by the issuer that

haS¢rogressed to a state where a reasonable person would believe that the likelihood

e issuer completing the acquisition is high and to which subsection (2) applies, the

\e uirement to include financial statements or other information under subsection (2)(b)
must be satisfied by including

(@) if the issuer was a reporting issuer in at least 1 jurisdiction immediately

before filing the prospectus, the financial statements or other information that would be
required to be included in, or incorporated by reference into, a business acquisition
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report filed under Part 8 of Regulation 51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure
Obligations, as if the acquisition date were the date of the prospectus,

(b) if the issuer was not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately
before filing the prospectus, the financial statements or other information that would be
required to be included by subsection 35.3(2), as if the acquisition had been completed
before the filing of the prospectus and the acquisition date were the date of tls‘

prospectus, or (19'\

(© satisfactory alternative financial statements or other information.'\ N

(L

35.7. Pro forma financial statements for multiple acquisitions Q~

Despite sections 35.2, 35.3, 35.5 and 35.6, an issuer is not ired to include in
its prospectus the pro forma financial statements othervwg quired for each
acquisition, if the issuer includes in its prospectus 1 se&%pro forma financial
statements that

@) reflects the results of each ach|S|t|on the beginning of the issuer’s
most recently completed financial year for which @lal statements of the issuer are
included in the prospectus, b‘

(b) is prepared as if each acqu'&&'\had occurred at the beginning of the
most recently completed financial year of theWssuer for which financial statements of the
issuer are included in the prospectus, a

(c) is prepared in acco@\:e with

0] if no di re is otherwise required for a probable acquisition
under section 35.6, the N in this Item that applies to the most recently completed
acquisition, or x

(ii)%&on 35.6.

35.8. Add% | financial statements or financial information of business filed or

releasedc)
(2) %ssuer must include in its prospectus annual financial statements and an
int&gm- tfinancial report of a business or related businesses for a financial period that
ﬁded before the acquisition date and is more recent than the periods for which
ancial statements are required under section 35.5 or 35.6 if, before the prospectus is
filed, the financial statements of the business for the more recent period have been
filed.

(2) If, before the prospectus is filed, historical financial information of a business or
related businesses for a period more recent than the period for which financial
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statements are required under section 35.5 or 35.6, is publicly disseminated by news
release or otherwise by or on behalf of the issuer, the issuer shall include in the
prospectus the content of the news release or public communication.

Iltem 36 Probable Reverse Takeovers
36.1. Probable reverse takeovers '\b‘

If the issuer is involved in a proposed reverse takeover that has progres!%c a
state where a reasonable person would believe that the likelihood of tf&{‘ erse
takeover being completed is high, include statements by the reverse take@?? acquirer
providing disclosure about the reverse takeover acquirer that would b ired under
this Form, as applicable, if the reverse takeover acquirer were yssuer of the
securities to be distributed, and such other information about t verse takeover
acquirer as is necessary to provide full, true and plain disclo all material facts
relating to the securities to be distributed, including the&' tlosure required by
Items 4, 5,7, 8, 9, 11 to 19, 21 to 25, 27, 28, and 32. Q

2%

Item 36A Marketing Materials O
(1) If marketing materials were provide?]/%'}er subsection 13.7(1) or 13.8(1) of the

Regulation, the issuer must \
M)

€) include a section, un the heading “Marketing Materials”, proximate to
the beginning of the prospectus %\ ntains the disclosure required by this Item,

36A.1. Marketing materials

(b)  subject to su #On (2), include the template version of the marketing
materials filed under the lation in the final prospectus or incorporate by reference
the template version t% marketing materials filed under the Regulation into the final
prospectus, and %

(c) i@e that the template version of the marketing materials is not part of
the final prggpdctus to the extent that the contents of the template version of the
marketin@erials have been modified or superseded by a statement contained in the
final pr tus.

marketing materials filed under the Regulation in the section of the prospectus
er the heading “Marketing Materials” or in an appendix to the prospectus that is
referred to in that section.

(§)<(Qn issuer may comply with paragraph (1)(b) by including the template version of
d

3) If the prospectus or any amendment modifies a statement of material fact that
appeared in marketing materials provided earlier,
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(@) provide details of how the statement in the marketing materials has been
modified, and

(b)  disclose that, pursuant to subsection 13.7(7) or 13.8(7) of the Regulation,

0] the issuer has prepared a revised template version of the marketing
materials which has been blacklined to show the modified statement, and '\b‘

(i) the revised template version of the marketing materials @be
viewed under the issuer’s profile on www.sedar.com. ,\\

4) State that any template version of the marketing materials %{j‘ﬁnder the
Regulation after the date of the final prospectus and before the ation of the
distribution is deemed to be incorporated into the final prospectus.

(5) If the issuer relies on the exception in subsection 1 ) of the Regulation,
include the following statement or words to the same effec)

shows on [insert dates and brief description of roa s for U.S. cross-border offering
eligible for the exception in subsection 13.12(1)0f ¥ie Regulation or other prospectus
rule] to which potential investors in [insert jurisdictions of Canada where the
prospectus was filed] were able to attenq.@e issuer and the underwriters provided
marketing materials to those potential investgrs in connection with those road shows.

“Before the filing of the final prospectus, the ; s%r and underwriters held road

M)
In doing so, the issuer and underwriters relied on a provision in applicable
securities legislation that allowsd rs in certain U.S. cross-border offerings to not

incorporate those marketi terials in the final prospectus. The issuer and the
underwriters can only do R0 they give a contractual right to investors in the event the
marketing materials c@% a misrepresentation.

Pursuant ?@t provision, the issuer and the underwriters signing the certificate

have to file marketing mats@ ting to those road shows on SEDAR or include or

contained in ospectus have agreed that in the event the marketing materials
relating to ghoSe road shows contain a misrepresentation (as defined in securities
Iegislatiorq%msert the jurisdictions of Canada where the prospectus was filed]), a
purcha sident in [insert the jurisdictions of Canada where the prospectus was filed]
wh &rovided with those marketing materials in connection with the road shows
n% o purchases the securities offered by this prospectus during the period of
ibution shall have, without regard to whether the purchaser relied on the
\n srepresentation, rights against the issuer and each underwriter with respect to the
misrepresentation which are equivalent to the rights under the securities legislation of
the jurisdiction in Canada where the purchaser is resident, subject to the defences,
limitations and other terms of that legislation, as if the misrepresentation was contained
in this prospectus.

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 174



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

However, this contractual right does not apply to the extent that the contents of
the marketing materials relating to the road shows have been modified or superseded
by a statement in this prospectus. In particular, [insert a description of how any
statement in the marketing materials has been modified or superseded by a statement
in the prospectus].”

GUIDANCE
Na

Marketing materials do not, as a matter of law, amend a preliminary pro@&us,
a final prospectus or any amendment. .

(4) by inserting, after item 37.5, the following: Qg‘

Item 37 Certificates &
L&

37.1. Certificates

Include the certificates required by Part 5 of @%gulaﬂon or by securities
legislation.

37.2. lIssuer certificate form b‘&
An issuer certificate form must state'q/Q'\
relating to the securities offered this prospectus as required by the securities
legislation of [insert the jurisdictic&\ which qualified].”
rm

37.3. Underwriter certific@

“This prospectus constitutes fEIINue and plain disclosure of all material facts

An underwrite§er ate form must state:

“To the@;@our knowledge, information and belief, this prospectus constitutes

full, true and p, isclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this
prospectus quired by the securities legislation of [insert the jurisdictions in which
qualified].c)

37.4. endments

% For an amendment to a prospectus that does not restate the prospectus, change
\p ospectus” to “prospectus dated [insert date] as amended by this amendment”
wherever it appears in the statements in sections 37.2 and 37.3.

(2) For an amended and restated prospectus, change “prospectus” to “amended and
restated prospectus” wherever it appears in the statements in sections 37.2 and 37.3.
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37.5. Non-offering prospectuses

For a non-offering prospectus, change “securities offered by this prospectus” to
“securities previously issued by the issuer” wherever it appears in the statements in
sections 37.2 and 37.3.

37.6. Marketing materials '\b‘

If an issuer filed a template version of marketing materials under pa{@ph
13.7(1)(e) of the Regulation or intends to file a template version of marketin ma erials
under paragraph 13.8(1)(e) of the Regulation, change “prospectus” to spectus
(which includes the marketing materials included or incorporated by ref " where it

first appears in the statements in sections 37.2 and 37.3.

ltem 38 Transition &
L&

38.1. Interim financial report Q

(1) Despite subsection 32.3(1), an issuer may incl &comparative interim financial
report of the issuer for the most recent interim perng ny, ended

(@) subsequent to the most recent %cial year in respect of which annual
financial statements of the issuer are inclucﬁ;%l he prospectus, and

(b) more than '\ )

0] 75 days bef@ﬂe date of the prospectus, or
(i) 90 day@re the date of the prospectus if the issuer is a venture

issuer. Sv

(2) Subsection @ES not apply unless

(@) t% parative interim financial report is the first interim financial report
required toAeNiled in the year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim period
beginnin after January 1, 2011,

<<®>§ the issuer

% (1) is disclosing, for the first time, a statement of compliance with
\m ernational Accounting Standard 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and

(i) did not previously file financial statements that disclosed
compliance with IFRS,
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(c) the issuer is a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately before the
date of the final long form prospectus, and

(d) the final long form prospectus is filed before July 5, 2012.
38.2. Asset-backed securities

pool of financial assets of the issuer for a transition year must be included \N“the

(2) Despite subsection 10.3(5), all financial disclosure that describes the unﬁﬁwg
prospectus for the most recent interim period, if any, ended

A\
(@) subsequent to the most recent financial year (}d to in
paragraphs 10.3(3)(a) and 10.3(3)(b) in respect of which financial &§ggtosure on the
underlying pool of financial assets is included in the prospectus, a@

(b)  more than t\%

(1) 75 days before the date of the proseebé, or
(i) 90 days before the date of thpectus if the issuer is a venture

Na

(2)  Subsection (1) does not apply unles Q

issuer.

financial report required to be filed igrQe year of adopting IFRS in respect of an interim

(@) the financial disclosure 'n'NSpect of the interim period is the first interim
period beginning on or after Jan @2011,

(b)  the issuer %0

0] is qdidlosing, for the first time, a statement of compliance with
International Acco@swndard 34 Interim Financial Reporting, and

(%)(‘ did not previously file financial statements that disclosed
et

complianc FRS,
o)
d

& (c) the issuer is a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction immediately
befg(

ate of the final long form prospectus, and
\é (d) the final long form prospectus is filed before July 5, 2012.

M.O. 2008-05, Sch. 41-101F1; M.O. 2010-15, s. 1; M.O. 2010-17, s. 8§;
M.O. 2012-05, s. 1; M.O. 2013-03, s. 13; M.O. 2013-08, s. 16; M.O. 2013-13, s. 9.
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FORM 41-101F2 INFORMATION REQUIRED IN AN INVESTMENT FUND
PROSPECTUS

GENERAL INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The objective of the prospectus is to provide information concerning the
investment fund that an investor needs in order to make an informed investme
decision. This Form sets out specific disclosure requirements that are in addition %} e
general requirement under securities legislation to provide full, true and plain di

of all material facts relating to the securities to be distributed. This Forn}\d QES not
prohibit including information beyond what the Form requires. Further, ce rules of
specific application impose prospectus disclosure obligations in a o those
described in this Form.

(2) Terms used and not defined in this Form that are defi mterpreted in the
Regulation must bear that definition or interpretation. Othev({ Aitions are set out in
Regulation 14-101 respecting Definitions (chapter V-1.1, r.

(3) In determining the degree of detail required, %ndard of materiality must be
applied. Materiality is a matter of judgment in,@yarticular circumstance, and is
determined in relation to an item’s significance tQ inWestors, analysts and other users of
the information. An item of information, or an ag&égate of items, is considered material
if it is probable that its omission or m'ks%\ement would influence or change an
investment decision with respect to the inyestment fund’s securities. In determining

whether information is material, tak 'No account both quantitative and qualitative

factors. The potential significance ms must be considered individually rather than
on a net basis, if the items have etting effect.
4) Unless an item speciy requires disclosure only in the preliminary prospectus,

the disclosure require set out in this Form apply to both the preliminary
prospectus and the % ectus. Details concerning the price and other matters
dependent upon og to price, such as the number of securities being distributed,
may be left out o preliminary prospectus, along with specifics concerning the plan of
distribution, to Qextent that these matters have not been decided.

(5) Th losure must be understandable to readers and presented in an easy-to-
read f ? The presentation of information should comply with the plain language
prin @ listed in section 4.1 of Policy Statement to Regulation 41-101 respecting
G¢€ Prospectus Requirements (Decision 2008-PDG-0055, 2008-02-28). If technical
\ S are required, clear and concise explanations should be included.

(6) No reference need be made to inapplicable items and, unless otherwise required
in this Form, negative answers to items may be omitted.

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 178



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(7)  The disclosure required in this Form must be presented in the order and using
the headings specified in the Form. If no sub-heading for an Item is stipulated in this
Form, an investment fund may include sub-headings under the required headings.

(8) Where the term “investment fund” is used, it may be necessary, in order to meet
the requirement for full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts, to also include
disclosure with respect to the investment fund’s subsidiaries and investees. If it is mo

likely than not that a person will become a subsidiary or investee, it may be necﬁty
to also include disclosure with respect to the person. For this purpose, subsidiaﬁaﬁ nd

investees include entities that are consolidated, proportionately consok aed, or
accounted for using the equity method. (L

(9) If disclosure is required as of a specific date and there h %\ a material
change or change that is otherwise significant in the required infor n subsequent to
that date, present the information as of the date of the change ate subsequent to
the change instead. :\

(10) If the term “class” is used in any item to describé&rities, the term includes a

series. O

(11) Where performance data is presented &ﬁhe prospectus, annual compound
returns must be presented for standard appliax performance periods of 1, 3, 5 and
10 year periods and the period since i@ion unless otherwise specified by the
requirements of this Form. Performance dataAor periods of less than 1 year must not be
presented. Hypothetical or back-teste [?B(fmrmance data must not be presented.

(12) An investment fund that
the same portfolio may treat &
purposes of this Form, or
series in one prospectu%
C

Q'ﬁore than one class or series that are referable to

Class or series as a separate investment fund for the
ombine disclosure of one or more of the classes or
isclosure pertaining to more than one class or series is
combined in one prospe , Separate disclosure in response to each item in this Form
must be provided &h class or series unless the responses would be identical for
each class or seyj

(13) Ase '(X part, class or series of a class of securities of an investment fund that
i a separate portfolio is considered to be a separate investment fund for
of this Form. An investment fund that has more than one class or series of
sec @ referable to separate portfolios may combine disclosure of one or more of the
claSgeS or series in one prospectus if each class or series is managed by the same
§o

ager. If disclosure pertaining to more than one class or series is combined in one

spectus, separate disclosure in response to each item in this Form must be provided

for each class or series unless the responses would be identical for each class or
series.
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PROSPECTUS FORM
Item 1 Cover Page Disclosure
1.1. Preliminary Prospectus Disclosure

Every preliminary prospectus must have printed in red ink and in italics at the_t
of the cover page immediately above the disclosure required in section 1. 'The
following, with the bracketed information completed: (L

“A copy of this preliminary prospectus has been filed with t %e?;urities
regulatory authority(ies) in [each of/certain of the provinces/provinces rritories of
Canada] but has not yet become final for the purpose of the of securities.
Information contained in this preliminary prospectus may not be co and may have
to be amended. The securities may not be sold until a recej the prospectus is
obtained from the securities regulatory authority(ies).” Q&

INSTRUCTION
&

Investment funds must complete the bracke}@formation by

(@) inserting the names of each 'u'\&ﬁction in which the investment fund
intends to offer securities under the prospe @

(b)  stating that the filing ha béens made in each of the provinces of Canada or
each of the provinces and territorieQ Canada; or

(c) identifying the {il urisdictions by exception (i.e., every province of
Canada or every province ritory of Canada, except [excluded jurisdictions].
1.2. Required Stat &

State in i@@ at the top of the cover page the following:

“No &rities regulatory authority has expressed an opinion about these
securitieseﬁé‘l is an offence to claim otherwise.”

1.3. sic Disclosure about the Distribution

§ State the following immediately below the disclosure required under sections 1.1
d 1.2 with the bracketed information completed:
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“[PRELIMINARY OR PRO FORMA] PROSPECTUS

[INITIAL PUBLIC OFFERING OR NEW ISSUE AND/OR
SECONDARY OFFERING OR CONTINUOUS OFFERING]

[Date]
[Name of investment fund] Q’\b‘

[number and type of securities qualified for distribution under the prospectus,;knq! ding
any options or warrants, and the price per security] (L

nsored or
or exchange-
, State the type of

[type of fund — state the following: “This investment fund is a [labg
venture capital fund, commodity pool, non-redeemable investmen
traded mutual fund, or, if the issuer is another type of investme

fund).” A

If securities of the investment fund are intende& e listed or quoted on an
exchange or marketplace and conditional listing app, has been received, state the
following: “[Name of exchange or marketplac @15 conditionally approved the
[listing/quotation] of the [type of securities qualified Mr distribution under the prospectus
and to be listed/quoted], subject to the [nan‘x investment fund] fulfilling all of the
requirements of the [name of exchange or etplace] on or before [date] ."]”

cross-reference to sections in the pectus where information about the investment

(2) Briefly describe the investmen Jb;ectives of the investment fund and provide a
objectives is provided. £§

(3)  State the name of t ager and portfolio adviser of the investment fund and
provide a cross-referencg\padsections in the prospectus where information about the
manager and portfoli@ r is provided.

1.4. Distributi

(1) Sub t<|$ns (2) — (8) do not apply to an investment fund in continuous
distributio@%
(2) aﬁe securities are being distributed for cash, provide the information called for
bel%/, In substantially the following tabular form or in a note to the table:

\ Underwriting
discounts or Proceeds to issuer or
Price to public commission selling securityholders
(a) (b) (€)

Per Security

Total
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3) Describe the terms of any over-allotment option or any option to increase the size
of the distribution before closing.

(3.1) If there may be an over-allocation position provide the following disclosure:

“A purchaser who acquires [insert type of securities qualified for distrib ti@‘
under the prospectus] forming part of the underwriters’ over-allocation position ac S
those securities under this prospectus, regardless of whether the over-al
position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the over-allotment ,Qp‘t‘i n or
secondary market purchases.” (L

4) If the distribution of the securities is to be on a best efforts bag] d a minimum
offering amount

(@) is required for the issuer to achieve one or m the purposes of the
offering, provide totals for both the minimum and maximur&?er ng amount, or

(b) is not required for the issuer to achieve %‘ the purposes of the offering,
state the following in boldface type: &

“There is no minimum amount b{b&nds that must be raised under this
offering. This means that the issuer coul %nplete this offering after raising only a
small proportion of the offering amount set oyt above.”.
M)
(5) If debt securities are bein tributed at a premium or a discount, state in
boldface type the effective yield i% to maturity.

(6) Disclose separately@ securities that are underwritten, those under option
and those to be sold best efforts basis, and, in the case of a best efforts
distribution, the Iates$ at the distribution is to remain open.

(7 In column the table, disclose only commissions paid or payable in cash by
the investmen or selling securityholder and discounts granted. Set out in a note to

the table %

commissions or other consideration paid or payable by persons other than
theé( ment fund or selling securityholder,

§ (b) consideration other than discounts granted and cash paid or payable by
\h investment fund or selling securityholder, including warrants and options, and

(c) any finder’s fees or similar required payment.

(8) If a security is being distributed for the account of a selling securityholder, state
the name of the securityholder and a cross-reference to the applicable section in the
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prospectus where further information about the selling securityholder is provided. State
the portion of the expenses of the distribution to be borne by the selling securityholder
and, if none of the expenses of the distribution are being borne by the selling
securityholder, include a statement to that effect and discuss the reason why this is the
case.

(9) If a minimum subscription amount is required from each subscriber, proyi\(s‘
details of the minimum subscription requirements.

S
INSTRUCTIONS )\\

(}are being

table may be
forth in tabular

(2) Estimate amounts, if necessary. For non-fixed price distributio
made on a best efforts basis, disclosure of the information called for
set forth as a percentage or a range of percentages and need not

form. &%

(2) If debt securities are being distributed, also expre@e information in the table
as a percentage. %

1.5. Offering Price in Currency Other than Ca@n Dollar

If the offering price of the securities bein\&ﬂistributed is disclosed in a currency
other than the Canadian dollar, disclose in ace type the currency.

1.6. Non-fixed Price Distributions, '\‘\

K\

If the securities are being %@‘i‘buted at non-fixed prices, disclose
(@ the discount a. or commission payable to the underwriter,

cgpsensation payable to the underwriter and, if applicable, that
sation will be increased or decreased by the amount by which

Id for the securities by the purchasers exceeds or is less than the

by the underwriter to the investment fund or selling securityholder,

(b)  any othe
the underwriter’s ¢
the aggregate prj
gross procee

(c) %at the securities to be distributed under the prospectus will be
distribuQJggs applicable, at

0] prices determined by reference to the prevailing price of a specified

@u%ity in a specified market,
(i) market prices prevailing at the time of sale,

(i)  prices to be negotiated with purchasers, or

(iv)  the net asset value of a security,
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(d) that prices may vary from purchaser to purchaser and during the period of
distribution,

(e) if the price of the securities is to be determined by reference to the
prevailing price of a specified security in a specified market, the price of the specified
security in the specified market at the latest practicable date,

() if the price of the securities will be the market price prevailing at lfr&me
of the sale, the market price at the latest practicable date, and )\ N

(@) the net proceeds or, if the distribution is to be made (kst efforts
basis, the minimum amount of net proceeds, if any, to be receive e investment

fund or selling securityholder. @

1.7. Pricing Disclosure :\

If the offering price or the number of securities l%% istributed, or an estimate
of the range of the offering price or the number of segurmu@s being distributed, has been

publicly disclosed in a jurisdiction or a foreignej\igdiction as of the date of the
preliminary prospectus, include this information i&h preliminary prospectus.

1.8. Reduced Price Distributions q/Q'\

If an underwriter wishes to be HT&to decrease the price at which securities are
distributed for cash from the initi fering price fixed in the prospectus, include in
boldface type a cross-referenc he section in the prospectus where disclosure
concerning the possible price @%se is provided.

1.9. Market for Secur%@

(2) Identify the ge(s) and quotation system(s), if any, on which securities of
the investment f?@ the same class as the securities being distributed are traded or

guoted and th et price of those securities as of the latest practicable date.

(2) Dif%é any intention to stabilize the market. Provide a cross-reference to the
secti e prospectus where further information about market stabilization is
pro i.

% If no market for the securities being distributed under the prospectus exists or is
\e pected to exist upon completion of the distribution, state the following in boldface

type:
“There is no market through which these securities may be sold and purchasers

may not be able to resell securities purchased under this prospectus. This may affect
the pricing of the securities in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of
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trading prices, the liquidity of the securities, and the extent of issuer regulation. See
‘Risk Factors’.”

(4) Subsection (3) does not apply to an investment fund in continuous distribution.
1.10. Risk Factors

the risks of an investment in the securities being distributed is provided. St y
significant risks including leverage. N

1.11. Underwriter(s) &

(1)  State the name of each underwriter. <b

Include a cross-reference to sections in the prospectus where informatiog&ut
n

(2) If applicable, comply with the requirements of Re 33 105 respecting
Underwriting Conflicts (chapter V-1.1, r. 11) for front page pectus disclosure.

(3)  Other than a labour sponsored or venture cap %}ld or commodity pool, if there
is no underwriter involved in the distribution, prow @tatement in boldface type to the
effect that no underwriter has been involved i preparatlon of the prospectus or
performed any review or independent due dili&aQ of the contents of the prospectus.

1.12. Commodity Pool '\q/
M)
(2) For a commodity pool, state i bstantially the following words:

“You should carefully ?ﬁer whether your financial condition permits you to
participate in this invest ~The securities of this commodity pool are highly
speculative and involve % h degree of risk. You may lose a substantial portion or

even all of the mone;& ace in the commaodity pool.
sk o @ .

The risk in trading [nature of instruments to be traded by the commodity
pool] can be %@ntial. In considering whether to participate in the [commodity pool],
you should are that trading [nature of instruments] can quickly lead to large losses
as well Ms. Such trading losses can sharply reduce the net asset value of the
ool] and consequently the value of your interest in the [commodity pool].
ket conditions may make it difficult or impossible for the [commodity pool] to
ate a position.

\ The [commodity pool] is subject to certain conflicts of interest. The [commodity
pool] will be subject to the charges payable by it as described in this prospectus that
must be offset by revenues and trading gains before an investor is entitled to a return on
his or her investment. It may be necessary for the [commodity pool] to make substantial
trading profits to avoid depletion or exhaustion of its assets before an investor is entitled
to a return on his or her investment.”
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(2) For the initial prospectus, state in substantially the following words:

“The [commaodity pool] is newly organized. The success of the [commodity pool]
will depend upon a number of conditions that are beyond the control of the [commodity
pool]. There is substantial risk that the goals of the [commodity pool] will not be met.”

had a similar involvement with any other publicly offered commodity pool, in
substantially the following words:

N
“The [promoter], [manager] [and/or] [portfolio adviser] of th@%dity pool]

3) If the promoter, manager, or a portfolio adviser of the commodity pool Qghot

has not previously operated any other publicly offered commodity pg traded other
accounts].”

4) If the commodity pool will execute trades outside Can@state in substantially
the following words:

“Participation in transactions in [nature of i g@ment to be traded by the
commodity pool] involves the execution and cleari& trades on or subject to the rules
of a foreign market. b‘

None of the Canadian securities ree&tory authorities or Canadian exchanges
regulates activities of any foreign markets, ingtuding the execution, delivery and clearing
of transactions, or has the power to ¢ rﬁne'l enforcement of the rule of a foreign market
or any applicable foreign law. Ge lly, any foreign transaction will be governed by
applicable foreign laws. This is ven if the foreign market is formally linked to a
Canadian market so that a&ﬂlon taken on a market may be liquidated by a
transaction on another mar oreover, such laws or regulations will vary depending
on the foreign country in yRped the transaction occurs.

For these r , entities such as the commodity pool that trade [nature of
instrument to b ed by the commodity pool] may not be afforded certain of the
protective me, E‘Q provided by Canadian legislation and the rules of Canadian
exchanges.An Particular, funds received from customers for transactions may not be
provids%g% me protection as funds received in respect of transactions on Canadian

excha =

rities legislation designed to protect investors who purchase securities of mutual

(§)<(Qtate that the commodity pool is a mutual fund but that certain provisions of
\\1 ds do not apply.

(6) Immediately after the statements required by subsections (1) — (5), state in
substantially the following words:
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“These brief statements do not disclose all the risks and other significant aspects
of investing in the [commodity pool]. You should therefore carefully study this
prospectus, including a description of the principal risk factors at page [page number],
before you decide to invest in the [commodity pool].”

1.13. Restricted Securities

distributed using the appropriate restricted security terms in the same type f d
type size as the rest of the description. N

If the investment fund, investment fund manager or any §é/person that is

Describe the number and class or classes of restricted securitie;@g
n

1.14. Enforcement of Judgements Against Foreign Persons

signing or providing a certificate under Part 5 of the Regulg r other securities
legislation, or any person for whom the issuer is required to fi nsent under Part 10
of the Regulation, is incorporated, continued, or otherwise nized under the laws of a
foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of Canada, state lowing on the cover page
or under a separate heading elsewhere in the %pectus, with the bracketed
information completed: &d

“The [investment fund, investment fu&@‘manager or any other person] is
incorporated, continued or otherwise orgap under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction
or resides outside of Canada. \

M)

[the person named below] &appointed the following agent(s) for service of

process.
N E

Name of Person AV Name and Address of Agent

)\
Purchasers @dvised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce
judgments obtai Canada against any person that is incorporated, continued or
otherwise org ed under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or resides outside of
Canada, ev%i he party has appointed an agent for service of process.

1.15. ng)ments Incorporated by Reference

<(Qor an investment fund in continuous distribution, state in substantially the
@)Wing words:

“Additional information about the Fund is available in the following documents:
- the most recently filed annual financial statements;

- any interim financial report filed after those annual financial statements;

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 187



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

- the most recently filed annual management report of fund performance;
- any interim management report of fund performance filed after that annual

management report of fund performance.

means that they legally form part of this prospectus. Please see the “Docu

These documents are incorporated by reference into this prospectus %{?‘
S
Incorporated by Reference” section for further details.” (L

Item 2 Table of Contents q',\\

2.1 Table of Contents &
Include a table of contents. %&

Item 3 Summary of Prospectus %

3.1. Prospectus Summary %

Under the heading “Prospectus Summg:y‘\include the information listed in

sections 3.2 to 3.6. )\
$
N

At the beginning of the sum include a statement in italics in substantially the
following form: ?\

3.2. Cautionary Language

“The following is a ary of the principal features of this distribution and
should be read togethe the more detailed information and financial data and
statements contained gl here in this prospectus [[if applicable] or incorporated by
reference in the pr@us].”

3.3. GeneraQQ‘

mmarize information appearing elsewhere in the prospectus that, in the
opinio e investment fund or selling securityholder, would be most likely to

\ (@) how the investment fund has been organized (corporation, trust, etc.),

(b)  the securities to be distributed, including the offering price and expected
net proceeds,

(c) the investment objectives,
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(d) the investment strategies,
(e)  the use of leverage, including the following:

(1) if leverage is created through borrowing or the issuance of
preferred securities, disclose any restrictions on the leverage used or to be used a
whether the investment fund will borrow a minimum amount. Disclose the max
amount of leverage the investment fund may use as a ratio calculated by dividi he

maximum total assets of the investment fund by the net asset value of the wq‘ ment

fund, and (L
%ivatives or by

on the leverage

(i) if leverage is created through the use of specifi
other means not disclosed in subparagraph (i), disclose any restric
used or to be used by the investment fund and whether the in nt fund will use a
minimum amount of leverage. Disclose the maximum amoum(% verage the fund may
use as a multiple of net assets. Provide a brief explanati ow the investment fund
defines the term “leverage” and the significance of the m and minimum amounts
of leverage to the investment fund, Tao

O
() the use of proceeds, b:&
(g)  risk factors, q/Q\

(h) income tax considerations,'\ )

different purchase options requ he investor to pay different fees and expenses and
different purchase options affects the amount of

0] all available purch prtions and state, if applicable, that the choice of
gf

if applicable, that the chq
compensation paid to a

()] the reé@)tion features,
(K) tQQrstribution policy,
()] C)Qhe termination provisions,

& if restricted securities, subject securities or securities directly or indirectly
coinerlible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted securities or subject
\ rities are to be distributed under the prospectus,

(1) include a summary of the information required by section 21.6, and
(i) include, in boldface type, a statement of the rights the holders of

restricted securities do not have if the holders do not have all of the rights referred to in
section 21.6, and
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(n)  whether the investment fund is eligible as an investment for registered
retirement savings plans, registered retirement income plans, registered education
savings plans or deferred profit sharing plans.

(2) For each item summarized under subsection (1), provide a cross-reference to the
information in the prospectus. '\b‘

INSTRUCTIONS (19

(1) For the purposes of Item 3.3(1)(e)(i), a fund must calculate its m i'\fm total
assets by aggregating the maximum value of its long positions, short @o s and the
maximum amount that may be borrowed. <b&/

(2) For the purposes of the disclosure required by Ite Q‘l)(e)(ii), the term
“specified derivative” has the same meaning as in Regulatiorve} 2 respecting Mutual
Funds (chapter V-1.1, r. 39). The description of an inve nt fund’s use of leverage
under Item 3.3(1)(e)(ii)) must provide investors with suf%}I information to understand
the magnitude of the market exposure of the invest t fund as compared to the
amount of money raised by the investment fund fr(@estors.

3.4. Organization and Management of the)tqb%:stment Fund

(2) Provide, under the sub-heading “Or&nization and Management of the [name of
investment fund]”, information about hé\manager, trustee, portfolio adviser, promoter,
custodian, registrar and transfe *éqent, auditor and principal distributor of the
investment fund in the form of a %\ m or table.

(2) For each entity list the diagram or table, briefly describe the services
provided by that entity ar\ relationship of that entity to the manager.

3) For each enff ted in the diagram or table, other than the manager of the
investment fund, e the municipality and the province or country where it principally
provides its s to the investment fund. Provide the complete municipal address for
the manag e investment fund.

|NSTRQSR>NS:

(§)<( he information required to be disclosed in this section must be presented

Inently, using enough space so that it is easy to read.

(2) Briefly describe the services provided by the listed entities. For instance, the
manager may be described as “manages the overall business and operations of the
fund”, and a portfolio adviser may be described as “provides investment advice to the
manager about the investment portfolio of the fund” or “manages the investment
portfolio of the fund”.
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3.5.  Underwriter(s)

(2) Under the sub-heading “Underwriters” or “Agents”, as applicable, state the name
of each underwriter or agent.

(2) If an underwriter has agreed to purchase all of the securities being distributed
a specified price and the underwriter’s obligations are subject to conditions, sta%'?he
following, with the bracketed information completed: (L

“We, as principals, conditionally offer these securities, subject to pri %I‘é, if, as

and when issued by [name of investment fund] and accepted by us in rdance with
the conditions contained in the underwriting agreement referred der "Plan of

Distribution™.”

3) If an underwriter has agreed to purchase a specified n&%ér or principal amount
of the securities at a specified price, state that the securitj§g?are to be taken up by the
underwriter, if at all, on or before a date not later th ays after the date of the
receipt for the final prospectus. a%

4) Provide the following tabular information: b‘&

N
Underwriter’s Maximum size ercise period/ Exercise price of
Position or number of q%cquisition date b

o average
securities '\‘\ o :
availablg\* acquisition price

Over-allotment option RN

Compensation option \X

\J

Any other option
granted by investment 5?\

fund or insider of
investment fund t @
underwriter o~

Total securiti?t er
option issyablevo

underwrig@r,

Other ensation
se issuable to
yunerwriter

Ny
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INSTRUCTION

If the underwriter has been granted compensation securities, state, in a footnote,
whether the prospectus qualifies the grant of all or part of the compensation securities
and provide a cross-reference to the applicable section in the prospectus where further
information about the compensation securities is provided.

3.6. Fees, Expenses and Returns Q’\b‘

Q) Set out information about the fees and expenses payable by the inves%n fund
and by investors in the investment fund under the sub-heading “Summary es and
Expenses”.

(2)  The information required by this section must be a summar e fees, charges
and expenses of the investment fund and investors prese N the form of the
following table, appropriately completed, and introduced& Mg substantially the
following words:

“This table lists the fees and expenses that y %have to pay if you invest in
the [insert the name of the investment fund]. You ;Qs%have to pay some of these fees
and expenses directly. The Fund may have to gay some of these fees and expenses,
which will therefore reduce the value of your ian ent in the Fund.”

Fees and Expenses Payable by tthund
M)

Type of Fee * Amount and Description
Fees and Expenses P@b Directly by You
Type of Fee S?\E Amount and Description

3) Describe ti@ lowing fees and expenses in the table referred to in

subsection (2): Q

FGGS@ Expenses Payable by the Fund

@
&

@S) Fees payable to the Underwriters for Selling the Securities
) Expenses of the Issue

(c) Management Fees [See Instruction (1)]

(d) Incentive or Performance Fees

(e) Portfolio Adviser Fees
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() Counterparty Fees (if any)

()  Operating Expenses [See Instructions (2) and (3)]

(h)  Other Fees and Expenses [specify type] [specify amount]

Fees and Expenses Payable Directly by You \b‘

0] Sales Charges [specify percentage, as a percentage of (19

() Service Fees [specify percentage, as a percentage of ﬂ;\\]

(k) Redemption Fees [specify percentage, as a percentage or
specify amount] <b

d specify the type of

( Registered Tax Plan Fees [include this disclosu»f%n
nd and is described in

fees if the registered tax plan is sponsored by the invest
the prospectus][specify amount] %

(m)  Other Fees and Expenses [specify ty}@pecify amount].

(4) Under the sub-heading “Annual Ret Yy Management Expense Ratio and
Trading Expense Ratio”, provide, in the fqll@ng table, returns for each of the past 5
years, the management expense ratio for gach of the past 5 years and the trading

expense ratio for each of the past5y. aﬁxas disclosed in the most recently filed annual
management report of fund perfor@e of the investment fund:

~

[specify
year]

[specify
year]

[specify
year]

[specify \\' specify

year] year]

Annual Returns

AN
MER AN
TER ,-\@\

v

“MER” @ﬁs management expense ratio based on management fees and
operating eNses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs)
expresse apvan annualized percentage of daily average net asset value.

lio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net

\ t value.

INSTRUCTIONS:

‘() R” means trading expense ratio and represents total commissions and other

(1) List the amount of the management fee, including any performance or incentive
fee, for each investment fund separately.
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(2) Under “Operating Expenses”, state whether the investment fund pays all of its
operating expenses and list the main components of those expenses. If the investment
fund pays only certain operating expenses and is not responsible for payment of all
such expenses, adjust the statement in the table to reflect the proper contractual
responsibility of the investment fund and indicate who is responsible for the payment of
these expenses.

3) Show all fees or expenses payable by the investment fund (e.g. brokerag ﬁhd
investors in the investment fund. The description of fees must also include sa nd
trailing commissions paid either by the investment fund or the investor. N

Item 4 Overview of the Structure of the Investment Fund Qg‘
4.1. Legal Structure <b
(2) Under the heading “Overview of the Legal Structure Fund”, state the full

corporate name of the investment fund or, if the investm qu d is an unincorporated
entity, the full name under which it exists and carries o% ness and the address(es)
of the investment fund’s head and registered office. O

(2)  State the statute under which the investm&r;: nd is incorporated or continued or
organized or, if the investment fund is an corporated entity, the laws of the
jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under whis{ythe investment fund is established and
exists. Describe the substance of any matgrial amendments to the articles or other
constating or establishing documentﬁ'ﬁ\e\investment fund.

(3)  State whether the invest Q'Pfund would be considered a mutual fund under
securities legislation. %‘

Item 5 Investmen @:tives
5.1. Investment@tives

(1) Set ou\@m the heading “Investment Objectives” the fundamental investment
objectives h& investment fund, including information that describes the fundamental
nature of pivestment fund, or the fundamental features of the investment fund, that
disting # from other investment funds.

ect all or some of the principal amount of an investment in the investment fund,

(§)<(q the investment fund purports to arrange a guarantee or insurance in order to
\n lude this fact as a fundamental investment objective of the investment fund and

(@) identify the person providing the guarantee or insurance,

(b) provide the material terms of the guarantee or insurance, including the
maturity date of the guarantee or insurance,
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(© if applicable, state that the guarantee or insurance does not apply to the
amount of any redemptions before the maturity date of the guarantee or before the
death of the securityholder and that redemptions before that date would be based on
the net asset value of the investment fund at the time, and

(d) modify any other disclosure required by this section appropriately. '\b‘
INSTRUCTIONS: (19
(1)  State the type or types of securities, such as money market instrurﬂi?tS? bonds
or equity securities, in which the investment fund will primarily inveég.m er normal

market conditions.

(2) If the investment fund primarily invests, or intends to ily invest, or if its
name implies that it will primarily invest :\

(@) in a particular type of issuer, such as for@gsuers, small capitalization
issuers or issuers located in emerging market countr%

(b) in a particular geographic location %:i%ustry segment, or

(c) in portfolio assets other than ?@g}ﬁes, the investment fund's fundamental
investment objectives must so indicate.
M)

3) If a particular investment str, y is an essential aspect of the investment fund,

as evidenced by the name of theg tment fund or the manner in which the investment
fund is marketed, disclose tQi ategy as an investment objective. This instruction
would be applicable, for e e, to an investment fund that described itself as an

"investment fund that inv% rimarily through the use of derivatives".

Item 6 Inves@( Strategies
6.1. Investr@?trategies

(2) De@e under the heading “Investment Strategies”

the principal investment strategies that the investment fund intends to use
in %l ving its investment objectives,

\ (b)  the use of leverage, including the following:
0] if leverage is created through borrowing or the issuance of
preferred securities, disclose any restrictions on the leverage used or to be used and

whether the investment fund will borrow a minimum amount. Disclose the maximum
amount of leverage the investment fund may use as a ratio calculated by dividing the
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maximum total assets of the investment fund by the net asset value of the investment
fund, and

(i) if leverage is created through the use of specified derivatives or by
other means not disclosed in subparagraph (i), disclose any restrictions on the leverage
used or to be used by the investment fund and whether the investment fund will use a
minimum amount of leverage. Disclose the maximum amount of leverage the fund m
use as a multiple of net assets. Provide a brief explanation of how the investmehggnd

n

defines the term “leverage” and the significance of the maximum and minimum zﬂ?l, ts
of leverage to the investment fund, and y\\

(© the process by which the investment fund's portfolio (l@r selects
securities for the fund's portfolio, including any investment app , philosophy,
practices or techniques used by the portfolio adviser or any parti tyle of portfolio
management that the portfolio adviser intends to follow. %

(2) Indicate what types of securities, other than those by the investment fund in
accordance with its fundamental investment objectives, rm part of the investment
fund's portfolio assets under normal market condition

3) If the investment fund intends to use derivgtivds

(@ for hedging purposes onIy,(t@'} that the investment fund may use
derivatives for hedging purposes only, or
M)
(b) for non-hedging pur s, or for hedging and non-hedging purposes,
briefly describe ?\

0] how d es are or will be used in conjunction with other
securities to achieve the S ment fund’s investment objectives,

(i) ypes of derivatives expected to be used and give a brief
description of th re of each type, and

%ﬁg the limits of the investment fund’s use of derivatives.
4) investment fund may depart temporarily from its fundamental investment
obj as a result of adverse market, economic, political or other considerations,
dissgse any temporary defensive tactics the investment fund’s portfolio adviser may
\ or intends to use in response to such conditions.

(5) If the investment fund intends to enter into securities lending, repurchase or
reverse repurchase transactions, briefly describe
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(@) how those transactions are or will be entered into in conjunction with other
strategies and investments of the investment fund to achieve the investment fund’s
investment objectives,

(b)  the types of those transactions to be entered into and give a brief
description of the nature of each type, and

(© the limits of the investment fund’s entering into those transactions. Q\
(6) If the investment fund intends to sell securities short '\:1/
€) state that the investment fund may sell securities short; %Q:L
(b)  briefly describe &
()  the short selling process, and :\%
(i) how short sales of securities a%éz

conjunction with other strategies and investments of jQe
investment fund’s investment objectives. &

will be entered into in
estment fund to achieve the

INSTRUCTIONS: )\b‘

(2) For the purposes of Item 6.1(1)(b)®/a fund must calculate its maximum total
assets by aggregating the maximum ame‘\of its long positions, short positions and the
maximum amount that may be bor@d.

(2) For the purposes of {
“specified derivative” has t
Funds. The description

isclosure required by Item 6.1(1)(b)(ii), the term
e meaning as in Regulation 81-102 respecting Mutual
investment fund’s use of leverage under Item 6.1(1)(b)(ii)
must provide investorg WA sufficient information to understand the magnitude of the
market exposure o@hvestment fund as compared to the amount of money raised by
the investment f m investors.

6.2. Over%ie% of the Investment Structure

(1) the sub-heading, “Overview of the Investment Structure”, describe,
incl a diagram for complex structures, the overall structure of the underlying
inv%t ent or investments made or to be made by the investment fund, including any
%c or indirect investment exposure. Include in the description and the diagram any
unterparties under a forward or swap agreement entered into with the investment
fund or its manager, the nature of the portfolio of securities being purchased by the
investment fund, any indirect investment exposure that is related to the return of the
investment fund and any collateral or guarantees given as part of the overall structure of
the underlying investment or investments made by the investment fund.
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(2) If the securities distributed under the prospectus are being issued in connection
with a restructuring transaction, describe by way of a diagram or otherwise the
intercorporate relationships both before and after the completion of the proposed
transaction.

Item 7 Overview of the Sector(s) that the Fund Invests in

7.1. Sector(s) that the Fund Invests in Q’\b‘
(2) Under the heading “Overview of the Sector|(s)] that the Fund Invests;\i£1€;,lﬁc the
investment fund invests or intends to invest in a specific sector(s), brieflyﬁbs ribe the

sector(s) that the investment fund has been or will be investing in.

(2) Include in the description known material trends, events o %ertainties in the
sector(s) that the investment fund invests or intends to invest @& might reasonably

be expected to affect the investment fund. &
7.2  Significant Holdings in Other Entities %Qg

For a labour sponsored or venture capit @d, include in substantially the
tabular form below, the following information ass;1 date within 30 days of the date of
the prospectus with respect to each entity, 5% ore of whose securities of any class
are beneficially owned directly or indirectly e fund.

Significant Holdings of the [nameif fhe‘iabour sponsored or venture capital fund]

Name and Address of | Natur " Entities’ | Percentage of Securities of each
Entity Pri@a Business | Class Owned by Fund

N
[tem 8 Investment Yestrictions

8.1. Investme @ trictions

(1) Unde g(e heading “Investment Restrictions”, describe any restrictions on
investmer@%opted by the investment fund, beyond what is required under securities
Iegisla@

(2><S the investment fund has received the approval of the securities regulatory
@h rities to vary any of the investment restrictions and practices contained in
curities legislation, provide details of the permitted variations.

3) Describe the nature of any securityholder or other approval that may be required

in order to change the fundamental investment objectives and any of the material
investment strategies to be used to achieve the investment objectives.
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Item 9 Management Discussion of Fund Performance
9.1. Management Discussion of Fund Performance

Unless the investment fund’'s most recently filed management report of fund
performance is incorporated by reference under Item 37 or attached to the prospectus
under Item 38, provide, under the heading “Management Discussion of Furﬁ‘
Performance”, management’'s discussion of fund performance in accordanc \
sections 2.3 to 6 of Part B of Form 81-106F1 of Regulation 81-106 re ing
Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure (chapter V-1.1, r. 42) for the period @Q/g ed by
the financial statements required under Item 38. Q~

10.1. Fees and Expenses &

Under the heading “Fees and Expenses”, set outga ion about all of the fees

Item 10 Fees and Expenses

and expenses payable by the investment fund and by in s in the investment fund.

INSTRUCTION: &O

Describe each fee paid by the investmen&ﬁnd and by the investor in this section

separately. The description of fees must include sales and trailing commissions
paid either by the investment fund or the invagtor.

M)
Item 11 Annual Returns and agement Expense Ratio

11.1. Annual Returns, Man%%nt Expense Ratio and Trading Expense Ratio

Under the headin nual Returns, Management Expense Ratio and Trading
Expense Ratio”, provide, O'*the following table, returns for each of the past 5 years, the
management expe tio for each of the past 5 years and the trading expense ratio
for each of the p years as disclosed in the most recently filed annual management
report of fund ance of the investment fund:

C}/ [specify [specify [specify [specify [specify
Q=

year] year] year] year] year]

“MER” means management expense ratio based on management fees and
operating expenses (excluding commissions and other portfolio transaction costs)
expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net asset value.
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“TER” means trading expense ratio and represents total commissions and other
portfolio transaction costs expressed as an annualized percentage of daily average net
asset value.

Item 12 Risk Factors
12.1. Risk Factors '\b‘
(1) Under the heading “Risk Factors”, describe the risk factors material he

investment fund that a reasonable investor would consider relevant to an invgglt' nt in
the securities being distributed, such as the risks associated with any partm aspect
of the fundamental investment objectives and investment strategies.

(2) Include a discussion of general market, political, market se ?ﬁuidity, interest
rate, foreign currency, diversification, leverage, credit, Iegal erational risks, as
appropriate.

3) Include a brief discussion of general mves@ risks applicable to the
investment fund, such as specific company develop ock market conditions and
general economic and financial conditions in thos K ntries where the investments of
the investment fund are listed for trading.

(4)  As applicable, describe the risks a@iékted with the investment fund entering

into
N

(@) derivative transactionifé{ non-hedging purposes,

(b) securities Iending\,‘s&mrchase or reverse repurchase transactions; and
(© short sales% urities.

(5) If there is a 1 t purchasers of the securities distributed may become liable to
make an additio tribution beyond the price of the security, disclose the risk.

INSTRUCTQI&:

(1) Q&be risks in the order of seriousness from the most serious to the least
seri

% A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or
nditions.
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Item 13 Distribution Policy
13.1. Distribution Policy
Under the heading “Distribution Policy”, describe the distribution policy, including

(@  whether distributions are made by the investment fund in casw
reinvested in securities of the investment fund, Q

(l',\\

(© whether the distributions are guaranteed or not, and &

(b) the targeted amount of any distributions,

(d)  when the distributions are made. &

ltem 14 Purchases of Securities :\
14.1. Purchases of Securities %Qg

(2) Under the heading “Purchases of Securitie;”g@scribe the procedure followed or
to be followed by investors who desire to purchﬁse ecurities of the investment fund or
switch them for securities of other investmen%uq

(2) If applicable, state that the issue pribe of securities is based on the net asset
value of a security of that class, or se ie§of~a class, next determined after the receipt by
the investment fund of the purchasQ':‘Qer.

3) Describe how the sec'N&S of the investment fund are distributed. If sales are
effected through a principakQ¥ibutor, give brief details of any arrangements with the

principal distributor. S}

4) Describe all @ble purchase options and state, if applicable, that the choice of

different purchas @ions requires the investor to pay different fees and expenses and

if applicable, he choice of different purchase options affects the amount of
i gid to a dealer.

compensat%

(5) éﬁhicable, disclose that a dealer may make provision in arrangements that it
has an investor that will require the investor to compensate the dealer for any
IQsS¢s suffered by the dealer in connection with a failed settlement of a purchase of
éurities of the investment fund caused by the investor.

(6) If applicable, for an investment fund that is being sold on a best efforts basis,
state whether the issue price will be fixed during the initial distribution period, and state
when the investment fund will begin issuing securities at the net asset value of a
security of the investment fund.
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Item 15 Redemption of Securities
15.1. Redemption of Securities

Under the heading “Redemption of Securities”, describe how investors may
redeem securities of the investment fund, including

redeem securities of the investment fund and specifying the procedures to be ed
and the documents to be delivered before a redemption order pertaining to s cu‘(i es of
the investment fund will be accepted by the investment fund for processingbn before
payment of the proceeds of redemption will be made by the investment f

(@) the procedures followed, or to be followed, by an investor who des'§§(o

state that the redemption price of the securities is based on asset value of a
security of that class, or series of a class, next determinee& r the receipt by the
investment fund of the redemption order, and

(b) how the redemption price of the securities is determi§%%{j, if applicable,

(c) the circumstances under which the 'r%stment fund may suspend
redemptions of the securities of the investment fun d

15.2. Short-term Trading y\b‘
For an investment fund in continuou‘s‘distribution, under the sub-heading "Short-
Term Trading", 2N

the investment fund by an inv ay have on other investors in the investment fund,

(@) describe the adver;eQﬁects, if any, that short-term trades in securities of

(b)  describe th@ictions, if any, that may be imposed by the investment

fund to deter short-ter, es, including the circumstances, if any, under which such
restrictions may no@y

(© v% the investment fund does not impose restrictions on short-term
trades, statgrih® specific basis for the view of the manager that it is appropriate for the
investme not to do so, and

@ describe any arrangements, whether formal or informal, with any person,
t ﬁ{r it short-term trades in securities of the investment fund, including the name of
%h person and the terms of such arrangements, including any restrictions imposed on
\h short-term trades and any compensation or other consideration received by the
manager, the investment fund or any other party pursuant to such arrangements.
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INSTRUCTION

For the disclosure required by section 15.2, include a brief description of the
short-term trading activities in the investment fund that are considered by the manager
to be inappropriate or excessive. If the manager imposes a short-term trading fee,
include a cross-reference to the disclosure provided under Item 10 of this Form.

Na

q,Q

16.1. Consolidated Capitalization )\\

Item 16 Consolidated Capitalization

(2) This section does not apply to an investment fund in continuous@.’ftkion.

(2) Under the heading “Consolidated Capitalization”, describe aterial change
in, and the effect of the material change on, the share and loan Pl of the investment
fund, on a consolidated basis, since the date of the i @ﬁent fund’s financial
statements for its most recently completed financial periggcltded in the prospectus,
including any material change that will result from the } ce of the securities being

distributed under the prospectus.

O
ltem 17 Prior Sales b‘&
17.1. Prior Sales q/Q\

(1)  Subsection (2) does not appl;&ﬁn mvestment fund in continuous distribution.

(2) Under the heading “Prior ", for each class of securities of the investment
fund distributed under the prqs s and for securities that are convertible into those
classes of securities, state, 12-month period before the date of the prospectus,

the investment fun lling securityholder,

(@ the pricgaﬁrzi\ch the securities have been issued or are to be issued by
(b) tQQU’mber of securities issued at that price, and
(C)&e date on which the securities were issued.

17€<.§?(ﬂng Price and Volume

% For each class of securities of the investment fund that is traded or quoted on a

\S nadian marketplace, identify the marketplace and the price ranges and volume
traded or quoted on the Canadian marketplace on which the greatest volume of trading
or quotation generally occurs.

(2) If a class of securities of the investment fund is not traded or quoted on a
Canadian marketplace but is traded or quoted on a foreign marketplace, identify the
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foreign marketplace and the price ranges and volume traded or quoted on the foreign
marketplace on which the greatest volume or quotation generally occurs.

3) Provide the information required under subsections (1) and (2) on a monthly
basis for each month or, if applicable, partial months of the 12-month period before the
date of the prospectus.

(k)-heading

ent fund for
eligible as an
ent income plans,

ltem 18 Income Tax Considerations
18.1. Status of the Investment Fund

Under the heading “Income Tax Considerations” and under
“Status of the Investment Fund”, briefly describe the status of the |
income tax purposes. Also disclose whether the investment fu
investment for registered retirement savings plans, registered r
registered education savings plans or deferred profit sharing

18.2. Taxation of the Investment Fund %Q/

Under the sub-heading “Taxation of the Inv@nt Fund”, state in general terms
the bases upon which the income and capital recsi‘p of the investment fund are taxed.

18.3. Taxation of Securityholders q/Q'\

Under the sub-heading “Taxati H\Qf\Securityholders”, state in general terms the
income tax consequences to the h s of the securities offered of

(@) any distribution Vh“e securityholders in the form of income, capital,
dividends or otherwise, in amounts reinvested in securities of the investment
fund,

(b) the reé@)tion of securities, and
(c) tQQ'Sue of securities.

18.4. Ta@ﬁ of Registered Plans

C% der the sub-heading “Taxation of Registered Plans”, explain the tax treatment
Qca le to securities of the investment fund held in a registered tax plan.

%5. Tax Implications of the Investment Fund’s Distribution Policy
Under the sub-heading “Tax Implications of the Investment Fund’s Distribution

Policy”, describe the impact of the investment fund’s distribution policy on a taxable
investor who acquires securities of the investment fund late in a calendar year.
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Item 19 Organization and Management Details of the Investment Fund
19.1. Management of the Investment Fund

(1) Under the heading “Organization and Management Details of the Investment
Fund” and under the sub-heading “Officers and Directors of the Investment Fund”,

(@) list the name and municipality of residence of each director and exe@«be‘
officer of the investment fund and indicate their respective positions and officé‘i{ eld
with the investment fund and their respective principal occupatioQ N uring
the 5 preceding years,

(b)  state the period or periods during which each direct served as a
director and when his or her term of office will expire, @

(c)  (paragraph revoked), :\

(d) disclose the board committees of the ir@uent fund and identify the
members of each committee,

(e) if the principal occupation of a é%bctor or executive officer of the
investment fund is acting as an executive offi »Sf a person other than the investment
fund, disclose that fact and state the princiQﬁ;@Jsiness of the person, and

() for an investment fund thaﬁe‘a limited partnership, provide the information
required by this subsection for the eral partner of the investment fund, modified as
appropriate.

(2) Under the sub-headi Qease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies”, if a director or
executive officer of the i ent fund is, as at the date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus, as applic rI‘GB r was within 10 years before the date of the prospectus or
pro forma prospec@ applicable, a director, chief executive officer or chief financial
officer of any oth Uer, that:

@) % subject to an order that was issued while the director or executive
officer w&ng in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial

was subject to an order that was issued after the director or executive
officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which
resulted from an event that occurred while that person was acting in the capacity as
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect.
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3) For the purposes of subsection (2), “order” means any of the following, if in effect
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days

€) a cease trade order,
(b) an order similar to a cease trade order, or

(c) an order that denied the relevant investment fund access t(Q'aﬂby‘
exemption under securities legislation. (L

4) If a director or executive officer of the investment fund ({,\\

or has been within the 10 years before the date of the pros or pro forma

prospectus, as applicable, a director or executive officer of a er that, while that

person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that p %ceasing to act in that

capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under y " legislation relating to
eé

(@) is, as at the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospeg%zz;s applicable,

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or institute roceedings, arrangement
or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, recel anager or trustee appointed
to hold its assets, state the fact, or &

(b) has, within the 10 years before &b‘date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus, as applicable, become bankr made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or becolte subject to or instituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with cr, JhQrs or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold the assetQ~ he director or executive officer, state the fact.

(5) Under the heading “G, 1IZation and Management Details of the Investment
Fund” and under the sub ng “Manager of the Investment Fund”, provide the
complete municipal ad of the manager and details of the manager of the
investment fund, inclu ir(b e history and background of the manager and any overall
investment strateg@proach used by the manager in connection with the investment
fund.

(6) Und tﬁg sub-heading “Duties and Services to be Provided by the Manager”,
provide a iption of the duties and services that the manager will be providing to the
invest nd.

cription of the essential details of any management agreement that the manager has
tered into or will be entering into with the investment fund, including any termination
rights.

(§)<(Qnder the sub-heading “Details of the Management Agreement”, provide a brief

(8) Under the sub-heading “Officers and Directors of the Manager of the Investment
Fund”,
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(@) list the name and municipality of residence of each partner, director and
executive officer of the manager of the investment fund and indicate their respective
positions and offices held with the manager and their respective principal occupations
within the 5 preceding years,

(b) if a partner, director or executive officer of the manager has held more
than one office with the manager within the past 5 years, state only the current O‘l{%

held, and Q

(© if the principal occupation of a partner, director or executive ofib\'eé f the
manager is with an organization other than the manager of the investmerft\f}l , State
the principal business in which the organization is engaged.

(9) Under the sub-heading “Cease Trade Orders and Bankrupt Q(the Manager”,
provide the information required under subsections (2) and (g) the directors and
executive officers of the manager of the investment fund, modf'(\ S appropriate.

(10) Under the heading “Ownership of Securities of %@» estment Fund and of the
Manager” disclose O

(@) the percentage of securities of egch slass or series of voting or equity
securities owned of record or beneficially, m\ ggregate, by all the directors and
executive officers of the investment fund q/

0] in the investm t'\(lmd if the aggregate level of ownership
exceeds 10%, 2

(i) in the ma@r‘, or

@) ina son that provides services to the investment fund or the

manager; and

(b) t@entage of securities of each class or series of voting or equity

securities ow record or beneficially, in aggregate, by all the directors and
executive o@e of the manager of the investment fund

ng)(i) in the investment fund if the aggregate level of ownership
exc @ 0%,

\$§ (i) in the manager, or

(i) in any person that provides services to the investment fund or the
manager; and
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(c) the percentage of securities of each class or series of voting or equity
securities owned of record or beneficially, in aggregate, by all the independent review
committee members of the investment fund

0] in the investment fund if the aggregate level of ownership exceeds
10%,

(i) in the manager, or Q’\b‘

(i) in any person that provides services to the investment fp\nq(}fr the

manager. (L

(11) If the management functions of the investment fund are carrie @%y employees

of the investment fund, disclose in respect of those emplo the disclosure
concerning executive compensation that is required to be provi executive officers
of an issuer under securities legislation. &

(12) Describe any arrangements under which compg@gn was paid or payable by
the investment fund during the most recently comple ancial year of the investment
fund, for the services of directors of the investme& d, members of an independent
board of governors or advisory board of the &/u tment fund and members of the
independent review committee of the investh% nd, including the amounts paid, the
name of the individual and any expense ursed by the investment fund to the
individual '\
M)

(@) in that capacity, inclygmg any additional amounts payable for committee
participation or special assignme%\ d

(b) asa consulta@pert.

(13) For an investmgnt 3Ind that is a trust, describe the arrangements, including the
amounts paid an nses reimbursed, under which compensation was paid or
payable by the i bﬂent fund during the most recently completed financial year of the
investment furQ he services of the trustee or trustees of the investment fund.

INSTRUC(&S

(1) disclosure required by subsections (2) and (4) also applies to any personal
ho% companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (2) and (4).

A management cease trade order which applies to directors and executive
officers of the investment fund is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph (2)(a) and
must be disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial
officer was named in the order.
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3) For the purposes of this section, a late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies
to the late filing of an insider report, is not a “penalty or sanction”.

(4) The disclosure in paragraph (2)(a) only applies if the director or executive officer
of the investment fund was a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer
when the order was issued against the relevant investment fund. The investment fund
does not have to provide disclosure if the director or executive officer becamg
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order was issued. Q\

(5) The disclosure required under Item 19.1(11) regarding executive co e(rl'ation
for management functions carried out by employees of an investment foF‘% ust be
made in accordance with the disclosure requirements of Form 51-102 egulation
51-102 respecting Continuous Disclosure Obligations (chapter V-1.1 |8 .

19.2. Portfolio Adviser &§
Q

(a) state the municipality and the provin %country where the portfolio
adviser principally provides its services to the in\&q@ent fund and give details of the
portfolio adviser of the investment fund, includ{png Ye history and background of the
portfolio adviser, )\

(1) Under the sub-heading “Portfolio Adviser”

(b) state the extent to which i‘r&estment decisions are made by certain
individuals employed by the portfolio dbiser and whether those decisions are subject to
the oversight, approval or ratificati@a committee, and

(© state the name, {i
employed by or associatede

Xahd length of time of service of the person or persons
the portfolio adviser of the investment fund who is or
are principally responsib. the day-to-day management of a material portion of the
portfolio of the investmgniytind, implementing a particular material strategy or managing
a particular segme e portfolio of the investment fund, and each person’s business
experience in th years.

t& sub-heading “Details of the Portfolio Advisory Agreement”, provide a
whn of the essential details of any portfolio advisory agreement that the
ser has entered into or will be entering into with the investment fund or the
of the investment fund, including any termination rights.

(2) Und
brief desem

\@2.1. Brokerage Arrangements

Under the sub-heading “Brokerage Arrangements”,

(@) If any brokerage transactions involving the client brokerage commissions
of the investment fund have been or might be directed to a dealer in return for the
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provision of any good or service, by the dealer or a third party, other than order
execution, state

(1) the process for, and factors considered in, selecting a dealer to
effect securities transactions for the investment fund, including whether receiving goods
or services in addition to order execution is a factor, and whether and how the process
may differ for a dealer that is an affiliated entity; '\b‘

(i) the nature of the arrangements under which order execution’@)ds
and services or research goods and services might be provided; N

(i)  each type of good or service, other than order exe , that might
be provided; and Q/

(iv)  the method by which the portfolio advis %kes a good faith
determination that the investment fund, on whose behalf the %o adviser directs any
brokerage transactions involving client brokerage commis s o a dealer in return for
the provision of any order execution goods and se or research goods and
services, by the dealer or a third party, receives reas benefit considering both the
use of the goods or services and the amount of cligﬂ kerage commissions paid;

(b) If any brokerage transactions in\)o\bhg the client brokerage commissions
of the investment fund have been or mi Qe directed to a dealer in return for the
provision of any good or service, by the \#ealer or a third party, other than order
execution, since the date of the i v&(rnent fund’s last prospectus or last annual
information form, whichever one is Q%most recent, state

(1) each typ od or service, other than order execution, that has
been provided to the mana he portfolio adviser of the investment fund; and
(i) th & of any affiliated entity that provided any good or service

referred to in subp h (i), separately identifying each affiliated entity and each type
of good or servic ided by each affiliated entity; and

(©)

of the in

gny brokerage transactions involving the client brokerage commissions
nt fund have been or might be directed to a dealer in return for the
provisi any good or service, by the dealer or a third party, other than order
exe , State that the name of any other dealer or third party that provided a good or
seive referred to in paragraph (b)(i), that was not disclosed under paragraph (b)(ii), will
%orovided upon request by contacting the investment fund or investment fund family
[insert telephone number] or at [insert investment fund or investment fund family e-
mail address].
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INSTRUCTIONS:

Terms defined in Regulation 23-102 respecting Use of Client Brokerage
Commissions (chapter V-1.1, r. 7) have the same meaning where used in this Item.

19.3. Conflicts of Interest

Under the sub-heading “Conflicts of Interest”, disclose particulars of exist@or
potential material conflicts of interest between (L

(1) the investment fund and a director or executive officer of thé{p\e\stment
fund,

(2) the investment fund and the manager or any direc@&ecutive officer

of the manager of the investment fund, and

(3) the investment fund and the portfolio advise Q%y director or executive
officer of the portfolio adviser of the investment fund. %

19.4. Independent Review Committee ,@

Under the sub-heading “Independent R@éw Committee”, provide a description
of the independent review committee of theARystment fund, including

(@ the mandate and respclsibﬂitfes of the independent review committee,

(b)  the composition Q’e independent review committee (including the
names of its members), and { asons for any change in its composition since the
date of the most recently fi nual information form or prospectus of the investment

fund, as applicable,
Ne

(c) that t@ependent review committee prepares a report at least annually
of its activitie securityholders which is available on the [investment
fund’s/investrr??und family’s] Web site at [insert investment fund’s Web site address],
or at the gselurityholder's request at no cost, by contacting the [investment
fund/inve t fund family] at [investment fund’'s/investment fund family’'s email
addre

<(Qj) the amount of fees and expenses payable in connection with the

%ependent review committee by the investment fund, including any amounts payable

\b committee participation or special assignments, and state whether the investment
fund pays all of the fees payable to the independent review committee.
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19.5. Trustee

Under the sub-heading “Trustee”, provide details of the trustee of the investment
fund, including the municipality and the province or country where the trustee principally
provides its services to the investment fund.

19.6. Custodian
Na

(1) Under the sub-heading “Custodian”, state the name, municipality of the m"&pal
or head office, and nature of business of the custodian and any principal su%u§ odian
of the investment fund.

(2) Describe generally the sub-custodial arrangements of the inve t fund.

INSTRUCTION: @
&

A “principal sub-custodian” is a sub-custodian to m'" custodial authority has
been delegated in respect of a material portion or seg the portfolio assets of the
investment fund.

19.7. Auditor b‘&o

Under the sub-heading “Auditor”, sp@'\he name and address of the auditor of
the investment fund. '\
M)

19.8. Transfer Agent and Regist

Under the sub-headi %ansfer Agent and Registrar’, for each class of
securities, state the nam he investment fund’s transfer agent(s), registrar(s),
trustee, or other agent inted by the investment fund to maintain the securities
register and the regi r% transfers for such securities and indicate the location (by
municipalities) of e the offices of the investment fund or transfer agent, registrar,
trustee or other where the securities, register and register of transfers are
maintained or rs of securities are recorded.

19.9. Pr@%ﬁ:rs

(2) &a person that is, or has been within the 2 years immediately preceding the
dafsgoT the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, a promoter of the investment fund or of

\ bsidiary of the investment fund, state under the sub-heading “Promoter”
(@) the person’s name and municipality and the province or country of

residence,
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(b)  the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity
securities of the investment fund or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or indirectly, by the person,

(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property,
contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the promoter
directly or indirectly from the investment fund or from a subsidiary of the investme
fund, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other consideration re d
or to be received by the investment fund or a subsidiary of the investment fund i n,

and 2N

(d) for an asset acquired within the 2 years before the da@&weliminaw

prospectus or pro forma prospectus, or to be acquired, by the inve fund or by a
subsidiary of the investment fund from a promaoter,

(1) the consideration paid or to be paid for th&gatet and the method by
which the consideration has been or will be determined,

(i) the person making the determin %eferred to in subparagraph (i)
and the person’s relationship with the investment L% the promoter, or an affiliate of
the investment fund or of the promoter, and b‘

(i) the date that the assek@acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset to the promoter. \
M)

(2) If a promoter referred to in ection (1) is, as at the date of the prospectus or
pro forma prospectus, as appll or was within 10 years before the date of the
prospectus or pro forma pros as applicable, a director, chief executive officer or
chief financial officer of any@n that

(@) was subjectYd an order that was issued while the promoter was acting in
the capacity as dwe@fghlef executive officer or chief financial officer, or

(b) vé?ﬂbject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased to be a
j e

director, ch cutive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an
event th rred while the promoter was acting in the capacity as director, chief
execut icer or chief financial officer, state the fact and describe the basis on which

was made and whether the order is still in effect.

% For the purposes of subsection (2), “order” means any of the following, if in effect
\b a period of more than 30 consecutive days:

(@) acease trade order,

(b)  an order similar to a cease trade order, or
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(c) an order that denied the relevant person access to any exemption under
securities legislation.

(4) If a promoter referred to in subsection (1)

(@) is, as at the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable,
or has been within the 10 years before the date of the prospectus or pro fo
prospectus, as applicable, a director or executive officer of any person that, whi FYhe
promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing tﬁ% in
that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation eat g to
bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedlngs gement
or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or appomted
to hold its assets, state the fact, or Q/

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date of the @ctus or pro forma
prospectus, as applicable, become bankrupt, made a propz% nder any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to stituted any proceedings,
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had iver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter,@ he fact.

(5) Describe the penalties or sanctions impossz d the grounds on which they were
imposed or the terms of the settlement agreeme\ and the circumstances that gave rise
to the settlement agreement, if a promoter ﬁi@yed to in subsection (1) has been subject

to
N
(@) any penalties or sangfeqQs imposed by a court relating to provincial and
territorial securities legislation a provincial and territorial securities regulatory
authority or has entered i ettlement agreement with a provincial and territorial
securities regulatory author@

(b)  any oth alties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body
that would be likel ée considered important to a reasonable investor in making an
investment deC|s

(6) Desp %ubsectlon (5), no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement
entered j efore December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be
consid be important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision.

|N§(%CT|ONS

The disclosure required by subsections (2), (4) and (5) also applies to any
personal holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (2), (4),
and (5).

(2) A management cease trade order which applies to a promoter referred to in
subsection (1) is an “order” for the purposes of paragraph (2)(a) and must be disclosed,
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whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer was named in
the order.

3) For the purposes of this section, a late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies
to the late filing of an insider report, is not a “penalty or sanction”.

(4)  The disclosure in paragraph (2)(a) only applies if the promoter was a direct

chief executive officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued agamgi?h
person. The investment fund does not have to provide disclosure if the p ter
became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the &q\ was

issued. (L
19.10. Principal Distributor Q/z

Q) If applicable, state the name and address of the pri distributor of the
investment fund. :\

(2) Describe the circumstances under which anyréggement with the principal
distributor of the investment fund may be terminate include a brief description of
the essential terms of this agreement. &
Item 20 Calculation of Net Asset Value )\b‘
20.1. Calculation of Net Asset Value

Under the heading “Calculat @f Net Asset Value”,

(@) describe how th sset value of the investment fund is calculated, and

(b) state the fr Q@ cy at which the net asset value is calculated and the date
and time of day at Wh Iculated.

20.2. Valuation s and Procedures

Und% sub-heading “Valuation Policies and Procedures of the Investment

Fund”, C)

Qt describe the methods used to value the various types or classes of assets
of @ vestment fund and its liabilities for the purpose of calculating net asset value;

\ (a.1) If the valuation principles and practices established by the manager differ
from Canadian GAAP, describe the differences; and

(b) if the manager has discretion to deviate from the investment fund's

valuation practices described in paragraph (a), disclose when and to what extent that
discretion may be exercised and, if it has been exercised in the past 3 years, provide an
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example of how it has been exercised or, if it has not been exercised in the
past 3 years, so state.

20.3. Reporting of Net Asset Value
Under the sub-heading “Reporting of Net Asset Value”, describe

(@) how the net asset value and net asset value per security of the inve t
fund will be made available at no cost (e.g. website, toll-free telephone line, etc.)!

(b) the frequency at which the net asset value and net asséfl)'}jllﬂue per

security is disclosed. Q~
Item 21 Description of the Securities Distributed @l
21.1. Equity Securities t\%

If equity securities of the investment fund ar @g distributed, under the
heading “Att_ribl_Jtes 03‘1 the Securities” _an_d under th@_ -he_ading “Description of the
Securities Distributed” state the description or t ignation of the class of equity
securities distributed and describe all material atiibUses and characteristics, including

(@) dividend or distribution rights,q/Q\

(b)  voting rights, *'\‘s

(c) rights upon dissolu@lermination or winding-up,

(d) pre emptive ri ,

(e) conversi&hz:(change rights,

() red on, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions,

(9) @&ing or purchase fund provisions,

Q‘ provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and
any material restrictions, and

\é 0] provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital.

21.2. Debt Securities

If debt securities are being distributed, under the heading “Attributes of the
Securities” and under the sub-heading “Description of the Securities Distributed”,
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describe all material attributes and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security,
if any, for the debt, including

€) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any,
(b)  conversion or exchange rights,

(© redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisi%%,\

(L

(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions, ,\\

(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt Q.;Lks, briefly
identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge, Q/

() provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of@?\al securities, the
incurring of additional indebtedness and other material nega&{i¢covenants, including
restrictions against payment of distributions and restrictig ainst giving security on
the assets of the investment fund or its subsidiaries, an isions as to the release or
substitution of assets securing the debt securities,

() the name of the trustee under anyx ’&nture relating to the debt securities
and the nature of any material relationship be& n the trustee or any of its affiliates
and the investment fund or any of its affilia nd

(h)  any financial arrangem nﬁ\between the investment fund and any of its
affiliates or among its affiliates thatééqd affect the security for the indebtedness.

21.3. Derivatives 0?“

If derivatives ar @g distributed, under the heading *“Attributes of the
Securities” and undeg tiy* sub-heading “Description of the Securities Distributed”,
describe fully the &I attributes and characteristics of the derivatives, including

@ t culation of the value or payment obligations under the derivatives,

(b)c‘%ﬁe exercise of the derivatives,

<<® settlements that are the result of the exercise of the derivatives,
\é (d) the underlying interest of the derivatives,
(e) the role of a calculation expert in connection with the derivatives,

() the role of any credit supporter of the derivatives, and

(9) the risk factors associated with the derivatives.
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21.4. Other Securities

If securities other than the securities mentioned above are being distributed,
under the heading “Attributes of the Securities” and under the sub-heading “Description
of the Securities Distributed”, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of
those securities. '\b‘

21.5. Special Warrants (19

If the prospectus is used to qualify the distribution of securities iSSL@!\IBOH the
exercise of special warrants or other securities acquired on a prospect mpt basis,
disclose that holders of such securities have been provided with a ctual right of
rescission and provide the following disclosure in the prospecﬂQ the bracketed

information completed: %

“The issuer has granted to each holder of a special er nt a contractual right of
rescission of the prospectus-exempt transaction undergf@; the special warrant was
initially acquired. The contractual right of rescission g s that if a holder of a special
warrant who acquires another security of the issu@ exercise of the special warrant
as provided for in the prospectus is, or becomesyendtled under the securities legislation
of a jurisdiction to the remedy of resciss'& ecause of the prospectus or an

amendment to the prospectus containing a epresentation,

(@ the holder is entitled t Fbscission of both the holder's exercise of its
special warrant and the private pl ent transaction under which the special warrant
was initially acquired, ?\

(b)  the holder is egl} in connection with the rescission to a full refund of all
consideration paid to the rwriter or issuer, as the case may be, on the acquisition of
the special warrant, a 3

(c) if t @Ider is a permitted assignee of the interest of the original special
warrant subscgt¥;the holder is entitled to exercise the rights of rescission and refund
as if the holgeer Was the original subscriber.”

|NSTRQSR>N

<(q the prospectus is qualifying the distribution of securities issued upon the
ﬂ%rcise of securities other than special warrants, replace the term “special warrant”
\v h the type of the security being distributed.

21.6. Restricted Securities

(1) If the investment fund has outstanding, or proposes to distribute under a
prospectus, restricted securities, subject securities or securities that are, directly or
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indirectly, convertible into or exercisable or exchangeable for restricted securities or
subject securities, provide a detailed description of

(@) the voting rights attached to the restricted securities that are the subject of
the distribution or that will result from the distribution, either directly or following a
conversion, exchange or exercise, and the voting rights, if any, attached to the
securities of any other class of securities of the investment fund that are the same ags
greater than, on a per security basis, those attached to the restricted securities, Q\

(b) any significant provisions under applicable corporate and seq{ict' law
that do not apply to the holders of the restricted securities that are the sﬂ'%e t of the
distribution or that will result from the distribution, either directly llowing a
conversion, exchange or exercise, but do apply to the holders of ang lass of equity
securities, and the extent of any rights provided in the cons documents or
otherwise for the protection of holders of the restricted securitie%

(c) any rights under applicable corporate law, i %'&constating documents or
otherwise, of holders of restricted securities that are t@ ject of the distribution or
that will result from the distribution, either directly or falloWhg a conversion, exchange or
exercise, to attend, in person or by proxy, meetin olders of equity securities of the
investment fund and to speak at the meetings tcézlgsame extent that holders of equity
securities are entitled, and )\

(d) how the investment fund comptied with, or the basis upon which it was
exempt from, the requirements of Par{lﬁ\oﬁthe Regulation.

(2) If holders of restricted s Q"rries do not have all of the rights referred to in
subsection (1), the detailed desg(iption referred to in that subsection must include, in
boldface type, a statement rights the holders do not have.

subsection (1), st percentage of the aggregate voting rights attached to the
investment fund’; drities that will be represented by restricted securities after effect

(3) If the investm;stﬁ?ﬁd is required to include the disclosure referred to in

has been give e issuance of the securities being offered.

21.7. M@ﬁtion of Terms

(2) gscribe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any rights

Ett% d to the securities being distributed.

If the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in
accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions of the
governing statute relating to the securities, explain briefly.
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21.8. Ratings

(1) If the investment fund has asked for and received a credit rating, or if the
investment fund is aware that it has received any other kind of rating, including a
stability rating or a provisional rating, from one or more credit rating organizations for
securities of the investment fund that are outstanding, or will be outstanding, and the
rating or ratings continue in effect, disclose '\b‘

(@) each rating received from a credit rating organization; (19

(b)  for each rating disclosed under paragraph (a), the name 67{)1@ credit
rating organization that has assigned the rating;

(c) a definition or description of the category in whic % credit rating
organization rated the securities and the relative rank of rating within the
organization’s overall classification system; :\

(d) an explanation of what the rating address% what attributes, if any, of
the securities are not addressed by the rating;

(e) any factors or considerations identi{iedNoy the credit rating organization as
giving rise to unusual risks associated with the)\ rities;

() a statement that a credlqaratlng or a stability rating is not a
recommendation to buy, sell or hol '§e0ur|t|es and may be subject to revision or
withdrawal at any time by the credi (g organization; and

(9) any announce ade by, or any proposed announcement known to
the investment fund that is made by, a credit rating organization to the effect that
the organization is revig®) or intends to revise or withdraw a rating previously

assigned and require& disclosed under this section.

(2) If paymen @re, or reasonably will be, made to a credit rating organization that
provided a rap scribed in subsection (1), state that fact and state whether any
ade to the credit rating organization in respect of any other service

payments
provided é??investment fund by the credit rating organization during the last 2 years.
INS&@%TIONS

% There may be factors relating to a security that are not addressed by a credit
\a ing organization when they give a rating. For example, in the case of cash settled
derivative instruments, factors in addition to the creditworthiness of the issuer, such as
the continued subsistence of the underlying interest or the volatility of the price, value or
level of the underlying interest may be reflected in the rating analysis. Rather than being
addressed in the rating itself, these factors may be described by a credit rating
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organization by way of a superscript or other notation to a rating. Any such attributes
must be discussed in the disclosure under this section.

A provisional rating received before the investment fund’'s most recently
completed financial year is not required to be disclosed under this section.

21.9. Other Attributes \b‘

(1) If the rights attaching to the securities being distributed are materially Iirﬂ% or
qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other class ojseclrities
ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being distributed, include mforﬁ? A about
the other securities that will enable investors to understand the rlghts ing to the
securities being distributed.

(2) If securities of the class being distributed may be lally redeemed or
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securmﬂ 0 be redeemed or

repurchased.
o§</

INSTRUCTION

This section requires only a brief summary f the provisions that are material
from an investment standpoint. The prow attaching to the securities being
distributed or any other class of securities qﬁ)t need to be set out in full. They may, in
the investment fund’s discretion, be attachedas a schedule to the prospectus.

M)
Item 22 Securityholder Mat@
22.1. Meetings of Secuntyf@r‘s

Under the head% Securltyholder Matters” and under the sub-heading
“Meetings of SecurityRolddPs”, describe the circumstances, processes and procedures
for holding any sec Ider meeting and for any extraordinary resolution.

22.2. Matters@q'uiring Securityholder Approval

U e sub-heading “Matters Requiring Securityholder Approval”, describe the
matter equire securityholder approval.

Zzé(Qmendments to Declaration of Trust
\ For an investment fund established pursuant to a declaration of trust, under the

sub-heading “Amendments to the Declaration of Trust”, describe the circumstances,
processes and procedures required to amend the declaration of trust.
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22.4. Reporting to Securityholders

Under the sub-heading “Reporting to Securityholders” describe the information or
reports that will be delivered or made available to securityholders and the frequency
with which such information or reports will be delivered or made available to
securityholders, including any requirements under securities legislation.

Na

ltem 23 Termination of the Fund Q

23.1. Termination of the Fund

Under the heading “Termination of the Fund”, describe the Q.I;ktances in
which the investment fund will be terminated, including: &/

(@) the date of termination, %

(b) how the value of the securities of the invest %‘ld at termination will be
determined, %

(c) whether securityholders will receive@ or any other type of payment
upon termination, b‘

(d) the details of any rollover (s@saction, if securityholders will receive
securities of another investment fund as partyf a rollover transaction upon termination,
M)

(e) how the assets of th(afestment fund will be distributed upon termination,

and
?\

) if the invest fund is a commodity pool, disclose whether the
investment fund will be up without the approval of securityholders if the net asset
value per security fallg bQbw a certain predetermined level, and, if so, the net asset
value per security @h this will occur.

ltem 24 LQQOT Proceeds
241, Apei(zﬁ

&Z Item does not apply to an investment fund in continuous distribution.

\%2 Proceeds

(2) Under the heading “Use of Proceeds”, state the estimated net proceeds to be
received by the investment fund or selling securityholder or, in the case of a non-fixed
price distribution or a distribution to be made on a best efforts basis, the minimum
amount, if any, of net proceeds to be received by the investment fund or selling
securityholder from the sale of the securities distributed.

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 222



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(2) Describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, each of the
principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which the net proceeds will be used
by the investment fund.

3) If the prospectus is used for a special warrant or similar transaction, state the

amount that has been received by the issuer of the special warrants or similar securK§
on the sale of the special warrants or similar securities. Q

N
If any material amounts of other funds are to be used in COH'Q;U'% with the
proceeds, state the amounts and sources of the other funds. Q/

24.3. Other Sources of Funding

24.4. Financing by Special Warrants, etc. &

(2) If the prospectus is used to qualify the distribution ecurities issued upon the
exercise of special warrants or the exercise of oé) ecurities acquired on a
prospectus-exempt basis, describe the principal purp, or which the proceeds of the
prospectus-exempt financing were used or are to K d.

(2) If all or a portion of the funds have lx@ﬁspent, explain how the funds were

spent. q/Q

Item 25 Plan of Distribution *'\‘\
25.1. Plan of Distribution Q‘
Under the heading P@g Distribution”, briefly describe the plan of distribution.

25.2. Name of Unde ?8;5

(2) If the sec are being distributed by an underwriter, state the name of the
underwriter ar%étcribe briefly the nature of the underwriter’s obligation to take up and
pay for the gecuxities.

(2) qSJse the date by which the underwriter is obligated to purchase the
sec :
\%3. Disclosure of Conditions to Underwriters’ Obligations

If securities are distributed by an underwriter that has agreed to purchase all of

the securities at a specified price and the underwriter’'s obligations are subject to
conditions,
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(@) include a statement in substantially the following form, with the bracketed
information completed and with modifications necessary to reflect the terms of the
distribution:

“Under an agreement dated [insert date of agreement] between [insert
name of investment fund or selling securityholder] and [insert name(s) of
underwriter(s)], as underwriter[s], [insert name of investment fund or seg?‘
securityholder] has agreed to sell and the underwriter[s] [has/have] agreed to pur% e
on [insert closing date] the securities at a price of [insert offering price], payable sh
to [insert name of investment fund or selling securityholder] against dely e?./The
obligations of the underwriter[s] under the agreement may be terminate IK{its/their]
discretion on the basis of [its/their] assessment of the state of the fina arkets and
may also be terminated upon the occurrence of certain st events. The
underwriter[s] [is/are], however, obligated to take up and pay for the securities if
any of the securities are purchased under the agreement.”, and%

(b)  describe any other conditions and indicate Qin ormation known that is
relevant to whether such conditions will be satisfied. %Q

25.4. Best Efforts Offering ,@

Outline briefly the plan of distribution p(%ny securities being distributed other
than on the basis described in section 25.3‘19

25.5. Minimum Distribution '\‘s

If securities are being dis Q[t‘d on a best efforts basis and minimum funds are
to be raised, state 0

(@) the minimu@s to be raised,

(b) that the&GYestment fund must appoint a registered dealer authorized to
a Canadian financial institution, or a lawyer who is a practising
nding with a law society of a jurisdiction in which the securities are
, or a notary in Québec, to hold in trust all funds received from
ntil the minimum amount of funds stipulated in paragraph (a) has been

<(Q:) that if the minimum amount of funds is not raised within the distribution
@iod, the trustee must return the funds to the subscribers without any deductions.

25.6. Determination of Price
Disclose the method by which the distribution price has been or will be

determined and, if estimates have been provided, explain the process of determining
the estimates.
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25.7. Stabilization

If the investment fund, a selling securityholder or an underwriter knows or has
reason to believe that there is an intention to over-allot or that the price of any security
may be stabilized to facilitate the distribution of the securities, describe the nature of
these transactions, including the anticipated size of any over-allocation position, arw‘
explain how the transactions are expected to affect the price of the securities. (19'\

N
%as made

closed in the

25.8. Reduced Price Distributions

If the underwriter may decrease the offering price after the unde
a reasonable effort to sell all of the securities at the initial offering prj
prospectus in accordance with the procedures permitted by the Re I0n, disclose this
fact and that the compensation realised by the underwriter w decreased by the
amount that the aggregate price paid by purchasers for the&g ities is less than the
gross proceeds paid by the underwriter to the investment@o selling securityholder.

25.9. Listing Application %

)

If application has been made to list or Quose the securities being distributed,
include a statement, in substantially the foIIovﬂé‘form, with the bracketed information

completed: q/Q

“The investment fund has ap ie'd\to [list/quote] the securities distributed under
this prospectus on [name of exc e or other market]. [Listing/Quotation] will be
subject to the investment fund fulfi all the listing requirements of [name of exchange
or other market].”

25.10. Condition »eting Approval

If applicatio een made to list or quote the securities being distributed on an
exchange or 2& ace and conditional listing approval has been received, include a

statement, in tantially the following form, with the bracketed information completed:

of exchange or marketplace] has conditionally approved the
ion] of these securities. [Listing/Quotation] is subject to the [name of
t fund]'s fulfilling all of the requirements of the [name of exchange or
lace] on or before [date], [including distribution of these securities to a minimum

m
\meer of public securityholders].”

25.11. Constraints

If there are constraints imposed on the ownership of securities of the investment
fund to ensure that the investment fund has a required level of Canadian ownership,
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describe the mechanism, if any, by which the level of Canadian ownership of the
securities of the investment fund will be monitored and maintained.

25.12. Special Warrants Acquired by Underwriters or Agents

Disclose the number and dollar value of any special warrants acquired by any
underwriter or agent and the percentage of the distribution represented by those spe'c\@k

warrants. Q

Item 26 Relationship between Investment Fund or Selling Securityh&lc@(and
Underwriter

26.1. Relationship between Investment Fund or Selling S pyholder and
Underwriter

(2) Under the heading “Relationship between Inve Fund [or Selling
Securityholder] and Underwriter”, if the investment fund elling securityholder is a
connected issuer or related issuer of an underwriter of stribution, or if the selling
securityholder is also an underwriter, comp ith the requirements of
Regulation 33-105 respecting Underwriting Conflicjg.

(2) For the purposes of subsection (1), “coan&ted issuer” and “related issuer” have
the same meanings as in Regulation 33-10‘E\§pecting Underwriting Conflicts.

Item 27 Options to PurchaseSiJD{ities

27.1. Options to Purchase Se@n’es
%a

(1) Under the heading s to Purchase Securities”, state, in tabular form, as at
a specified date withinﬁ ys before the date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus, informatio ut options to purchase securities of the investment fund, or
a subsidiary of the@\ment fund, that are held or will be held upon completion of the
distribution by

(@
a group,
executi

&xecutive officers and past executive officers of the investment fund, as

Il directors and past directors of the investment fund who are not also
icers, as a group, indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and
gate number of directors to whom the information applies,

% (b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the

\n estment fund, as a group, and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries
who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary, as a group, excluding, in each
case, individuals referred to in paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the information
applies,
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(c) all other employees and past employees of the investment fund as a
group,

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the investment
fund as a group,

(e) all consultants of the investment fund as a group, and '\b‘
() any other person, other than the underwriter(s), naming each perscf@

(2) Describe any material change to the information required to be ind]@a in the
prospectus under subsection (1) to the date of the prospectus. &

INSTRUCTIONS QO

(2) Describe the options, warrants, or other similar secu@ stating the material
provisions of each class or type of option, including:

(@  the designation and number of the secﬂglmder option;

(b)  the purchase price of the securitie ’u%der option or the formula by which
the purchase price will be determined, and the R&‘ration dates of the options;

(© if reasonably ascertainable, trgamarket value of the securities under option
on the date of grant; )

(d) if reasonably ascer le, the market value of the securities under option
on the specified date; and 0

(e)  with respec@ions referred to in paragraph (1)(f), the particulars of the
d

grant including the c& tion for the grant.
(2) For thees of paragraph (1)(f), provide the information required for all

options excepieyX(Tants and special warrants.

Item 28 %fincipal Holders of Securities of the Investment Fund and Selling
Securiqg%ers
28€( rincipal Holders of Securities of the Investment Fund and Selling
&urityholders

(2) Under the heading “Principal Holders of Securities of the Investment Fund [and
Selling Securityholders]”, provide the following information for each principal
securityholder of the investment fund, if known or if ought to be known by the
investment fund or the manager and, if any securities are being distributed for the
account of a securityholder, for each selling securityholder, as of a specified date not
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more than 30 days before the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as
applicable:

(@) the name,

(b) the number or amount of securities owned, controlled or directed of the
class being distributed, '\b‘

(c) the number or amount of securities of the class being distributedﬂ@vhe
account of the securityholder,

A\
(d) the number or amount of securities of the investment fun %y class to
be owned, controlled or directed after the distribution, and the perc that number
or amount represents of the total outstanding, and

(e)  whether the securities referred to in paragraph (c) or (d) are owned
both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficia&@nly.

(2) If securities are being distributed in connecti %‘I a restructuring transaction,
indicate, to the extent known, the holdings of each @)n described in paragraph (1)(a)
that will exist after effect has been given to the tr@n‘s tion.

(3) If any of the securities being distrib%ﬁ!}re being distributed for the account of a
securityholder and those securities were pukhased by the selling securityholder within
the 2 years preceding the date o fhe‘s prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as
applicable, state the date the selli ecurityholder acquired the securities and, if the
securities were acquired in the nths preceding the date of the prospectus or pro
forma prospectus, as applicall cost to the securityholder in the aggregate and on
an average cost-per-securit@s

4) If, to the knowld&?(;f the investment fund or the underwriter of the securities
being distributed, an 10% of any class of voting securities of the investment fund
is held, oristo b ® d, subject to any voting trust or other similar agreement, disclose,
to the extent &?Vn the designation of the securities, the number or amount of the
securities Qa r to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of the
agreement te the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly
their va&%ghts and other powers under the agreement.

( )<(q to the knowledge of the investment fund or the underwriter of the securities
éﬂg distributed, any principal securityholder or selling securityholder is an associate or

iliate of another person named as a principal securityholder, disclose, to the extent
known, the material facts of the relationship, including any basis for influence over the
investment fund held by the person other than the holding of voting securities of the
investment fund.

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 228



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(6) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table the required
calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis.

(7 Describe any material change to the information required to be included in the
prospectus under subsection (1) to the date of the prospectus.

INSTRUCTION
Na

If a company, partnership, trust or other unincorporated entity is a m‘@pal
securityholder of an investment fund, disclose, to the extent known, the name of"each
individual who, through ownership of or control or direction over the secﬁ!tg s of the
company, trust or other unincorporated entity, or membership in the p @ ip, as the
case may be, is a principal securityholder of that entity. %Q/

Item 29 Interests of Management and Others in Materi sactions

N

29.1. Interests of Management and Others in MaterialQ sactions

Transactions”, describe, and state the approxim ount of, any material interest,
direct or indirect, of any of the following persong invany transaction within the 3 years
before the date of the prospectus or pro formap{ pectus that has materially affected or
is reasonably expected to materially affect p@westment fund:

Under the heading “Interests of Manag;ﬁ% and Others in Material

(@) a director or executive*oﬁker of the investment fund or the investment

fund manager, 2

(b) a person that b 1ally owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly,
more than 10% of any cl r series of the outstanding voting securities of the
investment fund or the ing ent fund manager, and

(© an as@e or affiliate of any of the persons referred to in paragraphs (a)
or (b).

29.2. Und@(ﬂng Discounts
qSJse any material underwriting discounts or commissions upon the sale of
sec @ by the investment fund if any of the persons listed under section 29.1 were or
r% e an underwriter or are associates, affiliates or partners of a person that was or
\' e an underwriter.
INSTRUCTIONS
(1) The materiality of an interest is to be determined on the basis of the significance

of the information to investors in light of all the circumstances of the particular case. The
importance of the interest to the person having the interest, the relationship of the
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parties to the transaction with each other and the amount involved are among the
factors to be considered in determining the significance of the information to investors.

(2) Give a brief description of the material transaction. Include the name of each
person whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the relationship
to the investment fund.

3) For any transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets 'The
investment fund, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser, and the cost of thd@ets
to the seller if acquired by the seller within 3 years before the transaction. N
4) This Item does not apply to any interest arising from the owner (}securities
of the investment fund if the securityholder receives no extra or ial benefit or
advantage not shared on an equal basis by all other holders same class of
securities or all other holders of the same class of securiti 0 are resident in

Canada. &

(5) No information need be given under this Item for %%action if

(@) the rates or charges involved in @ansaction are fixed by law or
determined by competitive bids, b‘

(b)  the interest of a specified p@g} in the transaction is solely that of a
director of another company that is a party tathe transaction,
M)
(© the transaction involv ervices as a bank or other depository of funds, a
transfer agent, registrar, trustee a trust indenture or other similar services, or

(d)  the transactio not involve remuneration for services and the interest
of the specified person from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less
than 10% of any cla % equity securities of another company that is party to the
transaction and thaction is in the ordinary course of business of the investment
fund or its subsididke}.

i eQaII transactions not excluded above that involve remuneration (including

(6)

an issua securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons for
servic any capacity unless the interest of the person arises solely from the
ben ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10% of any class of equity securities
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Item 30 Proxy Voting Disclosure
30.1. Proxy Voting Disclosure for Portfolio Securities Held

Under the heading “Proxy Voting Disclosure for Portfolio Securities Held”, include
the disclosure required by subsection 10.2(3) of Regulation 81-106 respecting
Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure.

ltem 31 Material Contracts (19
31.1. Material Contracts q;\\
Under the heading “Material Contracts”, list and provide partic %f

(@) the articles of incorporation, the declaration of tr@rust agreement of
the investment fund or any other constating document, if any,&

(b) any agreement of the investment fund orég@ge with the manager of the
investment fund,

(c) any agreement of the investment &% the manager or trustee with the
portfolio adviser of the investment fund, )\

(d) any agreement of the investgent fund, the manager or trustee with the
custodian of the investment fund, '\‘s

(e) any agreement of mvestment fund, the manager or trustee with the
underwriters or agents of the i thent fund,

) any swap ard agreement of the investment fund, the manager or
trustee with a counter & hat is material to the investment fund fulfilling its investment

objectives, O

(9) %&greement of the investment fund, the manager or trustee with the
b

principal di% or of the investment fund, and

QOS) any other contract or agreement that can reasonably be regarded as
an investor in the securities of the investment fund.

maté
ﬁﬂs RUCTIONS

(2) Set out a complete list of all contracts for which particulars must be given under
this section, indicating those that are disclosed elsewhere in the prospectus. Particulars
need only be provided for those contracts that do not have the particulars given
elsewhere in the prospectus.
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(2) Particulars of contracts must include the dates of, parties to, consideration
provided for in, termination provisions, general nature and key terms of, the contracts.

Item 32 Legal and Administrative Proceedings
32.1. Legal and Administrative Proceedings

ongoing legal and administrative proceedings material to the investment fund, t ich
the investment fund, its manager or principal distributor is a party. '\\

32.2. Particulars of the Proceedings Qg‘

Under the heading “Legal and Administrative Proceedings”, describe brizf&ﬁay

(2) For all matters disclosed under section 32.1, disclose <b
(@) the name of the court or agency having jurisdicti&&

(b)  the date on which the proceeding was inst@@,

(© the principal parties to the proceeding@

(d) the nature of the proceeding andu'@ﬁoplicable, the amount claimed, and

(e)  whether the proceeding is b&g contested and the present status of the
proceeding. )

(2) Provide similar disclosure@m any proceedings known to be contemplated.

32.3. Penalties and Sanc@

Describe the p am?;or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they were
imposed or the terr@\my settlement agreement and the circumstances that gave rise

to the settlemen ement, if, within the 10 years before the date of the prospectus or
pro forma pr%&us, the manager of the investment fund, a director or executive
officer of thgzinestment fund or a partner, director or executive officer of the manager of
the invest&fund has

(;()1 been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or a
selytitles regulatory authority relating to Canadian securities legislation, promotion or
agement of an investment fund, theft or fraud or has entered into a settlement
reement before a court or with a regulatory body in relation to any of these matters, or

(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or
regulatory body or has entered into any other settlement agreement before a court or
with a regulatory body that would likely be considered important to a reasonable
investor in determining whether to purchase securities of the investment fund.
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ltem 33 Experts
33.1. Names of Experts
Under the heading “Experts”, name each person

(@) who is named as having prepared or certified a report, vah@u,
statement or opinion in the prospectus or an amendment to the prospectus, and (L

(b)  whose profession or business gives authority to the repofl}aluatlon

statement or opinion made by the person. Qg‘

(2) Disclose all registered or beneficial interests, direct ov(qf ect, in any securities

or other property of the investment fund or of an associat iliate of the investment

fund received or to be received by a person whos ssion or business gives

authority to a statement made by the person and WI‘ amed as having prepared or
)

certified a part of the prospectus or prepared or c a report or valuation described
or included in the prospectus.

33.2. Interests of Experts

(2) For the purpose of subsection (1), &@ownershlp is less than 1%, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient.

3) If a person, or a director, offi r employee of a person referred to in subsection
(1) is or is expected to be eIe appointed or employed as a director, officer or
employee of the investment f of any associate or affiliate of the investment fund,
disclose the fact or expecta@

auditor’s rules of prg&s§Sional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or has performed an

4) Despite subse iob 1), an auditor who is independent in accordance with the
audit in accord§ with US GAAS is not required to provide the disclosure in

subsection (1) re is disclosure that the auditor is independent in accordance with
the auditor'gzrulss of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or that the auditor
has comp@vith the SEC'’s rules on auditor independence.

INS @%lONS

§ Section 33.2 does not apply to the investment fund’s predecessor auditors, if
y, for those periods when they were not the investment fund’s auditor.

(2)  Section 33.2 does not apply to registered or beneficial interests, direct or indirect,
held through mutual funds.
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Item 34 Exemptions and Approvals
34.1. Exemptions and Approvals

Under the heading “Exemptions and Approvals”, describe all exemptions from or
approvals under securities legislation obtained by the investment fund or the manager
of the investment fund that continue to be relied upon by the investment fund or_t
manager, including all exemptions to be evidenced by the issuance of a receipt f%'ﬁae
prospectus pursuant to section 19.3 of the Regulation. (L

ltem 35 Other Material Facts ({,\"
35.1. Other Material Facts Q/E

Under the heading “Other Material Facts”, using sub-)@? as appropriate,
give particulars of any material facts about the securities bei ¢stributed that are not
disclosed under any other section and are necessary i Qde for the prospectus to
contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material fac%%a ing to the securities to be
distributed.

Item 36 Purchasers’ Statutory Rights of \@i:&drawal and Rescission

36.1. General q/Q

For investment funds other th n'ﬁvoutual funds, under the heading “Purchasers’
Statutory Rights of Withdrawal an cission” include a statement in substantially the
following form, with bracketed in!§~ ion completed:

“Securities legislatio ertain of the provinces [and territories] of Canada/the
Province of [insert name al jurisdiction, if applicable]] provides purchasers with the
right to withdraw from @n @greement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised
within 2 business@ after receipt or deemed receipt of a prospectus and any
amendment. [In ral of the provinces/provinces and territories], [T/tlhe securities
legislation fur@rovides a purchaser with remedies for rescission [or [, in some
jurisdictions%:g isions of the price or damages] if the prospectus and any amendment
contains g INérepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the
remedig et rescission [, revisions of the price or damages] are exercised by the
purgi{ader within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s
provnCe [or territory]. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the

%urities legislation of the purchaser’s province [or territory] for the particulars of these
yJhts or consult with a legal adviser.”

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 234



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

36.2. Mutual Funds

If the investment fund is a mutual fund, under the heading “Purchasers’ Statutory
Rights of Withdrawal and Rescission” include a statement in substantially the following
form:

“Securities legislation in [certain of the provinces [and territories] of Canada{{1Q
Province of [insert name of local jurisdiction, if applicable]] provides purchasers wj e
right to withdraw from an agreement to purchase mutual fund securities w‘ﬁ 2
business days after receipt of a prospectus and any amendment or within 48 rs after
the receipt of a confirmation of a purchase of such securities. If the agréip‘u nt is to
purchase such securities under a contractual plan, the time peri ng which
withdrawal may be made may be longer. [In several of the provi rovinces and
territories], [T/tlhe securities legislation further provides a purcha ith remedies for
rescission [or [, in some jurisdictions,] revisions of the prj damages] if the
prospectus and any amendment contains a misrepresentation%I % not delivered to the
purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission eVisions of the price or
damages] are exercised by the purchaser within thg«\¢ limit prescribed by the
securities legislation of the purchaser’'s province [oEt tory]. The purchaser should

refer to the applicable provisions of the securities | tion of the province [or territory]
for the particulars of these rights or should conSLg‘ a legal adviser.”

36.3. Non-fixed Price Offerings q/Q'\

In the case of a non-fixed pric B‘f(ering, if applicable in the jurisdiction in which
the prospectus is filed, replace th 3§cond sentence in the disclosure in section 36.1
with a statement in substantially % lowing form:

“This right may only rcised within 2 business days after receipt or deemed
receipt of a prospectus y amendment, irrespective of the determination at a later
date of the purchase ic the securities distributed.”

Item 37 nts Incorporated by Reference
37.1. Man gy Incorporation by Reference
investment fund is in continuous distribution, incorporate by reference the

foll documents in the prospectus, by means of the following statement in
subbgtantially the following words under the heading “Documents Incorporated by

rence”:
N

“Additional information about the Fund is available in the following documents:

1. The most recently filed comparative annual financial statements of the
investment fund, together with the accompanying report of the auditor.
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2. Any interim financial report of the investment fund filed after those annual
financial statements.

3. The most recently filed annual management report of fund performance of
the investment fund.

4. Any interim management report of fund performance of the investmew‘
fund filed after that annual management report of fund performance. '\

Q
These documents are incorporated by reference into the prospec s?ﬁhich
means that they legally form part of this document just as if they were prim% part of
this document. You can get a copy of these documents, at your reques at no cost,
by calling [toll-free/collect] [insert the toll-free telephone number or one number
where collect calls are accepted] or from your dealer.

[If applicable] These documents are availabln% the [investment
fund’s/investment fund family’s ] Internet site at [insert i \%t ent fund’s Internet site
address], or by contacting the [investment fund/inv % t fund family] at [insert
investment fund’s /investment fund family’s email ad %

These documents and other information@ut the Fund are available on the

Internet at www.sedar.com.” )\
37.2. Mandatory Incorporation by Refer‘e}&e of Future Documents
M)
If the investment fund is in inuous distribution, state that any documents, of
the type described in section 37.0X™filed by the investment fund after the date of the

prospectus and before the ter@ 1bn of the distribution, are deemed to be incorporated
by reference in the prospec%

ltem 38 Financ@)\ﬁzrosure
38.1. Financialé@aments

(1) Unle %corporated by reference under Item 37, include in the prospectus the
comparatj %nnual financial statements and the auditor's report prepared in
accord ith Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure
for estment fund’s most recently completed financial year.

% If an investment fund’s most recent financial year ended within 90 days of the
te of the prospectus referred to in subsection (1), the investment fund may treat the
previous year as the most recently completed financial year under subsection (1).

3) If the investment fund has not completed its first financial year, the fund must

include in the prospectus audited financial statements and the auditor’s report prepared
in accordance with Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous
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Disclosure for the period from the date of the fund’'s formation to a date not more
than 90 days before the date of the prospectus and as at a date not more than 90 days
before the date of the prospectus, as applicable.

4) Despite subsections (1) and (3), if the investment fund is a newly established
fund, include in the prospectus the opening statement of financial position of the
investment fund, accompanied by the auditor’'s report prepared in accordance K@‘
Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure. (19

38.2. Interim Financial Reports )\\
Unless incorporated by reference under Item 37, include in (krospectus

financial statements for the investment fund prepared in rdance with

Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Continuous Discl for the interim

period that began immediately after the financial year to whj e annual financial
statements required to be included in the prospectus under&g{on 38.1 relate, if the
prospectus is filed 60 days or more after the end of that in@v period.

38.3. Management Reports of Fund Performance %

Unless incorporated by reference under g%x 37, include in the prospectus the
most recently filed interim management repo& fund performance, if filed after the

most recently filed annual management t of fund performance and include the
most recently filed annual management repog of fund performance.

M)
Item 39 Certificates *

39.1. Certificate of the Inve@t Fund

Include a certifica% e investment fund in the following form:

“This prosp [together with the documents incorporated herein by
reference,] consy & full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the
securities offegeXBYy this prospectus as required by the securities legislation of [insert

which qualified].”

the jurisdict%ns !
39.2. Qgi&cate of the Manager

<(Qlclude a certificate of the manager of the investment fund in the same form as
certificate of the investment fund.

N

39.3. Certificate of the Underwriter

Where a person is required to provide a certificate in the underwriter certificate
form, the certificate must state:
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“To the best of our knowledge, information and belief, this prospectus [,together
with the documents incorporated herein by reference,] constitutes full, true and plain
disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities offered by this prospectus as
required by the securities legislation of [insert the jurisdictions in which qualified].”

39.4. Certificate of the Promoter

If there is a promoter of the investment fund or a subsidiary of the inves@m
fund, include a certificate in the same form as the certificate of the investment fun’%

A\
39.5. Amendments (L
Q) For an amendment to a prospectus that does not restate the ctus, change
“prospectus” to “prospectus dated [insert date] as amended Is amendment”

wherever it appears in the statements in sections 39.1 to 39.4. %

(2) For an amended and restated prospectus, change * pectus” to “amended and
restated prospectus” wherever it appears in the stateme sections 39.1 to 39.4.

39.6. Non-offering Prospectus ,@

For a non-offering prospectus, change v‘\ib&urities offered by this prospectus” to
“securities previously issued by the inv ent fund” wherever it appears in the

statements in sections 39.1 to 39.4.
N

M.O. 2008-05, Sch. 41-101F2; “kO. 2008-13, s. 1; M.O. 2010-09, s. 12;
M.O. 2012-05, s. 2; M.O. 2012-0{&~2; M.O. 2013-03, s. 14; M.O. 2013-08, s. 17; M.O.

2013-24, s. 1. Q)
N
S
&
&

X

\

Ny
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FORM 41-101F3
INFORMATION REQUIRED IN A SCHOLARSHIP PLAN PROSPECTUS

General Instructions

Q) This Form describes the disclosure required in a scholarship plan prospectus.
Each Item of this Form outlines disclosure requirements. Instructions as to hovw‘
complete this Form are printed in italic type.

(2)  The objective of the scholarship plan prospectus is to provide mformq%ngout
the scholarship plan that an investor needs in order to make an mformedy estment
decision. This Form sets out specific disclosure requirements that are | tion to the
general requirement under securities legislation to provide full, true in disclosure
of all material facts relating to the securities to be distributed.

3) Terms defined in Regulation 14-101 respecting Defln (chapter V-1.1, r. 3),
Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus Requw (chapter V-1.1, r. 14),
Regulation 81-105 respecting Mutual Fund Sales é}@ S (chapter V-1.1,r. 41),
Regulation 81-106 respecting Investment Fund Con Disclosure (chapter V-1.1,
r. 42) or Regulation 81-107 respecting Independe V|ew Committee for Investment
Funds (chapter V-1.1, r. 42) and used in this F ave the same meanings that they
have in those regulations except that refereno% n those regulations to “mutual fund”
must be read as references to “investme r “scholarship plan” as the context

requires.

N
(4) A scholarship plan prospect ust contain only the information that is mandated
or permitted under this Form. ?\

(5) A scholarship plan ctus must present the information in each Part of this
Form briefly and concis the order provided for by this Form, and use only the
headings and sub-hegdipgds stipulated in this Form except that sub-headings not
required by this Fo@y be used where permitted under an Item in this Form.

(6) Specifi@uctions are sometimes provided in this Form for a single prospectus
and a multipte pyospectus. Portions of Part B and Part D of this Form generally refer to
disclosurgrredired for “a scholarship plan” in a “prospectus”. This disclosure must be
& appropriate to reflect multiple scholarship plans covered by a multiple

% Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus Requirements requires that a

ospectus be prepared using plain language and in a format that assists in readability
and comprehension. For additional guidance, see the plain language principles listed in
section 4.1 of Policy Statement to Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus
Requirements. If the use of technical terms is required, clear and concise explanations
of those terms must be included.
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(8) Respond as simply and directly to the requirements of this Form as is reasonably
possible.

(9) No reference need be made to inapplicable items and, unless otherwise required
in this Form, negative answers to items may be omitted.

(10) Certain Items in this Form require that a prospectus include wording that is_t

same or substantially the same as set out in those Items. A scholarship pla y
modify the prescribed wording to more accurately reflect its features if the wordi es
not apply to the plan. N

(11) Unless otherwise stated, this Form does not mandate the use (kecific font

size or style but the font used must be legible. If the prospectus de available
online, information must be presented in a way that is both reada ine and can be
printed in a readable format. %

(12) A prospectus may contain photographs and artwo nly if they are relevant to
the business of the scholarship plan or members of th ization of the scholarship
plan and are not misleading.

(13) A prospectus must not contain design ele&’eists (e.g., graphics, photos, artwork)
that would, to a reasonable person, detract\ the information disclosed in the

document. q/Q

(14) If disclosure is required as o, %pecific date and there has been a material
change or a change that is otherwi (gnificant to a reasonable investor to the required
information subsequent to that > present the information as of the date of the
change or a date subsequent% e change.

Contents of a Scholars% an Prospectus

(15) This Form p two formats: a prospectus for a single scholarship plan and a
multiple prospec multiple scholarship plans.

(16) A sch I&hip plan prospectus must consist of 4 parts as set out below. Part A is

$ (@) Part A contains the responses to the Items in Part A of this Form. The
\n ormation in this Part contains a summary of key information about investing in a
scholarship plan.

(b) Part B contains the responses to the Items in Part B of this Form and

contains introductory information about the scholarship plan and general information
about the scholarship plan family.
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(© Part C contains the responses to the Items in Part C of the Form and
contains plan-specific information about the scholarship plan(s) offered in the
prospectus.

(d) Part D contains the responses to the Items in Part D of this Form and
contains information about the scholarship plan organization, the persons and ent"ti\ﬁ
involved in running the scholarship plan, and the prospectus certificates. Q

Consolidation of Scholarship Plan Prospectuses into a Multiple Prospec&s\

(17) Section 3A.2 of the Regulation 41-101 respecting Gen
Requirements requires that a scholarship plan prospectus must n
with one or more scholarship plan prospectuses to form a multip spectus unless
the disclosure in each of the Part B and Part D sections of thy m is substantially
similar for each scholarship plan. This provision permits a scbﬁl} ip plan organization
to create a document that contains the disclosure for a n @e of scholarship plans in
the same family. %Q

rospectus
consolidated

(18) Similar to a single prospectus, a @Ie prospectus must consist
of 4 segments: b‘

(@  The first segment consists o}@wumber of Part A sections of this Form.
Each Part A section must contain the infortation required under Part A of this Form
about a single scholarship plan. The i f&imation required by the Part A section must be
disclosed separately for each sch ip plan in the multiple prospectus. Each Part A
section in a multiple prospectus |$~ tart on a new page.

(b)  The second nt contains the information required under Part B of
this Form for the scholar lans described in the document. There must not be more
than one Part B sect@ Il of the scholarship plans in the prospectus.

(c) Th segment consists of a number of Part C sections of this Form.
Each Part C must contain the information required under Part C of this Form
about a sin holarship plan. The information required by the Part C section must be
disclosed rately for each scholarship plan in the multiple prospectus. Each Part C
sectio ultiple prospectus must start on a new page.

<(Qj) The fourth segment contains the information required under Part D of the
gﬂﬂ for the scholarship plans described in the document. There must not be more than
e Part D section for all of the scholarship plans in the prospectus.
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Part A — Plan Summary for a Scholarship Plan
Item 1 Information about the Plan
Include at the top of a new page a heading consisting of
(@) the title “Plan Summary”, '\b‘
(b)  the name of the scholarship plan to which the Plan Summary pertaﬁ}mc !
t e

if the scholarship plan has more than one class or series of securities, the n
class or series of securities covered in the Plan Summary, (L

(c) the type of scholarship plan, Q}

(d)  the name of the investment fund manager of the SQ hip plan, and

(e) the date of the Plan Summary. Q
%%

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)  The title “Plan Summary” and the name f’%e scholarship plan must be in bold
type using a substantially larger font size thaN other headings and text in the Plan

Summary. q/Q

(2)  The “type of scholarship plan” re’fws to whether the scholarship plan is a group
scholarship plan, individual or famil olarship plan.

(3) The date for a Plan S ary that is filed as part of a preliminary scholarship
plan prospectus or scholar n prospectus must be the date of the certificate of the
scholarship plan require(x r Part D of this Form.

Item 2  Withdra d Cancellation Rights

Immedi@ollowing the disclosure in Item 1, state the following using the same
or substanti imilar wording, with the last 2 sentences in bold type:

ijggummary tells you some key things about investing in the plan. You should
re\?é@ lan Summary and the Detailed Plan Disclosure carefully before you decide to
inVegt.

\ If you change your mind

You have up to 60 days after signing your contract to withdraw from your plan
and get back all of your money.
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If you (or we) cancel your plan after 60 days, you’'ll get back your contributions,
less sales charges and fees. You will lose the earnings on your money. Your
government grants will be returned to the government. Keep in mind that you pay
sales charges up front. If you cancel your plan in the first few years, you could
end up with much less than you put in.

INSTRUCTION

The prescribed wording in this Item must be presented using a subsfa%ally
larger font size relative to the rest of the text of the Plan Summary. '\\

(2) Under the heading “What is the [insert type of schol@é@%n] scholarship
ing:

Item 3  Description of the Scholarship Plan
plan?”, state the following using the same or substantially simil

help you save for a child’s post-secondary education. W, ou open your [insert name
of plan], we will apply to the Canada Revenue Age to register the plan as a
Registered Education Savings Plan (RESP). This S your savings to grow tax-free
until the child named as the beneficiary of 'e{plan enrols in their studies. The
Government of Canada and some provincial g\ rnments offer government grants to
help you save even more. To register your, as an RESP, we need social insurance
numbers for yourself and the child you namebn the plan as the beneficiary.
M)

In a [insert type of plan] sc ship plan, you are part of a group of investors.
Everyone’s contributions are iny, together. When the plan matures, each child in
the group shares in the earni N that money. Your share of those earnings plus your
government grant money i d to your child as educational assistance payments

(EAPS). 5}

There are 2 exceptions. Your child will not receive EAPs, and you could
lose your earnin@ vernment grants and grant contribution room, if:

The [insert name of plan] is a [insert type of pla%@f}hrship plan designed to

- % r child does not enrol in a school or program that qualifies under this

plan, or C)

0 you leave the plan before it matures.

For a group scholarship plan, state the following using the same or substantially

\;%Iar wording, in bold type:

If you leave the plan, your earnings go to the remaining members of the
group. However, if you stay in the plan until it matures, you might share in the
earnings of those who left early.
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INSTRUCTION

If the scholarship plan allows a subscriber to name more than one beneficiary at
a time, amend the wording in section (1) to refer to multiple children or beneficiaries.

Item 4  Suitability

(2) For a group scholarship plan, under the heading “Who is this plan for?”, sta@hbe‘
following using the same or substantially similar wording: (L

. . . A\
A group scholarship plan can be a long-term commitment. It is f?gl vestors
planning to save for a child’s post-secondary education and who are fai IQU that:

- they will stay in the plan until it matures

- they can make all their contributions on time &

- their child will attend a qualifying school ar@%ram under the plan

[Insert, for plan providers that also offer an)'%@dual or family scholarship plan -
If this doesn’t describe you, you should considegansther type of plan. For example, an
individual or family plan has fewer restrictioN ee the Plan Summarl[y/ies] for our
[insert as applicable — individual plan/fami %n/ individual and family plans] or pages
[insert applicable page references] in the Dewgiled Plan Disclosure for more information.]
M)

(2) For an individual or family s arship plan, under the heading “Who is this plan
for?”, state the following using th§~ e or substantially similar wording:

[Insert, as applicabl individual/ A family] scholarship plan is for investors
planning to save for a chi ost-secondary education and who are fairly sure that:

- Insert&amily plans only - they want to save for more than one child at
atime

- %ﬁgy want more flexibility over when and how much to contribute to their
Qa Insert, for individual plans only - their child will attend a qualifying school

:n@r gram under the plan
\ - Insert, for family plans only - one or more of their children will attend a
gualifying school or program under the plan

[Insert, for plan providers that also offer a group scholarship plan - The [insert

name of plan] generally has fewer restrictions and is more flexible than our group
scholarship plan.]
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ltem 5 The Plan’s Investments

Under the heading “What does the plan invest in?”, state the following using the
same or substantially similar wording:

The plan invests mainly in [specify the plan’s primary investments]. The pIgr\&
investments have some risk. Returns will vary from year to year.

$
INSTRUCTION '\

A\
The disclosure must state the type or types of securities, suc ()ﬁortgages,
bonds, government treasury bills, or equity securities, as applicable hich the plan
will be primarily invested under normal market conditions. %

ltem 6 Contributions /&

Q) For a group scholarship plan, under the heading @do | make contributions?”,
state the following using the same or substantially sir%l ording:

With your contributions, you buy one oram “units” of the plan. These units
represent your share of the plan. You may pao\%r them all at once, or you may make
[state the most common contribution frequeﬁ/%options] contributions.

minimum contribution permitted un he plan. You may also change your contribution
schedule after you've opened y n. [Insert if applicable — A fee applies.] All of the
different contribution options foN¥€ plan are described in the Detailed Plan Disclosure,
or you can ask your sales r ntative for more information.

You may change the amounE (h\y'our contribution as long as you make the

contributions?”, bri escribe how a subscriber can make contributions to their
scholarship plan,

(2) For an individu;l &Y;mily scholarship plan, under the heading “How do | make

(3)  Statey (i)Nthe minimum total investment and (ii)) the minimum amount per
contributi% rmitted under the scholarship plan’s rules.

INS&@%TIONS
% The disclosure regarding contribution frequency options in the first paragraph of
bsection (1) of Iltem 6 must make reference only to the most commonly selected

contribution options, and not to each contribution option that is available to a subscriber.

(2) If the individual or family scholarship plan uses the concept of “units” or has
prescribed schedules for making contributions, this fact must be described in the
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required disclosure for subsection (2) of Item 6, using wording that is similar to the
wording in subsection (1) of Item 6.

3) For the purposes of the disclosure required under subsection (3) of Item 6, the
“minimum total investment permitted under the scholarship plan’s rules” must be stated
as (i) a dollar amount or ( ii) a quantity of units or securities of the scholarship plan (if
applicable) and the “minimum amount per contribution under the plan’s rules” mus‘\lﬁ‘
stated as a dollar amount. (19

ltem 7  Payments )\\

(2) Under the heading “What can | expect to receive from the 9/ state the
following using the same or substantially similar wording: <b

In your child’s first year of college or university, you'll get our contributions,
less fees. You can have this money paid to you or directlyzg% ild.

(2) For a group scholarship plan, state the following %
similar wording:

the same or substantially

Your child will be eligible to receive EA@ their [state, as applicable - first,
second, third and fourth] year[s] of post-secorx{ education. [See instruction (1)] For
each year, your child must show proof the()@e enrolled in a school and program that

qualifies under this plan to get an EAP.
M)

3) For an individual or family arship plan, briefly describe when EAPs can be
paid to a beneficiary, and whet Ps can be paid in one year or must be paid in
instalments for each year of e |ONXe studies.

4) State the foIIowingg@&,eparate paragraph:

EAPs are ta@the child’s hands.
INSTRUCTIO@

(2) If t up scholarship plan has multiple options for paying EAPs, disclose the
other in the disclosure in subsection (2) of Item 7, using a similar format.

( )<( or the disclosure in subsection (3) of Iltem 7, the format set out for the disclosure
\' ction (2) must be used.

ltem 8 Risks

(2) Under the heading “What are the risks?”, state the following using the same or
substantially similar wording:
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If you do not meet the terms of the plan, you could lose some or all of your
investment. Your child may not receive their EAPs.

(2) For a group scholarship plan, state the following using the same or substantially
similar wording:

You should be aware of 5 things that could result in a loss: '\b‘

1. You leave the plan before the maturity date. People leave the @for
many reasons. For example, if their financial situation changes and they n’;\ fford
their contributions. If your plan is cancelled more than 60 days from WI g your
contract, you'll lose part of your contributions to sales charges and fees: also lose
the earnings on your investment and your government grants will eturned to the
government.

2. You miss contributions. If you want to stayi% plan, you'll have to
make up the contributions you missed. You'll also 0 make up what the
contributions would have earned if you had made them . This could be costly.

If you have difficulty making contributions, @ave options. You can reduce or
suspend your contributions, transfer to another gf ol¥ plans or to an RESP offered by a
different provider, or cancel your plan. Restrio&L s and fees apply. Some options will
result in a loss of earnings and governme nts. [Insert if applicable - If you miss a
contribution and don't take any action withingfinsert the number of months] months, we

may cancel your plan]. *\«

3. You miss or your. misses a deadline. This can limit your options
later on. You could also lose arnings on your investment. Two of the key deadlines

for this plan are: %

Maturi@ —the deadline for making changes to your plan

You have he maturity date to make changes to your plan. This includes
switching the a different child, changing the maturity date if your child wants to
start their gham sooner or later than expected, and transferring to another RESP.
Restrictio@!d fees apply.

02 [Insert date] - the EAP application deadline
§ If your child qualifies for an EAP, he or she must apply by [insert date] before
ch year of eligible studies to receive a payment for that year. Otherwise, your child
may lose this money.
4. Your child doesn’t go to a qualifying school or program. For example,

[State the types of programs or institutions that generally do not qualify for EAPs under
the plan] don't qualify for EAPs under this plan. [Insert, if applicable —Under this plan,
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fewer programs will qualify for an EAP than would otherwise qualify under the
government’s rules for RESPs. See the Detailed Plan Disclosure for more information.]
If your child will not be going to a qualifying school or program under this plan, you have
the option to name another child as beneficiary, transfer to another of our plans or to an
RESP offered by a different provider, or cancel your plan. Restrictions and fees apply.
Some options can result in a loss of earnings and government grants.

or all of their EAPs if he or she takes time off from their studies, does not com all
required courses in a year or changes programs. [Insert if applicable - In s e cases,
your child may be able to defer an EAP for up to [insert number of yeﬁYB] ear|[s]].
[Insert, if applicable - Deferrals are at our discretion.]

5. Your child doesn’t complete their program. Your child may Ios;éhe

3) For an individual or family scholarship plan, list no more t %/situations that
could result in a loss of earnings in the scholarship plan for su ders or EAPs for the
beneficiary. Briefly describe the losses that could result in thﬂ butcomes as well as

some options to mitigate this loss. %Q

(4)  State the following, in bold type: O

If any of these situations arise with youMplan, contact us or speak with
your sales representative to better understa& our options to reduce your risk of

loss. q/Q

INSTRUCTIONS N

(1) For an individual or f@' scholarship plan, the disclosure required in
subsection (3) of Item 8 mus¢ Y de the following situations: a subscriber leaving a
scholarship plan before it , a beneficiary failing to enrol in a qualifying school or
program, and the subscy or beneficiary failing to meet the scholarship plan’s key
deadlines. CS

(2) If the indpg or family scholarship plan uses the concept of units paid for
under a fixedﬁmibution schedule, or otherwise requires subscribers to follow a
h

prescribed ule for making contributions to the scholarship plan, the disclosure
required i section (3) of Item 8 must also include a situation in which a subscriber
misse r more contributions.

( )<(Qhe disclosure in subsection (3) of Item 8 must use a similar format and structure
\ he disclosure required for group scholarship plans in section (2).
Item 9  Cancellation Rate
For a group scholarship plan, using the margin of the page, add a sidebar under

the heading “What are the risks?”, and state the following using the same or
substantially similar wording with the title of the sidebar in bold type:
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Cancellation Rate

Of the last 5 beneficiary groups of the [insert name of group scholarship plan]
plan to reach maturity, an average of [see the Instructions]% of the plans in each group
were cancelled before their maturity date.

INSTRUCTIONS Q

Q) To calculate the average percentage as required under Item 9, do the fp\o(\}'ng

(@) for each of the last 5 beneficiary groups in the group s |p plan to
reach maturity, calculate the percentage of scholarship plans in t ficiary group

that were cancelled before their maturity date, and

(b) calculate the simple average of the 5 percentagé@ﬁlculated pursuant to
Instruction 1(a).

(2) For a beneficiary group referred to in Instructi %%g) calculate the percentage
of the scholarship plans in each beneficiary gr& at were cancelled before their
maturity date by dividing x by y, where

x = the number of scholarship plqr@'}th the same maturity date that were
cancelled before maturity, and \
M)

y = the total number of sch hip plans with the same maturity date, including
plans with the same maturity dat& were cancelled before maturity.

3) For the purposes o dlsclosure required under Item 9, a “plan that was
cancelled before maturlt scholarship plan that is not eligible to receive a share of
the EAP account as agt aturity date because the total contributions required by the
subscriber’s contr@ve not been made by the maturity date. The number of
scholarship plan the same maturity date that did not reach maturity will be the
difference bet% he total number of scholarship plans with the same maturity date

and the nur@ f scholarship plans that matured.

4) yfct to Instruction (6), the number of scholarship plans with the same maturity

dat ists of every scholarship plan sold to subscribers who selected the same

maWgrity date, including scholarship plans that were cancelled or transferred before
urity.

N

(5) For the purposes of calculating the percentage of scholarship plans in a
beneficiary group that were cancelled before maturity, a scholarship plan whose
subscriber changed the maturity date to an earlier date is considered to have the earlier
maturity date and must be included in the calculations for the beneficiary group with the
earlier maturity date. Similarly, a scholarship plan whose subscriber changed the
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maturity date to a later date is considered to have the later maturity date and must be
included in the calculations for the beneficiary group with the later maturity date.

(6) Do not include a plan in the calculation of x or y under Instruction (2) if the
subscriber withdrew from their scholarship plan within 60 days of the signing the
contract to open the scholarship plan and received back all of their contributions and

fees paid. '\b‘
Item 10 Costs (19

(1) Under the heading “How much does it cost?”, provide information, iﬁ}}‘form of
the following tables, about the fees and expenses of the scholarship pl oduce the
tables using the following wording or wording that is the same or sub [ly similar:

There are costs for joining and participating in the pl e following tables
show the fees and expenses of the plan. [Insert, if applicableﬂ fees and expenses
of this plan are different than the other plans we offer.] %Q

Fees you pay

These fees are deducted from the mone&/’/%u put in the plan. They reduce the
amount that gets invested in your plan, whiaQ ill reduce the amount available for

EAPs. q/Q

Fee What you pay What the fee is for Who the fee is paid
to
Sales charge [Specify amount]  This is the [Insert name of entity]
commission for selling
your plan
Account [Specify amount]  [Specify the purpose  [Insert name of entity]
maintenance fee of the fee]
[Insert if [Specify amount]  This is for insurance [Insert name of entity]
applicable - that makes sure your
Insurance contributions continue
Premium] if you die or become

totally disabled.

AN
\% Fees the plan pays

You don'’t pay these fees directly. They’re paid from the plan’s earnings. These
fees affect you because they reduce the plan’s returns, which reduces the amount
available for EAPs.
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Fee What the What the feeis for Who the fee is paid
plan pays to
Administrative  [Specify This is for operating [insert name of entity]
fee amount] your plan.
Portfolio [Specify This is for managing the [insert name of entity]
management amount] plan’s investments.
fee
Custodian fee [Specify This is for holding the [Insert name of entity]
amount] plan’s investments in
trust.
Independent [Specify This is for the services [Insert name of entity]
review amount] of the plan’s
committee independent review

committee. The
committee reviews
conflict of interest
matters between the
investment fund
manager and the plan.

(2) If the sales charge listed in the “Fees Qib;y" table required by subsection (1) is
deducted from contributions at a higher r% the early period of participating in the
scholarship plan, add a sidebar under w.heading “How much does it cost”, using the
margin of the page adjacent to thej.%\l/e titled “Fees you pay”, and state the following
using the same or substantially sin@.r. ording with the title of the sidebar in bold type:

Paying off the sales e

If, for example, yo
you commit to payi

uy one unit of the plan on behalf of your newborn child, and
I that unit by making monthly contributions until your plan’s
maturity date, then ed on how the sales charge is deducted from your contributions,
it will take [ins ber of months] months to pay off the sales charge. During this
time, [insert pex¢ehtage]% of your contributions will be invested in the plan.

add bar under the heading “How much does it cost?”, and state the following
usi@ same or substantially similar wording with the title of the sidebar in bold:

\s Other fees

(3) §€d he margin of the page adjacent to the table titled “Fees the plan pays” ,

Other fees apply if you make changes to your plan. See page [specify page
number] in the Detailed Plan Disclosure for details.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The tables must only summarize the most common fees that (i) all subscribers to
the scholarship plan are required to pay or (ii) the scholarship plan is required to pay, as
applicable. Do not include the entire list of fees required to be disclosed under
Items 14.2 and 14.3 of Part C of the Form, or any of the fees required to be disclosed
under Item 14.4 and 14.5 of Part C of the Form. Each fee must be listed in a sepa E‘
row of the applicable table. ;\

(2) If there are certain types of fees listed in the tables required under Ite 1(llbove
that are not payable, either by subscribers or the scholarship plan, in r t of the
scholarship plan described in the Plan Summary, amend the tables a Q.n essary to
reflect that fact. Q/

3) If certain fees listed in the tables required under Item%e ove are normally
combined into a single fee payable by either the subscriber scholarship plan as
applicable, the tables may be amended as is necessary to urately reflect that fact.

(4)  State the amount of each fee listed in the tabl %he table titled “Fees you pay”
state the amount(s) in the column titled “What you;&ﬂI In the table titled “Fees the plan
pays” state the amount(s) in the column titled “Wat¥he plan pays”. The amount of each
fee must be disclosed based on how the fee S Iculated. For example, if a particular
fee is calculated as a fixed dollar amount p or a fixed amount per year, it must be
stated as such. Similarly, if a fee is calculatey as a percentage of the scholarship plan’s
assets, that percentage must be stajedN\A statement or note that a fee is subject to
applicable taxes, such as goods Q& services taxes or harmonized sales taxes, is

permitted, if applicable. ?\

(5) For a group schola
calculates the sales ch
contribution by a sub
of sales charge pet,
of the sales char,

lan or other type of scholarship plan that normally
ayable as a fixed dollar amount linked to the amount of
(i.e. x.x x$ per unit), in addition to stating the fixed amount
s required under Instruction (3), the disclosure of the amount
the table titled “Fees you pay” in the column titled “What you pay”
must also be sed as a percentage of the cost of a unit of the scholarship plan. If
the total ¢ a unit of the scholarship plan varies depending on the contribution
option or ency selected, the percentage sales charge must be expressed as a
range, en the lowest and the highest percentage of the unit cost the sales charge
can sent, based on the different contribution options available to subscribers under
theNgcholarship plan. This must be calculated as follows: (i) divide the sales charge per

& Dy the contribution option that has the highest total cost per unit, and (ii) divide the

les charge per unit by the contribution option that has the lowest total cost per unit.
For example, if a scholarship plan calculates its sales charge as $200/unit, and the total
cost per unit for a subscriber can range from $1000 to $5000 (based on the different
options available to subscribers), the percentage range of the sales charge disclosed in
the table would be 4% (200/5000) to 20% (200/1000). The disclosure in the table must
also state that the exact percentage of the sales charge per unit for a subscriber will

Fi
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depend on the contribution option selected for contributing to the scholarship plan and
how old their beneficiary is at the time they open the scholarship plan.

(6) For the table titled “Fees you pay”, in the column titled “"What you pay” describe
how the fee is deducted from contributions if the amount deducted from each
contribution is not the same. For example, if deductions for sales charges are not made
from each contribution at a constant rate for the duration of a subscriber’s investment
the scholarship plan or the duration for which contributions are required to be ma 'Tf\lt
is less than the scholarship plan’s duration, describe the amounts from contrt&ns
that are deducted for sales charges.

A\
(7 In both tables, in the column titled “What the fee is for” pr q’a concise
explanation of what the fee is used for, using the same or substanti ilar wording
provided above in the tables. %

(8) In both tables, in the column titled “Who the fee is paldfg tate the name of the
entity to which the fee is paid, e.g. the investment fund m the portfolio manager,
the principal distributor or dealer, the foundation, etc. %

(9) For the table titled “Fees the plan pays”, t @ependent review committee fee
must be disclosed as the total dollar amount pgi connection with the independent
review committee for the most recently comple nancial year of the scholarship plan.

(10) Disclosure of insurance premiums wﬂhe “Fees you pay” table is permitted only if
the scholarship plan requires a S! bs’tmber to purchase insurance coverage in a
jurisdiction in which the scholar plan’s securities are being distributed. If the
scholarship plan’s rules only ire insurance coverage to be purchased by
subscribers in some, but not & sdictions in which the scholarship plan’s securities
are distributed, then includegdefosure stating the jurisdictions in which the scholarship
plan requires subscriberx rchase insurance, under the heading titled “What the fee

is for” in that table.

following ass s: (i) the beneficiary is a newborn, (ii) the subscriber is purchasing
one unit of holarship plan, (iii) the subscriber has agreed to a monthly contribution
schedule ontributions payable until the scholarship plan’s maturity date, and (iv)
all of t ndatory fees that are normally deducted from a subscriber’s contributions
are ted during the relevant period.

(11) The discl;;a@ required under subsection (2) of Iltem 10 must be based on the

@ For the disclosure required in subsection (2) of Item 10, if the scholarship plan

s not offer units but uses a similar method for deducting sales charges as is
described under subsection (2) of Item 10, the wording may be amended as is
necessary to properly reflect the scholarship plan’s features.
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(13) The “Other fees” sidebar required under subsection (3) of Item 10 refers to fees
for specific transactions, such as changing a beneficiary, that are described in the table
titled “Transaction Fees” in Item 14.4 of Part C of the Form.

ltem 11 Guarantees

Under the heading “Are there any guarantees?”, state the following using tfs‘
same or substantially similar wording: Q'\

We cannot tell you in advance if your child will qualify to receive any,.%?;)ﬁents
from the plan or how much your child will receive. We do not guarantee t ount of
any payments or that the payments will cover the full cost of your child’&/ t“secondary

education. <b

Unlike bank accounts or GICs, investments in scholarshj S are not covered
by the Canada Deposit Insurance Corporation or any other gofg ent insurer.

ltem 12 For More Information %Qg

(2) Under the sub-heading “For more inform@, state the following using the
same or substantially similar wording: b‘

The Detailed Plan Disclosure delivq@v\th this Plan Summary contains further
details about this plan, and we recommendwyou read it. You may also contact [insert
name of investment fund manager] r'?qur sales representative for more information
about this plan.

(2)  State the name, addre toll-free telephone number of the investment fund
manager of the plan and, ¢ licable, state the e-mail address and website of the
investment fund manage% e plan.

Part B — Detailed P, isclosure - General Information

Item 1 ConQE'ge Disclosure
1.1. Pr@ﬂary Prospectus Disclosure

reliminary prospectus must have printed in red ink and in italics at the top of
the\¢oVer page of the Detailed Plan Disclosure immediately above the disclosure
@ulred in section 1.2 the following:

A copy of this preliminary prospectus has been filed with the securities regulatory
authorit[y/ies] in [insert, as applicable the names of the provinces and territories of
Canada] but has not yet become final for the purpose of the sale of securities.
Information contained in this preliminary prospectus may not be complete and may have
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to be amended. The securities may not be sold until a receipt for the prospectus is
obtained from the securities regulatory authorit[y/ies].

INSTRUCTION
A scholarship plan must complete the bracketed information by:

(@) inserting the names of each jurisdiction in which the scholarship@sn
intends to offer securities under the prospectus, (L

(b)  stating that the filing has been made in each of the provinces @ﬂada or
each of the provinces and territories of Canada, or

(c) identifying the filing jurisdictions by exception (i.e.%%/ry province of
Canada or every province and territory of Canada, e@ [insert excluded
jurisdictions]). &

1.2. Required Statement %Qg

State in italics at the top of the cover page ty@owing:

No securities regulatory authority hae\véxpressed an opinion about these
securities and it is an offence to claim othe :

1.3. Basic Disclosure about theishibution

(1)  State the following immedy below the disclosure required under sections 1.1

and 1.2: %0

[Insert as appli Qs. PRELIMINARY/ PRO FORMA] PROSPECTUS
CONTINUOUS OFFERING
DETAILED PLAN DISCLOSURE

QQ‘O [Insert Date]

C)% [Insert Name of Scholarship Plan(s)]

[St t@ type of securities qualified for distribution under the prospectus, and the price
2( per security or minimum subscription amount]

§ State the following:

[Insert, as applicable - This/These] investment fund[s] [insert, as applicable - is
a/are] scholarship plan[s] that [Insert, as applicable - is/are] managed by [state the
name of the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan].
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INSTRUCTION

Write the date in full with the name of the month in words. A pro forma
prospectus does not have to be dated, but may reflect the anticipated date of the
prospectus.

Item 2  Inside Cover Page \b‘
2.1. Introduction (19

Starting on a new page on the inside cover page under the headirfg) ‘] \portant
information to know before you invest”, include an introduction to formation
provided in response to sections 2.2, 2.3, and 2.4 of this Part the following
wording:

The following is important information you should knov»(&ou are considering an

investment in a scholarship plan. %Q

2.2. No Social Insurance Number O

Under the sub-heading “No social insuran&e‘ mber = No government grants, no
tax benefits”, state the following using the sams\ substantially similar wording with the

last paragraph in bold type: q/

We need social insurance urhhesrs for you and each child named as a
beneficiary under the plan before an register your plan as a Registered Education
Savings Plan (RESP). The Inc ax Act (Canada) won'’t allow us to register your

plan as an RESP without thesg \§XClal insurance numbers. Your plan must be registered

before it can: %

- qualify fi t% ax benefits of an RESP, and
- rec '@ny government grants.

You rgrovide the beneficiary’s social insurance number after the plan is open.
If you dogFt§fovide the beneficiary’s social insurance number when you sign your
contra@ us, we’ll put your contributions into an unregistered education savings
acc uring the time your contributions are held in this account, we will deduct sales
C ées and fees from your contributions as described under “Costs of investing in this
én’ in the prospectus. You will be taxed on any income earned in this account.

If we receive the beneficiary’s social insurance number within [insert the number

of months - see Instruction (1)] months of your application date, we’ll transfer your
contributions and the income they earned to your registered plan.
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If we do not receive the social insurance numbers within [insert number of
months - see Instruction (1)] months of your application date, we’ll cancel your plan.
You'll get back your contributions and the income earned, less sales charges and fees.
Since you pay sales charges up front, you could end up with much less than you put in.

If you don’t expect to get the social insurance number for your beneficiary
within [insert number of months - see Instruction (1)] months of your appllcaw‘
date, you should not enrol or make contributions to the plan.

INSTRUCTIONS y\%

(1)  State the maximum number of months after the application dw bscriber’s

plan the following which the investment fund manager will cancel t olarship plan
for failure to provide the social insurance numbers require registering the
scholarship plan as an RESP. &

(2) If the scholarship plan’s rules do not permit a s rlber to open the plan or
accept contributions without the beneficiary’s social tno nce number, amend the
disclosure in this section to reflect that fact.

2.3. Payments Not Guaranteed &
(2) Following the disclosure required UP'@'\section 2.2, state the following, on the
inside cover page under the sub-heading ‘Rayments not guaranteed”, using the same

or substantially similar wording: )

We cannot tell you in a e if your beneficiary will qualify to receive any
educational assistance pay EAPSs) [insert, if applicable — or any discretionary

payments] from the plan w much your beneficiary will receive. We do not
guarantee the amount payments or that they will cover the full cost of your
% education.

plans depend veral factors”, state the following using the same or substantially

beneficiary’s post se§
(2) For a w olarship plan, under the sub-heading “Payments from group

similar Wor@
%Jmount of the EAPs from a group plan will depend on how much the plan
ear @1 the number of beneficiaries in the group who do not qualify for payments.

% If the scholarship plan provides for any discretionary payments, immediately

\b lowing the disclosure required under subsection 2.3(1) or 2.3(2), as applicable, list the
discretionary payments that may be provided and state the following using the same or
substantially similar wording with the first sentence in bold type:

Discretionary payments are not guaranteed. You must not count on receiving
a discretionary payment. The [insert the name of the entity funding the discretionary

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 257



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

payment] decides if it will make a payment in any year and how much the payment will
be. If the [insert the name of the entity funding the discretionary payment] makes a
payment, you may get less than what has been paid in the past.

4) Under the sub-heading “Understand the risks”, state the following using the same
or substantially similar wording in bold type:

plan, you could lose some or all of your money. Make sure you underst he
risks before you invest. Carefully read the information found under i{?is s of
investing in a scholarship plan” and “Risks of investing in this p%

in this
Detailed Plan Disclosure. &

Under the sub-heading “If you change your mind”, sta(g following using the
same or substantially similar wording with the last two sen es in bold type:

If you withdraw your contributions early or do not meet the term;% e

2.4. Withdrawal and Cancellation Rights

You have up to 60 days after signing your c t?a.at to withdraw from your plan
and get back all of your money. ,&6

If you (or we) cancel your plan after 6(}.@&5, you’'ll get back your contributions,
less sales charges and fees. You will the earnings on your money. Your
government grants will be returned to the government. Keep in mind that you pay
sales charges up front. If you can eNmur plan in the first few years, you could
end up with much less than you@n.

tem 3  Table of Contents 0?“
3.1. Table of Contentg?~E

(1)  Include a ta@%ontents.

(2) Begin t&%me of contents on a new page.

3) In n the table of contents, under the heading “Specific information about
our pl 7 a list of all of the scholarship plans offered under the prospectus, with a
refe @ to the page numbers where the plan-specific information about each
sc&a Ship plan required to be provided under Part C of this Form can be found.

N
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Item 4  Introduction and Glossary
4.1. Introduction and Documents Incorporated by Reference

(1) On a new page or immediately after the table of contents, under the heading
“Introduction”, incorporate by reference the following documents in the prospectus by
using the following wording or wording that is substantially similar: '\b‘

ed

This Detailed Plan Disclosure contains information to help you make an ilﬂ%
decision about investing in our scholarship plan[s] and to understand your ri ht§ S an
investor. It describes the plan[s] and how [it/they] work][s], including the f %/ou pay,
the risks of investing in a plan and how to make changes to your plan 0 contains
information about our organization. The prospectus is comprised 0 this Detailed
Plan Disclosure and each Plan Summary that was delivered with it. %

You can find additional information about the plan[s] in&%ﬁllowing documents:

- the plan’s most recently filed annual financ% tements,

- any interim financial reports filed afte&@annual financial statements, and
- the most recently filed annual man&%ment report of fund performance.
These documents are incorporated lgareference into the prospectus. That means

they legally form part of this docu eﬁ\jmt as if they were printed as part of this
document. 1

You can get a copy of ocuments at no cost by calling us at [insert the toll-
free telephone number or one number where collect calls are accepted] or by
contacting us at [insert t olarship plan’s e-mail address].

[Insert if appl] - You'll also find these documents on our website at [insert
the scholarship @ website address]].

Thes uments and other information about the plan[s] are also available at
www.sedgr :

\J
(2) Qéte that any documents of the type described in subsection 4.1(1) above, if
fi eﬁ(o the scholarship plan after the date of the prospectus and before the termination
\ e distribution, are deemed to be incorporated by reference in the prospectus.

(3) Include a description of each of the documents referred to in subsection 4.1(1)
above and briefly explain the importance each document.
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4.2. Terms Used in the Prospectus

Under the heading “Terms used in this prospectus”, provide the following list of
defined terms using the same or substantially similar wording:

In this document, “we”, “us” and “our” refer to [name of entities involved in the
administration and distribution of scholarship plan securities]. “You” refers to potegt\@k
investors, subscribers and beneficiaries. Q

The following are definitions of some key terms you will find in this pros;&eék:

Accumulated income payment (AIP): the earnings on your co Qi}gns and/or
government grants that you may get from your plan if your benefici S not pursue
post-secondary education and you meet certain conditions @ y the federal

government or by the plan. %

AIP: see Accumulated income payment. Q

Application date: the date you opened your %/Ith us, which is the date you
sign your contract. &

Attrition: under a group plan, a reduq@ in the number of beneficiaries who
qualify for EAPs in a beneficiary group. Se@\;%o pre-maturity attrition and post-maturity

attrition.
N
Beneficiary: the person yo e to receive EAPs under the plan.

Beneficiary group: b W:Taries in a group plan who have the same year of
eligibility. They are typically n the same year.

Contract: the réY:ent you enter into with us when you open your education
savings plan. O§

Contri : the amount you pay into a plan. Sales charges and other fees are
deducted fr@ ur contributions and the remaining amount is invested in your plan.

etionary payment: a payment, other than a fee refund, that beneficiaries

ma @ ive in addition to their EAPSs, as determined by [insert name of entity funding
theNdisCretionary payment] in its discretion.
\ Discretionary payment account: any account that holds money used to fund

discretionary payments to beneficiaries.

EAP: see Educational Assistance Payment.
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EAP account: for group plans, an account that holds the income earned on
contributions made by subscribers. There is a separate EAP account for each
beneficiary group. An EAP account includes the income earned on contributions of
subscribers who have cancelled their plan or whose plan was cancelled by us. The
money in this account is distributed to the remaining beneficiaries in the beneficiary
group as part of their EAPs.

Earnings: any money earned on your (i) contributions and (ii) gov‘%grr}t‘

grants, such as interest and capital gains. For group plans, it does not incl ny
income earned in the discretionary payment account, such as interest garned on

income after the maturity date. (L
Educational assistance payment (EAP): In general, an t a payment
made to your beneficiary after the maturity date for eligible studie AP consists of
your earnings and your government grants. [Insert, if the pros includes a group
scholarship plan - For a group plan, an EAP consists of government grants,

earnings on your government grants and your beneficiary, are of the EAP account.]
EAPs do not include discretionary payments or fee refu

Eligible studies: a post-secondary educa}@ program that meets the plan’s
requirements for a beneficiary to receive EAPs. b‘

Government Grant: any financial g(@'\bond or incentive offered by the federal
government, (such as the Canada Educatigt Savings Grant, or the Canada Learning
Bond), or by a provincial government,t ist with saving for post-secondary education

inan I'?ESP. *

Grant contribution ro% e amount of government grant you are eligible for
under a federal or provincia rnment grant program.

Income: has th§ e meaning as Earnings.

Maturlty e date on which the plan matures. In general, it is in the year
your benef|C|a pected to enrol in their first year of post-secondary education.

PI %ﬂeans [list the name(s) of each of scholarship plan sold under this
prospe 7 [insert for a multiple prospectus - each] a scholarship plan that provides
fungi r a beneficiary’s post-secondary education.

§ Post-maturity attrition: under a group plan, a reduction in the number of
neficiaries who qualify for EAPs in a beneficiary group after the maturity date. See
also Attrition.

Pre-maturity attrition: under a group plan, a reduction in the number of

beneficiaries who qualify for EAPs in a beneficiary group before the maturity date. See
also Attrition.
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Subscriber: the person who enters into a contract with [insert legal name of
entity entering into contract with subscribers] to make contributions to a plan.

Unit: under a group plan, a unit represents your beneficiary’s proportionate share
of the EAP account. The terms of the contract you sign determine the value of the unit.

Year of eligibility: the year in which a beneficiary is first eligible to receive S
under a plan. For a group plan, it is typically the year the beneficiary will enter hi er
[insert as applicable - first or second] academic year of eligible studies. In g perdl, the
year of eligibility is [insert as applicable - one year after/ the same year as]ffly maturity
date.

For other types of plans, the year of eligibility can be any@r the maturity

date. &%

INSTRUCTIONS Q

(1) The list of defined terms must not contai E@erial information not found
elsewhere in the prospectus. The glossary must bg{ d to the terms provided.

(2) Use the terms set out in section 4.2 in m@‘prospectus to facilitate comparability

between scholarship plans. q/

prospectus. For example, a prosp that does not include a group scholarship plan
must not include those terms tha&\ d be applicable only to a group scholarship plan.

ltem 5  Overview of Sch@wip Plans
5.1. Introductory @&

(3) Include only the terms that ar§ Mcable to a scholarship plan included in the

Provide, @ top of a new page, the heading “Overview of our scholarship
plan[s]”. Q%‘
5.2. Deé(ﬁ(ion of Scholarship Plans

Q%der the heading “What is a scholarship plan?”, state the following using the
saf% I substantially similar wording:

\ A scholarship plan is a type of investment fund that is designed to help you save
for a beneficiary’s post-secondary education. Your plan must be registered as a
Registered Education Savings Plan (RESP) in order to qualify for government grants
and tax benefits. To do this, we need social insurance numbers for you and the person
you name in the plan as your beneficiary.
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You sign a contract when you open a plan with us. You make contributions under
the plan. We invest your contributions for you, after deducting applicable fees. You will
get back your contributions, less fees, whether or not your beneficiary goes on to post-
secondary education. Your beneficiary will receive educational assistance payments
(EAPs) from us if they enrol in eligible studies and all the terms of the contract are met.

sign. If you or your beneficiary does not meet the terms of your contract, it could

Please read your contract carefully and make sure you understand it before ‘?k
6%} t
in a loss and your beneficiary could lose some or all of their EAPS.

5.3. List of Scholarship Plans Offered ({,\\
(1) If the investment fund manager offers more than one type larship plan,
under the heading “Types of plans we offer”, list the scholarship pl ered.

(2)  State, as applicable, that there are differences w&%é enrolment criteria,
contribution requirements, fees, eligible studies, payment, beneficiaries, options for
receiving EAPs and options if the beneficiary does noﬁle eligible studies among
the scholarship plans offered. For a multiple prospegtua/include a cross-reference to
the plan-specific disclosure for each scholarship,@ provided under Part C of this

Form.
,\ba
INSTRUCTION q/Q

For each scholarship plan list d'bnder subsection 5.3(1), state the name of the
issuer of the securities. i

Item 6  General Informatic@aut Scholarship Plan Life Cycle

6.1. Overview of Schq@p Plan Life Cycle

(2) Using the he s@ “How our plan[s] work][s]”, provide a brief description of the life
cycle of the plan@ered under the prospectus, from enrolment in the plan(s) to EAPs
e

being paid to ficiary.
(2) Usi e margin of the page, add a sidebar under the heading “How our plan]s]
work[sk state the following using the same or substantially similar wording with the

title c@ sidebar in bold type:
\é Make sure your contact information is up to date
It is important that you keep your address and contact information up to date. We
will need to communicate important information to you throughout the life of your plan.

We will also need to find you and the beneficiary when the plan matures so we can
return your contributions and make payments to the beneficiary.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The disclosure provided under section 6.1 must not exceed one page in length,
and may be provided by means of a table or diagram.

(2) In providing the disclosure required under section 6.1, briefly describe the life
cycle of the scholarship plan(s) offered under the prospectus, including significa
stages such as enrolling and registering the scholarship plan as an RESP und e
Income Tax Act (Canada), making contributions and paying fees from contriﬂ@ns
investing contributions and government grants, ceasing investments in accor with
the scholarship plan’s investment objectives and strategies upon pIﬁ?P aturlty,
returning contributions to subscribers at maturity and paying EAPs to Iciaries for
eligible studies.

(3) Do not provide a separate life cycle description for each @%rshlp plan offered
t

under a multiple prospectus. Provide one life cycle descripti aining the elements
that are common to the life cycle of each of the scholay, Ians offered under the
prospectus. %

6.2. Enrolling in a Scholarship Plan ,@

(2) Under the sub-heading “Enrolling in a m@‘ describe the enrolment process for
the scholarship plan(s) offered under the p@ectus, including the requirement that the
subscriber provide a social insurance numider at the time of enrolment to register the
plan as an RESP under the Income E(')&pt\ (Canada).

plan, including Canadian resiqg€ nd social insurance number requirements.

6.3. Unregistered Ac@

(2) Under the s -heading “If your beneficiary does not have a social insurance
number”, list the ns available to a subscriber whose beneficiary does not yet have
a social insur mber, including the option to wait until the beneficiary has a social
i r to purchase a scholarship plan that is eligible to be held in an RESP.

(2) Describe the requiremen;%’r designation of a beneficiary of the scholarship

insurance n@
(2) Qg)scholarship plan provider offers an unregistered education savings account,

des @

% (@) the features of the unregistered education savings account, including what
ppens to contributions made to the account,

(b)  whether the account is eligible to receive government grants, and

(c) the tax treatment of the account.
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(3) State the deadline for providing the beneficiary’s social insurance number after
which the investment fund manager will close the account.

INSTRUCTION
Any plan or account offered by the scholarship plan provider that is not eligible

for registration by the federal government as an RESP or is not held in a regist r%
education savings account must be referred to and described as an “unregighd

education savings account”. (L
6.4. Government Grants ({,\\
(1) Under the sub-heading “Government grants”, list the govern rants that the
investment fund manager will apply for on a beneficiary’s behalf. ch government
grant program, provide %

(@)  a brief description of the program, Q&

(b)  the maximum amount that may be gr t%under the program annually
and over the duration of an RESP, @

(© if applicable, the annual contrit{h‘ron amount that would attract the
maximum annual government grant, and q/Q

(d)  any requirement to repigbvernment grants.

(2) Describe what happens Qre government grants received by the investment
fund manager on behalf of a @Eary, including

(@) the legal rship of the money throughout the life span of an
investment in the scf@ plan,

(b)  wh the money is pooled with the government grants of other
beneficiaries, Q

(© %hether the money is invested together with subscriber contributions or
separa om contributions, and

<(Qj) how the money is allocated on distribution to a qualified beneficiary.
% State that a subscriber may contact their sales representative or the investment
fund manager about the applications that the investment fund manager will make on

behalf of the subscriber and disclose where a subscriber can obtain more information
about available government grants.
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INSTRUCTION

The disclosure provided under section 6.4 must not exceed two pages. The
disclosure may be provided in the form of a table.

6.5. Contribution Limits

(2) Under the sub-heading “Contribution limits”, disclose whether the sch;)@p

plan imposes a cumulative limit for contributions and indicate whether this is e ive
of any government grants. ,\\

(2) Disclose whether a subscriber can make contributions annu eyond the
amount(s) that would result in the receipt of the maximum annual am government
grants.

3) If a subscriber is permitted to make additional con&@mns as described in
subsection (2), disclose that the additional contributions ar, t'eligible to attract further
government grants and disclose how the additional contpjeons are invested.

4) Disclose the maximum amount that may b&e tributed to an RESP under the
Income Tax Act (Canada), and provide a crossgretrence to the tax consequences of
contributions beyond the limit set by the Incom}Fax Act (Canada) as disclosed under

section 11.3 of this Part of this Form. q/
6.6. Additional Services '\‘\

If applicable, under the “treading “Additional services”, describe additional
services relating to an inv t in the scholarship plan that are available to
subscribers from the invest nd manager or the principal distributor.

INSTRUCTION Sv

If insuran @ contributions is offered for purchase by the principal distributor,
provide a brie@'ﬁiption of the insurance coverage, including the name of the insurer
and whethepth&insurance is mandatory or optional for the subscriber. Include a cross-
reference@ disclosure provided under section 14.5 of Part C of this Form.

6.7<<§;s and Expenses

% Under the sub-heading “Fees and expenses”, state the following using the same
substantially similar wording:

There are costs for joining and participating in our plan[s]. You pay some of these
fees and expenses directly from your contributions. The plan[s] pay[s] some of the fees
and expenses, which are deducted from the [plan’s/plans’] earnings. See “Costs of
investing in this plan” in this Detailed Plan Disclosure for a description of the fees and
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expenses of [each of] our plan[s]. Fees and expenses reduce the plan’s returns which
reduces the amount available for EAPs.

(2) If the investment fund manager offers more than one type of scholarship plan,
state, if applicable, that each scholarship plan offered requires the subscriber to pay
different fees and expenses and, if applicable, that the choice of scholarship plan affects
the amount of compensation paid to the dealer by a member of the organization of tls‘
scholarship plan or a subscriber. (19'\

6.8. Eligible Studies )\\

Under the sub-heading “Eligible studies”, state the following u @(}é same or
substantially similar wording: <§/

EAPs will be paid to your beneficiary only if he or she in eligible studies.
For a summary of the educational programs that qualify for E nder our plan[s], see
“Summary of eligible studies” in this Detailed Plan Disclosy&g. [nsert if applicable —The
plans offered under the prospectus each have their owneN#la for what post-secondary

carefully read the “Specific information about the " sections for each plan in this
Detailed Plan Disclosure to better understand th%zi rences among the plans.]

N

6.9. Payments from the Scholarship P Q

programs qualify as eligible studies for receiving;é . We recommend that you

“Return of contributions”, state th llowing using the same or substantially similar

wording: ?\
We always return y. Qontributions less fees to you or to your beneficiary.
Earnings from the plan wj erally go to your beneficiary. If your beneficiary does not

gualify to receive the gar gs from your plan, you may be eligible to get back some of

(1) Under the sub-heading “Pay?e'ms’s from the plan” with the sub-sub-heading

those earnings as_&\\accumulated income payment (AIP)”. See the “Accumulated
income paymentg ® ion(s) in this Detailed Plan Disclosure for more information about

AlPs. Q

(2) U he sub-sub-heading “Educational assistance payments”, state the
followi fng the same or substantially similar wording:

Q/e will pay EAPs to your beneficiary if you meet the terms of your plan, and your

%e iciary qualifies for the payments under the plan. The amount of each EAP

pends on the type of plan you have, how much you contributed to it, the government
grants in your plan and the performance of the plan’s investments.

You should be aware that the Income Tax Act (Canada) has restrictions on the
amount of EAP that can be paid out of an RESP at a time. [See Instruction].
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INSTRUCTION

For the disclosure under subsection (2), briefly describe the restrictions under the
Income Tax Act (Canada) on the amount of EAPs that can be paid at a time.

6.10. Unclaimed Accounts

(2) Under the sub-heading “Unclaimed accounts”, briefly describe wh@an
unclaimed account is. (L

(2) Describe the steps that the investment fund manager will take to('{g\t\act the
subscriber and the beneficiary with respect to an unclaimed account.

3) Describe what will happen to any unclaimed contributions; ?ﬁmed earnings
on contributions, government grants and earnings on Qo nt grants if the
investment fund manager is unable to locate the subscriber o& eneficiary.

(4) Describe how a subscriber or beneficiary can ob&:&%yments of any unclaimed
money.

Item 7  Scholarship Plans with Samebl‘n estment Objectives (Multiple

Prospectus) q/Q)\
N

(1) This section applies to a mylgle prospectus for scholarship plans that have the
same investment objectives, inv$~ t strategies and investment restrictions.

7.1. Investment Objectives

(2)  Set out, under the wig “How we invest your money” with the sub-heading
“Investment objectives”, ndamental investment objectives of the scholarship plans,
including any informats n% t describes the fundamental nature of the scholarship plans
or the fundamenta@hres of the scholarship plans that distinguish them from other
types of scholarshiRglans.

(3) Des%%he nature of any securityholder or other approval that may be required
to chang% Mmvestment objectives of the scholarship plans.

(4) Q scribe any of the material investment strategies to be used to achieve those
in\lgét ent objectives.

If each scholarship plan purports to arrange a guarantee or insurance in order to
protect all or some of the principal amount of the investments made by subscribers,

include this fact as a fundamental investment objective of the scholarship plans and

(@) identify the person providing the guarantee or insurance,
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(b) provide the material terms of the guarantee or insurance, including the
maturity date of the guarantee or insurance, and

(© provide the reasons for which the guarantor or insurer, as applicable,
could limit or avoid execution of the guarantee or insurance policy.

INSTRUCTIONS '\b‘
(1) State the type or types of securities, such as money market instrumerﬂ'% irst
mortgages and bonds, in which the scholarship plans will be primarily inve;%q‘ nder
normal market conditions. (L

(2) If a particular investment strategy is an essential aspect of th @rship plans,
as evidenced by the manner in which the scholarship plans are m d, disclose this
strategy as an investment objective. %

Item 8 Scholarship Plans with Same Invest Strategies (Multiple
Prospectus) %%

8.1. Investment Strategies ,@

(2) This section applies to a multiple pros p\&}s for scholarship plans that have the
same investment objectives, investment str@es and investment restrictions.

(2) Describe under the sub-headii{'h\vestment strategies” the following:

(@) the principal invest Q'Fstrategies that the scholarship plans intend to use
in achieving the investment oly %s, and

(b) the proce§§ which the scholarship plans’ portfolio adviser selects
investments for the Qor(dlios of the scholarship plans, including any investment

approach, philoso ractices or techniques used by the portfolio adviser or any
particular style o olio management that the portfolio adviser intends to follow.

3) Indic %e types of investments, other than those held by the scholarship plans
in accord ith their fundamental investment objectives, which may form part of the
portfoli ts of the scholarship plans under normal market conditions.

(4)<(q the scholarship plans may depart temporarily from their fundamental
@stment objectives as a result of adverse market, economic, political or other

nsiderations, disclose any temporary defensive tactics the portfolio adviser may use
or intends to use in response to such conditions.
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INSTRUCTION

Scholarship plans may, in responding to subsection 8.1(2), provide a discussion
of the general investment approach or philosophy followed by the portfolio adviser of the
scholarship plan.

Item 9  Scholarship Plans with Same Investment Restrictions (Mult"p\&

Prospectus) (19

9.1. Investment Restrictions )\\

(2) This section applies to a multiple prospectus for scholarship pl (]cﬁ have the
same investment objectives, investment strategies and investment resiejons.

(2) Under the sub-heading “Investment restrictions”, descy ny restrictions on

investments adopted by the scholarship plans, beyond what ia({ ired under securities
legislation.

authorities to vary any of the investment restyg s and practices contained in

3) If the scholarship plans have received the argﬁl of the securities regulatory
securities legislation, provide details of the permi&e‘g\‘/ ariations.

4) Describe the nature of any security %r or other approval that may be required

in order to change the investment restrictiongof the scholarship plans.
M)

Item 10 Risks of Investing in a larship Plan

10.1. Risks of Investing in @blarship Plan

(2) Under the headiﬁsks of investing in a scholarship plan”, include an
introduction using the {IlIQ}¥ing wording or wording that is substantially similar:

If you ory, eneficiary does not meet the terms of your contract, it could result
in a loss and eneficiary could lose some or all of their EAPs. Please read the

description e plan-specific risks under “Risks of investing in this plan” in this
Detailed isclosure.

(2) Q%der the sub-heading “Investment risks”, include an introduction using the

f IIQA g wording or wording that is substantially similar:

\ The prices of the investments held by the scholarship plan[s] can go up or down.
[State, as applicable — [Refer to “Risks of investing in this plan” in this Detailed Plan
Disclosure for a description of/Below are [some of]] the risks that can cause the value of

the scholarship plan ['s/s’] investments to change, which will affect the amount of EAPs
available to beneficiaries.] Unlike bank accounts or guaranteed investment certificates,
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your investment in a scholarship plan is not covered by the Canada Deposit Insurance
Corporation or any other government deposit insurer.

3) For a multiple prospectus, list and describe the investment risks applicable to
each of the scholarship plans offered under the prospectus.

4) For a multiple prospectus that contains the disclosure required by section 7.
this Part of the Form, if, at any time during the 12-month period immediately pre g
the date of the prospectus, more than 10% of the net assets of a scholarship pl re
invested in the securities of an issuer other than a government security, disclqeeﬂ

(L

(@) the name of the issuer and the securities, Q~

(b) the highest percentage of the net assets of the rship plan that
securities of that issuer represented during the 12-month perlo

(c) the risks associated with the investments, in in the possible or actual
effect on the liquidity and diversification of the scholarshj
INSTRUCTIONS
Q) Each risk factor listed must be describe@ﬁer a separate sub-sub-heading.
(2) Describe the risks in the order of the‘)o()st serious to the least serious.

M)
3) Do not de-emphasize a risk r by including excessive caveats or conditions.
(4) Include a discussion o ?e?ral market, political, market sector, liquidity, interest
rate, foreign currency, div tion and credit risks that apply to the portfolio of the
scholarship plan, as appr% '

(5) The term “g ent security” has the same meaning as in Regulation 81-102
respecting Mutu S

ltem 11 Ir@ Tax Considerations

11.1. é}s of the Scholarship Plan

<§ nder the heading “How taxes affect your plan”, briefly describe the status of the
arship plan for income tax purposes.

11.2. Taxation of the Scholarship Plan

Under the sub-heading “How the plan is taxed”, state in general terms the basis
upon which the income and capital received by the scholarship plan are taxed.
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11.3. Taxation of the Subscriber

(1) Under the sub-heading “How you are taxed”, state in general terms how the
subscriber will be taxed. State in general terms, as applicable to the scholarship plan(s)
offered under the prospectus, using sub-sub-headings, the income tax consequences of

(@) areturn of contributions at the maturity date, \b‘
(b)  awithdrawal of contributions before the maturity date, (19
(c) a refund of sales charges or other fees, (l',\\

(d)  any other distributions to the subscriber in the form o I@ e, capital or
otherwise,

(e) acancellation of units prior to the maturity date,&%

0] a purchase of additional units, %%Q

(9) atransfer between scholarship plans&o

(h)  an additional contribution made to\&ﬁress backdating of a plan,

0] an additional contribution mgme to cure defaults under the scholarship
plan, and N

() a contribution beyo@e limit set by the Income Tax Act (Canada).

(2) Under the sub-sub- Mg “If you receive an Accumulated income payment

(AIP)”, Sv

(@) state @x consequences of receiving an AlP,

(b) %ﬂbe how an AIP may be transferred to a registered retirement savings

plan, and %
C)describe the tax consequences of a transfer of an AIP to a registered

reti&@%t savings plan.

\QA. Taxation of the Beneficiary

Under the sub-heading “How your beneficiary is taxed”, state in general terms
the income tax consequences to a beneficiary of a payment made to the beneficiary
under the scholarship plan, including, as applicable, an EAP, a discretionary payment
and a fee refund.
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Item 12 Organization and Management Details of the Scholarship Plan
12.1. Organization and Management Details

(1) Provide in a diagram or table, under the heading “Who is involved in running the
plan[s]”, information about the entities involved in operating the scholarship plan
including the investment fund manager, foundation, trustee, portfolio adviser, prin

distributor, independent review committee, custodian, registrar and auditor C'N

scholarship plan. (L

(2) For each entity listed in the diagram or table, briefly descrlbe Brvices
provided by that entity, and the relationship of that entity to the ent fund
manager. Include a description of how each of the following aspects operations of
the scholarship plan is administered and who administers those f@

(a) the management and administration of the s% ship plan, including
valuation services, fund accounting and securityhold ords, other than the
management of the portfolio assets; Q

(b) the management of the portfollo ts including the provision of
investment analysis or investment recommencg‘ s and the making of investment
decisions;

(© the purchase and sale of or‘tf‘)ﬂo assets by the scholarship plan and the
making of brokerage arrangements ng\to the portfolio assets;

(d)  the distribution oft urltles of the scholarship plan;

(e) if the scholars@an is a trust, the trusteeship of the scholarship plan;

() if the scRpladehip plan is a corporation, the oversight of the affairs of the
scholarship plan by irectors of the corporation;

tQQUstodianship of the assets of the scholarship plan;

the ind

(h) e oversight of the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan by
éﬁent review committee;

<(Q|) the oversight of the scholarship plan by any other body.
% For each entity listed in the diagram or table, other than the investment fund
manager, provide, if applicable, the municipality and the province or country where it

principally provides its services to the scholarship plan. Provide the complete municipal
address for the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan.
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INSTRUCTION

The “foundation” refers to the not-for-profit entity that is the sponsor of the
scholarship plan.

Item 13 Statement of Rights

Na

13.1. Statement of Rights Q

Under the heading “Your rights as an investor”, state the foIIowing&sg}ﬁ the
same or substantially similar wording: (L

You have the right to withdraw from an agreement to bu olarship plan
securities and get back all of your money (including any fees or e es paid), within
60 days of signing the agreement. If the plan is cancelled after % s, you will only get
back your contributions, less fees and expenses. :\

Any government grants you've received will be r to the government.

In several provinces and territories, securitislation also gives you the right
to withdraw from a purchase and get back all of youNmoney, or to claim damages, if the
prospectus and any amendment contain a nu{ resentation or are not delivered to
you. You must act within the time limit set@we securities legislation in your province
[insert if the scholarship plan(s) is/are distrillted in one or more territories of Canada -
or territory]. )

You can find out more ab Ql‘hese rights by referring to the securities legislation
of your province [insert if the olarship plan(s) is/are distributed in one or more
territories of Canada - or terg or by consulting a lawyer.
ltem 14 Other Mate 'a&rmaﬁon
14.1. Other Ma @ nformation
(1) Und tﬁg heading “Other important information”, state any other material facts
relating t eQ/Securities being offered that are not disclosed under any other item in this
Form e necessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of
all | facts about the securities to be distributed.

% Provide any specific disclosure required to be disclosed in a prospectus under
curities legislation that is not otherwise required to be disclosed by this Form.

(3)  Subsection (2) does not apply to requirements of securities legislation that are
form requirements for a prospectus.
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INSTRUCTIONS
(1)  Sub-headings that are not mandated by this Form may be used in this Item.

(2) For a single prospectus, provide this disclosure either under this Item or under
Item 23 of Part C of this Form, whichever is more appropriate.

pertains to all of the scholarship plans described in the document. If the disclos es
not pertain to all of the scholarship plans, provide the disclosure under Item 2&01; art C

of this Form. (L
ltem 15 Back Cover &

15.1. Back Cover Q§)

(1) State on the back cover of the Detailed Plan %sure the name of the
scholarship plan(s) offered under the prospectus, and t e, address and telephone
number of the investment fund manager of the schol plan(s).

3) For a multiple prospectus, provide this disclosure under this Item if the dija@(e

(2)  State the following using the same or sub%a‘lﬁally similar wording:
You can find additional information eﬁ;@%e plan[s] in the following documents:
- the plan’s most recentl&ilé\tannual financial statements,
- any interim financia%@?orts filed after the annual financial statements, and
- the most rece #ed annual management report of fund performance.

means they legally art of this document just as if they were printed as part of this
document.

These docum;@t& incorporated by reference into this prospectus. That

free tele number or telephone number where collect calls are accepted] or by
contac@~ t [insert the scholarship plan’s e-mail address].

nsert if applicable - You'll also find these documents on our website at [insert
\@scholarship plan’s website address]].

You ng;et a copy of these documents at no cost by calling us at [insert the toll-
ﬁ a

These documents and other information about the plan[s] are also available at
www.sedar.com.
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Part C — Detailed Plan Disclosure - Plan-Specific Information
Item 1  General

The Items in this Part apply to each type of scholarship plan unless otherwise

stated.
Q>
2.1. For a Single Prospectus '\:1/

Include at the top of the first page of the Part C section of@g@ﬁectus the

Item 2 Introductory Disclosure

heading “Specific information about the [insert the name of the schol plan]”.

2.2. For a Multiple Prospectus Q&®

(@) atthe top of the first page of the first P t&ection of the prospectus, the
heading “Specific information about our plans”, an 6

Include,

(b) at the top of each page of a Pam\&‘section of the prospectus, a heading

consisting of the name of the scholarship p escribed on that page.
Iltem 3  Plan Description *'\‘s
3.1. Plan Description Q‘

Under the heading “T@f plan”, disclose in the form of a table

(@ the type@ olarship plan, and

(b) the @on which the scholarship plan was started.
INSTRUCTQI&

Qgsklosing the date on which the scholarship plan was started, use the date on
whi securities of the scholarship plan first became available for offer to the public,

high Will be on or about the date of the issuance of the first receipt for a prospectus of
\%scholarship plan.
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Item 4  Eligibility and Suitability
4.1. Eligibility and Suitability

(1) Under the heading “Who this plan is for”, list the eligibility requirements for
enrolment in the scholarship plan.

investors, describing the characteristics of the subscriber and beneficiary for w he
scholarship plan may be an appropriate investment and for whom it may ,()t\ e an
appropriate investment. (L

INSTRUCTION Qg‘
(0]

The disclosure provided under subsection 4.1(2) musg@%lsistent with the
disclosure provided under Item 4 of Part A of this FomkQ.\Biscuss whether the
scholarship plan is particularly suitable for certain types g estors. Conversely, if the
scholarship plan is particularly unsuitable for certain ty investors, emphasize this
aspect of the plan and disclose the types of inves r%/ o should not invest in the
scholarship plan, on both a short- and long-term bg{é

(2) Provide a brief statement of the suitability of the scholarship plan for par§' ﬁtar

Item 5 Beneficiary Group Q\b‘
5.1. Beneficiary Group '\q/

M)
(2) This Item applies to a group larship plan.

(2) Under the sub-heading@? beneficiary group”, describe

(@ what a b @ry group is and the significance of belonging to a
beneficiary group, and eg

(b) ho\&@ maturity date and year of eligibility are determined and the

significance of, tes.
3) In he table below, introduced using the following wording or wording that is
substa similar:

he table below can help you determine your beneficiary group. In general, the
%e iciary group is determined by the age of the beneficiary when you sign your
ntract.
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Age of beneficiary when the Beneficiary group

plan is purchased

[Insert age of oldest beneficiary  [Insert year of eligibility for oldest beneficiary]
eligible to join the group

scholarship plan] years old

[Insert age corresponding to next [Insert year of eligibility for next oldest beneficiary]
year of eligibility in descending

order] years old

b years old [Insert year of eligibility for youngest beneficiary]

INSTRUCTIONS Qg‘

(1) In responding to subsection 5.1(2), provide disclosure r &g the sharing of
earnings on contributions based on the number of beneficiarj% a beneficiary group,
including the sharing of earnings on contributions where th pre-maturity and post-

maturity attrition. ?%

(2)  The table required under subsection 5.1(3) i @e to demonstrate how the year
of eligibility relates to the age of the beneficiary oﬁéh application date. The disclosure
in the column of this table titled “Age of b rbﬂciary when the scholarship plan is
purchased” must present the ages of theqleneficiaries for whom subscribers may
purchase a group scholarship plan, statiphg” from the oldest to the youngest. For
example, if a beneficiary cannot join the\qupup scholarship plan after age 12, then that
must be the age disclosed in the row of that column. The ages disclosed in the
subsequent row must follow in des&ng order.

3) For the column ti@neficiary Group” in the table required under
subsection 5.1(3), the “ye eligibility” disclosed in each row must be based on the
year of eligibility that Wo@pically correspond to a beneficiary of the age described in
adjacent column of t le titled “Typical age of beneficiary when the scholarship plan
is purchased” as o date of the prospectus. For example, if the age of the beneficiary
listed in the tag(gs. 2, the disclosure under “Beneficiary Group” must show the typical

for a

S

year of eligigili 12 year old beneficiary joining the scholarship plan as of the date
of the pro :

Item@Q'Eligible Studies

,\@ Summary of Eligible Studies

Under the heading “Summary of eligible studies”, state the following using the
same or substantially similar wording:

The following is a description of the post-secondary programs that are eligible
studies and qualify for EAPs under the [insert name of the scholarship plan].
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Contact us or your sales representative to find out if the educational programs
your beneficiary is interested in are eligible studies. We can provide you with a current
list of qualifying institutions and programs on request. This list is also available on the
plan’s website.

For more information about receiving EAPs, see “Educational assistance
payments” on page [insert page reference to the disclosure provided under section Jii&
of Part C of this Form] of this Detailed Plan Disclosure. Q

N
Under the sub-heading “What's eligible”, briefly describe the ty Wprograms
that qualify for EAPs under the scholarship plan.

6.2. Description of Eligible Programs

6.3. Description of Ineligible Programs &

(1) Under the sub-heading “What's not eligible”, b ?y describe the types of
programs that do not qualify for EAPs under the scholar& an.

(2) If any post-secondary program that would @y for an EAP under the Income
Tax Act (Canada) would be considered eligible sudids under the scholarship plan, state
this fact. If there are differences between the b&s of programs eligible for payment of
an EAP under the Income Tax Act (Ca ) and programs recognized as eligible

studies under the scholarship plan, state th#s fact and describe how the scholarship
plan’s requirements are different than th@smcome Tax Act (Canada) requirements.

(3)  State, if applicable, that Q‘ﬁciaries who do not enrol in eligible studies under
the requirements of the schol@ﬁ plan will also not receive payments of government
grants.

4) If the scholarsQip ylan does not recognize all of the same post-secondary
programs that woul lify for an EAP under the Income Tax Act (Canada), then state
the following usi@ same or substantially similar wording:

under thefin§s#rt the name of the scholarship plan] but would qualify for an EAP under
the In Tax Act (Canada), you should consider another type of plan. [Insert if
app, i@ — For example, in our [insert, as applicable the name of the scholarship
plaNgs)], any post-secondary program that would qualify for an EAP under the Income
\@ ct (Canada) is considered eligible studies for receiving an EAP under the plan.]

If yo§gr interested in a post-secondary program that doesn't qualify for EAPs

INSTRUCTIONS
(1) The list of institutions and programs that are “eligible studies” under the

scholarship plan and are referred to in section 6.1 must be provided in a format that
facilitates comprehension by the investor. The list must also be available on the plan’s
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website in a location that does not have restricted access, i.e., it does not require a
password or login account.

(2)  The disclosure required by sections 6.2 and 6.3 may be provided in the form of a
table to assist readability.

3) Describe the programs required to be disclosed under sections 6.2 and 6&
based on characteristics such as the type of educational institutions offerinqgh
programs, the duration of the programs and the location of the educational institlﬂB :

ltem 7  Investment Objectives q, °
7.1. Investment Objectives Q}

(1)  This section does not apply to a scholarship plan that i@red to provide the
disclosure under section 7.1 of Part B of this Form.

(2) Under the heading “How we invest your g& with the sub-heading
“Investment objectives”, state the fundamental inves objectives of the scholarship

plan, including any information that describes the f ental nature of the scholarship
plan or the fundamental features of the schola ﬁ&)«plan that distinguish it from other
types of scholarship plans. )\

3) Describe the nature of any securityh‘&der or other approval that may be required
to change the investment objectivesith&mholarship plan.

4) Describe any of the mat Q"mvestment strategies to be used to achieve the
scholarship plan’s investment oN¥Xclives.

(5) If the scholarship Epurports to arrange a guarantee or insurance in order to
protect all or some o tf% rincipal amount of the investments made by subscribers,
include this fact as amental investment objective of the scholarship plan and

€) i@'& the person providing the guarantee or insurance,

(b) %?ovide the material terms of the guarantee or insurance, including the
maturit of the guarantee or insurance, and

<(Q:) provide the reasons for which the guarantor or insurer could limit or avoid
@cution of the guarantee or insurance policy.

INSTRUCTION

In providing the disclosure required by this Item, follow the Instructions that apply
to section 7.1 of Part B of this Form.
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Item 8 Investment Strategies
8.1. Investment Strategies

(1) This section does not apply to a scholarship plan that is required to provide the
disclosure under section 8.1 of Part B of this Form.

(2) Describe under the sub-heading “Investment strategies” the following: Q'\

€) the principal investment strategies that the scholarship plan intepgék use
in achieving its investment objectives, and

(b)  the process by which the scholarship plan’s portfo '@ser selects
investments for the scholarship plan’s portfolio, including any i ent approach,
philosophy, practices or techniques used by the portfolio advis ny particular style
of portfolio management that the portfolio adviser intends to fdﬁg

3) Indicate the types of investments, other than th%@ d by the scholarship plan
in accordance with its fundamental investment objegi] which may form part of the
scholarship plan’s portfolio assets under normal m;K onditions.

4) If the scholarship plan may depart ten]s@&rily from its fundamental investment
objectives as a result of adverse market,(@nomic, political or other considerations,
disclose any temporary defensive tactics th scholarship plan’s portfolio adviser may
use or intends to use in response toichsctsnditions.

INSTRUCTION
&

A scholarship plan Q responding to subsection 8.1(2), provide a discussion
of the general investmen% oach or philosophy followed by the portfolio adviser of the
scholarship plan.

Item 9 Investé@ estrictions

9.1. Inve <gntRestrictions

(1) 1-Section does not apply to a scholarship plan that is required to provide the
disc specified under section 9.1 of Part B of this Form.

%} Under the sub-heading “Investment restrictions”, describe any restrictions on
\n estments adopted by the scholarship plan, beyond what is required under securities
legislation.

3) If the scholarship plan has received the approval of the securities regulatory

authorities to vary any of the investment restrictions and practices contained in
securities legislation, provide details of the permitted variations.
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4) Describe the nature of any securityholder or other approval that may be required
in order to change the investment restrictions of the scholarship plan.

Item 10 Plan-Specific Risks

10.1. Plan Risks
Na

(1) Under the heading “Risks of investing in this plan” with the sub- headm(;\{ lan
risks”, include an introduction using the following wording or wording that is sq{;‘a tially
similar:

You sign a contract when you open a plan with us. Rea QgTerms of the
contract carefully and make sure you understand the contract bef u sign. If you or
your beneficiary does not meet the terms of your contract, it C sult in a loss and
your beneficiary could lose some or all of his or her EAPs.

Keep in mind that payments from the plan are%z aranteed. We cannot tell
you in advance if your beneficiary will qualify to recejue EAPs from the plan or how
much your beneficiary will receive. We do not guag@ the amount of any payments or
that the payments will cover the full cost of your %e‘n iciary’s post-secondary education.

In addition to the investment risks d?@"}ed under “Investment risks” on page(s)
[insert a page reference to the investment rigks disclosed under section 10.1(3) of Part
B of this Form or section 10.2 of this a{h\of the Form, as applicable] of the prospectus,
the following is a description of theé; of participating in this plan:

erial risks associated with an investment in the
investment risks associated with the portfolio held by
disclosed under section 10.1 of Part B of this Form or
uding, as applicable to the scholarship plan,

(2) List and describe an
scholarship plan, other tha
the scholarship plan th

section 10.2 of this P%,i

(@ the of a change in attrition rates affecting the amount of EAPs
available to b ries,

amoun

(b) %e risk of a decision not to provide a discretionary payment affecting the
Qg)oney available to beneficiaries who enrol in eligible studies,

<(Q:) the risk that the current sources of funding for discretionary payments may
%be available at plan maturity,

(d) if there is no guarantee for any refunds of sales charges or other fees, the

risk that the current sources of funding for the refunds may not be available at or after
the maturity date of the subscriber’s scholarship plan, and
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(e) if the scholarship plan has more than one class or series of securities, the
risk that the investment performance, expenses or liabilities of one class or series may
affect the value of the securities of another class or series.

INSTRUCTION

In responding to section 10.2, follow Instructions (1) — (3) to section 10. %\w‘
Part B of this Form.

10.2. Investment Risks

(1)  Subsections (2) to (5) do not apply to a scholarship plan th (kquwed to
provide the disclosure under section 7.1 of Part B of this Form.

(2) Under the heading “Risks of investing in this plan@ the sub-heading
“Investment risks”, include an introduction using the followin ng or wording that is
substantially similar:

The prices of the investments held by the sc I%hip plan can go up or down.
Below are the risks that can cause the value of th 'S investments to change, which
will affect the amount of EAPs available to benefgg \es.
(3) List and describe the investment ri@l@r}pplicable to the scholarship plan, other
than those risks previously discussed under gtibsection 10.1(3) of Part B of this Form.

M)
4) Include specific cross-refere to the risks described in response to subsection
10.1(3) of Part B of this Form tha&\ pplicable to the scholarship plan.

(5) If, at any time durin 2-month period immediately preceding the date of the
prospectus, more than 1 the net assets of a scholarship plan were invested in the
securities of an issue& than a government security, disclose

@) thngbs

(b) &Eh maximum percentage of the net assets of the scholarship plan that

of the issuer and the securities,

securities t issuer represented during the 12-month period, and

Q the risks associated with the investment in the securities, including the
poQ bTe or actual effect on the liquidity and diversification of the scholarship plan.

If the scholarship plan is required to provide the disclosure under section 7.1 of
Part B of this Form, under the heading “Risks of investing in this plan” with the sub-
heading “Investment risks”, state the following using the same or substantially similar
wording:
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The prices of the investments held by the scholarship plan can go up or down.
You can find a list of risks that can cause the value of the plan’s investments to change
under “Investment risks” on page [insert page reference to the risks disclosed under
section 10.1(3) of Part B of this Form].

INSTRUCTION

In providing disclosure under this section, follow the Instructions to sectior%&l
of Part B of this Form. (L
ltem 11 Annual Returns ({,\\
11.1. Annual Returns Q/E

Under the heading “How the plan has performed”, pro@icRyin the form of the
following table, the annual return of the scholarship plan for the past 5 years (or
for a scholarship plan that has existed for less than ears, for each year the
scholarship plan has been in existence) as disclosed i ost recently filed annual
management report of fund performance of the sch ip plan, introduced using the

following wording or wording that is substantially SK

The table below shows how the investn\&&s in [insert name of the scholarship
plan] performed in each of the past 5 fin @ years ending on [insert date of end of
financial year for the scholarship plan]. Returns are after expenses have been
deducted. These expenses reduce thir NS you get on your investment.

It's important to note tha&doesn’t tell you how the plan’s investments will

perform in the future.
N

[Insert most [Insert most [Insert most [Insert most [Insert most

recently recently recently recently recently
completed completed completed completed completed
Financial Financial Financial Financial Financial
Year] Year minus Year minus Year minus Year minus
1] 2] 3] 4]
Annual [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
Return annual annual annual annual annual
return]% return]% return]% return]% return]%

~

Ny
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ltem 12 Contributions
12.1. Making Contributions

(1) Under the heading “Making contributions”, state the minimum investment in the
scholarship plan permitted under the prospectus and the maximum length of time a
subscriber can make contributions under the plan. '\b‘

(2) If the scholarship plan uses units, under the sub-heading “What is a"@’?
describe the unit and state why the scholarship plan uses units. State if thepg;lly of a
unit is based only on the value of the portfolio assets held by the scholarshim n and, if
not, state what other factors the value of a unit is based on. Q~

3) Under the sub-heading “Your contribution options”, @e all available
contribution options. %

4) If the scholarship plan requires subscribers to ma ntributions to the plan in
accordance with a contribution schedule, under % ub-heading “Contribution
schedule”, include an introduction to the contribujiQnm«<2chedule using the following
wording or wording that is substantially similar: &

The contribution schedule below shows&h’v much you have to contribute to buy
a unit. The price you pay depends on yo @eficiary group and whether you pay for
your units all at once or make periodic cour{tlibutions to pay for your units. [For a group
scholarship plan, state — The prices aPe\c:aIcuIated so that the contributions of each
subscriber for a beneficiary group witNyenerate the same earnings per unit.]

Certain fees and exp ?s‘are deducted from your contributions. For more
information, please see “Fe pay” on page [insert page reference to the disclosure
provided under section 14! Part C of this Form].

The contrib '@chedule was prepared by [indicate name of entity/entities that
prepared the o"@ ion schedule] in [specify year the contribution schedule was
prepared]. Q

®) |

followi
con
Int

N

>

the contribution schedule of the scholarship plan in the form of the
le, together with the following examples to explain how to use the
n schedule to determine the contributions required to pay for each unit.
ce the table using the following wording or wording that is substantially similar
the title “How to use this table” in bold type:

How to use this table:
For example, let's assume your beneficiary is a newborn. If you want to make

monthly contributions until maturity, it will cost $[insert amount payable monthly for this
option] each month for each unit you buy. You would have to make [insert total number
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of payments for this option] contributions over the life of your plan, for a total investment
of $[insert total amount payable for this option].

If your child is 5 years old and you want to make annual contributions until
maturity, it will cost $[insert amount payable annually for this option] each year for each
unit you buy. You would have to make [insert total number of payments for this option]
contributions over the life of your plan, for a total investment of $[insert total am?{w‘

payable for this option].
AN
Contribution schedule
Contribution options [Insert [Insert next [Insert
[See Instruction (2)] youngest youngest oldest
beneficiary  beneficiary beneficiary
by age] [See by age] by age]
Instruction

(3)]

Monthly contribution

Contribution amount [See w
Total number of Instruction
contributions (4)]

Total amount of
contributions

Annual contribution
Contribution amount
Total number of
contributions

Total amount of
contributions

Lump sum contribution
Contribution amount

AN
(6) State the assumptions on which the contribution schedule is based and confirm
that the assumptions are still reflective of current conditions and circumstances.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) The contribution schedule must outline all available contribution options,
including the lump sum contribution option.

(2) List the contribution options in the order based on the total number of
contributions, from the largest number of contributions to the smallest numbe
contributions. For example, if the scholarship plan permits monthly, annual and@ p
sum contributions, list the contribution options in that order.

(3)  The contribution schedule must be presented in the order based oﬁl}'\m age of
the beneficiaries, from the youngest to oldest.

(4) For each contribution option, set out the amount of each %tlon the total
number of contributions, and the total amount payable for one u

(5) If the scholarship plan permits a subscriber to date Ian as at a date that is
earlier than the application date, disclose the conditio equwements that must be
met to backdate a plan, including the maximum numkeldf months that a plan may be
backdated and the basis of calculation of any a r@s) payable by the subscriber in
addition to the contributions required under the con¥ibution schedule. Include a cross-
reference to the disclosure provided under paraq h 11.3(1)(h) of Part B of this Form.

(6) The contribution amounts in the cor%bution schedule must not include fees for

insurance. ‘ '\‘s

12.2. Missing Contributions Q‘

(1) Under the sub-headg q you have difficulty making contributions”, state the
following using the sameS bstantially similar wording:

If you miss g @more contributions, you may be in default of your plan. To stay

in the plan, you'l to make up the contributions you missed. [State if applicable —

ake up what the contributions would have earned if you had made

You'll also ha\Qﬁ1
them on ti% is can be costly.

q'ﬁormation about the steps you have to take to stay in the plan after missing
co @s, see “Default, withdrawal or cancellation” on page [insert page reference to
ther osure provided under Item 17 of Part C of this Form].

Under the sub-sub-heading “Your options”, describe the options available to
subscribers having difficulty making contributions, including reducing the amount of
contributions, suspending contributions, transferring to another RESP and cancelling
their scholarship plan.
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3) Describe any restrictions on the availability of the options referred to in
subsection (2).

(4) For each option set out under subsection (2), disclose the fee payable for the
option and the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber as a result of the option.

(5) Describe what will happen if a subscriber has difficulty making contributions arw‘
does not select any of the options set out under subsection (2). Q\

INSTRUCTIONS .

(1) A scholarship plan that does not require subscribers t (l{e regular
contributions to keep their plan in good standing must modify th losure under
subsection 12.2(1) accordingly. @

(2) If the cost of putting a plan in good standing after a v %ry suspension of the
plan includes the payment of an amount equal to the i st that would have been
earned on the missing contributions, disclose the aé}o interest rate used as an
annualized rate of interest and disclose how the interét alculated.

(4), state whether the subscriber may incur ss of earnings, government grants,
grant contribution room, amounts paid for charges and fees or loss of any other

amount.
N

(4) If the disclosure for an optj equired by subsections (3) and (4) is provided
elsewhere in Part C of the prosp%b - a cross-reference to the disclosure for the option

may be provided in response t sections (3) and (4). For example, if transferring to
another scholarship plan @ged by the investment fund manager is an option
available to the subscrib v% cholarship plan may refer investors to details of this type
of transfer by providin z;% ss-reference to the disclosure provided under section 16.1
of Part C of this Fo@

Item 13 Wit@ing Contributions
13.1. Wic&wing Contributions

(2) der the heading “Withdrawing your contributions”, describe a subscriber’s
en ent to a return of contributions made, less fees, at any time before the maturity
\ of their scholarship plan.

(2) Describe the steps a subscriber must take to withdraw some or all of their
contributions before the maturity date of their scholarship plan.

(3) In disclosing any losses that may be incsrre by a subscriber under subsection

3) Disclose the fee for a withdrawal from their scholarship plan and describe the
losses that may be incurred by a subscriber upon a withdrawal.
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4) Disclose whether a subscriber’s plan will be cancelled if the subscriber withdraws
all the contributions made to their plan. If so, provide a cross-reference to the disclosure
provided under section 17.3 of Part C of this Form.

INSTRUCTION

In describing any losses that may be incurred by a subscriberﬂﬁb&r‘
g

subsection (3), disclose whether the subscriber may incur any loss of e S,
government grants, grant contribution room, amounts paid for sales charges q@l 4‘ es or
loss of any other amount. (L

Qg&
14.1. Costs of Investing in the Scholarship Plan @
<&

Under the heading “Costs of investing in this plan” Qte the following using the
same or substantially similar wording: %%

Iltem 14 Fees and Expenses

There are costs for joining and participati@he [insert name of scholarship
plan]. The following tables list the fees and exenses of this plan. You pay some of
these fees and expenses directly from your tbutions. The plan pays some of the
fees and expenses, which are deducted fro, plan’s earnings.

14.2. Fees Payable by Subscriber rdhq@ontributions

(1) Under the sub-heading “R Q‘you pay”, provide a list of the fees and expenses
that are deducted from contr] s and that are not required to be provided in the
table under section 14.4 t C of this Form in the form of the following table.
Introduce the table usingt5 llowing wording:

These fees ducted from your contributions. They reduce the amount that
gets invested in an, which will reduce the amount available for EAPs.
(,Q N

Fee What you pay What the fee is for Who the fee is
paid to

Sales charge [Specify amount] [Specify the [Insert name of
purpose] entity]

_ Account [Specify amount] [Specify the [Insert name of
Maintenance Fee purpose] entity]

[Specify other fees  [Specify amount] [Specify the [Insert name of
and expenses] purpose] entity]
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(2) If the sales charge listed in the table required by subsection (1) is deducted from
contributions at a higher rate in the early period of participating in the scholarship plan,
add a sidebar under the sub-heading “Fees you pay”, using the margin of the page and
state the following using the same or substantially similar wording with the title of the
sidebar in bold type:

Paying off the sales charges \b‘

For example, assume that you buy one unit of the [Insert name of schﬂ%hip
plan] on behalf of newborn child, and you commit to making monthly contribyion$ until
the maturity date to pay for that unit. [All/[specify lower percentage, if aﬁB& Ble]] of
your first [insert number of contributions] contributions go toward the s arge until
[half/[specify other percentage if applicable]] of the sales charge is Q) off. [State, as
applicable — [Half/[specify other percentage if applicable]] of your Insert number of
contributions] contributions go toward the sales charge s fully paid off.]
Altogether, it will take you [insert number of months] months off the sales charge.
During this time, [insert percentage] of your contributions be used to pay the sales
charge and [insert percentage] of your contributions will ested in your plan.

(2)  State whether any of the fees listed in ;@ble in subsection (1) may be
increased without subscriber approval. b‘

INSTRUCTIONS q/Q

(2) In the table required under s'DbSection 14.2(1), list the fees payable by
subscribers’ contributions. Each fe st be listed on a separate row in the table.

(2) In the table required
pay” state the amount of e
how the fee is calculate

I subsection 14.2(1) in the column titled “What you
. The amount of each fee must be disclosed based on
example, if a particular fee is calculated as a fixed dollar
amount per unit, or a figeQamount per year, it must be stated as such. Similarly, if a fee
is calculated as a&&entage of plan assets, that percentage must be stated. A
statement or not a fee is subject to applicable taxes, such as goods and services
taxes or harm@'ﬂ sales taxes, is permitted, if applicable.
3) Fo oup scholarship plan or other type of scholarship plan that normally
calcul e sales charge payable as a fixed dollar amount linked to the amount of
con n@m by a subscriber (i.e. $x.xx per unit), in addition to stating the fixed amount of
sa arge per unit as required under Instruction (2), the disclosure of the amount of
S charge in the table required under subsection 14.2(1) in the column titled “What
u pay” must also be expressed as a percentage of the cost of a unit of the scholarship
plan. If the total cost of a unit of the scholarship plan varies depending on the
contribution option or frequency selected, the percentage sales charge must be
expressed as a range, between the lowest and the highest percentage of the unit cost

the sales charge can represent, based on the different contribution options available to
subscribers under the scholarship plan. This must be calculated as follows: (i) divide the
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sales charge per unit by the contribution option that has the highest total cost per unit,
and (ii) divide the sales charge per unit by the contribution option that has the lowest
total cost per unit. For example, if a scholarship plan calculates its sales charge as
$200/unit, and the total cost per unit for a subscriber can range from $1000 to $5000
(based on the different options available to subscribers), the percentage range of the
sales charge disclosed in the table would be 4% (200/5000) to 20% (200/1000). The
disclosure in the table must also state that the exact percentage of the sales charge p

unit for a subscriber will depend on the contribution option selected for contribu@gRgNO
the scholarship plan and how old their beneficiary is at the time they o he
scholarship plan. .

(4) In the table required under subsection 14.2(1) in the column title (k you pay”

describe how the fee is deducted from contributions if the fee am educted from
each contribution is not the same. For example, if deductions for charges are not
made from each contribution at a constant rate for the durati he plan or for the
period for which contributions are required to be made under holarship plan if it is
less than the scholarship plan’s duration, describe the a ts from contributions that
are deducted to pay sales charges. %

(5) In the table required under subsection 14.2/%s the column titled “What the fee
is for” provide a concise explanation of what the {ge ¥ used for.

(6) In the table required under subsecti .2(1) in the column titled “Who the fee is
paid to”, state the name of the entity to w the fee is paid, such as the investment
fund manager, the portfolio manager,{hé\dealer, the foundation, etc.

(7)  The disclosure required u ubsection 14.2(2) must be based on the following
assumptions: (i) the benefici ' newborn, (ii) the subscriber is purchasing one unit
of the scholarship plan, (@ e subscriber has agreed to a monthly contribution
schedule with contributi yable until the scholarship plan’s maturity date, and (iv)
all of the mandatory fegesJdMat are normally deducted from a subscriber’s contributions
are deducted duri
14.2(2) must be
of Part A of th

relevant period. The disclosure provided under subsection
ent with the disclosure provided under subsection (2) of Item 10

(8 Th losure required in subsection 14.2(2) may alternatively be provided in a
text bo w the table required under subsection 14.2(1).

r units but uses a similar method for deducting sales charges as is described under
section 14.2(2), the wording may be amended as is necessary to properly reflect the
scholarship plan’s features.

(§)<(Qor the disclosure required in subsection 14.2(2), if the scholarship plan does not
b
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14.3. Fees Payable by the Scholarship Plan

(1) Under the sub-heading “Fees the plan pays”, provide a list of the fees and
expenses that are payable by the scholarship plan in the form of the following table and
introduced using the following wording:

fees directly. These fees affect you because they reduce the plan’s returns

The following fees are payable from the plan’s earnings. You don't pay I’] QE‘
reduces the amount available for EAPs.

What the fee is

What the plan pays Who the fee is

Fee for paid to
Administrative fee [Specify amount] [Specify purpose] gg;siteyr]t HEGHE @F
Portfolio . [Insert name of
management fee [Specify amount] [Specify purpose] entity]
Custodian fee [Specify amount] [Specify purpose] gz;siteyr]t TETE &
Independent review : . [Insert name of
committee fee [Specify amount] [Specify purpose] entity]

[Specify other fees . . [Insert name of
and expenses] [Specify amount] [Specify purpose] entity]

N+
(2)  State whether any of the feeek)r expenses listed in the table in subsection (1)
may be increased without subscritQﬂpproval.

INSTRUCTIONS i sg
it is expected that th estment fund manager or other member of the organization of

the scholarship p waive or absorb some or all of those fees and expenses. Each
fee must be lis a separate row in the table.

Q) In the table, sh w@?f?aes and expenses payable by the scholarship plan, even if
%I

combi o an “all-inclusive fee” payable by the scholarship plan, the table may be
amer@ S is necessary to reflect this fact.

% In the column titled “What the plan pays” state the amount of each fee listed in
table. The amount of fee stated must be disclosed based on how the fee is
calculated. For example, if a fee is calculated based on a percentage of the scholarship
plan’s assets, it must be stated as such. For the “independent review committee fee”,
state the amount of any retainer payable to each member of the committee and any
additional fees payable for meeting attendance and indicate if committee members
expenses are reimbursed, and disclose the total dollar amount paid in connection with
the independent review committee for the most recently completed financial year of the

(2) If %r more fees listed or required to be listed in the table are normally
éa
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scholarship plan. A statement or note that a fee is subject to applicable taxes, such as
goods and services taxes or harmonized sales taxes, is permitted, if applicable.

4) In the column titled “What the fee is for” provide a concise explanation of what
the fee is used for. If a fee is charged to the scholarship plan for on-going fund
expenses, list the main components of those expenses covered by the fee.

(5) In the column titled “Who the fee is paid to”, state the name of the entity toﬁ&‘
the fee is paid, such as the investment fund manager, the portfolio manager, the% er,
the foundation, etc.

14.4. Transaction Fees Q:L

Under the sub-heading “Transaction fees”, provide a list of t nsaction fees in
the form of the following table introduced using the following wo

We will charge the following fees for the transactior&?ﬁt%d below.
D

Fee Amount How the fee is paid w10 the feeis

paid to
. [Insert how the fee [Insert name of
[Insert type of fee] $[Specify amount] s charged] entity]

INSTRUCTIONS '\q/

M)
(1) In the column titled “fee” @be the type of transaction for which the fee is
charged; for example, replaci a cheque, changing the contribution schedule,
changing the beneficiary, chqma¥g the maturity date, transferring a plan and a late
application for EAPs. Each ust be listed on a separate row in the table.

(2) In the column tigedY Amount” specify the amount of each fee. The amount must
be disclosed base w the fee is calculated. For example if the fee is calculated as
a fixed dollar a Ir a percentage it must be disclosed as such.

3) In thgZgomn titled “How the fee is paid” state how the fee for each transaction is
charged, {Ory®ample, if the fee is payable directly by the subscriber or beneficiary, or if
itis de d from the earnings of the scholarship plan.

such as the scholarship plan dealer, the investment fund manager, the

(g? In the column titled “Who the fee is paid to” specify the entity to which the fee is
undation, etc.
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14.5. Fees for Additional Services

If applicable, under the sub-heading “Fees for additional services”, provide a list
of the fees payable for the additional services disclosed under section 6.6 of Part B of
this Form in the form of the following table and introduced using the following wording:

The following fees are payable for the additional services listed below: \b‘
(N
Fee What you pay How the fee is paid Who the feeis
paid to
[Specify type of fee] $[Specify amount] [Specify how the fee [Insert name of
is charged] entity]

.
INSTRUCTIONS &6\

(1) In the column titled “Fee”, describe the type ice for which the fee is
charged (for example, insurance services). Each fee mqus¥/be listed in a separate row in

the table. &

(2) Under the column titled “What you pa ’N&cify the amount of each fee. The fee
must be disclosed based on how it is cq\jl@lted. A statement or note that a fee is
subject to applicable taxes, such as good#/and services taxes or harmonized sales
taxes, is permitted, if applicable. *%\‘\

3) If insurance services are QVTded, under the column “What you pay”, disclose
the fee for insurance and disclosgthe portion of the fee that is paid by the insurer to the
principal distributor, the inv t fund manager, or an affiliate.

4) If the fee paya b?a\n additional service varies so that specific disclosure of the
amount of the feegﬁﬁot be provided in the prospectus, provide the range of fees
payable under t mn titled “What you pay”.

(5) In th &Jmn titted “How the fee is paid” state how the fee for each service is
charged, gor\e%ample, if the fee is an amount payable by the subscriber on a monthly
basis iQ&ion to contributions made under the contribution schedule.

( )<(Qﬂ the column titled “Who the fee is paid to” state the name of the entity to which

éfee is paid, such as the scholarship plan dealer, the investment fund manager, the

undation, etc. If insurance services are provided, the name of the insurer must be
disclosed.
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14.6. Refund of Sales Charges and Other Fees

(1) Under the sub-heading “Refund of sales charges [and other fees]”, disclose the
details of all arrangements for the refunding of sales charges and any other fee paid by
subscribers.

(2) In the disclosure required by subsection (1), for each fee that may be refun?\&

describe
(L

(b)  who funds the fee refund and the sources of funding for t@g(efund

(@) who pays the fee refund,

(© whether the refund is guaranteed or not and what tha

(d) the conditions or requirements that must be met/&&telve the fee refund,

(e)  when the refund will be paid, %Q/
() whether the amount refunded will mcl@nterest

(@)  whether the refund is paid in cas)@S the subscriber or is credited to their

plan, q/Q

(h) if applicable, whether, fhe‘s amount refunded will be considered a
contribution to the scholarship plan ax purposes, and

(1) whether the am@ﬁfunded is taxable to the subscriber or beneficiary.

3) Describe the circ@ces that may affect the ability of the current sources of
funding for the fee re$ continue to fund such payments.

(4)  State vr\@@t e investment fund manager or any other entity has put any

mechanism | to continue to make fee refunds if any of the circumstances
referred to % section (3) occurs.

(5) ?. e refund is payable on a discretionary basis, state the following wording
wit st sentence in bold type:

§ Discretionary refunds are not guaranteed. You should not count on receiving
\a iscretionary refund. [Specify entity] decides if it will provide a fee refund in any year.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1) Areturn of an enrolment fee is considered to be a refund of sales charges for the
purposes of disclosure under this section.
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(2) If a fee refund is paid in instalments, disclose each payment date and the amount
or proportion of the refund payable at each date.

Item 15 Making Changes to a Subscriber’s Plan
15.1. Changing Contributions \b‘
(1) Under the heading “Making changes to your plan” and the sub-ﬁ?ing

“Changing your contributions”, disclose whether or not a subscriber can ande the
contributions under a scholarship plan. (L

(2) If a subscriber can change the contributions under a scholar@;, disclose
(@) the steps the subscriber must take to make the ch
(b)  the conditions or requirements that must be@f&make the change,
(c) the fee for making the change, and %

(d)  the losses that may be incurred b)ht:%ssubscrlber or the beneficiary if the

change is made. )\
N
N

(2) Under the sub-heading “ChapeNng the maturity date”, disclose whether or not a
subscriber can change the maturg e of their plan.

(2) If a subscriber can ch@the maturity date, disclose

(@)  the stepsgthe3ubscriber must take to make the change,

15.2. Changing Maturity Date

(b) th itions or requirements that must be met to make the change,
(c) égfee for making the change, and

Q‘ the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber or the beneficiary if the
cha @ mad

@3. Changing Year of Eligibility

(2) Under the sub-heading “Changing your beneficiary’s year of eligibility”, disclose
whether or not a subscriber can change the year of eligibility of a beneficiary.

(2) If a subscriber can change the year of eligibility, disclose
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(@) the steps the subscriber must take to make the change,
(b)  the conditions or requirements that must be met to make the change,
(c) the fee for making the change, and

(d) the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber or the beneficiary if't\fs‘

change is made. Q

15.4. Changing Subscriber )\.,

(1)  Under the sub-heading “Changing the subscriber”, disclose v%ﬁ)(e contract

permits the subscriber to be changed at any time during the life of a rship plan.

(2) If the subscriber may be changed, disclose &

Q&

(b)  the conditions or requirements that mus@%et to make the change,

(@) the steps that are required to make the chan

(c) the fee for making the change, andb:&

(d)  the losses that may be incur@the subscriber or the beneficiary if the
change is made. \
M)

15.5. Changing Beneficiary *
(2) Under the sub-head@nging your beneficiary”, disclose whether or not a

subscriber can change the ciary of a scholarship plan.

(2) If the beneficiz&r%me changed, disclose
(@ the @ the subscriber must take to make the change,
(b) @ﬁg conditions or requirements that must be met to make the change,
QS) the fee for making the change, and

<( d) the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber or the beneficiary if the
nge is made.

N

15.6. Death or Disability of Beneficiary
(2) Under the sub-heading “Death or disability of the beneficiary”, disclose the

options available to a subscriber in the event of the death or disability of the beneficiary
of the scholarship plan.
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(2)  The disclosure under this item must include
(@) how a disability is defined,

(b) how each option may be initiated and the conditions or requirements that
must be met for each option, '\b‘

(c) the fee for each option, and (19

(d)  the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber or the benéTl;\thy if the

option is selected.
&

INSTRUCTIONS <b

(2) In discussing a change in contributions under a schol& plan in response to
section 15.1, state if the change in contributions may be e'as a result of changing
the contribution frequency or the number of units for whi tributions are made.

(2)  The disclosure of the conditions or requi@ts for making a change to the
subscriber’s plan required under this Iltem musginchude a description of any amounts
required to be paid to make the change and th\ dline for making the change.

3) In disclosing the losses that may beﬂncurred by a subscriber or a beneficiary in
response to this Item, state if the suSs&ibsr or the beneficiary might incur any loss of

earnings, government grants, gra tribution room, amounts paid for sales charges
and fees or loss of any other am .

Item 16 Transfer of Schc@ip Plan

16.1. Transferring @% her plan managed by the investment fund manager

(1) Under the h “Transferring your plan” with the sub-heading “Transferring to
[name the ot Q'Cholarshlp plans managed by the investment fund manager of the

scholarship, , State whether or not the scholarship plan allows a subscriber to
transfer f@he current plan to any of the other plans offered by the investment fund
manag

éQleclose

(@) the steps a subscriber must take to effect the transfer,
(b) the conditions or requirements that must be met to effect the transfer,

(c) the fee for the transfer,

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 298



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(d)  the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber or the beneficiary if the
transfer is made, and

(e) for a group scholarship plan, whether or not a subscriber who has
transferred out of a group plan may transfer back to the group plan.

16.2. Transferring to another RESP Provider \b‘
(1) Under the sub-heading “Transferring to another RESP provider”, state Whﬁ@ or

not the scholarship plan allows a subscriber to transfer to an RESP provide unr lated
to the investment fund manager. (L

(2) Disclose <§/z
(@) the steps a subscriber must take to effect the tran@

(b)  the conditions or requirements that must be@effect the transfer,

(c) the fee for the transfer, and %

(d)  the losses that may be incurred b)ﬁf}%ssubscriber or the beneficiary if the
transfer is made. )\
16.3. Transferring from another RESP IgMider to the Scholarship Plan

M)

(2) Under the sub-heading “Tr rring to this plan from another RESP provider”,
state whether or not the scholar lan allows a subscriber to transfer from an RESP
provider unrelated to the invest fund manager to the scholarship plan.

(2) Disclose 5@
(@) the s@subscriber must take to effect the transfer,
(b) tQQU’nditions or requirements that must be met to effect the transfer, and
(C)&e fee for the transfer.
INS& %I’IONS
% The disclosure of the conditions or requirements that must be met to effect a
nsfer of a plan described under this Item must include a description of any amounts

required to be paid to effect the transfer and the deadline for effecting the transfer.

(2) In disclosing the losses that may be incurred by a subscriber or a beneficiary in
response to this Item, state if the subscriber or the beneficiary might incur any loss of
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earnings, government grants, grant contribution room, amounts paid for sales charges
and fees or loss of any other amount.

ltem 17 Default, Withdrawal or Cancellation

17.1. Withdrawal or Cancellation by Subscriber

you withdraw from or cancel your plan”, describe how a subscriber can withdraw or

(2) Under the heading “Default, withdrawal or cancellation” with the sub-hew
cancel a scholarship plan.

N
(2) Describe the amounts a subscriber is entitled to receive i qgubscriber
withdraws from a scholarship plan up to 60 days after signing a contrg§

(3) Describe the amounts a subscriber is entitled to receive j ubscriber cancels
a scholarship plan more than 60 days after signing a contract«

4) Disclose the charges payable by a subscriber forg%%ellation or withdrawal.

(5) Disclose the losses that may be incurred @ subscriber or the beneficiary if
the subscriber cancels or withdraws from their sgholayship plan.

17.2. Subscriber Default ‘19\

(1) Under the sub-heading “If yb&r‘s plan goes into default”, describe the
circumstances in which a subscrib y be noted in default under the scholarship plan.

(2) Disclose the steps th@\hent fund manager will take to notify the subscriber

when a default described in ction (1) occurs.

&ubscriber can take to remedy a default and disclose the

medying the default, including any amounts payable by the
It due to missed contributions, describe how any amount payable
result of missed contributions is calculated.

(3) Disclose the st
costs associated wi
subscriber. For
by a subscrib

wh default, disclose whether remedying the default will qualify a subscriber
and a @Qeficiary for the same payments under the scholarship plan as if the default
had,r{otydccurred.

% Disclose whether a default results in the cancellation of a subscriber’s plan by the

\n estment fund manager if the default is not remedied. If an unremedied default does
not result in the cancellation of the subscriber’s plan, disclose the losses that may be
incurred by the subscriber or the beneficiary due to the default.
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17.3. Cancellation by Investment Fund Manager

(1) Under the sub-heading “If we cancel your plan”, describe any circumstances
other than a subscriber's default in which the investment fund manager of the
scholarship plan may cancel a subscriber’s plan.

(2) Describe the amounts a subscriber is entitled to receive if the subscribe&

scholarship plan is cancelled by the investment fund manager. Q\
3) Disclose the costs payable by a subscriber in connection with a canqe{z;kn by
the investment fund manager. (L

4) Disclose the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber beneficiary if

the investment fund manager cancels the subscriber’s scholarship
17.4. Re-activation of Subscriber’s Plan /&

(2) If applicable, under the sub-heading “Re-actiy 'Qyour plan”, describe the
circumstances in which a subscriber may re-activa an after cancellation of the
scholarship plan, and specify the costs associate re-activation and who bears the

costs.
™

(2) Disclose whether re-activating a pl @qualify a subscriber and a beneficiary
for the same payments under the scho?agllzhip plan as if the cancellation had not

occurred.
17.5. Plan Expiration Qﬂ
5. Xpirati
?\

Under the sub-he@ your plan expires”, discuss the maximum duration of a

A

subscriber’s scholarship before it must be collapsed and what happens to the
money from a coIIap%s olarship plan.

INSTRUCTIONS

(2) In di &ng the losses that may be incurred by a subscriber or a beneficiary in
response 17, state whether the subscriber or the beneficiary may incur any loss
of earqg) government grants, grant contribution room, amounts paid for sales
cha g@ nd fees or loss of any other amount.

% If the costs of putting a scholarship plan in good standing after missing

ntributions or re-activating a scholarship plan after cancellation include the payment
of an amount equal to the interest that would have been earned on contributions
required by the scholarship plan, disclose the rate as an annualized rate of interest and
disclose how the rate is calculated.
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3) If an AIP may be received upon cancellation of a scholarship plan, include a
cross-reference to the disclosure provided under Item 20 of Part C of this Form.

Item 18 Plan Maturity
18.1. Description of Plan Maturity

(2) Under the heading “What happens when your plan matures”, briefly explair@»at
happens to a subscriber’s scholarship plan at the maturity date.

(2)  State whether the investment fund manager will notify the subscritﬂ}ﬁbut the
maturity date of their scholarship plan and how the notice is provided. Qg‘

INSTRUCTION <b

In responding to section 18.1, briefly explain what ha gﬁ& to the contributions,
government grants and earnings at the maturity date, h*as the earnings for a
beneficiary group being transferred into an EAP acc r distribution to qualified

beneficiaries.
18.2. If the Beneficiary Does Not Enrol in Eli@swdies

(1) Under the sub-heading “If your bep@lry does not enrol in eligible studies”,
state that a beneficiary who does not enrol igeligible studies will not receive EAPs from
the scholarship plan. * )

(2) Describe the options for %criber whose beneficiary does not enrol in eligible
studies and disclose the los al%ﬁ“at may be incurred by the subscriber under each
option.

payable, provide a reference to the disclosure provided under Item 20 of Part C of
this Form.

(3)  State whether ;smzzriber may be eligible to receive an AIP. If an AIP may be

Q~
|NSTRUCTQ§§

(1) ponding to section 18.2, describe options including naming another
ben y before the maturity date, transferring to another RESP or cancelling the
scléa ship plan.

In describing the losses that may be incurred by the subscriber in response to
subsection 18.2(2), cross-references to the disclosure provided under Items 15 to 17 of
Part C of this Form may be provided, as applicable.
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Item 19 Payments from the Scholarship Plan
19.1. Return of Contributions

(1) Under the heading “Receiving payments from the plan” with the sub-heading
“Return of contributions”, describe when and how contributions are returned to the
subscriber. State whether the amount returned is net of sales charges and fe§
deducted from contributions. '\

(2) If all or a part of a subscriber’s contributions are returned, state what p;l'ns to
the government grants. State whether it is possible for government grants(t’t,r main in
the name of the beneficiary and if so, state the conditions or requirem Q.Lhat must be
met to do so. &/

19.2. Payments to Beneficiaries &
conditions and requirements necessary for a benefici receive EAPs under the

scholarship plan, including the deadline for applying fQr €APs, and state what happens
if the beneficiary misses the deadline. &

Q) Under the sub-heading “Educational assista@a ments”, disclose the

(2) Describe each option for paying EAPs tm@heficiaries. For each option, disclose

(@) the number of payments, q/
M)

(b) when each payment jg™ade, and

(© for a group scho Ip plan, the percentage of the maximum total amount
of EAPs payable at each p date.

(3) For a group sc I%Yi\p plan, if the total amount of EAPs payable to beneficiaries
differs based on thﬁber of years of eligible studies, disclose the number of years of
eligible studies t alifies for the payment of the maximum total amount of EAPs and
briefly describ&ligible studies with that duration.

reduce rams, state, if applicable, that beneficiaries who enrol in eligible studies of
as @ duration than the full period will not qualify for the maximum number of EAPs
n%l receive a lower total amount of EAPs over the duration of their eligible studies
%m eneficiaries who enrol in eligible studies for the full period.
(5) For a group scholarship plan that offers EAP payment options tailored to reduced
programs, if the total amount of EAPs payable under an EAP payment option tailored to
reduced programs is less than the maximum total amount of EAPs, state the total

amount of EAPs payable under the EAP payment option as a percentage of the
maximum total amount of EAPS.

(4) Fog%rbup scholarship plan that does not offer EAP payment options tailored to
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INSTRUCTIONS

Q) In providing the disclosure under subsection 19.2(1), do not repeat the type of
studies that qualify for EAPs. Instead, include a cross-reference to the disclosure
provided under section 6.2 of Part C of this Form.

requirements for a beneficiary to remain eligible for EAPs under the scholarship for

(2)  The disclosure under subsection 19.2(1) must include a discussion @ay
each successive year of study.

“\

3) The “maximum total amount of EAPS” is the total amount of E }at can be
received by a beneficiary who meets the requirements of the s hip plan for
receiving the maximum number and amount of EAPS.

(4) In providing the disclosure under subsection 19.2(3), d glﬂe generally the types
of programs for which a beneficiary will receive the maxi total amount of EAPs (for
example, 4 years of eligible studies that may consist(oo 4-year program or 2-year
programs).

(5)  The “full period” is the number of years f’%ﬁgible studies that qualifies for the
payment of the maximum total number and ams&% of EAPs.

(6) An “EAP payment option tailored ‘ta/reduced programs” is an EAP payment
option that pays approximately sam tBtaI‘samount of EAPs for eligible studies with a
shorter duration as the EAPs pay under the scholarship plan for eligible studies of
longer duration. For example, a payment option that makes two payments for a 2-
year post-secondary program e each payment is twice the amount of each of the

four payments that would de for a 4-year post-secondary program, is an EAP
payment option tailored L% ced programs.

(7) A scholarshi may use a table to illustrate the schedule of payments and the
amount paid in e ear of eligible studies for each EAP payment option offered.

19.3. Amo%ngf EAPs
(1) sub-sub-heading, “How we determine EAP amounts”, state the

comonents of EAPs paid under the scholarship plan.
% Describe how the value of EAPs is determined for each year of eligible study.
\S ate whether or not any oversight of the calculation of EAPs is provided by an entity
other than the investment fund manager.

3) Describe any restrictions, under the Income Tax Act (Canada) or the scholarship
plan’s rules, on the amount of EAP that can be paid for each year of eligible studies.
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4) Describe, as applicable to the type of scholarship plan,

(@) how unrealized capital gains or losses on investments in the scholarship
plan are allocated,

(b) how earnings attributable to units or plans cancelled before the maturity
date are allocated; '\b‘

(c) how earnings attributable to units or plans cancelled after the ﬂw@rity
date are allocated;

A\
(d) how the difference between the maximum total amount (}s and the
lower amount collected by beneficiaries who enrol in eligible studie 0 not qualify
for the maximum total amount of EAPs is allocated; @

(e) how the government grants accrued in the &‘\ rship plan and the
earnings from government grants are allocated. %Q

O

The amount for which disclosure is requredMunder paragraph 19.3(4)(d) is the
amount that is not collected by beneficiaries in&&eneficiary group because they do not
enrol in eligible studies of sufficient duratioa/%qualify for the maximum total amount of

EAPs.
N
19.4. Payments from the EAP A nt

(2) This section applies to @Dp scholarship plan.

(2) Under the sub- @ading “Payments from the EAP account”, provide
% he following table about the funding of the EAP account.

information in the for
Introduce the table the following wording or wording that is substantially similar
with the title of t%‘ e “Past breakdown of income in the EAP account” in bold type:

INSTRUCTION

A popri %of each EAP consists of a beneficiary’s share of the EAP account. The
rest of a iIs made up of the beneficiary’s government grants and the earnings on
those ment grants.

<(Qhe EAP account holds the income earned on contributions made by

@scribers. This includes the income earned on contributions of subscribers who have

ncelled their plan or whose plan was cancelled by us. There is a separate EAP
account for each beneficiary group.
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Past breakdown of income in the EAP account

The table below shows the breakdown of income in the EAP account at the
maturity date for the 5 beneficiary groups that most recently reached their year of
eligibility.

The breakdown of income can vary by beneficiary group. The amount of inc%‘h
e

earned on contributions depends on the performance of the plan’s investmeg@

amount of income from cancelled plans depends on how many plans were canc ) as
well as the investment performance of that money. N
a

Beneficiary group

[Most [Most [Most [Most [Most

recent year] recentyear recentyear recentyear recentyear

minus 1] minus 2] minus 3] minus 4]

Income [Specify as  [Specifyas [Specifyas [Specifyas [Specify as
earned on percentage percentage percentage percentage percentage
contributions  of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP

account] account] account] account] account]
Income from [Specify as  [Specifyas [Specifyas [Specifyas [Specify as
cancelled percentage percentage percentage percentage percentage
plans of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP  of total EAP

account] account] account] account] account]
EAP 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
account
Total

\y

(3) Provide informati
of amounts from th
wording that is su
EAP account” i

type:

o&‘the form of the following table about the historical payment
account. Introduce the table using the following wording or
ially similar with the title of the table “Past payments from the

Pa@/ments from the EAP account

&table below shows how much was paid from the EAP account per unit for

the% neficiary groups that most recently reached their year of eligibility. [For a

arship plan that offers EAP payment options tailored to reduced programs, state —

@IS table shows only the amount paid per unit for beneficiaries who selected the

[specify EAP payment option for the full period]. We also offer [a] payment option[s] that
pay[s] EAPs tailored to shorter programs].

Keep in mind that scholarship plans are generally long-term investments. The
payments shown largely reflect investments made years ago. It's important to note that
this doesn't tell you how much a beneficiary will receive in the future.
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Year of
studies

First year
[if
applicable]
[See
Instruction
)]
Second
year

Third year

Fourth
year

Payments from EAP account by beneficiary group

[Most
recent year]

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

See note 1

See note 1

See note 1

[Most
recent year
minus 1]
$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

See note 1

See note 1

[Most
recent year
minus 2]
$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

See note 1

[Most
recent year
minus 3]
$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

[Most
recent year
minus 4]
$[Specify
amount] per
unit

 $[Specify

amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

$[Specify
amount] per
unit

Note 1: The amount is not shown because the be\ngflmarles in this beneficiary group are not yet enrolled
in that year of studies.

INSTRUCTION

The tables require
recently reached their yeaS

19.5.

Q) For

beneficiar %
the sa é}s

If Benef|C|

%r

&

p scholarship plan,

ction 19.4 must list the 5 beneficiary groups that most
eligibility as at the date of the prospectus.

es Not Complete or Advance in Eligible Studies
immediately under the sub-heading “If your

S not complete or advance in eligible studies”, state the following using
bstantially similar wording:

%@your beneficiary does not complete or advance in their program, they may lose
r more EAPs. This can happen if your beneficiary does not complete all the

rses required to advance to the next year of the program, decides to enrol in another
program that is not considered an advancement from prior study, or drops out of school
before completing their program.

[If applicable, state — Your beneficiary may be able to defer a payment if they go
back to a qualifying program. Deferrals are at our discretion.]
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(2) Under the sub-heading “If your beneficiary does not complete or advance in
eligible studies”, disclose available options if the beneficiary does not complete or
advance in their program.

(3) Disclose what happens to the earnings of the subscriber’s scholarship plan if the
beneficiary does not complete or advance in their program. For a group scholarship
plan, also provide a cross-reference to the disclosure provided under section 22.’)3\&
Part C of this Form.

S
INSTRUCTIONS )\\

(2) If the scholarship plan provides the option for a beneficiary to d
of an EAP, state the period of time that an EAP may be deferred an

requirements that must be met to receive a deferred payment after: isclosure in the

second paragraph of subsection 19.5(1). %
(2) If the details of an option provided under subsectio .5{2) have been disclosed
elsewhere in the prospectus, provide a cross-referenc e disclosure contained in

the prospectus. For example, if a subscriber may gcancel their scholarship plan and
receive an AlP, provide a cross-reference to the dj ure provided under Item 17 and
Item 20 of Part C of this Form.

Item 20 Accumulated Income Payment@LQ
20.1. Accumulated Income Payme tA‘\
(2) Under the sub-heading “A%@‘nulated income payments”, disclose

(@ the conditions@é}uirements necessary to receive an AlP,

(b) the cor@]& of an AIP,

(c) the n for a subscriber who has received an AIP to transfer the
paymentto ar, red retirement savings plan, and

(d) %y costs or other losses that the subscriber or the beneficiary could incur
in recqu%n AlP.

<(Qtate whether there may be tax consequences as a result of receiving an AlP

)
% provide a cross- reference to the disclosure provided under subsection 11.3(2) of
¥ rt B of this Form.
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Item 21 Discretionary Payments to Beneficiaries

21.1. Discretionary Payments to Beneficiaries

(1) Under the sub-heading “Discretionary payments”, if discretionary payments may
be made to beneficiaries, state that beneficiaries may receive a discretionary payment
in addition to their EAPs. '\
(2) Disclose when discretionary payments are made. (19
(3) State who decides whether a discretionary payment will be made a’rﬁ\t\ate the
requirements or conditions that must be met in order to be elig@w receive a

discretionary payment.

4) Disclose how the amount of discretionary payments&[ermined and the
sources of funding for the discretionary payments.

(5) Describe the circumstances that may affect theﬁ of the current sources of
funding for the discretionary payments to continue to fyndhe discretionary payments.

mechanism in place to continue to make retionary payments if any of the

(6) State whether the investment fund ma&g or any other entity has put any
circumstances referred to in subsection (S)ﬁ}%lr.

investment policy intended to ens ufficient money is available to continue to fund
discretionary payments at the hi | levels reported in section 21.2 of Part C of this
Form. Provide details of any hg policy and the current value of any fund. If no

funding policy exists, state t. ct and state the consequences of not having a policy.

(7)  State whether the investmeng md manager has established a funding and

(8)  State the follo 'n&ng the same or substantially similar wording with the first
sentence in bold ty§
Discre%?y payments are not guaranteed. You must not count on receiving
a discretio payment. The [insert name of the entity funding the discretionary
payment] Mes if it will make a payment in any year and how much the payment will
afinsert name of the entity funding the discretionary payment] makes a
payyeryy you may get less than what has been paid in the past. You may also get less
thdwhat is paid to beneficiaries in other beneficiary groups.

\3§.2. Historical Amount of Discretionary Payments

Provide information in the form of the following table about the historical
discretionary payments made. Introduce the table using the following wording or
wording that is substantially similar with the title of the table “Past discretionary
payments” in bold:
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Past discretionary payments

The table below shows the amount of discretionary payments paid per unit for
the 5 beneficiary groups that most recently reached their year of eligibility.

It's important to note that this doesn't tell you if a beneficiary will receive

payment or how much they will receive. We may decide not to make these paym n
future years. If we do make payments, they could be less than what we’'ve pai% he
past. ,\\
a.
Discretionary payments by beneficiary group
Year of [Most [Most [Most [Most [Most
studies recent year] recentyear recentyear recentyear recentyear
minus 2] minus 3] minus 4] minus 5]

First year [if $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify
applicable] amount] per amount] per amount] per amount] per amount] per
unit unit unit unit unit

Second See note 1 $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify
year amount] per amount] per amount] per amount] per
unit unit unit unit

Third year  See note 1 Seenotel  $[Specify $[Specify $[Specify
amount] per amount] per amount] per
unit unit unit

Fourth year See note 1 See note 1 See note 1 $[Specify $[Specify
amount] per amount] per
unit unit

in that year ies.

INST@‘FIONS
\

If the scholarship plan offers an EAP payment option tailored to reduced

rams and the amount of discretionary payment per unit is the same for each EAP

payment option, state, if applicable, that beneficiaries who select the EAP payment

option tailored to reduced programs may receive a lesser total amount of discretionary
payments than beneficiaries who receive the largest number of EAPs.

Note 1: The a§oM i3 not shown because the beneficiaries in this beneficiary group are not yet enrolled

(2) If the amount of discretionary payment per unit is not the same for each EAP
payment option, provide information, substantially in the form of the table required in
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section 21.2, for the historical discretionary payments per unit for each EAP payment
option tailored to reduced programs.

ltem 22 Attrition

This Item applies to a group scholarship plan.

Na

22.1. Attrition Q

(2) Under the heading “Attrition”, state the following using the same or s@i&kially
similar wording: (L

éﬁjer for your
ail to qualify for

in the beneficiary
. This is known as

You and your beneficiary must meet the terms of the pla
beneficiary to qualify for all of the EAPs under the plan. If benefici
some or all of their EAPs, there will be fewer beneficiaries re
group to share the amount of money available for payirgzg

“attrition”. Q/

Your beneficiary may not qualify for some or a ir EAPs if:

- before the maturity date of the pla ’y%u cancel your plan or transfer your
plan to another RESP, or we cancel your plan is\ use you failed to make contributions
on schedule and did not take action to ke ur plan in good standing. This is known
as “pre-maturity attrition”; or \

M)

- after the maturity dat he plan, your beneficiary decides not to pursue a
post-secondary education, does%rr tend a qualifying education program, or does not

attend a qualifying education | lon for the maximum period provided for in the plan.
This is known as “post-mat trition”.
22.2. Pre-Maturity A&&

(1) Under the ®1eading “Pre-maturity attrition”, state the following using the same
or substantiall@war wording:

If Wave the plan before it matures, you will get back your contributions less
fees. Y | not get back any earnings. The earnings on your contributions up to the
tim &Ian is cancelled will go to the EAP account and be paid to the remaining
beé@ laries in your beneficiary group as part of their EAPSs.

If the group scholarship plan permits a subscriber to receive an AIP on the

earnings from government grants, state the following using the same or substantially
similar wording:
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You may, however, be eligible to receive an AIP on the earnings from the
government grants in your plan. See “Accumulated income payments” for information
on how to determine if you are eligible for an AIP from the plan.

3) Provide information in the form of the following table about the income from
cancelled units for each beneficiary group as at the scholarship plan’s most recent
financial year end. Introduce the table using the following wording or wording that&
substantially similar with the title of the table “Income from cancelled units” in bold .

(L
N
(l/d units by

beneficiaries
their plan, how
of the scholarship

Income from cancelled units

The table below shows the current value of the income from c
beneficiary group. The amount of income from cancelled plans avalil
after the maturity date will depend on how many subscribers ¢
many beneficiaries qualify for EAPs and the investment perfor

lan.
plan ,O&

Total income from
cancelled units

Income from
cancelled units

Beneficiary group  Percentage of

units that have

been cancelled available to available to each
remaining units remaining unit
[Specify year of [Specify as $[Specify amount] $[Specify amount]
eligibility of oldest percentage of total per unit
beneficiary group number of units
available for purchased for
enrolment under the beneficiary group]
prospectus]
[Specify year of [Specify as $[Specify amount] $[Specify amount]
eligibility of next percentage of total per unit
oldest beneficiary number of units
group available for  purchased for
enrolment under the | beneficiary group]
prospectus]
[Specify year of [Specify as $[Specify amount] $[Specify amount]
eligibility of percentage of total per unit
youngest number of units
_ beneficiary group purchased for
available for beneficiary group]
enrolment under the
prospectus]

(4)  Provide information in the form of the following table about the pre-maturity
attrition rate for the scholarship plan. Introduce the table using the following wording or
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wording that is substantially similar with the title of the table “Plans that did not reach
maturity” in bold type:

Plans that did not reach maturity:

The table below shows the percentage of plans that did not reach maturity for
each of the 5 beneficiary groups shown below. The most common reasons why pla
did not reach maturity were because the subscriber cancelled their plan, we can d
their plan due to a default, the subscriber transferred to another type of plan we ) or
the subscriber transferred to another RESP provider.

Of the last 5 beneficiary groups of the [insert name of group sch plan] an
average of [see Instruction (1)]% of the plans in each group were c d before their
maturity dates.

Maturity date of beneficiary Percentage of plans that did not reach
group maturity

[Most recent maturity date by year] [See Instruction (2)]%
[Most recent maturity date by year  [See Instruction (2)]%

minus 1]
[Most recent maturity date by year  [See Instruction (2)]%
minus 2]
[Most recent maturity date by year  [See Instruction (2)]%
minus 3]
[Most recent maturity date by year  [See Instruction (2)]%
minus 4]
Average ~ [See Instruction (1)]%

>
INSTRUCTIONS Sv

(2) Disclose the %‘age rate required under subsection 22.2(3) using the same
calculation set o Instructions that apply to Item 9 of Part A of this Form.

(2) For ei eneficiary group that had a maturity date in the 5 most recent years,

calculate Cﬁ rcentage of plans that did not reach maturity by following Instructions (2)
to(5)t ply to Item 9 of Part A of this Form.

ZZQQost-Maturity Attrition

) Under the sub-heading “Post-maturity attrition”, state the following using the
same or substantially similar wording:

If your beneficiary does not pursue or complete eligible studies, you will get back
your contributions, less fees. You will not get back any earnings. [Insert if applicable — A
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beneficiary may lose one or more EAPs if they do not enrol in four years of eligible
studies.]

(2) Provide information in the form of the following table about the EAP payment
rates of the scholarship plan after maturity. Introduce the table using the following
wording or wording that is substantially similar with the title of the table “Past payments

of EAPS” in bold:

Past payments of EAPs [state if the scholarship plan offers an EAP

option tailored to reduced programs — 4 years of eligible studies]

maximum of [insert maximum number of EAPs payable under th
EAPs under the plan and those who received some or no EA
beneficiary groups that would have most recently completed the'%' le studies.

The table below shows the percentage of beneficiaries v%él’eived the

Beneficiary group [See Instruction (1)]

[Most recent

[Most recent

[Most recent

[Most recent

o

“\

larship plan]

each of the 5

[Most recent

year] year minus year minus year minus year minus
1] 2] 3] 4]

Beneficiaries [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
who received percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]%
all [3 or 4]
EAPs [See

Instructions

(2) and (3)]
Beneficiaries [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
who received percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]%
only 3 out of
4 EAPs
[as
applicable]
Beneficiaries [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
who received percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]%
only 2 out of
[3 or 4] EAPs
Beneficiaries [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
who received percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]%
only 1 out of
[3 or 4] EAPs
. Beneficiaries [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify [Specify
who received percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]% percentage]%
no EAPs
Total 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
(3) If the scholarship plan offers an EAP payment option tailored to reduced

programs, provide information in the form of the following table about the EAP payment
rates of the scholarship plan after maturity. Introduce the table using the following
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wording or wording that is substantially similar with the title of the table “Past payments
of EAPs [— [specify reduced number of years]-year program]” in bold:

Past payments of EAPs [— |[specify reduced number of years]-year

program]

For EAP payment options tailored to eligible studies of [specify reduced number of

their EAPs and the number who received some or none of their EAPSs, for each o

years] years, the table[s] below show][s] the number of beneficiaries who receive
f&)és

beneficiary groups that would have most recently completed their eligible studle

Beneficiaries
who received
[all] [1, 2, or
3] EAP[s]

Beneficiaries
who received
only 2 out of
3 EAPs

[as
applicable]
Beneficiaries
who received
only 1 out of
[2 or 3] EAPs
[as
applicable]
Beneficiaries
who received
no EAPs

Total

(4)

Ny

Beneficiary group [See Instruction (1)]

[Most recent
year]

[Specify
percentage]%

[See
Instructions

(2) - (4)]
[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

100%

Regulation 41-101

[Most recent
year minus
1]

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

100%

[Most recent
year minus
2]

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

100%

January 1, 2014

[Most recent
year minus
3]

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

100%

" [Most recent
. year minus
4]

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

[Specify
percentage]%

100%

'gése in a footnote to the tables required under subsections (2) and (3) any
the EAP payout option available to beneficiaries, if a change occurred in the

chan
pa ears.
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INSTRUCTIONS

(1) In the tables required under subsections 22.3(2) and (3), present the 5 most
recent beneficiary groups by year of eligibility for which the maximum number of EAPs
under the EAP payment option has been paid as at the most recent financial year end
of the scholarship plan and beneficiaries in the beneficiary group have no further
opportunity to collect EAPs. For example, do not include a beneficiary group that h
been eligible to be paid only one EAP if the maximum number of EAPs payable is @\

(2) For a group scholarship plan that does not offer EAP payment options aiio»ed to
reduced programs, calculate each percentage as a percentage of the totﬂw mber of
beneficiaries in the beneficiary group at the maturity date.

For a group scholarship plan that offers EAP payment optio ?gred to reduced

programs, calculate each percentage as a percentage o total number of
beneficiaries in the beneficiary group at the maturity date v@ elected the relevant
payment option. Q

3) Present the percentages as at the financial yeégﬁ referred to in Instruction (1).

4) For a group scholarship plan that offers EQP Ppayment options tailored to reduced
programs, in response to subsection 22.3(3 ){{ are a table for each payout option,
modifying the number of rows in the table plicable. For example, for a scholarship
plan that provides the option to elect paymewt of 2 EAPs for a 3- year program, present
a table containing rows to show t eK\U'mber of beneficiaries who received 2 out
of 2 EAPs, the number of beneficigige& who received only one out of two EAPs and the
number of beneficiaries who recgy 0 EAPs.

ltem 23 Other Material In@aﬁon

23.1. Other Material {nf Y:ation

(1) Under the ing “Other important information”, state any other material facts
relating to theﬁ ities being offered that are not disclosed under any other item in this
Form and cessary for the prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of
all materi@s about the securities to be distributed.

(2) kvide any specific disclosure required to be disclosed in a prospectus under
seldytities legislation that is not otherwise required to be disclosed by this Form.

Subsection (2) does not apply to requirements of securities legislation that are
form requirements for a prospectus.

INSTRUCTIONS

(1)  Sub-headings that are not mandated by this Form may be used in this Item.
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(2) For a single prospectus, provide this disclosure either under this Item or under
Item 14 of Part B of this Form, whichever is more appropriate.

(3) For a multiple prospectus, provide this disclosure under this Item if the disclosure
does not pertain to all of the scholarship plans described in the document. If the
disclosure pertains to all of the scholarship plans described in the Detailed PI@‘

Disclosure, provide the disclosure under Item 14 of Part B of this Form. Q'\
Part D — Detailed Plan Disclosure - Information about the Organization '\:1/
Item 1  Legal Structure of the Scholarship Plan Qg:L

1.1. Legal Structure <b

(1) At the top of the first page of the Part D section of &ﬂospectus, under the
heading “About [insert name of the scholarship plan provi ith the sub-heading “An
overview of the structure of our plan[s]”, state the full ¢ e name of the scholarship
plan or, if the scholarship plan is an unincorporated ) the full name under which it
carries on business, and the address of its head or,& tered office.

(2) State the names of the scholarshi ths directors, officers, trustees and
partners, as applicable. q§

(3)  State the laws under which the s&so?arship plan was formed or, if the scholarship
plan is an unincorporated entity, t ws under which it carries on business, and the
date and manner of its formation?\

(2) Identify the constati cuments of the scholarship plan and, if any material
amendments have occu M the last 10 years, state that the constating documents
have been amended@ st 10 years and describe the amendments.

3) If the sc hip plan’s name has changed in the last 10 years, state the
scholarship pl rmer name and the date(s) on which it was changed.

INSTRUC@Q
&e‘informaﬂon required for this Iltem may be presented in the form of a table.
\em 2 Organization and Management Details
2.1. Directors and Officers of the Plan

(2) Under the sub-heading “Directors and officers of the Plan”, list the names, the
municipality of residence or postal address, and the principal occupations at, or within
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the 5 years preceding the date of the prospectus, of all directors or executive officers of
the scholarship plan.

(2) If the principal occupation of a director or executive officer of the scholarship plan
is that of a partner, director or officer of a company other than the scholarship plan,
state the business in which the company is engaged.

3) If a director or executive officer of a scholarship plan has held more tha%%e
position in the scholarship plan, state only the first and last positions held. (L

2.2. Investment Fund Manager ({,\"

(1) Under the sub-heading “Manager of the scholarship plan’, %e the name,
address, telephone number, e-mail address and, if applicable w address of the
investment fund manager of the scholarship plan.

(2) Provide particulars of the investment fund manage xdlng the legal structure
of the investment fund manager, the history and bac d of the investment fund
manager.

3) Under the sub-sub-heading “Duties and sgrvites to be provided by the manager”,
describe the duties and services provided bx e investment fund manager of the

scholarship plan. q/

brief description of the essential s of any agreement with the investment fund
manager entered into or to be d into with the scholarship plan, including any
termination rights. ﬁ“

4) Under the sub-sub-heading “Eelﬁis‘s of the management agreement”, provide a

(5) Under the sub- su%@ng “Officers and directors of the manager”, state

(@) the n@and municipality of residence of each partner, director and
executive officer investment fund manager and indicate the respective positions
held with the i é[’ment fund manager and their respective principal occupations within
the 5 prece S&/ears

|f a partner, director or executive officer of the investment fund manager
has ore than one office with the investment fund manager within the past 5 years,
staQo Iy the current office held, and
\ (c) if the principal occupation of a partner, director or executive officer
of the investment fund manager is with an organization other than the investment fund
manager, state the principal business in which the organization is engaged.

(6) Under the sub-sub-heading “Cease trade orders and bankruptcies”,
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(@) if applicable, state if a partner, director or executive officer of the
investment fund manager, the scholarship plan, the foundation or any other entity
responsible for the day-to-day administration of the scholarship plan is, as at the date of
the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable, or was within 10 years before
the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable, a director, chief
executive officer or chief financial officer of any other issuer, that was

0] subject to an order that was issued while the partner, direc@?or
executive officer was acting in the capacity of director, chief executive officer 61, ief
financial officer, or N

(i) was subject to an order that was issued after the p , director or
executive officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or cjy{ ancial officer
and which resulted from an event that occurred while that pers s acting in the

capacity of director, chief executive officer or chief financial offic%

(b) if a statement is required by paragraph (a) Q/s%ibe the basis on which
the order was made and whether the order is still in effeQ)%

(7) For the purposes of subsection (6), “order” y@s any of the following, if in effect
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days: b‘

(@) acease trade order; q/Q

(b)  an order similar to a ceie'kade order;

(c) an order that deni relevant issuer access to any exemption under
securities legislation. 0

(8) If applicable, stat@rtner, director or executive officer of the investment fund
manager, the scholarghipdplan, the foundation or any other entity responsible for the
day-to-day adminisiyt&sqn of the scholarship plan

(@) I t the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, or has been
within the kars before the date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as
applicabl artner, director or executive officer of any issuer that, while that person
was a n that capacity, or within one year of that person ceasing to act in that
cap > became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to
baMgruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement

ompromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed

hold its assets, or

(b)  within the 10 years before the date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus, as applicable, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings,
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arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the partner, director or executive officer.

INSTRUCTIONS

(2) If any of the duties or functions of the investment fund manager are performed by
another entity, the disclosure required under subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5) must gl\v
be provided for that entity. Q

(2) The disclosure required by subsections (6) and (8) also applies to anw:e)gonal
holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (6) and (8”

(3) A management cease trade order that applies to directors an %tive officers
of the scholarship plan is an “order” for the purposes of paragrap a) and must be
disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer ef financial officer
was specifically named in the order. Q&

2.3. Trustee %Q/

Under the sub-heading “Trustee”, provide d@ of the trustee of the scholarship
plan, including the municipality and the province,or country where the trustee principally
provides its services to the scholarship plan. b‘

2.4. The Foundation '\q/

M)
(2) Under the sub-heading “Th ndation”, state the name and municipal address
of the Foundation.

(2) Describe the role of t@undation, including its mandate and responsibilities.

(3) List the namesgard® municipality of residence of the directors and executive
officers of the Foun @ﬁ the respective positions and offices held with the Foundation,
and their respec& Incipal occupations at, or within the 5 years preceding, the date of

the prospectu%

4) If tor or executive officer of the Foundation has held more than one office
with th dation within the last 5 years, state only the current office held.

rmation about how frequently reports are prepared, how a subscriber may obtain a

(§)<(q the Foundation provides reports of its activities to subscribers, provide
py of the report, and whether there is any cost to obtaining a report.

2.5. Independent Review Committee

(2) Under the sub-heading “Independent review committee”, briefly describe the
independent review committee of the scholarship plan, including
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(@) the mandate and responsibilities of the independent review committee,
and

(b)  the composition of the independent review committee, including the
names of its members, and the reasons for any change in its composition since the date
of the most recently filed prospectus of the scholarship plan, as applicable. '\b‘

(2)  State the following using the same or substantially similar wording: (19

At least annually, the independent review committee prepares a‘r}p 7 of its
activities for subscribers that is available on the [scholarship plan’s/ ment fund
family’s] Internet site at [insert scholarship plan’s Internet site
subscriber’s request at no cost, by contacting the [scholarship
family] at [scholarship plan’s/investment fund family’s email add

2.6. Other Groups

Under separate sub-headings with the nam %ch applicable body or group,
provide detailed information describing any other%ﬁ(@ or group that has responsibility
for plan governance or performs any kind of ove function over the scholarship plan
and its activities, and the extent to WhICh members are independent of the
investment fund manager of the scholarshi

INSTRUCTION

For greater certainty, an @table body or group includes any committees or
sub-committees of the invest und manager or the Foundation that are established
for a specific purpose in r. t of the scholarship plan, as well as any third-party
dispute resolution serviC(=S hich the scholarship plans belong or subscribe to.

2.7. Remunerati Directors, Officers, Trustees and Independent Review
Committee Me

(1) Und ﬁ(e sub-heading “Compensation of directors, officers, trustees, and
independ eview committee members”, if the management functions of the
schola lan are carried out by employees of the scholarship plan, provide for each
empl the disclosure concerning executive compensation that is required to be
pr d for executive officers of an issuer under securities legislation.

§ Describe any arrangements under which compensation was paid or payable
directly or indirectly by the scholarship plan during the most recently completed financial
year of the scholarship plan, for the services of the directors of the scholarship plan, the
directors of the Foundation or other independent board of governors or advisory board
that may perform a similar function, and the members of the independent review
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committee of the scholarship plan and include the amounts paid, the name of the
individual and any expenses reimbursed by the scholarship plan to the individual:

(@) in any of those capacities, including any additional amounts payable for
committee participation or special assignments;

(b) in the capacity as a consultant or expert. '\b‘

(3) For a scholarship plan that is a trust, describe the arrangements, inclua@he
amounts paid and expenses reimbursed, under which compensation w id or
payable by the scholarship plan during the most recently completed fmanm(Bf r of the
scholarship plan for the services of the trustee or trustees of the scholar, an.

INSTRUCTION &

The disclosure required under subsection 2.5 &&egardlng executive
compensation for management functions carried out by e ees of a scholarship plan
must be made in accordance with the disclosure r ents of Form 51-102F6
Statement of Executive Compensation. e%

Q)
2.8. Portfolio Adviser b‘&

(2) Under the sub-heading “Portfolio ‘@}er” if the investment fund manager
provides portfolio management services in $onnection with the scholarship plan, state
that fact. '\‘s

(2) If the investment fund m Qe'r does not provide portfolio management services
to the scholarship plan, state { al%Eme(s) and municipality and the province or country
of the principal or head offi ach portfolio adviser of the scholarship plan.

Ne

(3) State
(@ the %to which investment decisions are made by certain individuals
employed by @vestment fund manager or a portfolio adviser and whether those
decisions a@ ject to the oversight, approval or ratification of a committee, and

C) the name, title and length of time of service of the persons employed by or
ass % d with the investment fund manager or a portfolio adviser of the scholarship
pla o are principally responsible for the day-to-day management of a material

ion of the portfolio of the scholarship plan, implementing a particular material
ategy or managing a particular segment of the portfolio of the scholarship plan, and
each person’s business experience in the last 5 years.

4) Under the sub-sub-heading “Details of the portfolio advisory agreement”, provide
a brief description of the essential details of any portfolio advisory agreement that a
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portfolio adviser has entered into or will be entering into with the scholarship plan or the
investment fund manager of the scholarship plan, including any termination rights.

2.9. Principal Distributor

(2) Under the sub-heading “Principal distributor”, state the name and address of the
principal distributor of the scholarship plan. '\b‘

(2) Describe the circumstances under which any agreement with the m‘!(%pal
distributor of the scholarship plan may be terminated, and include a brief dewiQ on of
the essential terms of this agreement. (L

<&

2.10. Dealer Compensation <b
Q) Under the sub-heading “Dealer compensation”, describe&

(@ all compensation payable by members the organization of the
scholarship plan to all principal distributors and a ticipating dealers of the
scholarship plan, and

(b)  the sales practices followed by tfs‘5 mbers of the organization of the
scholarship plan for distribution of securities of)SQ cholarship plan.

(2) Disclose, under the sub-sub- headlr@/Dealer compensation from management
fees”, the approximate percentage ob{heds from a fraction

(@  the numerator of wi the aggregate amount of cash paid to registered
dealers in the last complete C|al year of the investment fund manager of the

scholarship plan, for payme%

Q®$ the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan, or
é an associate or an affiliate of the investment fund manager,
QS) (i) in order to

(A) pay compensation to registered dealers in connection with
%distribution of securities of the scholarship plan or scholarship plans that are
\n mbers of the same investment fund family as the scholarship plan, or

(B) pay for any marketing, fund promotion or educational activity

in connection with the scholarship plan or scholarship plans that are members of the
same investment fund family as the scholarship plan, and
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(b)  the denominator of which is the aggregate amount of management or
administrative fees received by the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan
and all other scholarship plans in the same investment fund family as the scholarship
plan in the last completed financial year of the investment fund manager.

INSTRUCTIONS

(2) Briefly state the compensation paid and the sales practices followed tm'%hbe‘
members of the organization of the scholarship plan in a concise and explicit rﬁ} er.
The term “member of the organization” has the same meaning as in Regulatimg -105,
except that “scholarship plan” is substituted for “mutual fund” in this Form.

(2)  The disclosure presented under this Item must be described @nation about
the approximate percentage of management fees paid by scholars lans in the same
investment fund family as the scholarship plan that were used d commissions or
other promotional activities of the investment fund family in the'\ t recently completed
financial year of the investment fund manager of the schol Qip plan.

(3) The calculations made under this Item must %into account the payment of
sales commissions, other commissions and the @ of participation in co-operative
marketing, fund promotion and educational confgrendes.

4) If the investment fund manager of tﬁ'}lolarship plan charges an “all-inclusive
fee”, which includes the management or inistrative fee, and other types of fees
normally paid by the scholarship pl’m,‘s such as custodian, trustee or portfolio
management fees, only the portiq that all-inclusive fee that is attributable to the
management or administrative f ayable to the investment fund manager must be
used in calculating the denom@r‘referred to in paragraph 2.10(2)(b).

N

2.11. Custodian

Q) Under the s ding “Custodian”, state the name, municipality of the principal
or head office, a ture of business of the custodian and any principal sub-custodian
of the scholargi n.

(2) De@e generally the sub-custodial arrangements of the scholarship plan.

INS& %I'ION

§ A “principal sub-custodian” is a sub-custodian to whom custodial authority has
en delegated in respect of a material portion or segment of the portfolio assets of the
scholarship plan.

2.12. Auditor
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Under the sub-heading “Auditor”, state the name and address of the auditor of
the scholarship plan.

2.13. Transfer Agent and Registrar

Under the sub-heading “Transfer agent and registrar”, for each class or series of
securities offered by the scholarship plan under the prospectus, state the name of t
scholarship plan’s transfer agent(s), registrar(s), trustee, or other agent appoinl@y
the scholarship plan to maintain the securities register and the register of tran for
such securities and indicate the location (by municipalities) of each of the offyces 0f the
scholarship plan or transfer agent, registrar, trustee or other agent where tﬂ} curities
register and register of transfers are maintained or transfers of securitie ecorded.

2.14. Promoter <b

(2) Under the sub-heading “Promoter”, for a person tha& or has been within
the 2 years immediately preceding the date of the prospe q)o pro forma prospectus,
a promoter of the scholarship plan, and if that person i therwise identified as the
investment fund manager or dealer of the scholarshipRlag? state

(@) the person’s name and municip&ft&\and the province or country of
residence, )\

(b) the number and percenta egyeach class or series of voting securities
and equity securities of the schola sl%&‘plan or any of its subsidiaries owned, or
controlled or directed, directly or in@é@tly, by the person,

(© the nature and
contracts, options or right
directly or indirectly from{

t of anything of value, including money, property,
y kind, received or to be received by the promoter,
cholarship plan or from an associate or an affiliate of the
scholarship plan, ang tQ2 nature and amount of any assets, services or other
consideration rece@v to be received by the scholarship plan, or an associate or an
affiliate of the sc ip plan, in return, and

prelimina spectus or pro forma prospectus, or to be acquired, by the scholarship
plan orQ~ associate or an affiliate of the scholarship plan from a promoter,

%O 0] the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by
@c the consideration has been or will be determined,

(d) gf& an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the

(i) the person making the determination referred to in subparagraph (i)
and the person’s relationship with the scholarship plan, the promoter or an associate or
an affiliate of the scholarship plan or of the promoter, and
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(i)  the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost
of the asset to the promoter.

(2) If a promoter referred to in subsection (1) is, as at the date of the prospectus or
pro forma prospectus, as applicable, or was within 10 years before the date of the
prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable, a director, chief executive officer or
chief financial officer of any person that was subject to an order that was issued Wh
the promoter was acting in the capacity of director, chief executive officer orﬁef
financial officer, state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was m
whether the order is still in effect.

3) If a promoter referred to in subsection (1) is, as at the date of t (gépectus or
pro forma prospectus, as applicable, or was within 10 years bef date of the
prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable, a director, chi cutive officer or
chief financial officer of any person that was subject to an or was issued after
the promoter ceased to be a director, chief executive officer ¥ financial officer and
which resulted from an event that occurred while the mbter was acting in the
capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief fingR§gp officer, state that fact and
describe the basis on which the order was made and yhaiher the order is still in effect.

4) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (%a rder” means any of the following, if
in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutl

(@) a cease trade order; q/
M)
(b) an order similar to a trade order;

(© an order that d@@’fhe relevant person access to any exemption under
securities legislation. %

(5) Stateifa prom@&rred to in subsection (1):

@) is, e date of the prospectus or pro forma prospectus, as applicable,
or has been the 10 years before the date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus s wpplicable, a partner, director or executive officer of any person that,
while the q?mter was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to
actint pacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to
ban y or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement
or §mpromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed

\ old its assets;

(b)  within the 10 years before the date of the prospectus or pro forma
prospectus, as applicable, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or was subject to or instituted any proceeding,
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or
trustee appointed to hold the assets of the promoter.
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INSTRUCTIONS

Q) The disclosure required by subsections (2), (3) and (5) also applies to any
personal holding companies of any of the persons referred to in subsections (2), (3),
and (5).

subsection (1) is an “order” for the purposes of subsections (2) and (3) and e
disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief finangial Officer
was named in the order. (L

@noter was a
er was issued

disclosure if the
cial officer after the

(2) A management cease trade order that applies to a promoter referreﬁdﬁ\n
b

(3)  The disclosure requirement in subsection (2) applies only if
director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer when t

against the person. The scholarship plan does not have to '
promoter became a director, chief executive officer or chle&

order was issued.
&

2.15. Other Service Providers

Under the sub-heading “Other service pr ’% state the name, municipality of
the principal or head office, and the nature %%usmess of each other person that
provides services relating to portfolio valua@ securityholder records, fund accounting
or other material services, in respect of the gholarship plan, and describe the material
features of the contractual arrangeme t&y which the person has been retained.

2.16. Ownership of the Invest@'ﬂ:und Manager and Other Service Providers

(1) The information requigQdM response to this Item must be given as of a specified
date within 30 days befor% date of the prospectus.

(2) Under the S@Bding “Ownership of the manager and other service providers”,
disclose the per e of securities of each class or series of voting securities of the
investment fu%ﬂnager of the scholarship plan owned of record or beneficially by
each persop thet owns of record, or is known by the investment fund manager to
beneficial %n more than 10% of any class or series of voting securities of the
i nd manager, and disclose whether the securities are owned both of record
and,l{eNyeicially, of record only, or beneficially only.

? For any person that is named in response to subsection (2), disclose the name
any person of which the first-mentioned person is a “controlled entity”.

4) If any person named in subsection (2) owns of record or beneficially, more than
10% of any class or series of voting securities of the principal distributor of the
scholarship plan, disclose the number and percentage of securities of the class or
series so owned.
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(5) Disclose the percentage of securities of each class or series of voting or equity
securities beneficially owned in aggregate,

(@) by all the directors and executive officers of the scholarship plan in each of
0] the investment fund manager, and \b‘

(i) any person that provides services to the scholarship plad@the
investment fund manager; and

N
(b) by all the directors and executive officers of the investme manager
of the scholarship plan in each of

0] the investment fund manager, and &

(i) any person that provides services t @'xcholarship plan or the
investment fund manager, %

(© by all the members of the inde& nt review committee of the
scholarship plan in each of b‘

0] the investment fund m?@'}r, and

(i) any person that rb\(ides services to the scholarship plan or the
investment fund manager; and \Q

(d) by all the directo@ﬁ executive officers of the foundation in each of

0) the i@ent fund manager, and

(i) person that provides services to the scholarship plan or the
investment fund ger.

INSTRUCT@(
Qgéon is a “controlled entity” of another person if any of the following apply:

<(Q:1) in the case of the person

\E 0] voting securities of the first-mentioned person carrying more
than 50% of the votes for the election of directors are held, otherwise than by way of
security only, by or for the benefit of the second-mentioned person, and

(i) the votes carried by the securities are entitled, if exercised, to elect
a majority of the directors of the first-mentioned person;

Regulation 41-101 January 1, 2014 PAGE 328



REGULATION IN FORCE FROM JANUARY 1, 2014 TO SEPTEMBER 21, 2014

(b) in the case of a partnership that does not have directors, other than a
limited partnership, the second-mentioned person holds more than 50% of the interests
in the partnership;

(c) in the case of a limited partnership, the general partner is the second-
mentioned entity or company. '\b‘

2.17. Affiliates of the Investment Fund Manager (19

(1) If any person that provides services to the scholarship plan or thév'\e\stment
fund manager in relation to the scholarship plan is an affiliate of the Q&s ment fund
manager, illustrate the relationships of those affiliates in the form appropriately
labelled diagram, under the sub-heading “Affiliates of the manager”

(2) Identify any individual who is a director or executive&é@er of the scholarship
plan or the investment fund manager and also of any afjjfgte" of the investment fund
manager described in response to subsection (1) give particulars of the
relationship. %

s e O
em xperts
3.1. Names of Experts q/Q\b‘

Under the heading “Experts who corﬂjmed to this prospectus”, name each person

(@ who is named a Qa'ving prepared or certified a report, valuation,
statement or opinion in the pr k’fus or any amendment to the prospectus, and

(b)  whose pro n or business gives authority to the report, valuation,
statement or opinion&j y the person.

3.2. Interests perts

(2) Discle Il registered or beneficial ownership in any securities, assets or other
property @8’ scholarship plan or of an associate or an affiliate of the scholarship plan
received@)Q={o be received by a person whose profession or business gives authority to
ent made by the person and who is named as having prepared or certified a

pafN¢or the scholarship plan prospectus or prepared or certified a report, valuation,
&tement or opinion described or included in the prospectus.

(2) For the purpose of subsection (1), if the ownership is less than 1%, a general
statement to that effect is sufficient.

(3) If an individual, or a director, officer or employee of a person, referred to in
subsection (1), is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a director,
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officer or employee of the scholarship plan or of any associate or affiliate of the
scholarship plan, disclose that fact.

(4) Despite subsection (1), an auditor who is independent in accordance with the
auditor’s rules of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Canada or has performed an
audit in accordance with the U.S. GAAS is not required to provide the disclosure
required by subsection (1) if there is disclosure that the auditor is independent
accordance with the auditor’s rules of professional conduct in a jurisdiction of Can%or
that the auditor has complied with the SEC’s rules on auditor independence. (L

INSTRUCTION q',\"

In addition to the scholarship plan’s current auditor, the discl 3referred to in
section 3.2 must be provided for the scholarship plan's predeces uditor for those
periods for which it was the scholarship plan’s auditor. %

ltem 4  Subscriber Matters
&

4.1. Subscriber Matters

Under the heading, “Subscriber matter ”’Shd the sub-heading “Meetings of
subscribers”, describe the circumstances, n\ ses and procedures for holding a
subscriber meeting and for any extraordinapésolutions.

4.2. Matters Requiring Subscribimfroval

Under the sub-heading ‘¢ rs requiring subscriber approval”’, describe the
matters that require subscribe oval.

4.3. Amendments to %@aﬂon of Trust

For a schol plan established pursuant to a declaration of trust, under the
sub-heading “A ents to the declaration of trust”, describe the circumstances,
processes andQ dures required to amend the declaration of trust.

4.4. Re@ﬁg to Subscribers and Beneficiaries

g%er the sub-heading “Reporting to subscribers and beneficiaries”, describe the
inf ion or reports that will be delivered or made available to subscribers and
eficiaries and the frequency with which such information or reports will be delivered
made available to subscribers, including any requirements under securities
legislation.

ltem 5 Business Practices
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5.1. Policies

Describe, under the heading “Business Practices” with the sub-heading “Our
policies”, the policies, practices and guidelines of the scholarship plan or the investment
fund manager relating to business practices, sales practices, risk management controls
and internal conflicts of interest and, if the scholarship plan or the investment fund
manager of the scholarship plan has no such policies, practices or guidelines, state ;{w‘

fact. Q
5.2. Brokerage Arrangements )\\
(2) If any brokerage transactions involving the client brokerage co '(s}ons of the

scholarship plan have been or might be directed to a dealer in return
any good or service, by the dealer or a third party, other than or
under the sub-heading “Brokerage arrangements” %

provision of
xecution, state,

securities transactions for the scholarship plan, includj ether receiving goods or
services in addition to order execution is a factor, hether and how the process
may differ for a dealer that is an affiliated entity, &

(@) the process for, and factors considered in%":%'ﬁléting a dealer to effect

(b) the nature of the arrangements \&er which order execution goods and
services or research goods and services m&'@t%be provided,

(c) each type of good or s rbhe, other than order execution, that might be
provided, and i

(d) the method b
determination that the sch

ch the portfolio adviser makes a good faith
p plan, on whose behalf the portfolio adviser directs
any brokerage transacti olving client brokerage commissions to a dealer in return
for the provision of a er execution goods and services or research goods and
services, by the de a third party, receives reasonable benefit considering both the
use of the goodsQ~ rvices and the amount of client brokerage commissions paid.

(2)  Sincerth
client bro

date of the last prospectus, if any brokerage transactions involving the
commissions of the scholarship plan have been or might be directed to
turn for the provision of any good or service by the dealer or a third party,
order execution, state

§ (@) each type of good or service, other than order execution, that has been
ovided to the manager or portfolio adviser of the scholarship plan, and

(b)  the name of any affiliated entity that provided any good or service referred

to in paragraph (a), separately identifying each affiliated entity and each type of good or
service provided by each affiliated entity.
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3) If any brokerage transactions involving the client brokerage commissions of the
scholarship plan have been or might be directed to a dealer in return for the provision of
any good or service, by the dealer or a third party, other than order execution, state that
the name of any other dealer or third party that provided a good or service referred to in
paragraph (2)(a), that was not disclosed under paragraph (2)(b), will be provided upon
request by contacting the scholarship plan, and provide a telephone number and email
address for the scholarship plan. '\b‘

INSTRUCTION (19

Terms defined in Regulation 23-102 respecting Use of Clien(l'g\(;kerage
Commissions have the same meaning where used in this Item. &

5.3. Valuation of Portfolio Investments <b

(2) Under the sub-heading “Valuation of portfolio investme;§1 escribe the methods
used to value the various types or classes of portfolio assagft e scholarship plan and

its liabilities. %
(2) If the valuation principles and practices ﬁ"@ﬁshed by the investment fund
manager differ from Canadian GAAP, describe t%e‘ ferences.

3) If the investment fund manager h %cretion to deviate from the scholarship
plan’s valuation practices described in subsdetion (1), disclose when and to what extent
that discretion may be exercised a d,'ﬁ(ﬂ has been exercised in the past 3 years,
provide an example of how it has exercised or, if it has not been exercised in the
past 3 years, state that fact. ?\

5.4. Proxy Voting Discl for Portfolio Securities Held

the sub-heading (IX§ voting”, describe the policies and procedures that the
scholarship plan @ S when voting proxies relating to portfolio securities, including

(@)

interests

(1) Unless the sc:élm plan invests exclusively in non-voting securities, under

ﬁg procedures followed when a vote presents a conflict between the

curityholders and those of the scholarship plan’s investment fund
rtfolio adviser, or any associate or affiliate of the scholarship plan, its
t fund manager or its portfolio adviser, and

§ (b) any policies and procedures of the scholarship plan’s portfolio adviser, or
y other third party that the scholarship plan follows, or that are followed on the
scholarship plan’s behalf, to determine how to vote proxies relating to portfolio
securities.

(2)  State the following:
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The policies and procedures that the scholarship plan follows when voting
proxies relating to portfolio securities are available on request, at no cost, by calling
[insert toll-free/collect call telephone number] or by writing to [insert mailing address].

(3)  State that the scholarship plan’s proxy voting record for the most recent period
ended June 30 of each year is available free of charge to any securityholder of the
scholarship plan upon request at any time after August 31 of that year. Provide tls‘
scholarship plan’s website address where the proxy voting record is availab@or

review. (L

ltem 6 Conflicts of Interest ({,\"
6.1. Conflicts of Interest %Q/a

Under the heading “Conflicts of interest”, disclose p@hrs of existing or
potential material conflicts of interest between

(@) the scholarship plan and the foundati(%%Qany partner, director or
executive officer of the foundation,

(b)  the scholarship plan and the invesgfse%t fund manager or promoter or any
partner, director or executive officer of the in\gsk nt fund manager or promoter, and

(© the scholarship plan and the pertfolio adviser or any partner, director or
executive officer of the portfolio adviibﬁthe scholarship plan.

6.2. Interests of Managemen@rj’Others in Material Transactions

(1) Under the sub-hea@“lnterests of management and others in material
transactions”, describe, tate the approximate amount of, any material interest,
direct or indirect, of a % the following persons in any transaction within the 3 years
before the date of t@ﬁ&spectus or pro forma prospectus that has materially affected or
is reasonably GX@ to materially affect the scholarship plan:

@) éartner, director or executive officer of the investment fund manager;

class or series of the outstanding voting securities of the scholarship plan or

C) a person that owns, or controls or directs, directly or indirectly, more than
10% y
e%v stment fund manager;

th
\ (c) an associate or an affiliate of any of the persons referred to in
paragraph (a) or (b).

ltem 7 Material Contracts
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7.1. Material Contracts
(1) Under the heading “Key business documents”, list and provide particulars of
(@) the subscribers’ sales agreement or contract,

(b)  the articles of incorporation, the declaration of trust or trust agreemer}t\w‘
the scholarship plan or any other constating document, Q

(© any agreement of the scholarship plan or trustee with the inves;qe:r){ fund
manager of the scholarship plan,

(d) any agreement of the scholarship plan, the investme manager or
trustee with the portfolio adviser of the scholarship plan, @

(e) any agreement of the scholarship plan, the invﬁ%fent fund manager or
trustee with the custodian of the scholarship plan,

() any agreement of the scholarship pla t?e)investment fund manager or
trustee with the principal distributor of the scholars 'ban,

() any other contract or agreemen&hat can reasonably be regarded as
material to an investor in the securities of t holarship plan, and

(h) any contract or agr ehﬁent with governmental bodies to assist
beneficiaries in obtaining governm rants and incentives.

(2) State a reasonable timg YE place where the contracts or agreements listed in
response to subsection (1) e inspected by prospective or existing subscribers.

(3) Include, in de rgg the particulars of a contract, the date of, parties to,
consideration paid &y\Me scholarship plan under, key terms including termination
provisions of, an general nature of the contract.

INSTRUCTQI&

e a list of all the contracts for which particulars must be given under this
Ite indicating which of those contracts are described elsewhere in the prospectus,
if &gplicable. Provide particulars only for those contracts that are not described
\ where in the prospectus.
Item 8 Legal Matters

8.1. Exemptions and Approvals
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Under the heading “Legal matters” with the sub-heading “Exemptions and
approvals under securities laws”, describe all exemptions from or approvals under
securities legislation that are not otherwise disclosed under Item 9 of Part B or Iltem 9 of
Part C of this Form, as applicable, obtained by the scholarship plan or the investment
fund manager that continue to be relied upon by the scholarship plan or the investment
fund manager, including all exemptions to be evidenced by the issuance of a receipt for
the prospectus pursuant to section 19.3 of the Regulation. '\b‘

8.2. Legal and Administrative Proceedings (19

(1) Under the sub-heading “Legal and administrative proceedings”, deﬁaﬁbe\ briefly
any ongoing legal and administrative proceedings material to the sc Ip plan, to
which the scholarship plan, the investment fund manager, the promgié jhe foundation,
or the principal dealer is a party. %

(2) For all matters disclosed under subsection (1), state /&

(@) the name of the court or agency having jur&so%q n,
(b) the date on which the proceeding cog@ced,

(© the principal parties to the procees{bg,

(d) the nature of the proceeding a‘lad, if applicable, the amount claimed, and
M)

(e)  whether the proceedi re being contested and the present status of the
proceedings. ?\

(3) Provide similar discl bout any proceedings known to be contemplated.

4) If the investme t$d~manager, the foundation, or promoter of the scholarship
plan, or a director@ter of the scholarship plan or the partner, director or officer of
the investment f anager or the foundation has, within the 10 years before the date
of the prospe%‘been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or
securities rggulator relating to trading in securities, promotion or management of an
investmer(?wd, or theft or fraud, or has entered into a settlement agreement with a
regulat uthority in relation to any of these matters, describe the penalties or
sar&@ imposed and the ground on which they were imposed or the terms of the
se e

nt agreement.
m 9  Certificates
9.1. Certificate of the Scholarship Plan

Include a certificate of the scholarship plan in the following form:
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This prospectus, together with the documents incorporated herein by reference,
constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities
offered by the prospectus, as required by the securities legislation of [insert the
jurisdictions in which qualified ].

9.2. Certificate of the Investment Fund Manager

Include a certificate of the investment fund manager of the scholarship plan@hbe‘
same form as the certificate of the scholarship plan.

9.3. Certificate of the Principal Distributor ({,\\

principal distributor of the scholarship plan in the same form as ertificate of the

scholarship plan.
L&
Q

9.4. Certificate of the Promoter Q/

If there is a principal distributor of the scholarship plan, includé tificate of the

If there is a promoter of the scholarship plan;<hclude a certificate of each
promoter of the scholarship plan in the same forrK he certificate of the scholarship

plan.
95. A \b‘
5. mendments q/Q

(2) For an amendment to a scho r§hip plan prospectus that does not restate the
prospectus, change “prospectus” t ospectus dated [insert date] as amended by this
amendment” wherever it appear &‘he statements in sections 9.1 to 9.4.

(2) For an amended an gated scholarship plan prospectus, change “prospectus”
to “amended and rest % rospectus” wherever it appears in the statements in
sections 9.1t0 9.4.”.

M.O. 2013-08, SQ@Q
<

TRANSlT@@L PROVISIONS
M.%qgc?ﬂ, 2010 G.O. 2, 3918

& This Regulation only applies to a preliminary prospectus, an amendment to a

eliminary prospectus, a final prospectus or an amendment to a final prospectus of an
issuer which includes or incorporates by reference financial statements of the issuer in
respect of periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011.

However, an issuer may apply the amendments set out in this Regulation to a
document referred to in the first paragraph which includes or incorporates by reference
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financial statements of the issuer in respect of periods relating to a financial year that
begins before January 1, 2011 if the immediately preceding financial year ends no
earlier than December 21, 2010 and if the issuer is relying on the exemption in
section 5.3 of Regulation 52-107 respecting Acceptable Accounting Principles and
Auditing Standards.

M.O. 2012-05, 2010 G.O. 2, 1171 '\b‘

3. The effect of this Regulation applies to a prospectus or a prospectus ameﬁ&ent
of an issuer or an investment fund where the preliminary prospectus is filed %ni ol after
April 20, 2012; for all other prospectuses or prospectus amendments, the sions of
Regulation 41-101 respecting General Prospectus Requiremer@m force on

April 19, 2012 apply.
W

Décision 2008-PDG-0054, 2008-02-22 Q&
Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-03-14, Vol. 5 n° 10 Q/
A.M. 2008-05, 2008 G.O. 2, 810 %

Amendments b‘&
Decision 2008-PDG-0200, 2008-07-18 (ﬁ\
3

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2008-09-05, Vol. 5 n°
A.M. 2008-13, 2008 G.O. 2, 4556 '\«

Decision 2010-PDG-0086, 2010-,

Bulletin de I'Autorité: 2010-06-1 I 7n° 24
M.O. 2010-09, 2010 G. O 2

Decision 2010-PDG-020 O 11-22
Bulletin de IAutorlt 12 17, Vol. 7 n° 50

M.O. 2010-15, 2 0. 2. 3891

Decision 20 % G-0216, 2010-11-22
Bulletin d orité: 2010-12-17, Vol. 7 n° 50
M.O. 2 12010 G.0O. 2, 3918

De€¢.on 2012-PDG-0037, 2012-03-01
etin de I’Autorité : 2012-04-20, Vol. 9 n° 16
0. 2012-05, 2012 G.0. 2, 1171

Decision 2012-PDG-0056, 2012-03-20

Bulletin de I’'Autorité : 2012-04-26, Vol. 9 n° 17
M.O. 2012-07, 2012 G.0O. 2, 1280
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Decision 2013-PDG-0048, 2013-04-03
Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2013-05-09, Vol. 10 n°® 17
M.O. 2013-03, 2013 G.0O. 2, 1108

Decision 2013-PDG-0066, 2013-04-22
Bulletin de I’Autorité : 2013-05-30, Vol. 10 n° 21
M.O. 2013-08, 2013 G.0. 2, 1285

Decision 2013-PDG-0118, 2013-07-04
Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2013-08-08, Vol. 10, no. 31
M.O. 2013-13, 2013 G.0. 2, 2122

Decision 2013-PDG-0188, 2013-11-13
Bulletin de I'Autorité : 2013-12-19, Vol. 10, no. 50
M.O. 2013-24, 2013 G.0O. 2, 3713
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